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Securities registered or to be registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Trading Name of each exchange on
Title of each class Symbols which registered

Ordinary Shares, nominal value 1.00 euro per share*

TEF* New York Stock Exchange*

American Depositary Shares, each representing one
Ordinary Share

TEF New York Stock Exchange
Guarantee ** by Telefénica, S.A. of the following, each of
Telefénica Emisiones, S.A.U.

Fixed Rate Senior Notes Due 2027 TEF/27 New York Stock Exchange
Fixed Rate Senior Notes Due 2036 TEF/36 New York Stock Exchange
Fixed Rate Senior Notes Due 2038 TEF/38 New York Stock Exchange
Fixed Rate Senior Notes Due 2047 TEF/47 New York Stock Exchange
Fixed Rate Senior Notes Due 2048 TEF/48 New York Stock Exchange
Fixed Rate Senior Notes Due 2049 TEF/49 New York Stock Exchange

* Not for trading, but only in connection with the listing of American Depositary Shares, pursuant to the requirements of the New York
Stock Exchange.

**Not for trading, but only in connection with the listing of the Fixed Rate Senior Notes Due 2027; Fixed Rate Senior Notes Due 2036;
Fixed Rate Senior Notes Due 2038; Fixed Rate Senior Notes Due 2047; Fixed Rate Senior Notes Due 2048; and Fixed Rate Senior
Notes Due 2049; each of Telefénica Emisiones, S.A.U.

Securities registered or to be registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None

Securities for which there is a reporting obligation pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Act: None

The number of outstanding shares of each class of capital stock of Telefénica, S.A. at December 31, 2023 was:
Ordinary Shares, nominal value 1.00 euro per share: 5,750,458,145

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.
Yes No O

If this report is an annual or transition report, indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to
Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Yes O No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to
file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted
pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (Section 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter
period that the registrant was required to submit such files).

Yes No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer or an

emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer”, “accelerated filer” and “emerging growth company”
in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act (Check one):

Large Accelerated Filer Accelerated Filer O Non-accelerated Filer O  Emerging growth company O

If an emerging growth company that prepares its financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, indicate by check mark if
the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting
standards provided pursuant to Section 13 (a) of the Exchange Act. O

The term “new or revised financial accounting standard” refers to any update issued by the Financial Accounting Standards
Board to its Accounting Standards Codification after April 5, 2012
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management's assessment of the
effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C.
7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report.

If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the
registrant included in the filing reflect the correction of an error to previously issued financial statements. [

Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-
based compensation received by any of the registrant's executive officers during the relevant recovery period pursuant to
§240.10D-1(b). O

Indicate by check mark which basis of accounting the registrant has used to prepare the financial statements included in this
filing:

O U.S. GAAP
International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board

O Other

If “Other” has been checked in response to the previous question, indicate by check mark which financial statement item the
registrant has elected to follow.
O Item 17 O Item 18

If this is an annual report, indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the
Exchange Act).
Yes O No
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This Annual Report contains statements that constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. The forward-looking statements in this Annual Report can be identified, in some
instances, by the use of words such as “will,” “shall,” “target,” “expect,” “aim,” “hope,” “anticipate,” “should,” “may,”
“might,” “assume,” “estimate,” “plan,” “intend,” “believe” and similar language or other formulations of a similar
meaning or, in each case, the negative formulations thereof. Other forward-looking statements can be identified in
the context in which the statements are made or by the forward-looking nature of discussions of strategy, plans or
intentions. These statements appear in a number of places in this Annual Report including, without limitation, certain
statements made in “ltem 3. Key Information—Risk Factors,” “Item 4. Information on the Company,” “ltem 5.
Operating and Financial Review and Prospects” and “ltem 11. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About
Market Risk” and include statements regarding our intent, belief or current expectations with respect to, among
other things:

” o« " o« ” o« ” o« ” o« " o« " o«

. the effect on our results of operations of competition in telecommunications markets;

. trends affecting our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows;

. ongoing or future acquisitions, investments or divestments;

. our capital expenditures plan;

. our estimated availability of funds;

. our ability to repay debt with estimated future cash flows;

. our shareholder remuneration policies;

. supervision and regulation of the telecommunications sectors where we have significant operations;
. our environmental, social and governance commitments and targets;

. our existing or future strategic partnerships or joint ventures;

. the potential for growth and competition in current and anticipated areas of our business; and
. the outcome of pending or future litigation or other legal proceedings.

Such forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve numerous risks and
uncertainties, and actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements as a
result of various factors. The risks and uncertainties involved in our businesses that could affect the matters referred
to in such forward-looking statements include but are not limited to:

. changes in general economic, business or political conditions in the domestic or international
markets in which we operate or have material investments that may affect our business, financial condition,
results of operations, cash flows and/or the performance of some or all of our financial indicators, including as
a result of the evolution of increasing trade or geopolitical tensions in certain parts of the world, including as a
result of the Russia-Ukraine and Israel-Hamas armed conflicts, inflation, the pace of monetary stimulus
withdrawal and interest-rate hikes, worsening of fiscal sustainability in some European countries, economic
and political uncertainties in Spain, the impact of Brexit or the COVID-19 pandemic;

. compliance with data privacy regulations and the impact of our or third parties' failure to comply with
any such regulations, including liability for any loss, transfer or inappropriate modification of customer data or
general public data stored on our servers or transmitted through our networks;

. exposure to currency exchange rates, interest rates or credit risk, including in relation to our
investments or in some of our financial transactions;

. existing or worsening conditions in the international financial markets;
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. the impact of current, pending or future legislation and regulation in countries where we operate, as
well as any failure to renew or obtain the necessary licenses, authorizations and concessions to carry out our
operations and the impact of limitations in spectrum capacity;

. compliance with anti-corruption laws and regulations and economic sanctions programs and the
impact of any breach of any such laws, regulations and programs;

. our inability to anticipate or adapt in a timely manner to changing customer demands and/or new
ethical or social standards;

. changes in our competitive position, including as a result of the evolution of competition and market
consolidation in the markets where we operate, as well as the impact of any failure to comply with any
antitrust regulations or any regulatory actions imposed by antitrust authorities;

. any failure to attract and retain technology talent sufficient to ensure we are able to execute our
strategic plan and remain competitive;

. our inability to anticipate and adapt to the rapid technological changes that characterize the sector
in which we operate, or to select the right investments to make;

. our dependence on suppliers and their failure to provide necessary equipment and services on a
timely basis or otherwise meet our performance expectations;

. the impact of unanticipated network interruptions, including as a result of sabotage;
. the impact of cyber-threats and cyber-security actions;

. the impact of impairment charges on our goodwill, property, plant and equipment, intangible assets,
investments accounted for using the equity method, deferred taxes or other assets as a result of changes in
the regulatory, business, economic or political environment or other factors;

. the impact of a decrease in our liquidity or difficulties in our ability to finance ourselves;

. our ability to address physical, regulatory, reputational, transition and business risks associated with
climate change and emerging and developing environmental, social and governance standards;

. the outcome of pending or future litigation or other legal proceedings, and

. our ability to complete any pending acquisition, divestment or other significant transaction as
planned or to achieve the expected outcome from any completed acquisition, divestment or other significant
transaction (including our 50:50 joint venture with Liberty Global in the United Kingdom, VMED 02 UK
Limited).

Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on those forward-looking statements, which speak only as
of the date of this Annual Report. We do not undertake any obligation to update any forward-looking statements that
may be made to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this Annual Report including, without limitation,
changes in our business or acquisition strategy or planned capital expenditures, or to reflect the occurrence of
unanticipated events.
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Our ordinary shares, nominal value 1.00 euro per share, are currently listed on each of the Madrid, Barcelona,
Bilbao and Valencia stock exchanges (collectively, the “Spanish Stock Exchanges”) and are quoted through the
Automated Quotation System under the symbol “TEF”. American Depositary Shares (“ADSs”), each representing
the right to receive one ordinary share, are listed on the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE ”) and on the Lima
Stock Exchange. ADSs are evidenced by American Depositary Receipts (“ADRs”) issued under a Deposit
Agreement with Citibank, N.A., as Depositary.

As used herein, “Telefénica,” the “Telefénica Group,” the “Group”, the “Company” and terms such as “we,”
“us” and “our” mean Telefénica, S.A. and its consolidated subsidiaries, unless the context requires otherwise.

"p.p." means percentage points.
"YoY" or "y-0-y" means year-on-year.

For definitions of “operating income before depreciation and amortization” (OIBDA), “OIBDA-CapEXx”,

” o« ] ” o«

“OIBDA-CapEx excluding spectrum acquisitions”, “net financial debt”, “net financial debt plus leases”, “net

financial debt plus commitments”, “net financial debt plus leases plus commitments” and “free cash flow”
see “ltem 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects- Non-GAAP Financial Information”.

Below are definitions of certain technical terms used in this Annual Report:

"5G" is a technology succeeding the mobile technology called 4G. The aim is to make the navigation
experience and Internet downloads more agile.

"Access" refers to a connection to any of the telecommunications services offered by Telefénica. A single fixed
customer may contract for multiple services, and Telefénica believes that it is more useful to count the number of
accesses a customer has contracted for, rather than to merely count the number of its customers. For example, a
customer that has fixed line telephony service and broadband service is counted as two accesses rather than as
one customer.

"ARPU" is total mobile service revenues during the relevant period divided by the average number of retail
accesses (based on the beginning and the month-end number of retail accesses during such period), divided by the
number of months in such period.

"Artificial Intelligence" is intelligent tasks carried out by machines.

"AWS" or Amazon Web Services refers to Amazon's service platform offering data base storage, content
delivery and other functionalities that can help a business to grow. It is also more secure than a physical server.

"B2B" or business to business is the business segment.
"B2C" or business to customer is the residential segment.

"Bundle" refers to a combination of products that combine fixed services (wirelines, broadband and television)
and mobile services.

"CATV" or community antenna television is a system of delivering television programming to consumers via
radio frequency (RF) signals transmitted through coaxial cables, or in more recent systems, via light pulses through
fiber-optic cables.

"Churn" is the number of disconnections over the average customer base in a given period divided by the
number of months in such period.

"Cloud computing™ is a service whereby shared resources, software and information are provided to
computers and other devices as a utility over a network (typically, the Internet).

"Cloud Phone" is an application that allows the transfer of files between two smartphones in a simple way.

"Commercial activity" includes the addition of new lines, replacement of handsets, migrations and
disconnections.
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"Connected car” is a vehicle equipped with Internet access and generally through a local wireless network or
satellite.

"Convergent" refers to the offer of a fixed service together with a mobile service.

"Data ARPU" is data revenues during the relevant period divided by the average number of retail accesses
(based on the beginning and the month-end number of retail accesses during such period), divided by the number
of months in such period.

"Data revenues" include revenues from mobile data services such as mobile connectivity and mobile Internet,
premium messaging, downloading ringtones and logos, mobile mail and SMS/MMS.

"Data traffic" includes all traffic from Internet access, messaging (SMS, MMS) and connectivity services over
Telefénica's network.

"DTH (Direct-To-Home)" is a technology used for the provision of TV services.

"Fixed telephony accesses" includes public switched telephone network (PSTN) lines (including public use
telephony), integrated services digital network (ISDN) lines and circuits, "fixed wireless" and Voice over IP
accesses.

"FTRs" or Fixed termination rates is an established fixed network tariff that applies when a customer makes a
call to someone in a network operated by another operator.

"FTTH" or Fiber to the Home is a telecommunications technology that consists of the use of fiber optic cabling
and optical distribution systems for the provision of Internet services and IPTV to homes, businesses and
companies.

“FTTP” or Fiber to the Premises refers to equipment used in fiber access deployments where fibers extend all
the way to the end user premises and the equipment is designed and optimized for use in residential applications.

"FTTx" is a generic term for any broadband network architecture that uses optical fiber to replace all or part of
the metal local loop.

"Gbps" means Gigabytes per second.
"GHz" means gigahertz.

"ICT" or information communication technology is the acquisition, processing, storage and dissemination of
vocal, pictorial, textual and numerical information by a microelectronics-based combination of computing and
telecommunications.

"Interconnection revenues” means revenues received from other operators which use Telefénica's networks
to connect to or finish their calls and SMS or to connect to their customers.

"Internet and data accesses", "Fixed broadband accesses" or "FBB accesses" include broadband
accesses (including retail asymmetrical digital subscriber line (ADSL), very high bit-rate digital subscriber line
(VDSL), satellite, fiber optic and circuits over 2 Mbps), narrowband accesses (Internet service through the PSTN
lines) and the remaining non-broadband final customer circuits. Internet and data accesses also include "Naked
ADSL", which allows customers to subscribe for a broadband connection without a monthly fixed line fee.

“loT” or Internet of Things refers to technologies that allow both mobile and wired systems to communicate
with other devices with the same capability.

"IPTV" or Internet Protocol Television refers to distribution systems for television subscription signals or video
using broadband connections over the IP protocol.

"ISDN" or Integrated Services Digital Network is a format commonly used for transmitting information through
a digital high speed connection.

"Local loop" means the physical circuit connecting the network termination point at the subscriber's premises
to the main distribution frame or equivalent facility in the fixed public telephone network.

"LTE" or Long-Term Evolution is a 4G mobile access technology.

10
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"Market share" is the percentage ratio of the number of final accesses over the existing total market in an
operating area.

"Mb" means Megabytes.

"Mbps" means Megabytes per second.

"MHz" means megahertz.

"MMS" or "Multimedia Messaging Service" is a standard messaging system allowing mobile phones to send
and receive multimedia content, including sound, video and photos.

"Mobile accesses" include accesses to the mobile network for voice and/or data services (including
connectivity). Mobile accesses are categorized into contract, prepay and loT accesses.

"Mobile broadband" includes Mobile Internet (Internet access from devices also used to make voice calls
such as smartphones), and Mobile Connectivity (Internet access from devices that complement fixed broadband,
such as PC Cards/dongles, which enable large amounts of data to be downloaded on the move).

"MTR" or mobile termination rate is an established mobile network tariff that applies when a customer makes a
call to someone in a network operated by another operator.

"MVNO" or mobile virtual network operator is a mobile operator that provides mobile services through another
mobile operator. An MVNO pays a determined tariff to such mobile network operator for using the infrastructure to
facilitate coverage to its customers.

"Net adds/Net loss" is the difference between the customer base as of the end of a certain period compared
to December 31 of the prior year.

"OTT services" or over the top services means services provided through the Internet (such as television and
video streaming).

"Pay TV" includes cable TV, direct to home satellite TV (DTH) and IPTV.
"p.p." means percentage points.

"PSTN" is Public Switched Telephone Network.

"Revenues" means net sales and revenues from rendering of services.

"Service revenues” are total revenues minus mobile handset sales. Service revenues are mainly related to
telecommunication services, especially voice- and data revenues (SMS and data traffic download and upload
revenues) consumed by Telefénica's customers.

"SIM" means subscriber identity module, a removable intelligent card used in mobile handsets, USB modems,
etc. to identify the user in the network.

"Smart Wi-Fi" is an application in which users can control their Wi-Fi network and the devices connected to it
from their mobile.

"SMS" means short messaging service.

"STB (Set-top box)" is a device that converts a digital television signal to analogue for viewing on a
conventional set, or that enables cable or satellite television to be viewed.

"Tbps" means terabytes per second.
"Tracker" is a special server which contains the information needed for users to connect with other users.

"UBB" or Ultra Broadband is the fiber-to-the-premise broadband which is capable of giving a minimum
download speed of 100 Mbps and a minimum upload speed of 50 Mbps.

"VMO2" refers to VMED O2 UK Limited, our 50:50 joint venture with Liberty Global plc in the United Kingdom,
or to the Group’s VMO2 operating segment, as the context requires.

11



Table of Contents

Voice traffic" means voice minutes used by Telefénica's customers over a given period, both outbound and
inbound.

"VolP" means voice over Internet protocol.

"VPN" or Virtual Private Network extends a private network across a public network and enables users to send
and receive data across shared or public network.

"Wholesale accesses" means accesses Telefonica provides to other companies, who then sell services over
such accesses to their residential and corporate clients.

12
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In this Annual Report, references to “U.S. dollars,” “dollars” or “$,” are to United States dollars, references to
“pounds sterling,” “sterling” or “£” are to British pounds sterling, references to “real” or "reais" refer to Brazilian real
and references to “euro”, “euros” or “€” are to the single currency of the participating member states in the Third
Stage of the European Economic and Monetary Union pursuant to the treaty establishing the European Community,

as amended from time to time.

Our consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and for the years ended December
31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 included elsewhere in this Annual Report, including the notes thereto (the “Consolidated
Financial Statements”), are prepared in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

13
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Item 1. Identity of Directors, Senior Management and Advisors

A. Directors and Senior Management
Not applicable.

B. Advisers

Not applicable.

C. Auditors

Not applicable.

Item 2. Offer Statistics and Expected Timetable
Not applicable.

ltem 3. Key Information

A. Selected Financial Data

The following table presents certain selected consolidated financial data. It is to be read in conjunction with “ltem 5.
Operating and Financial Review and Prospects”, “ltem 4. Information on the Company—Business Overview” and
the Consolidated Financial Statements. The consolidated income statements and the consolidated statements of
cash flows data for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 and the consolidated statements of
financial position data as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 set forth below are derived from, and are qualified in their
entirety by reference to, the Consolidated Financial Statements. The consolidated income statements and the
consolidated statements of cash flows data for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 and the consolidated
statements of financial position data as of December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 are not included in the Consolidated
Financial Statements, and they instead are derived from the last year Annual Report on Form 20-F filed by us.

Our Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued by the IASB.

14
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The basis of presentation is described in detail in Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Millions of euros

Consolidated Income Statements Data
Revenues

Other income

Supplies

Personnel expenses

Other expenses

Depreciation and amortization
OPERATING INCOME

Share of (loss) income of investments accounted for
by the equity method

Net finance expense

Net exchange differences

Net financial expense

(LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAX
Corporate income tax

(LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
Attributable to equity holders of the parent
Attributable to non-controlling interests

Other Data

Weighted average number of shares-Basic
(thousands)"

Basic (loss) earnings per share attributable to equity
holders of the parent (euro)"

Diluted (loss) earnings per share attributable to
equity holders of the parent (euro)"

Basic (loss) earnings per ADS (euro)"
Diluted (loss) earnings per ADS (euro)!"

Weighted average number of ADS-Basic
(thousands)!"

Dividends per ordinary share (cash and scrip) (€)
Dividends per ordinary share (cash and scrip) ($)?

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
Data

Cash and cash equivalents

Property, plant and equipment

Total assets

Non-current liabilities

Equity

Capital stock

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Data
Net cash provided by operating activities

Net cash from (used in) investing activities

Net cash used in financing activities

2019 2020 2021

48,422 43,076 39,277

2,842 1,587 12,673
(13,635)  (13,014)  (12,258)

(8,066)  (5,280)  (6,733)
(14,444)  (12,871)  (10,976)
(10,582)  (9,359)  (8,397)

4,537 4,139 13,586

13 2 (127)
(1,953)  (1,740)  (1,414)
121 182 50

(1,832)  (1,558)  (1,364)
2,718 2,583 12,095

(1,054) (626)  (1,378)
1,664 1,957 10,717
1,142 1,582 8,137

522 375 2,580

5,933,094 5,952,695 5,864,070

0.14 0.22 1.34
0.14 0.22 1.34
0.14 0.22 1.34
0.14 0.22 1.34

5,933,094 5,952,695 5,864,070

0.40 0.40 0.35
0.45 0.47 0.41
6,042 5,604 8,580

32,228 23,769 22,725

118,877 105,051 109,213
63,236 58,674 55,034

25,450 18,260 28,684

5,192 5,526 5,779

15,022 13,196 10,268
(5,641) (7,790) 5,896
(9,021) (5,438)  (12,990)

2022

39,993
2,065
(12,941
(5,524
(10,741
(8,796
4,056

~— ~— ~— ~—

217
(1,227)
(86)
(1,313)
2,960
(641)
2,319
2,011
308

5,740,105
0.31

0.31
0.31
0.31

5,740,105
0.30
0.31

7,245
23,714
109,642
54,834
31,708
5,775

11,763
(5,327)
(7,925)

2023

40,652
1,541
(13,298
(7,207
(10,298
(8,797
2,593

)
)
)
)

(2,162)
(1,915)
11
(1,904)
(1,473)
899
(574)
(892)
318

5,668,142
(0.20)

(0.20)
(0.20)
(0.20)

5,668,142
0.30
0.33

7,151
22,944
104,324
53,829
27,096
5,750

11,649
(4,286)
(7,186)

The per share and per ADS computations for all periods presented have been reported using the weighted average number of shares and
ADSs, respectively, outstanding for each period, and have been adjusted to reflect the stock dividends which occurred during the periods
presented, as if these had occurred at the beginning of the earliest period presented. In accordance with IAS 33 (“Earnings per share”), the
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weighted average number of ordinary shares (including in the form of ADSs) outstanding for each of the periods covered has been
restated to reflect the issuance of shares pursuant to Telefénica’s scrip dividends in June 2020, December 2020, June 2021, December
2021 and June 2022.

@ Quantities in U.S. dollars are calculated in accordance with the conversion rate published by the Depositary (Citibank, N.A.) in connection
with each dividend payment.

B. Capitalization and Indebtedness

Not applicable.

C. Reasons for the Offer and Use of Proceeds
Not applicable.

D. Risk Factors

The Telefénica Group’s business is affected by a series of risk factors that affect exclusively the Group, as well as a
series of factors that are common to businesses of the same sector. The main risks and uncertainties faced by
Telefénica, that could affect its business, financial condition, results of operations and/or cash flows are set out
below and must be considered jointly with the information set out in the rest of this Annual Report.

These risks are currently considered by the Telefénica Group to be material, specific and relevant in making an
informed investment decision in respect of Telefonica. However, the Telefonica Group is subject to other risks that
have not been included in this section based on the Telefénica Group’s assessment of their specificity and
materiality based on the Telefénica Group’s assessment of their probability of occurrence and the potential
magnitude of their impact. The assessment of the potential impact of any risk is both quantitative and qualitative
considering, among other things, potential economic, compliance, reputational and environmental, social and
governance ("ESG") impacts.

The Telefonica Group, taking into account the global risks identified by the World Economic Forum, as well as the
increase in legal information requirements and the expectations of stakeholders in this area, monitors risks directly
related to sustainability, as well as other risks with potential impact on ESG, highlighting those most relevant in the
context of Telefonica's operations, including the adaptation to ESG expectations and information requirements and
climate change.

Risks are presented in this section grouped into four categories: business, operational, financial, and legal and
compliance.

These categories are not presented in order of importance. However, within each category, the risk factors are
presented in descending order of importance, as determined by Telefénica at the date of this document. Telefénica
may change its vision about their relative importance at any time, especially if new internal or external events arise.

Risks related to Telefonica's Business Activities.

Telefénica's competitive position in some markets could be affected by the evolution of competition and
market consolidation.

The Telefonica Group operates in highly competitive markets and it is possible that the Group may not be able to
market its products and services effectively or respond successfully to the different commercial actions carried out
by its competitors, causing it to not meet its growth and customer retention plans, thereby jeopardizing its future
revenues and profitability.

Additionally, the Telefénica Group could be affected by the regulatory actions of antitrust authorities. These
authorities could prohibit certain actions, such as new acquisitions or specific practices, create obligations or impose
heavy fines. Any such measures implemented by the antitrust authorities could result in economic and/or
reputational loss for the Group, in addition to a loss of market share and/or harm to the future growth of some of its
businesses.

The reinforcement of competitors, the entry of new competitors (such as telecommunication companies or providers
of OTT Services), or the merger of operators in certain markets (for example, market consolidation following
potential mergers of mobile operators Vodafone UK and Three UK in the United Kingdom and Orange and Mas
Movil in Spain), may affect Telefénica’s competitive position, negatively affecting the evolution of its revenues and

16



Table of Contents

market share or increasing its costs. In addition, changes in competitive dynamics in the markets in which the
Telefonica Group operates, such as in Chile, Colombia, Peru, Mexico and Argentina, where there is one or more of
new operators entering the market, aggressive customer acquisition offers and competition in network and 5G
deployment, can affect the competitive position and the efficiency of Telefénica’s operations.

Regarding digital services, the speed of technological evolution and changes in demand favoring the appearance of
new competitors in the market specializing in certain segments, and that have agile business models, can pose a
threat for the business model of the Telefénica Group.

If Telefénica is not able to successfully face these challenges, by ensuring a supply of cutting-edge technology
products and services and maintaining its competitiveness against current or future competitors, the Group's
business, financial condition, results of operations and/or cash flows could be adversely affected.

The Group requires government concessions and licenses for the provision of a large part of its services
and the use of spectrum, which is a scarce and costly resource.

Many of the Group’s activities (such as the provision of telephone services, Pay TV, the installation and operation of
telecommunications networks, use of spectrum, etc.) require licenses, concessions or authorizations from
governmental authorities, which typically require that the Group satisfies certain obligations, including minimum
specified quality levels, and service and coverage conditions. If the Teleféonica Group breaches any of such
obligations, it may suffer consequences such as fines or other measures that would affect the continuity of its
business. In addition, in certain jurisdictions, the terms of granted licenses may be modified before the expiration
date of such licenses or, at the time of the renewal of a license, new enforceable obligations could be imposed or
the renewal of a license could be refused.

In addition, the Telefénica Group requires sufficient appropriate spectrum to offer its services. The intention of the
Group is to maintain current spectrum capacity and, if possible, to expand it, through the participation of the Group
in spectrum auctions which are expected to take place in the next few years, which will likely require cash outflows
to obtain additional spectrum or to comply with the coverage requirements associated with some of the related
licenses. While Telefénica considers its current spectrum capacity to be sufficient in all the regions in which
Telefonica operates, the Group's failure to retain or obtain sufficient or appropriate spectrum capacity in these
jurisdictions in the future, or its inability to assume the related costs, could have an adverse impact on its ability to
maintain the quality of existing services and on its ability to launch and provide new services, which may materially
adversely affect Telefénica’s business, financial condition, results of operations and/or cash flows.

Any of the foregoing, as well as the additional matters addressed below, could have an adverse effect on the
business, financial condition, results of operations and/or cash flows of the Group.

Access to new concessions/ licenses of spectrum.

In Spain, the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Digital Transformation approved in June 2023 a modification to the
National Frequency Allocation Table ("CNFA"), allowing for the possibility of making available 450 MHz of the 26
GHz spectrum band, to companies, industries and organizations operating in a specific sector, that deploy private
networks to support their connectivity needs (verticals). This could mean more competition in the private corporate
network segment.

In the UK, the Office of Communications ("Ofcom") continues to make consultations on the opening of access to the
26 GHz and 40 GHz bands for mobile use. Ofcom has confirmed that it does not intend to auction this spectrum
until a decision is made on the proposed merger between Vodafone UK and Three UK. The current consultation is
focused on award design.

In Latin America, the following 5G auction processes are expected in 2024: (i) in Chile, in October 2023, Subtel
announced a second 5G auction process to assign 50MHz of spectrum in the 3400 — 3600 MHz band. The
assignment of spectrum is expected for the first half of 2024; and (ii) in Peru, with regards to 5G and the auction for
additional 3.5 GHz band spectrum, the government has announced that it will commission the Peruvian Private
Investment Promotion Agency to conduct the auction and, in parallel, the refarming of this spectrum band will be
carried out. Nevertheless, on September 20, 2023, after an employee presented a false document regarding his
academic degree, Telefénica del Peru was disqualified following a decision of the government procurement
supervisor (OSCE), from contracting with the Peruvian state for a period of 36 months, meaning it cannot request
concessions for spectrum or participate as a contractor or subcontractor in any government tender process.
However, Telefonica del Pert has concessions for the provision of public telecommunications services and 4G and
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5G spectrum (including in the same 3.5 GHz band, but obtained in a previous auction) with validity that exceeds the
disqualification period. In addition, this disqualification does not affect the renewals of Telefonica del Peru licenses.
Telefonica del Peru has initiated legal actions against the sanction resolution, and the aforementioned employee
was fired and criminally prosecuted, before any participation in the execution of the public contract.

Existing licenses: renewal processes and maodification of conditions for operating services.

In Spain, and in accordance with Law 11/2022, of June 28, on General Telecommunications, Telefonica requested
the Administration to extend the duration of its spectrum licenses up to a maximum of 40 years, which means an
extension of up to ten additional years. If this extension does not take place, the first set of licenses will expire in
2030. In this context, the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Digital Transformation has launched a public consultation
on the modification of current spectrum licenses of Telefonica and other operators. The final decision could be
adopted in the second quarter of 2024.

In Germany, in the allocation procedure for the frequencies at 800 MHz, 1800 MHz and 2.6 GHz, which will partially
expire at the end of 2025, the Bundesnetzagentur (“BNetzA”) published the consultation paper "Demand update and
framework conditions for a transitional decision" (framework conditions). The framework conditions are based on the
BNetzA's position paper from September 2022 and the comments received thereon. The framework conditions
provide for the existing frequency usage rights in the above-mentioned frequency ranges, which expire at the end of
2025, to be extended for a transitional period of five years in an initial action plan. The BNetzA intends to make a
decision about frequency provision in 2024. As part of a second set of actions, a larger procedural framework is to
be established for utilization from 2031 onwards, including with respect to rights of use and new frequency ranges
that expire in 2033 or become newly available for mobile communications in the coming years. A decision on this set
of actions is planned for 2028.

In the UK, mobile spectrum licenses are generally indefinite in term, subject to an annual fee set after a fixed period
(usually 20 years) from the initial auction. In 2033, after this mentioned fixed period, Ofcom will set spectrum fees
for 800 MHz and 2.6 Ghz bands. VMO2 currently holds spectrum in both of these bands.

With respect to Latin America:

In Brazil, the Agencia Nacional de Telecomunicagbes (“ANATEL”) approved on February 8, 2021, Resolution
741/2021 which sets the Regulation for the Adaptation of Fixed Commuted Telephony Service (“STFC”)
concessions. ANATEL has presented an estimated value for calculating the migration balancing from the
concession to the authorization regime, which on March 22, 2023 was validated by the Federal Court of Accounts
(the “TCU”). However, the TCU requires ANATEL to consider the market value for the valuation of reversible assets.
On July 24, 2023, ANATEL presented a balance of the estimated economic value based on the determinations of
TCU. The value of the balance must be evaluated by Telefonica Brazil within 120 days. However, with the possibility
of an agreement between ANATEL and Telefénica Brazil on the controversies present in arbitration and migration,
ANATEL agreed with the request to suspend the aforementioned period of 120 days and sent to the TCU the
Request for a Consensual Solution for the resolution of existing conflicts between ANATEL and Telefénica Brazil.
The TCU'’s deliberation on the admissibility of the Request for a Consensual Solution is still ongoing. If the Request
is accepted by the TCU, the TCU will establish a Commission that will have a maximum of 120 days to reach a
consensus. After that, final approval by the TCU may take up to 90 days. There is a risk of not achieving success in
the Consensual Solution and agreement between the parties regarding the migration calculation resulting in the
right of Telefénica Brazil to hold the STFC concession until December 31, 2025.

In addition, Resolution 744/2021 of April 8, 2021 (the “Continuity Regulation”) establishes that, at the end of the life
of the concession contracts, the transfer of the right of use of shared-use assets will be guaranteed under fair and
reasonable economic conditions, in the event that the granting authority or the company that succeeds the provider
wishes to make use of these assets to maintain the continuity of the provision of STFC under the public regime. In
relation to the process that is being carried out before the TCU, the technical area of the Court proposed the
revision of the Continuity Regulation's terms so that it provides for the reversion, to the concessionaires, of the
assets used in the provision of STFC. This proposal is still subject to deliberation by the Plenary of the TCU.
Nevertheless, the TCU minister ordered the suspension of the process. ANATEL agreed to extend the currently
existing 850MHz band authorizations until November 2028, and the 900/1800 MHz in Minas Gerais (except sector
3) until December 2032, provided the relevant legal and regulatory requirements were met. Additionally, pursuant to
Resolution n® 757/2022, ANATEL intends to carry out, respectively, a refarming action consisting of the promotion of
changes in the channel arrangements of the 850 MHz (2028) and 900/1800 MHz (2032) subbands. Certain specific
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requirements imposed for these renewals, including those related to the valuation criteria and obligations, are still
under review by the TCU.

In Peru, an arbitration process was started by Telefénica del Peru, to challenge the decision adopted by the Ministry
of Transportation and Communications (“MTC”), denying the renewal of concessions for the provision of fixed-line
services, valid until 2027, which ended with a favorable award for Telefénica del Peru. The award recognizes that
the methodology applied to assess compliance with the concession obligations in the concession renewal process
was not in accordance with the provisions of the concession contract. The MTC, following this award, has initiated a
new evaluation of our request of renewal of these concessions for the period 2027-2032. In any case, Telefonica del
Peru S.A.A. holds other concessions for the provision of fixed-line services that allow it to provide these services
beyond 2027. The renewal of the 1900 MHz band in all of Peru, except for Lima and Callao, which expired in 2018,
and of other licenses to offer telecommunications services were requested by the Group and a decision by the MTC
is still pending. Nevertheless, these concessions are valid while the procedures are in progress.

In Colombia, on June 1, 2023, Telefonica Colombia submitted a renewal request for 30 MHz of spectrum in the AWS
band that expired in December 2023. Additionally, in September 2023, the company has initiated the licenses
renewal process of 25 MHz in the 850 MHz band and 15 MHz licenses in the 1900 MHz band that will expire in
March 2024. Regulation in Colombia allows for the usage of spectrum without any restrictions until the final
conditions for renewal are agreed.

In Argentina, in connection with the Decree of Necessity and Urgency 690/2020 (“DNU 690/2020”), Telefénica de
Argentina, S.A. and Telefénica Moviles Argentina, S.A. (collectively, “Telefénica Argentina”) filed a lawsuit against
the Argentine State, in relation to a series of contracts for licenses to provide services and spectrum use
authorizations entered into between Telefonica Argentina and the Argentine State, including the licenses resulting
from the 2014 spectrum auction. These contracts and their regulatory framework stated that the services provided
by Telefénica Argentina were private and prices would be freely set by Telefénica Argentina. However, DNU
690/2020, by providing that the services will be “public services” and that prices will be regulated by the Argentine
State, substantially modified the legal status of those contracts, affecting the compliance with their obligations and
substantially depriving Telefonica Argentina of essential rights derived from those contracts. The lawsuit was
rejected in September 2021 and Telefénica Argentina appealed this decision. On December 17, 2021, the first
instance ruling was revoked and the application of articles 1°, 2°, 3°, 5° and 6° of DNU 690/2020 and Resolutions
1666/2020, 204/2021 and 1467/2020 (relating to the control of tariffs and the universal basic service) was
suspended for six months or until the final decision was adopted. On June 10, 2022, the Federal Contentious
Administrative Court extended the precautionary suspension of the effects of DNU 690/2020 for an additional six
months in Telefonica's favor. On December 27, 2022, the Federal Contentious Administrative Court extended the
precautionary suspension of the effects of DNU 690/2020 for another six months in Telefénica's favor. In August
2023, the precautionary measure was further extended for six months. During any such suspension, Telefénica
Argentina will not be subject to the provisions contained in the DNU 690/2020 in relation to price and public service
regulations.

In Ecuador, a concession contract that authorizes the provision of telecommunication services by Telefonica and
includes the spectrum licenses (25 MHz in the 850 MHz band and 60 MHz in the 1900 MHz band), which was valid
until November 2023, was extended for an additional 10 months under the same conditions as the original contract
through an addendum. The renewal negotiation is ongoing to extend the licenses for a longer period, but at the end
of 2023, the renewal negotiation process was again suspended by the Telecommunications Regulation and Control
Agency (ARCOTEL) for up to 120 days.

In relation to 5G, in Europe (Spain, Germany and the United Kingdom) Telefénica (and VMO?2 in the case of United
Kingdom) is deploying 5G in the frequency bands identified as "pioneering" by the European Commission (3.5 GHz
and 700 MHz) acquired in recent years. Additionally, technological migration to 5G is being carried out in the
traditional 2G/3G/4G bands using Dynamic Spectrum Sharing (DSS) technology to make the use of the spectrum
more efficient, based on user demand. In Chile and Brazil, Telefonica is offering 5G services using spectrum in the
3.5 GHz band. In Uruguay, Argentina and Colombia there were 5G spectrum auctions in 2023. In Uruguay, an
auction was held in May 2023 and Telefénica Uruguay acquired 100 MHz of spectrum, with Telefonica having
initiated the provision of 5G services. In Colombia the auction of 5G spectrum took place on December 20, 2023
and Telefonica acquired, through a Temporary Union with Tigo (Colombia Mévil S.A. E.S.P.), a block of 80 MHz of
spectrum in the 3.5GHz band. In Argentina, in October 2023 there was an auction of spectrum in the 3.5 GHz band
and Telefénica Argentina acquired 50MHz of spectrum.
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During 2023, the Group’s consolidated investment in spectrum acquisitions and renewals amounted to 183 million
euros, mainly due to the acquisition of spectrum in Argentina (173 million euros in 2022, mainly due to the
acquisition of spectrum in Colombia). In the event that the licenses mentioned above are renewed or new spectrum
is acquired, it would involve additional investments by Telefonica.

Further information on certain key regulatory matters affecting the Telefénica Group and the concessions and
licenses of the Telefénica Group can be found in Appendix VI of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Telefénica could be affected by disruptions in the supply chain or international trade restrictions, or by the
dependency on its suppliers.

The existence of critical suppliers in the supply chain, especially in areas such as network infrastructure, information
systems or handsets with a high concentration in a small number of suppliers, poses risks that may affect
Telefonica’s operations. In the event that a participant in the supply chain engages in practices that do not meet
acceptable standards or does not meet Telefénica’s performance expectations (including delays in the completion of
projects or deliveries, poor-quality execution, cost deviations, reduced output due to the suppliers own stock
shortfalls, or inappropriate practices), this may harm Telefénica's reputation, or otherwise adversely affect its
business, financial condition, results of operations and/or cash flows. Further, in certain countries, Telefénica may
be exposed to labor contingencies in connection with the employees of such suppliers.

As of December 31, 2023, the Group depended on three handset suppliers (none of them located in China) and
seven network infrastructure suppliers (two of them located in China), which, together, accounted for 86% and 80%,
respectively, of the aggregate value of contracts awarded in 2023 to handset suppliers and network infrastructure
suppliers, respectively. One of the handset suppliers (not located in China) represented 48% of the aggregate value
of contracts awarded in 2023 to handset suppliers. As of December 31, 2023, the Telefénica Group had 120
information system ("IT") providers that accounted for 80% of the total amount of IT purchase awards made in 2023,
five of them representing 25% of purchases in that area.

If suppliers cannot supply their products to the Telefénica Group within the agreed deadlines or such products and
services do not meet the Group’s requirements, this could hinder the deployment and expansion plans of the
network. This could in certain cases affect Telefonica’s compliance with the terms and conditions of the licenses
under which it operates, or otherwise adversely affect the business and operating results of the Telefénica Group.

In addition, the possible adoption of new protectionist measures in certain parts of the world, including as a result of
trade tensions between the United States and China, the adoption of lockdown or other restrictive measures as a
result any crisis or pandemic, as well as those derived from geopolitical tensions such as the Russia-Ukraine and
Israel-Hamas armed conflicts, among others, could disrupt global supply chains or may have an adverse impact on
certain of Telefénica’s suppliers and other players in the industry.

The semiconductor industry in particular is facing various challenges, as a result mainly of supply problems at a
global level, which in turn is affecting multiple sectors (including technology) through delivery delays and price
increases, which could affect the Telefénica Group or others who are relevant to its business, including its
customers, suppliers and partners. During 2021, 2022 and 2023 a specific monitoring has been carried out and
action plans have been developed by the Group with respect to the supply chain challenges resulting from the
armed conflict in Ukraine as well as the potential discontinuation of use of some suppliers as a result of tensions
between the United States and China. While Telefénica's supply chain has been generally resilient in recent years,
despite various stresses affecting the semiconductor industry and raw materials, this may change in the future.

The imposition of trade restrictions and any disruptions in the supply chain, such as those related to international
transport, could result in higher costs and lower margins or affect the ability of the Telefénica Group to offer its
products and services and could adversely affect the Group's business, financial condition, results of operations
and/or cash flows.

Further, in its sale of digital services, the Telefénica Group regularly integrates the digital services it offers with third-
party technologies. Similar to more traditional supplier relationships, these integrations subject the Telefénica Group
to the risks of performance failures by these third parties and the cost of continuously monitoring these strategic
partners to ensure they maintain appropriate levels of accreditation and that the technologies they provide remain
secure and up to date. Any such performance failure by the third parties or the technologies they provide could
negatively impact the digital services offered by the Telefénica Group, and the Group's business, financial condition,
results of operations and/or cash flows could be adversely affected as a result.
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Telefénica could be affected by the global technology talent shortage and the need for new skills in the
workforce due to rapid technological changes, which may limit the Group's competitiveness.

The changing need for new skills in the workforce due to ongoing technological disruptions and the shortage of
technology talent in the marketplace pose significant risks that may affect the Group's competitiveness.

The successful execution of Telefonica's strategic plan and our ability to compete effectively now and in the future
depend to a large extent on the company's key talent, as well as on a highly skilled workforce. Experienced profiles
in the technology sector are in high demand and competition for talent is fierce worldwide. A lack of talent and the
necessary skills in the Group can slow down innovation and adaptation to rapid changes in the sector, impacting
business opportunities and the quality of services provided.

While we take various steps to manage these risks, including by fostering a culture of continuous learning, though
ambitious employee training and reskilling programs, motivating and seeking to retain the Group's key talent and by
redefining our corporate culture to ensure the company's long-term growth and sustainability, there can be no
assurance that such steps will be sufficient.

If the Group fails to attract and retain technology talent, this could negatively affect the Group's business, financial
condition, results of operations and/or cash flows.

Telefénica operates in a sector characterized by rapid technological changes and it may not be able to
anticipate or adapt to such changes or select the right investments to make.

The pace of innovation and Telefénica's ability to keep up with its competitors is a critical issue in a sector so
affected by technology such as telecommunications. In this sense, significant additional investments will be needed
in new high-capacity network infrastructures to enable Telefénica to offer the features that new services will
demand, through the development of technologies such as 5G or fiber.

New products and technologies are constantly emerging that can render products and services offered by the
Telefonica Group, as well as its technology, obsolete. In addition, the explosion of the digital market and the
entrance of new players in the communications market, such as mobile network virtual operators ("MNVOs"),
internet companies, technology companies or device manufacturers, could result in a loss of value for certain of the
Group's assets, affect the generation of revenues, or otherwise cause Telefénica to have to update its business
model. In this respect, revenues from traditional voice businesses have been shrinking in recent years, while
revenues from connectivity services (e.g., fixed and mobile internet) are increasing. To diversify revenue sources,
Telefonica offers new digital services such as Internet of Things (loT), cybersecurity, big data, Artificial Intelligence
and cloud services among others. Although these services still have a lower weight in Telefénica's total revenues,
the related revenues grew in double digits in 2023. Additionally, the world of telecommunications is evolving towards
a model of programmable networks and services. This type of network can be used by programmers in a completely
new and different way than it had been in the past. As a first big step, the GSMA is leading the Open Gateway
initiative for the standardized exposure of APls to developers. This is a totally new market in which
telecommunications companies must be able to develop not only attractive services but new skills in order to be
successful.

One of the technologies currently being developed by telecommunications operators, including Telefénica (in Spain
and Latin America), is the new FTTx type networks which allow the offering of broadband accesses over fiber optics
with high performance. However, the deployment of such networks, in which the copper of the access loop is totally
or partially replaced by fiber, requires high levels of investment. In Spain, Telefénica plans to switch off all copper
access loops by April 2024. As of December 31, 2023, in Spain, fiber coverage reached 29.3 million premises.
There is a growing demand for the services that these new networks can offer to the end customer. However, the
high levels of investment required by these networks result in the need to continuously consider the expected return
on investment. Telefénica is constantly looking for co-investments through Telefonica Infra.

In addition, the ability of the Telefénica Group's IT systems (operational and backup) to adequately support and
evolve to respond to Telefonica's operating requirements is a key factor to consider in the commercial development,
customer satisfaction and business efficiency of the Telefénica Group. While automation and other digital processes
may lead to significant cost savings and efficiency gains, there are also significant risks associated with such
transformation processes. Any failure by the Telefénica Group to develop or implement IT systems that adequately
support and respond to the Group's evolving operating requirements could have an adverse effect on the Group's
business, financial condition, results of operations and/or cash flows.
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The changes outlined above force Telefénica to continuously invest in the development of new products, technology
and services to continue to compete effectively with current or future competitors. Any such investment may reduce
the Group’s profit and margins and may not lead to the development or commercialization of successful new
products or services. To contextualize the Group’s total research and development effort, the total expenditure in
2023 was 741 million euros (656 million euros in 2022), representing 1.8% of the Group’s revenues (1.6% in 2022).
These figures have been calculated using the guidelines established in the Organization for Economic Co-operation
and Development (“OECD”) manual. Telefénica's investment in CapEx in 2023 was 5,579 million euros (5,819
million euros in 2022).

If Telefénica is not able to anticipate and adapt to the technological changes and trends in the sector, or to properly
select the investments to be made, this could negatively affect the Group's business, financial condition, results of
operations and/or cash flows.

The Telefénica Group's strategy, which is focused on driving new digital businesses and providing data-
based services, involves exposure to risks and uncertainties arising from data privacy regulation.

The Telefonica Group’s commercial portfolio includes products and/or services whose provision involves the
processing of large amounts of information and data. This entails an enormous responsibility, while at the same time
increasing the challenges related to compliance with strong and growing privacy and data protection regulations
throughout the Telefénica Group's footprint, which may stifle the technological innovation that characterizes it and to
which the Group is committed. Similarly, the Group's efforts to promote innovation may result in increased
compliance risks and, where applicable, costs.

Telefonica is subject to Regulation (EU) 2016/679 of the European Parliament and Council of April 2016, on the
protection of natural persons with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data
("GDPR"), which is considered by the Group as a common standard of compliance in all its operations, even
beyond the European Union. Additionally, the European Union has initiated a data legislative strategy that seeks to
make the EU a leading space for the data-driven society, allowing data to flow freely throughout the territory and
between different sectors. As a result, it is expected that new regulatory obligations will be imposed on operators.

In addition, progress continues to be made on the proposal for a future European regulation concerning the respect
for privacy and protection of personal data in electronic communications (“e-Privacy Regulation”), which would
repeal Directive 2002/58/EC. If approved, this proposal could establish additional and more restrictive rules than
those established in the GDPR, with the consequent increase in the risks and costs that this could entail for
Telefonica.

Moreover, considering that the Telefénica Group operates its business on a global scale, it frequently carries out
international data transfers concerning its customers, users, suppliers, employees and other data subjects to
countries outside the European Economic Area (EEA) that have not been declared to have an adequate level of
data protection by the European Commission, either directly or through third parties. In this context, it is particularly
relevant to have the necessary legal and technical controls and mechanisms in place to ensure that such
international data transfers are carried out in accordance with the GDPR, in an environment marked by uncertainty
on this issue as to the most adequate and effective measures to mitigate such risks.

One of the relevant contractual measures to ensure the lawfulness of international data transfers to any country
outside the EEA not found by the European Commission to have an adequate level of data protection, is the
signing, between the data importer and the data exporter, of the new standard contractual clauses (“SCC”)
approved by the European Commission according to Implementing Decision (EU) 2021/914 of June 4, 2021.

With regard to the international transfer of data to the United States, on July 10, 2023, the European Commission
adopted its adequacy decision for the EU-U.S. Data Privacy Framework. The adequacy decision concludes that the
United States ensures an adequate level of protection for personal data transferred from the EU to U.S. companies
participating in the EU-U.S. Data Privacy Framework. This adequacy decision nevertheless remains subject to
challenge, and is expected to be challenged, by privacy activists.

In Latin America, Law No. 13,709 in Brazil imposes standards and obligations similar to those required by the
GDPR, including a sanctioning regime which is in force from August 2021, which may increase compliance risks
and costs. In addition, in 2022 the Brazilian data protection authority, Autoridade Nacional de Prote¢cdo de Dados
(ANPD), became an independent agency not linked to the presidency of the Republic, thus providing it with
additional autonomy to develop its control and supervision functions.
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In Ecuador, the Organic Law on Data Protection, which is aligned with the principles of the European GDPR, has
entered into force (including, since 2023, the sanctioning regime). In addition, Argentina has ratified Convention
108+, which is an international treaty of the Council of Europe which is open to accession by any State outside
Europe, and which regulates the protection of the rights of individuals with regard to the automated processing of
their data, in a very similar way to the protection granted by virtue of the GDPR.

In addition, there are projects to reform Law 19.628 on the Protection of Personal Data in Chile, and the Regulations
of Law 29.733 in Peru. There are regulatory projects aimed at updating regulations in line with standards similar to
the GDPR, which may increase compliance risks and costs. To limit the risks derived from international transfers of
personal data among Telefénica Group companies, Group companies will adopt Telefénica Group's Binding
Corporate Rules (BCRs), which are currently in the process of being approved by the European data protection
authorities. However there can be no assurance that such rules will be sufficient to ensure compliance with
requirements in every jurisdiction in which the Telefénica Group operates.

Data privacy protection requires careful design of products and services, as well as robust internal procedures and
rules that can be adapted to regulatory changes where necessary, all of which entails compliance risk. Failure to
maintain adequate data security and to comply with any relevant legal requirements could result in the imposition of
significant penalties, damage to the Group’s reputation and the loss of trust of customers and users.

Telefonica’s reputation depends to a large extent on the digital trust it is able to generate among its customers and
other stakeholders. In this regard, in addition to any reputational consequences, in the European Union, very
serious breaches of the GDPR may entail the imposition of administrative fines of up to the larger of 20 million euros
or 4% of the infringing company’s overall total annual revenue for the previous financial year. Furthermore, once it is
approved, the e-Privacy Regulation may set forth sanctions for breaches of it similar to those provided for in the
GDPR.

Any of the foregoing could have an adverse effect on the business, financial condition, results of operations and/or
cash flows of the Group.

Telefénica may not anticipate or adapt in a timely manner to changing customer demands and/or new
ethical or social standards, which could adversely affect Telefénica's business and reputation.

To maintain and improve its position in the market vis-a-vis its competitors, it is vital that Telefonica: (i) anticipates
and adapts to the evolving needs and demands of its customers, and (ii) avoids commercial or other actions or
policies that may generate a negative perception of the Group or the products and services it offers, or that may
have or be perceived to have a negative social impact. In addition to harming Telefénica's reputation, such actions
could also result in fines and sanctions.

In order to respond to changing customer demands, Telefénica needs to adapt both (i) its communication networks
and (ii) its offering of digital services.

The networks, which had historically focused on voice transmission, have evolved into increasingly flexible, dynamic
and secure data networks, replacing, for example, old copper telecommunications networks with new technologies
such as fiber optics, which facilitate the absorption of the exponential growth in the volume of data demanded by the
Group's customers.

In relation to digital services, customers require an increasingly digital and personalized experience, as well as a
continuous evolution of the Group’s product and service offering. In this sense, new services such as "Living Apps",
“Connected Car”, “Smart Cities”, “Smart Agriculture”, “Smart Metering” and "Solar 360" which facilitate certain
aspects of the Group’s customers’ digital lives, are being developed. Furthermore, new solutions for greater
automation in commercial services and in the provision of the Group’s services are being developed, through new
apps and online platforms that facilitate access to services and content, such as new video platforms that offer both
traditional Pay TV, video on demand or multi-device access. In addition, Telefénica has launched new customer
care applications (My Movistar in Spain, Me Vivo in Brazil, My O2 in the United Kingdom) and developed a virtual
assistant, Aura, with the aim of increasing the accessibility of the products and services we offer. However, there

can be no assurance that these and other efforts will be successful.

In the development of all these initiatives it is also necessary to take into account several factors: firstly, there is a
growing social and regulatory demand for companies to behave in a socially responsible manner, and, in addition,
the Group’s customers are increasingly interacting through online communication channels, such as social
networks, in which they express this demand. Telefénica’s ability to attract and retain clients depends on their
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perceptions regarding the Group’s reputation and behavior. The risks associated with potential damage to a brand’s
reputation have become more relevant, especially due to the impact that the publication of news through social
networks can have.

If Telefénica is not able to anticipate or adapt to the evolving needs and demands of its customers or avoid
inappropriate actions, its reputation could be adversely affected, or it could otherwise have an adverse effect on the
business, financial condition, results of operations and/or cash flows of the Group.

Operational Risks.

Information technology is key to the Group's business and is subject to cybersecurity risks.

The risks derived from cybersecurity are among the Group’s most relevant risks due to the importance of
information technology to its ability to successfully conduct operations. Despite advances in the modernization of
the network and the replacement of legacy systems in need of technological renewal, the Group operates in an
environment increasingly prone to cyber-threats and all of its products and services are intrinsically dependent on
information technology systems and platforms that are susceptible to cyberattacks. Successful cyberattacks could
prevent the effective provision, operation and commercialization of products and services in addition to affecting
their use by customers. Therefore, it is necessary to continue to identify and remedy any technical vulnerabilities
and weaknesses in the Group’s operating processes, as well as to strengthen its capabilities to detect, react and
recover from incidents. This includes the need to strengthen security controls in the supply chain, often with a high
number of participants spread across different countries, by focusing on the security measures adopted by the
Group’s providers and other third parties, and, in particular, by ensuring the security of cloud services provided by
third parties.

Telecommunications companies worldwide face continuously increasing cybersecurity threats as businesses
become increasingly digital and dependent on telecommunications, computer networks and cloud computing
technologies. As a result of the circumstances brought by the COVID pandemic, remote access and teleworking of
employees and collaborators has spread and is now a common practice, increasing the use of cloud services
provided by third parties. Thus, the risks associated with their use has increased, forcing companies to review the
security controls beyond the perimeter of the corporate network. Likewise, the proliferation of loT environments
makes security management more complicated, given their volume and heterogeneous nature. All of the above,
together with the professionalization of cybercriminals and their financing (which facilitates their adoption of
emerging technologies and techniques, such as machine learning and artificial intelligence), is leading to an
increase in the sophistication of cybercrime and the use of automated attack tactics that reduce the time frame that
cyber-defense teams have to protect a company's digital assets. In addition, the Telefénica Group is aware of the
possible cybersecurity risks arising from the various international conflicts, and is monitoring cyberattacks that may
affect our infrastructure, and maintaining contact with national and international organizations to obtain
cyberintelligence information, without having so far detected a significant increase in attacks in our perimeter
compared to other previous periods, though this may change in the future. Cybersecurity threats may include
gaining unauthorized access to the Group’s systems or propagating computer viruses or malicious software, to
misappropriate sensitive information like customer data or disrupt the Group’s operations. In addition, traditional
security threats, such as theft of laptop computers, data devices and mobile phones may also affect the Group
along with the possibility that the Group’s employees or other persons may have access to the Group’s systems and
leak data and/or take actions that affect the Group’s networks or otherwise adversely affect the Group or its ability to
adequately process internal information or even result in regulatory penalties.

In particular, in the past three years, the Group has suffered various types of cybersecurity incidents that have
included (i) intrusion attempts (direct or phishing), exploitation of vulnerabilities and corporate credentials being
compromised; (ii) Distributed Denial of Service (DDoS) attacks, using massive volumes of Internet traffic that
saturate the service; and (iii) exploitation of vulnerabilities to carry out fraud in respect of services provided by
Telefonica. To date, none of these cybersecurity incidents have had material consequences for the Telefénica
Group, but this may change in the future.

Although Telefénica seeks to manage these risks by adopting technical and organizational measures as defined in
its digital security strategy, such as the use of early vulnerabilities detection, access control, log review of critical
systems and network segregation, as well as the deployment of firewalls, intrusion-prevention systems, virus
scanners and backup systems, it can provide no assurance that such measures are sufficient to avoid or fully
mitigate such incidents. Therefore, the Telefénica Group has insurance policies in place, which could cover, subject
to the policies terms, conditions, exclusions, limits and sublimits of indemnity, and applicable deductibles, certain
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losses arising out of these types of incidents. To date, the insurance policies in place have covered some incidents
of this nature, however due to the potential severity and uncertainty about the evolution of the aforementioned
events, these policies may not be sufficient to cover all possible losses arising out of these risks.

Climate change, natural disasters and other factors beyond the Group's control may result in physical
damage to our technical infrastructure that may cause unanticipated network or service interruptions or
quality loss or otherwise affect the Group's business.

Climate change, natural disasters and other factors beyond the Group's control, such as system failures, lack of
electric supply, network failures, hardware or software failures or the theft of network elements, can damage
Telefonica's infrastructure and affect the quality of, or cause interruption to, the provision of the services of the
Telefonica Group.

Further, changes in temperature and precipitation patterns associated with climate change may increase the energy
consumption of telecommunications networks or cause service disruption due to extreme temperature waves, floods
or extreme weather events. These changes may cause increases in the price of electricity due to, for example,
reduction in hydraulic generation as a result of recurrent droughts. Further, as a result of global commitments to
tackle climate change, new carbon dioxide taxes may be imposed and could affect, directly or indirectly, Telefénica
Group, and may have a negative impact on the Group’s operations and results. Telefénica analyses these risks in
accordance with the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (“TCFD”).

Network or service interruptions or quality loss or climate-related risks could cause customer dissatisfaction, a
reduction in revenues and traffic, the realization of expensive repairs, the imposition of sanctions or other measures
by regulatory bodies, and damage to the image and reputation of the Telefénica Group, or could otherwise have an
adverse effect on the business, financial condition, results of operations and/or cash flows of the Group.

Financial Risks.
Worsening of the economic and political environment could negatively affect Telefénica's business.

Telefonica’s international presence enables the diversification of its activities across countries and regions, but it
exposes Telefonica to diverse legislation, as well as to the political and economic environments of the countries in
which it operates. Any adverse developments in these countries, such as economic uncertainty, inflationary
pressures, rapid normalization of monetary policy, exchange rate or sovereign-risk fluctuations, as well as growing
geopolitical tensions, may adversely affect Telefénica’s business, financial position, debt management, cash flows
and results of operations and/or the performance of some or all of the Group’s financial indicators.

In recent years, successive shocks have ushered in a period characterized by extraordinary uncertainty and the
simultaneous occurrence of multiple negative disruptions. Inflationary pressures arising from bottlenecks associated
with the rapid post-pandemic recovery, coupled with increases in commaodity prices, led to a robust response from
central banks (raising interest rates and withdrawing liquidity from the system) and a significant loss of purchasing
power for consumers. Additionally, the recent higher wage demands observed internationally, reflecting both the
strength of labor markets, especially those in major developed economies, and the prevalence (though to a lesser
extent than in the past) of wage indexation mechanisms, have also contributed to these inflationary pressures.

There are also doubts about the timing of the conclusion of the inflationary period, as geopolitical events such as
the Russia-Ukraine and the Israel-Hamas armed conflicts, among others, negatively impact energy prices or
maritime transport. Moreover, there is a risk that the decrease in global liquidity and elevated interest rates could
generate increased financial volatility, giving rise to new stress episodes, as observed in the United Kingdom,
especially if inflation proves to be more persistent than expected. Additionally, premature monetary easing by
central banks could lead to resurgent inflation, potentially triggering a new stagflationary period akin to the 1970s.

Looking forward, elements that could worsen the effects of the current situation include the escalation of armed
conflicts and potential disruptions to energy and goods supply, as well as possible additional increases in
commodity prices. This could result in a potential de-anchoring of inflation expectations and higher-than-expected
wage hikes, prolonging and amplifying the inflation-recession scenario. As a consequence of the above, economic
growth is expected to remain weak in the short term, with the risk of recession still present in many parts of the
world.

So far, the main European countries where the Group operates have been affected by the ongoing geopolitical
conflicts mainly through the price channel (higher commodity prices, intermediate inputs and salary costs, among
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others), as their direct trade and financial exposure is limited. However, there continues to be a concern in Europe
about energy dependence in the face of potential episodes of gas shortages. Latin America could be affected by
lower external demand associated with slower global growth, deteriorating terms of trade and tighter financial
conditions.

As of December 31, 2023, the contribution of each segment to the Telefénica Group's total assets was as follows:
Telefénica Spain 26.0% (25.5% as of December 31, 2022), VMO2 7.5% (9.8% as of December 31, 2022),
Telefénica Germany 17.8% (17.5% as of December 31, 2022), Telefonica Brazil 25.0% (22.7% as of December 31,
2022) and Telefénica Hispam 14.4% (14.5% as of December 31, 2022). Part of the Group's assets are located in
countries that do not have an investment grade credit rating (in order of importance, Brazil, Argentina, Ecuador and
Venezuela). Likewise, Venezuela and Argentina are considered countries with hyperinflationary economies in 2023
and 2022.

During 2023, the contribution of each segment to the Telefénica Group's revenues was as follows (does not include
VMO?2 that is recorded by the equity method and therefore does not contribute to the consolidated revenues):
Telefénica Spain 31.1% (31.2% in 2022), Telefénica Germany 21.2% (20.6% in 2022), Telefénica Brazil 23.7%
(22.2% in 2022) and Telefénica Hispam 20.6% (22.9% in 2022).

The main risks by geography are detailed below:

In Europe, there are several economic and political risks. Firstly, the evolution of armed conflicts poses a threat to
growth and inflation prospects. Any worsening in the supply of gas, oil, food, or other goods due to disruptions in the
transportation chain would negatively impact their prices, with a consequent effect on the disposable income of both
households and businesses. In the medium term, this could result in wage increases, a persistent rise in inflation,
and tighter monetary policy. Any of the above could have a negative impact on the cost of financing for the private
sector, including Telefénica, and could trigger episodes of financial stress.

In addition, there is also a risk of financial fragmentation in the transmission of monetary policy in the eurozone,
meaning that interest rates may react differently in different countries within the eurozone, leading to differences in
yields on bonds issued by peripheral countries (such as Spain) and those issued by core countries, making it
challenging for the former to access credit. Lastly, Europe faces two significant long-term risks. First, a risk that
Europe may fall behind in the global technological race in particular because of its dependence on several critical
raw materials, indispensable for key sectors, that must be imported from other regions. Second, demographic
factors such as declining birth rates and population aging may have a negative impact on the region's labor force
and long-term growth prospects.

Regarding political risk, the 2024 European Parliament election may deepen political fragmentation and result in a
reduced representation of moderate positions in favor of extreme options, potentially weakening governance and
hindering the implementation of the ongoing agenda with respect to fiscal and economic matters, climate and
energy policy and other critical aspects of state governance.

« Spain: there are several local sources of risks. One of them stems from the risk that high commaodity prices
and/or the emergence of wage pressures could prolong the inflationary episode with a deeper impact on household
income. Secondly, and although the disbursement of Next Generation European Funds (NGEU) appears to be
gaining traction, further delays or even designing flaws could limit their final impact on GDP growth and
employment. In addition, as one of the most open countries in the world from a commercial point of view, being
among the top ten countries in respect of capital outflows and inflows globally, Spain could be negatively impacted
by the rise of protectionism and trade restrictions. Lastly, the impact of rising interest rates could be a source of
financial stress due to high public indebtedness and lead to a possible correction in the real estate market. In the
long term, the challenge is to increase potential growth through productivity and ensure the sustainability of public
debt.

* Germany: the risk of energy shortages has diminished in recent months due to Europe's response in terms
of diversification of energy sources and the rapid construction of regasification plants in the country. However, it is
possible that problems with energy supply may arise again. Gas flows (from Russia via Ukraine) could be lower
than expected, consumption could be higher due, for example, to an unusually cold winter, or competition for gas
from other countries could increase. On the other hand, there is concern that higher-than-expected wage growth
and/or higher input costs could lead to a stronger and longer inflationary cycle. As for the medium to long term,
there is a risk that a potential escalation of geopolitical tensions could reduce international trade, with a consequent
impact on the country’s potential growth, which is dependent on exports. In addition, long-term challenges remain,
such as the ageing of the population.
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» United Kingdom: a slower disinflationary process than previously expected could weigh on consumption
and further depress economic growth. In particular, there is a concern that currently dynamic wage growth could
lead to a further increase in the prices of goods and services, preventing inflation rates from normalizing as quickly
as anticipated. On the other hand, although the UK economy has few direct trade links with Russia and Ukraine, it is
vulnerable to developments in the global energy market as it is the second European economy with the largest
share of gas in the energy mix. Finally, the formal exit of the United Kingdom from the European Union on
December 31, 2020 (Brexit) has created new barriers to trade in goods and services, mobility and cross-border
exchanges, which will continue to entail an economic adjustment in the medium term.

In Latin America, the exchange rate risk is currently considered moderate by the Telefénica Group, except in
Argentina and Venezuela, but may increase in the future. The end of electoral events and rapid central bank actions
to contain inflation may, at least partially, limit the impact of external risks (global trade tensions, abrupt movements
in commodity prices, concerns about global growth, tightening U.S. monetary policy and financial imbalances in
China) and internal risks (managing the monetary normalization and the possible fiscal deterioration) but there is no
assurance that this will be the case.

Brazil: fiscal sustainability and increased economic intervention remain the main domestic risk, but it has
recently decreased. The new administration has demonstrated its commitment to fiscal sustainability by announcing
a new fiscal framework to replace the previous spending cap rule. Additionally, the Congress has also voted
favorably on the tax reform aimed at simplifying the indirect tax system and promoting stronger and sustainable
economic growth. So far, the economic measures announced by the new administration have helped alleviate
uncertainty around economic policies, resulting in an upward revision of Brazil's credit rating outlook by S&P. Risks
related to inflation and monetary policy have also decreased with the approval and maintenance of the inflation
target at low levels.

» Argentina: macroeconomic and exchange rate risks remain high. The main internal challenges include
achieving the political and social consensus necessary to reduce the public deficit and rebuild international reserves
in a context of high inflation, which jeopardizes the achievement of the new administration's objectives. On the
external front, a global slowdown leading to reduced demand for exported products and lower prices would result in
decreased foreign currency inflows, increasing vulnerability to volatility in international financial markets. Finally, the
application of price control measures and the still-existing exchange restrictions could adversely affect Telefénica's
profitability.

» Chile, Colombia, Peru and Ecuador. these countries are exposed not only to changes in the global
economy, given their vulnerability and exposure to changes in commodity prices, but also to tightening of global
financial conditions. On the domestic side, existing political instability and the possibility of further social unrest and
the resurgence of populism could have a negative impact in both the short and medium term. In this regard,
measures that result in excessive growth in public spending that jeopardize fiscal balance could have a negative
impact on sovereign credit ratings, further deteriorating local financing conditions. Inflation is becoming more
persistent than expected, which could limit central banks' ability to respond to an abrupt drop in activity levels and
could also increase the risk of financial instability. Political uncertainty has decreased in Chile, following the
rejection of the new proposed Constitution in December 2023, but the maintenance of the former status quo could
give rise to new social demands. In Colombia, the structural reforms promoted by Colombia's government are
currently expected to be more market friendly due to the weakening of the government coalition. In Peru, the
government succeeded in reducing the social protests against the installation of the new administration, although it
remains politically weak. In Ecuador, the new government is dealing with a turbulent political situation and internal
violence, marked by an increase in criminality.

As discussed above, the countries where the Group operates are generally facing significant economic uncertainties
and, in some cases, political uncertainties. The worsening of the economic and political environment in any of the
countries where Telefénica operates may materially adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition,
results of operations and/or cash flows.

The Group has and in the future could experience impairment of goodwill, investments accounted for by the
equity method, deferred tax assets or other assets.

In accordance with current accounting standards, the Telefénica Group reviews on an annual basis, or more
frequently when the circumstances require it, the need to introduce changes to the book value of its goodwill (which
as of December 31, 2023, represented 17.9% of the Group’s total assets), deferred tax assets (which as of
December 31, 2023, represented 6.0% of the Group’s total assets) or other assets, such as intangible assets (which
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represented 10.9% of the Group's total assets as of December 31, 2023), and property, plant and equipment (which
represented 22.0% of the Group's total assets as of December 31, 2023). In the case of goodwill, the potential loss
of value is determined by the analysis of the recoverable value of the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill is allocated at the time it is originated, and such calculation requires
significant assumptions and judgment. In 2023 impairment losses in the goodwill of Telefénica Ecuador were
recognized for a total of 58 million euros (impairment losses in other assets of Telefénica Argentina were recognized
for a total of 77 million euros in 2022 and impairment losses in the goodwill of Telefénica del Peru were recognized
for a total of 393 million euros in 2021). In addition, VMO2, our 50:50 joint venture with Liberty Global in the United
Kingdom, recorded in 2023 an impairment of goodwill amounting to 3,572 million euros, with a negative impact of
1,786 million euros on the share of (loss) income of investments accounted for by the equity method in the
consolidated income statement of the Group.

In addition, Telefénica may not be able to realize deferred tax assets on its statement of financial position to offset
future taxable income. The recoverability of deferred tax assets depends on the Group’s ability to generate taxable
income over the period for which the deferred tax assets remain deductible. If Telefénica believes it is unable to
utilize its deferred tax assets during the applicable period, it may be required to record an impairment against them
resulting in a non-cash charge on the income statement. By way of example, in 2021 deferred tax assets
corresponding to the tax Group in Spain amounting to 294 million euros were derecognized.

Further impairments of goodwill, deferred tax assets or other assets may occur in the future which may materially
adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and/or cash flows.

The Group faces risks relating to its levels of financial indebtedness, the Group's ability to finance itself,
and its ability to carry out its business plan.

The operation, expansion and improvement of the Telefénica Group's networks, the development and distribution of
the Telefénica Group's services and products, the implementation of Telefonica's strategic plan and the development
of new technologies, the renewal of licenses and the expansion of the Telefénica Group's business in countries
where it operates, may require a substantial amount of financing.

The Telefénica Group is a relevant and frequent issuer of debt in the capital markets. As of December 31, 2023, the
Group's gross financial debt amounted to 37,061 million euros (39,079 million euros as of December 31, 2022), and
the Group's net financial debt amounted to 27,349 million euros (26,687 million euros as of December 31, 2022). As
of December 31, 2023, the average maturity of the debt was 11.6 years (13.1 years as of December 31, 2022),
including undrawn committed credit facilities.

A decrease in the liquidity of Telefénica, or a difficulty in refinancing maturing debt or raising new funds as debt or
equity could force Telefénica to use resources allocated to investments or other commitments to pay its financial
debt, which could have a negative effect on the Group's business, financial condition, results of operations and/or
cash flows.

Funding could be more difficult and costly to obtain in the event of a deterioration of conditions in the international or
local financial markets due, for example, to monetary policies set by central banks, including increases in interest
rates and/or decreases in the supply of credit, increasing global political and commercial uncertainty and oil price
instability, or if there is an eventual deterioration in the solvency or operating performance of Telefonica.

As of December 31, 2023, the Group's gross financial debt scheduled to mature in 2024 amounted to 3,701 million
euros, and gross financial debt scheduled to mature in 2025 amounted to 3,900 million euros.

In accordance with its liquidity policy, Telefénica has covered its gross debt maturities for the next 12 months with
cash and credit lines available as of December 31, 2023. As of December 31, 2023, the Telefonica Group had
undrawn committed credit facilities arranged with banks for an amount of 11,315 million euros (11,148 million euros
of which were due to expire in more than 12 months). Liquidity could be affected if market conditions make it difficult
to renew undrawn credit lines. As of December 31, 2023, 1.5% of the aggregate undrawn amount under credit lines
was scheduled to expire prior to December 31, 2024.

In addition, given the interrelation between economic growth and financial stability, the materialization of any of the
economic, political and exchange rate risks referred to above could adversely impact the availability and cost of
Telefonica's financing and its liquidity strategy. This in turn could have a negative effect on the Group's business,
financial condition, results of operations and/or cash flows.
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Finally, any downgrade in the Group’s credit ratings may lead to an increase in the Group's borrowing costs and
could also limit its ability to access credit markets.

The Group's financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected if it does not effectively
manage its exposure to interest rates or foreign currency exchange rates.

Interest rate risk arises primarily in connection with changes in interest rates affecting: (i) financial expenses on
floating-rate debt (or short-term debt likely to be renewed); (ii) the value of long-term liabilities at fixed interest rates;
and (iii) financial expenses and principal payments of inflation-linked financial instruments, considering interest rate
risk as the impact of changes in inflation rates.

In nominal terms, as of December 31, 2023, 89% of the Group's net financial debt had its interest rate set at fixed
interest rates for periods of more than one year. The effective cost of debt related interest payments for the last 12
months excluding leases was 3.80% as of December 31, 2023 compared to 3.96% as of December 31, 2022. To
illustrate the sensitivity of financial expenses to variations in short-term interest rates as of December 31, 2023: (i) a
100 basis points increase in interest rates in all currencies in which Telefénica had a financial position at that date
would have led to an increase in financial expenses of 25 million euros, whereas (ii) a 100 basis points decrease in
interest rates in all currencies (even if negative rates are reached), would have led to a reduction in financial
expenses of 25 million euros. For the preparation of these calculations, a constant position equivalent to the position
at that date is assumed of net financial debt.

Exchange rate risk arises primarily from: (i) Telefénica’s international presence, through its investments and
businesses in countries that use currencies other than the euro (primarily in Latin America and the United Kingdom);
(i) debt denominated in currencies other than that of the country where the business is conducted or the home
country of the company incurring such debt; and (iii) trade receivables or payables in a foreign currency to the
currency of the company with which the transaction was registered. According to the Group's calculations, the
impact on results, and specifically on net exchange differences, due to a 10% depreciation of Latin American
currencies against the U.S. dollar and a 10% depreciation of the rest of the currencies to which the Group is most
exposed, against the euro would result in exchange gains of 17 million euros as of December 31, 2023 and a 10%
appreciation of Latin American currencies against the U.S. dollar and a 10% appreciation of the rest of the
currencies to which the Group is most exposed, would result in exchange losses of 17 million euros as of December
31, 2023. These calculations have been made assuming a constant currency position with an impact on profit or
loss as of December 31, 2023 taking into account derivative instruments in place.

In 2023, the evolution of exchange rates (without considering the effects of hyperinflationary countries) had a small
positive impact on the Group's results, increasing the year-on-year growth of the Group's consolidated revenues by
an estimated 0.2 percentage points, and not impacting OIBDA (positive impact of 4.5 percentage points and 3.0
percentage points, respectively, in 2022, mainly due to the evolution of the Brazilian real). Furthermore, translation
differences in 2023 had a positive impact on the Group's equity of 37 million euros (1,169 million euros in 2022). If
the impacts of hyperinflationary countries were considered, the adverse impact of variations in currencies on our
consolidated results, statement of financial position and statement of cash flows would have been higher.

The Telefénica Group uses a variety of strategies to manage this risk including, among others, the use of financial
derivatives, which are also exposed to risk, including counterparty risk. The Group's risk management strategies
may be ineffective, which could adversely affect the Group's business, financial condition, results of operations and/
or cash flows. If the Group does not effectively manage its exposure to foreign currency exchange rates or interest
rates, it may adversely affect its business, financial condition, results of operations and/or cash flows.

Legal and Compliance Risks.

Telefénica and Telefénica Group companies are party to lawsuits, antitrust, tax claims and other legal
proceedings.

Telefénica and Telefonica Group companies operate in highly regulated sectors and are and may in the future be
party to lawsuits, tax claims, antitrust and other legal proceedings in the ordinary course of their businesses, the
outcome of which is unpredictable.

The Telefénica Group is subject to regular reviews, tests and audits by tax authorities regarding taxes in the
jurisdictions in which it operates and is a party and may be a party to certain judicial tax proceedings. In particular,
the Telefénica Group is currently party to certain tax and regulatory proceedings in Brazil, primarily relating to the
ICMS (a Brazilian tax on telecommunication services) and the corporate tax.
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Telefonica Brazil maintained provisions for tax contingencies amounting to 515 million euros and provisions for
regulatory contingencies amounting to 329 million euros as of December 31, 2023. In addition, Telefénica Brazil
faces possible tax and regulatory contingencies for which no provisions are made. As of December 31, 2023, the
Telefonica Group maintained contingent liabilities related to income tax, other taxes and regulatory proceedings in
Brazil amounting to 5,678 million euros, 6,909 million euros and 1,264 million euros, respectively (see "ltem 8.
Financial Information—Consolidated Financial Statement—Tax Proceedings—Telefénica Brazil"). The Group makes
estimates for its tax liabilities that the Group considers reasonable, but if a tax authority disagrees, the Group could
face additional tax liability, including interest and penalties. There can be no guarantee that any payments related to
such contingencies or in excess of our estimates will not have a significant adverse effect on the Group’s business,
results of operations, financial condition and/or cash flows. In addition to the most significant litigation indicated
above, further details on these matters are provided in Notes 25 and 29 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
The details of the provisions for litigation, tax sanctions and claims can be found in Note 24 of the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Telefénica Group is also party to certain litigation in Peru concerning certain previous years' income taxes in respect
of which Telefénica has been notified that the judicial resolutions which resolve the contentious administrative
processes are unfavorable to the Group and will require it to pay taxes related to prior years. At the end of the
relevant proceedings, the Tax Administration, through an administrative act, will determine the amount of the
payment obligation. The estimated impact of the aforementioned judicial resolutions is already provisioned in
Telefonica's financial statements, with the total provision as of December 31, 2023 amounting to 3,117 million
Peruvian soles (approximately 761 million euros at the exchange rate at such date).

An adverse outcome or settlement in these or other proceedings, present or future, could result in significant costs
and may have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial condition, results of operations and/or
cash flows.

Increased scrutiny and changing expectations from stakeholders, evolving reporting and other legal
obligations and compliance with the Telefénica Group's own goals regarding ESG matters, may expose the
Telefénica Group to various risks.

The Telefénica Group may be unable to adapt to or comply with increasingly demanding expectations from analysts,
investors, customers and other stakeholders and new regulatory reporting or other legal requirements related to
ESG issues. Further, expectations and requirements may differ from region to region, may be based on diverging
calculation or other criteria and may experience material changes as they still are at their emerging phase.

Further, the Telefénica Group's disclosure of information on its ESG objectives and initiatives in its public reports
and other communications (including its CO, emission reduction targets) subjects it to the risk that it will fail to
achieve these objectives and initiatives.

Although the Telefénica Group is working to comply with new ESG reporting requirements, to achieve its objectives,
and to meet the expectations of its stakeholders in these matters, if the Company is unable to meet these
expectations, fails to adequately address ESG matters or fails to achieve the reported objectives (including its CO,
emission reduction targets), the Telefénica Group’s reputation, its business, financial position, results of operations
and/or cash flows could be materially and adversely affected.

The Telefénica Group is exposed to risks in relation to compliance with anti-corruption laws and
regulations and economic sanctions programs.

The Telefénica Group is required to comply with the anti-corruption laws and regulations of the jurisdictions where it
conducts operations around the world, including in certain circumstances with laws and regulations having
extraterritorial effect such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 and the United Kingdom Bribery Act of
2010. The anti-corruption laws generally prohibit, among other conduct, providing anything of value to government
officials for the purposes of obtaining or retaining business or securing any improper business advantage or failing
to keep accurate books and records and properly account for transactions.

In this sense, due to the nature of its activities, the Telefonica Group is increasingly exposed to this risk, which
increases the likelihood of occurrence. In particular, it is worth noting the continuous interaction with officials and
public administrations in several areas, including the institutional and regulatory fronts (as the Telefénica Group
carries out a regulated activity in different jurisdictions), the operational front (in the deployment of its network, the
Telefonica Group is subject to obtaining multiple activity permits) and the commercial front (the Telefénica Group
provides services directly and indirectly to public administrations). Moreover, Telefénica is a multinational group
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subject to the authority of different regulators and compliance with various regulations, which may be domestic or
extraterritorial in scope, civil or criminal, and which may lead to overlapping authority in certain cases. Therefore, it
is very difficult to quantify the possible impact of any breach, bearing in mind that such quantification must consider
not only the economic amount of sanctions, but also the potential negative impact on the business, reputation and/
or brand, or the ability to contract with public administrations.

Additionally, the Telefénica Group’s operations may be subject to, or otherwise affected by, economic sanctions
programs and other forms of trade restrictions (“sanctions”) including those administered by the United Nations, the
European Union, the United States, including by the U.S. Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Control
and the United Kingdom. The sanctions regulations restrict the Group’s business dealings with certain sanctioned
countries, territories, individuals and entities and may impose certain trade restrictions, among others, export and/or
import trade restrictions to certain good and services. In this context, the provision of services by a multinational
telecommunications group, such as the Telefénica Group, directly and indirectly, and in multiple countries, requires
the application of a high degree of diligence to prevent the contravention of sanctions (which take various forms,
including economic sanctions programs applicable to countries, territories, lists of entities and persons sanctioned
or certain trade restrictions). Given the nature of its activity, the Telefénica Group’s exposure to these sanctions is
particularly noteworthy.

Although the Group has internal policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with the above mentioned
applicable anti-corruption laws and sanctions regulations, there can be no assurance that such policies and
procedures will be sufficient or that the Group's employees, directors, officers, partners, agents and service
providers will not take actions in violation of the Group's policies and procedures (or, otherwise in violation of the
relevant anti-corruption laws and sanctions regulations) for which the Group, its subsidiaries or they may be
ultimately held responsible. In this regard, the Group is currently cooperating with governmental authorities (and,
where appropriate, conducting the relevant internal investigations) regarding requests for information potentially
related, directly or indirectly to possible violations of applicable anti-corruption laws. Telefénica believes that,
considering the size of the Group, any potential penalty as a result of matters relating to those specific information
requests would not materially affect the Group's financial condition.

Notwithstanding the above, violations of anti-corruption laws and sanctions regulations could lead not only to
financial penalties, but also to exclusion from government contracts, and the revocation of licenses and
authorizations, and could have a material adverse effect on the Group's reputation, or otherwise adversely affect the
Group's business, financial condition, results of operations and/or cash flows.

ltem 4. Information on the Company

A. History and Development of the Company
Overview

Telefénica, S.A. is a corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of the Kingdom of Spain, incorporated
on April 19, 1924. We:

» are a diversified telecommunications group which provides a comprehensive range of services through one
of the world’s largest and most modern telecommunications networks;

» are focused on providing telecommunications services; and
» operate principally in Europe and Latin America.
The following significant events occurred in 2023:

« On January 13, 2023, the first annual extension of the sustainability-linked syndicated credit facility for
5,500 million euros of Telefénica, S.A. was exercised. The new expiration date is 13 January 2028.

* On January 18, 2023, Telefénica informed that, once the corresponding regulatory and competition
approvals were obtained, Pontel Participaciones, S.L. (Telefénica's subsidiary then held 83.35% by Telefénica and
16.65% by Pontegadea Inversiones, S.L.) acquired 40% of the share capital of Telxius Telecom, S.A. from Taurus
Bidco S.a rl. (a company managed by KKR & Co, Inc. ("KKR")). As a result of the transaction, Pontel
Participaciones, S.L., which held the remaining 60% of Telxius Telecom, S.A.'s share capital, became the sole
shareholder of Telxius Telecom, S.A. In addition, Pontegadea Inversiones, S.L. increased its holding in Pontel
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Participaciones, S.L. to 30% and Telefénica kept a 70% holding. On March 24, 2023, the intermediate holding
company Pontel Participaciones, S.L. was merged into its wholly-owned subsidiary Telxius Telecom, S.A., with
Telxius Telecom, S.A. surviving. As a result of these transactions, Telefénica holds a 70% direct equity interest in
Telxius Telecom, S.A. while Pontegadea Inversiones, S.L. holds a 30% direct equity interest in Telxius Telecom, S.A.

* On January 23, 2023, Telefénica Emisiones, S.A.U. redeemed 1,277 million euros of its notes issued on
January 22, 2013. These notes were guaranteed by Telefénica, S.A.

* In January 2023, Telefénica Europe, B.V. carried out the following transactions related to its capital
structure:

° a new securities issue amounting to 1,000 million euros, guaranteed by Telefénica, S.A. An amount
equal to the net proceeds of the issue of the securities will be subject to specific eligibility criteria to be
applied to finance new or refinance existing projects, as detailed in Telefonica's previous Sustainable
Financing Framework (January 2021). The settlement took place on February 2, 2023; and

o a tender offer for the following hybrid instruments: (i) any outstanding 1,250 million euros. Undated
5.7 Year Non-Call Deeply Subordinated Guaranteed Fixed Rate Reset Securities (the "September 2023
Notes") and (ii) any outstanding 1,000 million euros. Undated 10 Year Non-Call Deeply Subordinated
Guaranteed Fixed Rate Reset Securities (the "March 2024 Notes"), irrevocably guaranteed by Telefénica,
S.A. Telefénica Europe, B.V. accepted the purchase in cash of the tendered securities for an aggregate
principal amount, with respect to the September 2023 Notes, of 388 million euros, and an aggregate
principal amount, with respect to the March 2024 Notes, of 612 million euros. The tender offer settled on
February 3, 2023.

* On February 23, 2023, Telefonica filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission its
annual report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2022.

* On February 24, 2023, the Board of Directors of Telefénica resolved to call the Annual General
Shareholders' Meeting to be held in Madrid, at the offices of Telefénica, S.A. located in Distrito Telefénica, Ronda de
la Comunicacion s/n, Central Building Auditorium, at 11:00 a.m. on March 31, 2023 on second call, in the event that
the legally required quorum would not be reached and therefore the Meeting could not be held on the first call that
had been called on March 30, 2023 at the same place and time.

+ On March 31, 2023, the Annual General Shareholders' Meeting of Telefénica held at second call approved
all the resolutions submitted by the Board of Directors for deliberation and vote by the General Shareholders'
Meeting.

Further to the Annual General Shareholders' Meeting of Telefénica, S.A., the Board of Directors resolved to
carry out the implementation of the share capital reduction through the cancellation of treasury shares approved by
the Annual General Shareholders' Meeting held on such date. As a result, the share capital of Telefénica was
reduced in the amount of 24,779,409 euros through the cancellation of 24,779,409 shares of Telefénica then held as
treasury stock, with a nominal value of one euro each. The share capital of Telefénica resulting from the reduction
was set at 5,750,458,145 euros corresponding to 5,750,458,145 shares with a nominal value of one euro each. On
April 17, 2023, the public deed relating to the share capital reduction was registered in the Commercial Registry of
Madrid.

Furthermore, Telefonica announced on that day that its Board of Directors approved the distribution of a
dividend in cash charged to unrestricted reserves, by means of a payment of a fixed gross amount of 0.30 euros
during 2023 payable in two tranches, for each existing Telefénica share and carrying entitlement to this distribution
on the following dates: (i) the first payment in cash of a gross amount of 0.15 euros per share was on June 15,
2023, and (ii) the second payment in cash of a gross amount of 0.15 euros per share was on December 14. 2023.

* On July 6, 2023, Telefénica Hispanoamérica, S.A. ("Telefénica Hispanoamérica") entered into share
subscription agreements with KKR and Entel Perd S.A. ("Entel Pert"), for the entry of both companies, with 54%
and 10% shareholding, respectively, into the share capital of Pangeaco, S.A.C. ("Pangea"), the wholesale FTTH
company in Peru, with Telefénica Hispanoamérica retaining a 36% shareholding in Pangea. As part of the
transaction, Telefénica del Peru S.A.A. ("Teleféonica del Perd") and Entel Pert agreed to sell to Pangea certain
assets from their FTTH infrastructure and the parties agreed to enter into certain other agreements, including
agreements for the provision of wholesale connectivity services by Telefénica del Peri and Entel Perd. The
transaction is subject to the obtaining of regulatory approvals.

32



Table of Contents

* On August 1, 2023, Telefénica Audiovisual Digital, S.L.U. ("Telefénica Audiovisual") was awarded the
exclusive broadcasting rights in Spain for the UEFA Champions League and UEFA Europa League, as well as the
UEFA Youth League and the UEFA Europa Conference League, for the 2024/25, 2025/26 and 2026/27 seasons.
This award is subject to the formalization of a contract with UEFA and will allow Telefénica Audiovisual to offer all the
main European football competitions to its residential customers in the Spanish market. Direct acquisition of this
content from UEFA will further strengthen Telefénica Audiovisual's offer, which will continue including all football
rights in the Spanish market, whilst allowing Telefénica to continue designing and marketing its channels and
content. The price for the broadcasting rights amounts to 320 million euros for each of the seasons 2024/25,
2025/26 and 2026/27.

* On August 30, 2023, Telefénica Europe, B.V. carried out the following transactions related to its capital
structure:

o anew issue amounting to 750 million euros, guaranteed by Telefonica, S.A. An amount equal to the
net proceeds of the issue of the securities will be subject to specific eligibility criteria to be applied to finance
new or refinance existing projects, as detailed in Telefénica's Sustainable Financing Framework. The
settlement took place on September 7, 2023; and

o a tender offer for any outstanding 1,000 million euros Undated 10 Year Non-Call Deeply
Subordinated Guaranteed Fixed Rate Reset Securities, irrevocably guaranteed by Telefénica, S.A.
Telefonica Europe, B.V. accepted the purchase in cash of the tendered securities for an aggregate principal
amount of 242 million euros. The tender offer settled on September 5, 2023.

*+ On September 5, 2023, Telefonica was informed that STC Group acquired a 9.9% stake in Telefonica.
According to STC Group, the stake was acquired through the acquisition of shares representing 4.9% of the share
capital of Telefonica and through financial instruments that provide an economic exposure over an additional 5.0%
of the share capital of Telefonica.

* On October 31, 2023, VMO2 reached an agreement to sell a 16.67% minority stake in its mobile tower joint
venture, Cornerstone Telecommunications Infrastructure Limited ("Cornerstone") to the UK-based infrastructure
fund GLIL Infrastructure LLP ("GLIL") for 360 million pounds sterling payable in cash (approximately 413 million
euros at the exchange rate of that day). The sale was structured through a VMO2 holding company ("HoldCo"),
which owned 50% of Cornerstone shares prior to the transaction. After the transaction, GLIL owns 33.33% of
HoldCo and VMO2 owns the remaining 66.67% of HoldCo, leaving VMO2 with a 33.33% indirect stake in
Cornerstone. As the majority shareholder of HoldCo, VMO2 continues co-controlling Cornerstone, together with
Vantage Towers, and continues to proportionally consolidate Cornerstone in its financial accounts.

* On November 7, 2023, the Executive Commission of Telefonica, pursuant to the authorization granted by
the Board of Directors, resolved to make, through Telefénica Local Services GmbH (a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary of Telefonica), a voluntary public acquisition offer in the form of a partial offer for shares representing
approximately up to 28.19% of the share capital and the voting rights of Telefonica Deutschland Holding AG
("Telefénica Deutschland"). The offer was structured as a share purchase. The consideration offered to Telefonica
Deutschland shareholders amounted to 2.35 euros in cash for each share, representing a premium of approximately
(i) 37.6% over Telefénica Deutschland's closing price on November 6, the last trading day prior to the publication of
the announcement of the decision to make the offer; and (ii) 36.3% over Telefénica Deutschland's volume-weighted
average price during the three months prior to such announcement. On December 5, 2023, the relevant offer
document was published after review and approval by the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority. On
December 13, 2023, Telefénica Deutschland's Management and Supervisory Boards issued a joint reasoned
statement, recommending that its shareholders accept the offer. The acceptance period for the offer commenced on
December 5, 2023 and expired on January 17, 2024 without extension. The offer was accepted by shareholders
holding 7.86% of Telefonica Deutschland's shares. The offer was settled on January 26, 2024. Telefonica currently
holds shares representing approximately 94.12% of share capital and the voting rights of Telefénica Deutschland.
For more information, see “—Public Takeover Offers" below.

* On November 8, 2023, Telefénica, during the Capital Markets Day, communicated its strategic guidelines up
to 2026, the expected consolidated performance based on the key financial indicators of the GPS framework
(Growth, Profitability and Sustainability), and, with respect to 2024 guidance, the key financial indicators. Telefénica
also committed to a 0.30 euro annual dividend per share as a floor during the 2023-2026 period, subject to adoption
of the corresponding corporate resolutions.
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* On November 14, 2023, Telefénica Emisiones, S.A.U. launched under its European medium-term notes
program (the "EMTN Programme") an issuance of notes guaranteed by Telefonica, S.A. in an aggregate principal
amount of 850 million euros. The notes are due on November 21, 2033, pay an annual coupon of 4.183% and were
issued at par (100%). The settlement took place on November 21, 2023. An amount equivalent to the net proceeds
of the issuance is intended to be allocated towards eligible investments: mainly transformation and modernization of
telecommunications networks based on high-speed fixed and mobile networks, including supporting infrastructure
and software to improve the energy efficiency of the networks, as well as the implementation of Telefénica's
Renewable Energy Plan, and development and implementation of digital products and services with a focus on
saving energy and/or natural resources.

* On November 20, 2023, Telefénica Emisiones, S.A.U. jointly with Telefénica Europe B.V. (together, the
“Offerors”) commenced a debt tender offer to purchase for cash debt securities guaranteed by Telefénica, S.A. of
the following series, subject to the relevant limits and caps: (i) Telefénica Emisiones’s 4.665% Notes due 2038, (ii)
Telefénica Emisiones’s 4.103% Notes due 2027 and (iii) Telefénica Europe’s 8.250% Notes due 2030. On
December 5, 2023, Telefonica announced that the Offerors had accepted for purchase tendered debt securities with
an aggregate principal amount of approximately 500 million U.S. dollars.

* On December 13, 2023, the Board of Directors of Telefénica, S.A. adopted the following resolutions in
relation to its Board of Directors and its Committees, following a favorable report from the Nominating,
Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee: (i) to accept the voluntary resignations presented by Mr.
Peter Erskine (Director Other External) and Mr. Juan Ignacio Cirac Sasturain (Independent Director) from their
positions as Directors of Telefénica; (ii) to appoint Mr. Alejandro Reynal Ample and Ms. Solange Sobral Targa, both
as Independent Directors, to the Board of Directors of Telefénica; (iii) to eliminate the Strategy and Innovation
Committee; (iv) to integrate the Regulation and Institutional Affairs Committee and the Sustainability and Quality
Committee into a single Committee renamed as the Sustainability and Regulation Committee; and (v) to appoint Ms.
Claudia Sender Ramirez as a member of the Executive Commission, Ms. Maria Luisa Garcia Blanco as a member
of the Audit and Control Committee, Ms. Verénica Pascual Boé as a member of the Nominating, Compensation and
Corporate Governance Committee, and Mr. Francisco Javier de Paz Mancho, Mr. José Maria Abril Pérez, Ms. Maria
Luisa Garcia Blanco, Ms. Carmen Garcia de Andrés, Ms. Maria Rotondo Urcola and Ms. Solange Sobral Targa as
members of the new Sustainability and Regulation Committee. On the same day, the newly formed Sustainability
and Regulation Committee agreed to appoint Mr. Francisco Javier de Paz Mancho as its Chairman.

* On December 19, 2023, following the announcement by the Sociedad Estatal de Participaciones
Industriales (SEPI) that the Spanish Council of Ministers had agreed to acquire up to 10% of Telefénica's share
capital, Telefénica stated that it remains focused on the execution of the recently approved 2023-2026 Strategic
Plan announced at the Capital Markets Day on November 8, 2023.

For information on certain significant events that have occurred to date in 2024, see “—Recent Developments”.

34



Table of Contents

Business areas

In 2023 the Telefénica Group is reporting financial information, both internally and externally, according to
the following segments: Telefonica Spain, VMO2, Telefénica Germany, Telefénica Brazil and Telefonica Hispam
(formed by the Group's operators in Colombia, Mexico, Venezuela, Ecuador, Argentina, Chile, Peru and Uruguay).

During 2021, compared to 2020, the Telefénica Group changed its reporting segments as follows:

* On June 1, 2021, upon the establishment of VMO2 (whose results are accounted for under the equity
method), the former Telefonica United Kingdom segment was replaced by the new VMO2 segment (see Notes 2
and 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements). The VMO2 segment information included in this Annual
Report is presented under management criteria, and shows 100% of VMO2’s results. In addition, information
included in this Annual Report on the accesses of the Group and the VMO2 segment as of December 31, 2023,
December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 includes 100% of the accesses of VMOZ2. Telefénica’s actual
percentage ownership of VMO?2 is 50%.

The Group’s consolidated results for the year ended December 31, 2021 include the consolidation of
Telefonica United Kingdom from January 1 to June 1, and the equity accounting of 50% of the net result of VMO2
from June 1 to December 31 (see Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements). The gain registered upon
the establishment of VMO2, amounting to 4,460 million euros (see Notes 2 and 23 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements), is recorded under "Other companies".

Since it is not practicable to restate the historical segment financial information to reflect this segment
change, in this Annual Report, the relevant segment discussions for 2022-2021 analyze the results of our VMO2
segment by comparing the results obtained by VMO2 from January 1 to December 31, 2022 with the results
obtained by VMO2 from June 1 (the date on which VMO2 was established) to December 31, 2021, without
including the results obtained in the first five months of the year in the former Telefénica United Kingdom
segment.

* The Telxius Group ceased to be a reporting segment in 2021 as a result of the sale of the
telecommunications towers divisions in Europe and Latin America to American Tower Corporation (see Note 2 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements). The Telxius Group’s results as well as the gain obtained for the sale of
the telecommunications towers divisions, amounting to 6,099 million euros (see Notes 2 and 22 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements), were recorded under "Other companies".

The segments referred to above include the information related to the fixed, wireless, cable, data, Internet
and television businesses and other digital services provided in each related region. Inter-
segment transactions are carried out on an arm's-length basis.

Information relating to other Group companies not specifically included in the segments referred to above is
reported under "Other companies" (see Appendix | to the Consolidated Financial Statements), which includes
Telefonica, S.A. and other holding companies, as well as companies whose main purpose is to provide cross-
sectional services to Group companies, and other operations not included in the segments. The Incremental Group
and BE-terna Group, acquired in March and June of 2022 (see Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements),
respectively, are reported within "Other companies". "Other companies" also includes the share of results of
investments accounted for by the equity method corresponding to the fiber optic companies in which Telefonica
Infra, S.L. ("T. Infra") has ownership interests (see Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

The Group centrally manages borrowing activities, mainly through Telefénica, S.A. and other companies
included in “Other companies” (see Note 19, Appendix Ill and Appendix V to the Consolidated Financial
Statements), so most of the Group's financial assets and liabilities are reported under “Other companies”. In
addition, Telefénica, S.A. is the head of the Telefénica tax group in Spain (see Note 25 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements). Therefore, a significant part of the deferred tax assets and liabilities is included under “Other
companies”. For these reasons, the results of the segments are disclosed up through operating income.

Revenues and expenses arising from intra-group invoicing for the use of the trademark and management
services were eliminated from the operating results of each Group segment. The results of the holding companies
also exclude dividends from Group companies and impairments of investments in Group companies. These
adjustments have no impact on the Group’s consolidated results. In addition, segment reporting considers the
impact of the purchase price allocation to the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed by the companies included
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in each segment. The assets and liabilities presented in each segment are those managed by the heads of each
segment, regardless of their legal structure.
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The following chart shows the organizational structure of the principal subsidiaries of the Telefénica Group at
December 31, 2023, including their jurisdictions of incorporation and our ownership interest. For further detail, see

Exhibit 8.1 to this Annual Report.
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@ On November 7, 2023, Telefonica, through its subsidiary Telefonica Local Services GmbH, made a
voluntary public tender offer in the form of a partial offer to the shareholders of Telefonica Deutschland (holding
company of Telefénica Germany GmbH & Co.). From the date of Telefénica's announcement of the tender offer
on November 7, 2023, until January 26, 2024, the date of the settlement of the offer, Telefénica increased its
stake in the share capital of Telefénica Deutschland from approximately 71.81% to approximately 94.12%.
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Telefénica, S.A., the parent company of the Telefonica Group, operates as a holding company with the following
objectives:

» coordinate the Group’s activities;

» allocate resources efficiently among the Group;

« provide managerial guidelines for the Group;

* manage the Group’s portfolio of businesses;

» foster cohesion within the Group; and

» foster synergies among the Group’s subsidiaries.

Our principal executive offices are located at Distrito Telefénica, Ronda de la Comunicacion, s/n, 28050 Madrid,
Spain, and our registered offices are located at Gran Via, 28, 28013 Madrid, Spain. Our telephone number is +34
900 111 004.

Capital Expenditures

Our principal capital expenditures for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, consisted of additions to
property, plant and equipment and additions to intangible assets, including spectrum. In 2023, 2022 and 2021, we
had capital expenditures of 5,579 million euros, 5,819 million euros and 7,267 million euros, respectively.

Year ended December 31, 2023

Capital expenditures in 2023 decreased by 4.1% compared to 2022. Capital expenditures in 2023 included the cost
of spectrum mainly in Argentina and Spain, amounting to 183 million euros.

Investment by Telefénica Spain amounted to 1,607 million euros and was primarily focused on continuing the
deployment of the fiber optic network to achieve the goal of decommissioning the legacy copper network. Telefénica
Spain’s fiber optic network reached more than 29 million premises passed by year-end 2023. Likewise, investment
in 4G network capacity continued, as well as in the deployment of the 5G network, where population coverage had
reached 87% by the end of the year. Investment by Telefénica Germany in 2023 amounted to 1,133 million euros
and was primarily focused on continuing the strong progress in network modernization, especially with respect to
5G, where 94% population coverage had been reached by the end of 2023. Telefénica Germany also made
investments in expanding 4G capacity, to absorb traffic growth and reduce congestion nodes. The transformation of
the transport network in Germany continued in 2023 as well as the transformation of the business support systems
(BSS) in IT. Investment by Telefénica Brazil in 2023 amounted to 1,671 million euros and was mainly dedicated to
extending the capacity of 4G mobile networks, improving quality, absorbing traffic growth and preparing the network
for 5G deployment, as well as a massive rollout of 5G in the 3,500MHz band. Telefénica Brazil continued the
expansion of its FTTH network, reaching more than 26 million premises passed by year-end 2023. Investment by
Telefonica Hispam in 2023 amounted to 938 million euros and was mainly focused on the improvement of mobile
networks (with coverage expansions and capacity reinforcement) as well as on the deployment of our own fixed
network through the fiber optic companies incorporated since 2021 (in which we generally retain a non-controlling
stake) that currently operate in Chile, Colombia and Peru and through certain strategic alliances in Argentina. The
efficient administration of available resources and the optimization of CapEx are the main management levers in the
region, focusing on the simplification and digitization of processes and the promotion of regional initiatives to
accomplish synergies during the negotiation of projects and to identify the best practices in the region that can be
replicated in other operating businesses. Further, focus has been placed on the legacy shutdown process, such as
achieving the mainframe technology shutdown with the complete migration of clients to the full stack system.

Year ended December 31, 2022

Capital expenditures in 2022 decreased by 19.9% compared to 2021. Capital expenditures in 2022 included the
cost of spectrum mainly in Colombia, Brazil, Argentina and Uruguay, amounting to 173 million euros.

Investment by Telefonica Spain amounted to 1,550 million euros and was primarily focused on continuing the
deployment of the fiber optic network, exceeding 28 million premises passed by year-end 2022, as well the
development of the 5G network, reaching 85% population coverage at the end of the year. Investment by Telefénica
Germany in 2022 amounted to 1,209 million euros and was primarily focused on continuing the progress in 5G roll-
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out and network modernization. 5G population coverage stood at approximately 80% at year-end, significantly over-
achieving the initial target and aiming for nationwide 5G coverage by no later than 2025. Investment by Telefénica
Brazil in 2022 amounted to 1,795 million euros and was mainly dedicated to extending the coverage and capacity of
4G mobile networks, with a population coverage of 96%, and the improvement of network quality and deployment of
the FTTH network in the fixed business, exceeding 23.3 million premises passed. Investment by Telefénica Hispam
in 2022 amounted to 1,058 million euros and was mainly focused on the improvement of mobile networks (with
coverage expansions and capacity reinforcement) as well as on the deployment of our own fixed network. The
efficient administration of available resources and the optimization of CapEx were the main management levers in
the region, focusing on the simplification, digitization of processes and the search for synergies through the
promotion of regional initiatives.

Year ended December 31, 2021

Capital expenditures in 2021 increased by 24.0% compared to 2020. Capital expenditures in 2021 included the cost
of spectrum mainly in Brazil, United Kingdom, Spain and Chile, amounting to 1,704 million euros.

Investment by Telefonica Spain amounted to 1,815 million euros and was primarily focused on continuing the fast
deployment of the fiber optic network, exceeding 26 million premises passed by year-end 2021, as well the
development of the 5G network reaching 81% population coverage at the end of the year. Investment by our former
Telefénica United Kingdom segment during the first five months of 2021 (before the establishment of VMO2)
amounted to 933 million euros and was mainly focused on 5G deployment, reaching 200 cities, and improving the
fixed network. Investment by Telefénica Germany in 2021 amounted to 1,284 million euros and was primarily
focused on the accelerated 3G network switch off and the continued improvement of the 4G/5G networks (5G
network is active in more than 200 cities, achieving a coverage of 30% by year-end 2021). Investment by Telefonica
Brazil in 2021 amounted to 2,069 million euros and was mainly dedicated to extending the coverage and capacity of
4G mobile networks, with a population coverage of 93%, and the improvement of network quality and deployment of
the FTTH network in the fixed business, exceeding 19.5 million premises passed. Investment by Telefénica Hispam
in 2021 amounted to 978 million euros and was mainly focused on improving the coverage and capacity of 4G
networks, the launch of 5G in Chile and ultra-broadband fixed capabilities. In addition, the simplification and
digitization of processes continued to be one of the main investment focuses outside of the resources allocated to
the network.

Financial Investments and Divestitures

Our principal financial investments in 2023 (including transactions announced in 2023 and expected to be
completed in 2024) were: (i) the acquisition by Pontel Participaciones, S.L. (Telefénica's subsidiary then held
83.35% by Telefonica and 16.65% by Pontegadea Inversiones, S.L.) of 40% of the share capital of Telxius Telecom,
S.A. from Taurus Bidco S.a r.l. (a company managed by KKR) on January 18, 2023 as a result of which acquisition
Pontel Participaciones, S.L., became the sole shareholder of Telxius Telecom, S.A. (which later absorbed Pontel
Participaciones, S.L.). Within the framework of this transaction, Pontel Participaciones, S.L. carried out a capital
increase fully subscribed and paid up by its shareholders in proportions agreed between them, in such a way that
both Telefénica and Pontegadea Inversiones, S.L. paid out 111 million euros. The impact of this transaction on the
consolidated statement of changes in equity was a reduction in equity attributable to the parent company for an
amount of 46 million euros and a reduction in equity attributable to minority interests for an amount of 585 million
euros (see Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements); and (ii) a voluntary public acquisition offer for shares
representing up to approximately 28.19% of the share capital and voting rights of Telefénica Deutschland. The offer
was announced by Telefonica on November 7, 2023, and the consideration offered to Telefonica Deutschland
shareholders amounted to 2.35 euros in cash for each share, representing a premium of approximately (a) 37.6%
over Telefonica Deutschland's previous day closing price and (b) 36.3% over Telefonica Deutschland's volume-
weighted average price during the three months prior to the announcement. On December 5, 2023, the relevant
offer document was published after review and approval by the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority.
The acceptance period for the offer commenced on December 5, 2023 and expired on January 17, 2024 without
extension. The offer was settled on January 26, 2024. For additional information, see “—Public Takeover Offers”
below.

Telefénica did not complete any significant financial divestitures in 2023. On July 6, 2023 Telefénica
Hispanoameérica entered into agreements to sell 54% and 10% stakes in Pangea, the wholesale FTTH company in
Peru, to KKR and Entel Peru, respectively. Upon settlement of the transactions, which are currently subject to
obtaining regulatory approvals, Telefénica Hispanoamérica will retain a 36% stake in Pangea (see Note 30 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements).
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Our principal financial investments in 2022 were: (i) the acquisition of the mobile assets of the Oi Group on April 20,
2022 for consideration of 1,093 million euros; (ii) the acquisition of Incremental Group on March 21, 2022 for
consideration of 104 million euros (including potential contingent payments linked to its future performance); (iii) the
acquisition of BE-terna Group on June 9, 2022 for consideration of 191 million euros (including potential contingent
payments linked to its future performance); and (iv) the closing on December 20, 2022 of the agreement between
Telefonica de Espafia, S.A.U. and T. Infra with a consortium formed by Vauban Infrastructure Partners and Crédit
Agricole Assurances to incorporate a company, Bluevia Fibra, S.L., for the deployment and commercialization of an
FTTH network mainly in rural areas in Spain, after obtaining the corresponding regulatory authorizations and the
fulfillment of certain other agreed conditions. The consortium acquired 45% of the company for the amount of 1,021
million euros.

Our principal financial divestiture in 2022 was the sale on January 13, 2022 of Telefénica Méviles El Salvador to
General International Telecom El Salvador, S.A. de C.V. for 139 million U.S. dollars (approximately 121 million
euros at the exchange rate at such date), after the satisfaction of the relevant closing conditions and once the
relevant regulatory approvals were obtained.

Our principal financial investments in 2021 were: (i) the closing of the transaction among Telefénica and Liberty
Global and the establishment of VMO2 through the combination of their respective operating businesses in the
United Kingdom (O2 Holdings Ltd. and Virgin Media UK, respectively) to create an integrated communications
provider in the United Kingdom, with Telefénica holding a 50% stake in VMOZ2; (ii) the acquisition of 100% of the
shares in Cancom Ltd by Telefénica Cybersecurity & Cloud Tech, S.L.U. ("Teleféonica Tech") on July 29, 2021 for 340
million pounds sterling (approximately 398 million euros at the date of the transaction); (iii) the closing on July 21,
2021 of part of the investment agreement in Nabiax by which T. Infra received a 13.94% equity stake in Nabiax in
exchange for two data centers in Spain. The fulfillment of the conditions related to the contribution of two additional
data centers in Chile occurred on May 24, 2022. Following the completion of the addition, T. Infra's stake in Nabiax
increased to 20%; and (iv) the closing on July 2, 2021 of the investment agreement with Caisse de dépobt et
placement du Quebec ("CDPQ") in FiBrasil Infraestructura e Fibra Otica S.A. ("FiBrasil"), each of which held 50%
under a co-control governance model.

Our principal financial divestitures in 2021 were: (i) the sale of Telxius telecommunications towers divisions in
Europe (Spain and Germany) and in Latin America (Brazil, Peru, Chile and Argentina), as well as 4,080 sites that
Telxius undertook to acquire from Telefénica Germany GmbH & Co. OHG, under the second phase of the
agreement reached between both parties on June 8, 2020, to American Tower Corporation for 7,865 million euros;
(ii) the sale of Telefénica de Costa Rica TC, S.A. to Liberty Latin America Ltd for 538 million U.S. dollars
(approximately 457 million euros at the date of the agreement); and (iii) the sale on July 1, 2021 of 60% of the
shares of InfraCo, SpA to KKR Alameda Aggregator L.P. by Telefénica Chile, S.A. The transaction values InfraCo,
SpA at 1.0 billion U.S. dollars (approximately 0.8 billion euros at the exchange rate as of the date of the agreement).

Active portfolio management is part of Telefonica’s strategy and therefore it may undertake transactions involving its
or its subsidiaries' shares, including transactions similar to those undertaken in the 2021-2023 period or otherwise,
at any time.

Public Takeover Offers

On November 7, 2023, Telefonica, through its subsidiary Telefonica Local Services GmbH, launched a partial
voluntary public tender offer for shares representing up to approximately 28.19% of the share capital and voting
rights of Telefénica Deutschland. The consideration offered to Telefénica Deutschland shareholders amounted to
2.35 euros in cash for each share, representing a premium of approximately (i) 37.6% over Telefénica
Deutschland's previous day closing price and (ii) 36.3% over Telefonica Deutschland's volume-weighted average
price during the three months prior to the announcement. The offer acceptance period began on December 5, 2023
and ended on January 17, 2024 (both inclusive).

At the date of the offer announcement, Telefénica was the owner, directly or indirectly, of 71.81% of the share capital
and voting rights of Telefénica Deutschland, and, consequently, the offer was announced for shares representing
approximately the 28.19% of share capital and voting rights remaining. Upon the conclusion of the acceptance
period, the offer had been accepted by shareholders holding 233,732,773 Telefonica Deutschland shares,
representing approximately 7.86% of the company’s share capital and voting rights, for an approximate amount of
549 million euros. The offer settled on January 26, 2024.

In addition, Telefénica made direct market purchases, outside the offer, from January 1, 2024 to January 26, 2024,
acquiring a total of 113,999,566 shares of the aforementioned subsidiary, for an approximate amount of 268 million
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euros. Thus, as of January 26, 2024 Telefénica owned, directly and indirectly, 2,799,576,769 shares representing
94.12% of the share capital and voting rights of Telefonica Deutschland.

Recent Developments

The principal events that have occurred since December 31, 2023 are set forth below:

.

On January 3, 2024, certain subsidiaries of Telefonica Spain endorsed the agreement reached on December
28, 2023 with the most representative trade unions to (i) sign the Ill Collective Bargaining Agreement, which
runs until December 31, 2026 and can be extended for a further year; and (ii) execute a collective redundancies
plan affecting up to a total of 3,420 employees (the "Collective Redundancies Plan"). Employees turning 56
years or older in 2024 and with a seniority of more than 15 years can adhere to the Collective Redundancies
Plan. However, targets have been established that may result in limits on joining in critical areas or additional
redundancies based on business reasons. The present value of the estimated payment flows resulting from the
Collective Redundancies Plan is estimated in a provision of 1,320 million euros (before taxes), recorded as of
December 31, 2023 under "Personnel expenses" (see Note 24.a to the Consolidated Financial Statements),
with no cash impact as of such date.

On January 17, 2024, Telefénica, S.A., through its wholly-owned subsidiary Telefénica Emisiones, S.A.U.,
launched under the EMTN Programme a new issuance of notes guaranteed by Telefénica, S.A. in an aggregate
principal amount of 1,750 million euros. This issue was split into two tranches. The first tranche, with an
aggregate principal amount of 1,000 million euros, due on January 24, 2032, pays an annual coupon of 3.698%
and was issued at par. The second tranche, with an aggregate principal amount of 750 million euros, due on
January 24, 2036, pays an annual coupon of 4.055% and was also issued at par. The settlement of the
transaction took place on January 24, 2024. An amount equivalent to the net proceeds will be allocated towards
eligible investments in accordance with Telefénica's 2023 Sustainable Financing Framework, including the
transformation and modernization of telecommunications networks based on high-speed fixed and mobile
networks, including supporting infrastructure and software to improve the energy efficiency of the networks, as
well as the implementation of Telefénica's Renewable Energy Plan, and development and implementation of
digital products and services with a focus on saving energy and/or natural resources.

On January 19, 2024, Telefénica Audiovisual was awarded exclusive broadcasting rights for five matches per
matchday of the Spanish First Division Football League National Championship for pay television in the
residential market in Spain. Telefénica Audiovisual will have first pick on 18 matchdays and second pick on 17
matchdays (or the applicable portion for the 2024/2025 season), including the second match of the season
between Real Madrid and Barcelona. In addition, it has been awarded exclusive broadcasting rights of one
matchday for the 2024/2025 season and three matchdays in the remaining seasons. The award covers the
2024/2025 season, beginning January 20, 2025, as well as the 2025/2026 and 2026/2027 seasons. The price
has been set at 250 million euros for the 2024/2025 season and 520 million euros for each of the 2025/2026
and 2026/2027 seasons.

On January 26, 2024, Telefénica's voluntary partial tender offer for shares of Telefénica Deutschland was
settled. See "—Public Takeover Offers" above.

Public Information

The SEC maintains an Internet site (www.sec.gov) that contains reports and other information regarding issuers that
file electronically with the SEC, including Telefénica. See "ltem 10. Additional Information—Documents on Display".
Additional information on the Group is also available on our website at www.telefonica.com. The information
contained on such websites does not form part of this Annual Report on Form 20-F.
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B. Business Overview

Telefénica is a telecommunications service provider with its footprint in some markets in Europe and Latin America.
Our objective is to create, protect and promote fixed and mobile connections for our customers helping them to take
control over their digital lifestyle. Therefore, we primarily offer our customers the connectivity they need to interact
and live in the markets where we operate through simple products and services while protecting their data and
managing it in a responsible way. We rely on modern technology to create a better and more inclusive society. We
aim at offering our customers the possibility to reach the digital world regardless of their location, economic status,
level of digital knowledge and capacities.

The Telefonica Group’s strategy aims to:

Enhance value through:

Making our world more human, by connecting lives in a sustainable way as we continue to leverage
opportunities in our markets and deliver towards our strategy focused on value creation.

Offering good connectivity, for which our infrastructure management and our continuous investment in
network and platforms are key.

Good connectivity is the enabler for all digital services. Telefénica provides a wide range of services over
connectivity through a fixed and mobile bundled offer which includes video and digital services. We offer our
customers additional data in order to amplify services through unique, simple and clear offers.

Focusing on customers’ needs, making their life and digital experience easier through customized offers,

With the following enablers:

End-to-end digitalization: seeking the reduction of our legacy investments to increase virtualization, the
reduction of physical servers, data centers and applications, the digitalization of IT systems and processes
and the digitalization of front and back office. Digitalization efforts undertaken in the past have allowed
Telefonica to provide a rapid response to companies as they adapted to and sought to enhance their
competitiveness in the new landscape.

Big Data, Artificial Intelligence and innovation to add value to our customers.

Continued focus on the simplification of processes, cost efficiencies, right-sizing and the realization of
synergies in the United Kingdom. Additionally, the Company is driving efficiencies to reduce OpEx through
switching from copper to fiber broadband networks and legacy technology switch-off. In Spain, Telefonica
plans to switch off all copper access loops by April 2024, and the Company is focusing its CapEx on 5G
deployment in several segments.

Digital trust: as we manage ever more personal information about our customers, their trust in us is key.
Telefonica seeks a relationship of trust with its customers, and therefore we invest in network security.
Telefonica is developing tools to protect information stored on user devices and transmitted across our fixed
and mobile communications networks, as well as to protect customers' digital identity.

Fiber, 4G and 5G deployment enables Telefénica to maintain and grow its customer base in terms of
accesses, and decrease churn, by offering customers a better experience. These networks help Telefénica
to contribute to make technology more accessible and sustainable, to continue to maintain high quality
services for home offices and a higher consumption of entertainment services.

In recent years, Telefénica has diversified its revenue mix with adjacent businesses. These efforts include:
Solar 360, a joint venture of Repsol and Telefénica Spain, formed to develop a solar self-consumption
business; Movistar Prosegur Alarmas, a security joint venture formed by Prosegur and Telefénica Spain
in September 2020; Vivo Ventures, a corporate venture capital fund created with Telefonica Open
Innovation, through which Telefénica has committed to invest in the Brazilian "fintech" Klavi, to reinforce
Telefonica's presence in the financial solutions sector; and the TeCuida smartwatch, a new telecare device
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and service for people over 60 years and people with a low degree of dependency that detects falls, inside
and outside the home. It also assists users in emergency situations, anywhere, 24 hours a day, 7 days a
week, locating the person, notifying their contacts and arranging for any needed assistance.
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Results Highlights

In 2023, Telefonica delivered a good operational performance. Telefénica maintained a strong market position,
growing in high-value accesses such as fiber and mobile contract. We have grown in reported revenue y-o-y with
lower churn compared to 2022. Investments in next generation networks, like Fiber, 4G and 5G, have allowed
Telefonica to maintain and grow its customer base in terms of accesses, and decrease churn, by offering customers
a better experience. In addition, Telefénica has driven efficiencies to reduce OpEx by switching from copper to fiber
broadband networks and switching off certain legacy technologies, network sharing, reducing energy costs through
hedging agreements and right-sizing the organization.

The table below shows the evolution of accesses over the past three years as of December 31 of such years:

ACCESSES

Thousands of accesses
Fixed telephony accesses

Broadband
UBB
FTTH
Mobile accesses
Prepay
Contract
loT
Pay TV

Retail Accesses
Wholesale Accesses
Fixed wholesale accesses
FTTH wholesale accesses
Mobile wholesale accesses
Total Accesses

Notes:

2021
29,966.9
25,833.3
22,281.8
12,243.8

277,793.3
129,675.7
117,432.1
30,685.4
11,1117
344,945.5
24,173.3
3,694.5
2,988.0
20,478.8
369,118.9

2022
27,941.9
26,303.9
23,757.7
14,273.0

292,168.1
129,685.7
126,242.3
36,240.1
10,586.5
357,213.3
25,932.9
3,665.7
3,211.7
22,267.2
383,146.2

2023 % YoY 22/21

26,261.2
26,787.8
25,048.7
16,121.4
298,569.5
127,766.9
130,134.1
40,668.5
10,258.5
362,073.4
25,724.2
3,679.9
3,295.3
22,1443
387,797.6

(6.8%)
1.8%
6.6%

16.6%
5.2%
0.0%
7.5%

18.1%

(4.7%)
3.6%
7.3%

(0.8%)
7.5%
8.7%
3.8%

% YoY 23/22
(6.0%)
1.8%
5.4%
13.0%
2.2%
(1.5%)
3.1%
12.2%
(3.1%)
1.4%
(0.8%)
(2.3%)
2.6%
(0.6%)
1.2%

™ The table includes, with respect to 2021, accesses of Telefénica El Salvador (1.8 million total accesses as of December 31, 2021). The sale of
Telefénica El Salvador was completed on January 13, 2022.

@ Includes fixed wireless and VoIP accesses.
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The table below shows the evolution of accesses by segment:

22/21 YoY 23/22 YoY % Over Total Accesses
Accesses variation  variation 2021 2022 2023
Telefénica Spain 0.9% 1.2% 10.9% 10.6% 10.6%
VMO2 3.1% (0.2%) 15.2% 15.1% 14.9%
Telefénica Germany (2.6%) 1.9% 13.6% 12.8% 12.9%
Telefénica Brazil 13.7% 0.6% 26.8% 29.3% 29.2%
Telefénica Hispam 0.5% 1.4% 29.9% 29.0% 29.0%
Other companies (6.6%) 8.4% 3.7% 3.3% 3.5%

Accesses 2023 vs 2022

Telefénica’s total accesses were 387.8 million as of December 31, 2023, increasing 1.2% year-on-year. This
increase was mainly attributable to mobile accesses in particular in Telefénica Hispam, Telefénica Brazil and
Telefonica Germany as well as growth in VMO2's loT accesses.

Mobile accesses totaled 298.6 million as of December 31, 2023, up 2.2% compared to December 31, 2022, an
increase mainly attributable to the growth in mobile accesses in Telefonica Hispam and postpaid accesses in
Telefénica Brazil. Postpaid accesses represented 50.5% of the Group's total mobile accesses in 2023, excluding loT
accesses (+1.1 p.p.).

Fixed broadband accesses stood at 26.8 million at December 31, 2023, up 1.8% year-on-year. Retail fiber (FTTH)
accesses stood at 16.1 million at December 31, 2023, growing by 13.0% compared to December 31, 2022.

Pay TV accesses totaled 10.3 million as of December 31, 2023, down 3.1% year-on-year, mainly due to the
strategic decision to discontinue the DTH service in Telefénica Brazil and in Telefénica Spain due to higher
penetration of customers in service bundles that do not include TV.

Accesses 2022 vs 2021

Telefénica’s total accesses were 383.1 million as of December 31, 2022, increasing 3.8% year-on-year. This
increase was mainly attributable to the inclusion of Oi's mobile accesses base since April 1, 2022 within Telefénica
Brazil, offset in part by the exclusion of Telefonica El Salvador's accesses since January 1, 2022 due to its sale.

Mobile accesses totaled 292.2 million as of December 31, 2022, up 5.2% compared to December 31, 2021, mainly
due to the inclusion of Oi’'s mobile accesses, partially offset by the sale of Telefénica El Salvador. Postpaid accesses
represented 49.3% of the mobile accesses excluding loT accesses (+1.8 p.p.).

Fixed broadband accesses stood at 26.3 million at December 31, 2022, up 1.8% year-on-year. Retail fiber (FTTH)
accesses stood at 14.3 million at December 31, 2022, growing by 16.6% compared to December 31, 2021.

Pay TV accesses totaled 10.6 million as of December 31, 2022, down 4.7% year-on-year mainly due to lower
accesses in Telefénica Spain.

The tables below show the evolution of Telefénica's estimated access market share for mobile and fixed broadband
for the past three years.
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Competitive Position Evolution

Telefénica
Spain
United Kingdom @
Germany
Brazil
Argentina
Chile

Peru
Colombia
Venezuela
Mexico
Ecuador
Uruguay

™ Internal estimates in each year.

@ The percentage refers to VMO2's market share as of September of each year.

Telefénica
Spain
Brazil
Argentina
Chile

Peru
Colombia

™ Internal estimates.
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2021
27.6%
30.1%
34.9%
33.1%
29.2%
25.8%
30.4%
26.0%
54.7%
19.5%
31.5%
29.1%

2021

35.3%
15.3%
11.7%
29.8%
61.0%
13.8%

Mobile Market Share !

2022 2023
27.5% 27.3%
29.6% 28.9%
34.2% 32.9%
38.9% 38.7%
28.5% 28.2%
25.5% 27.0%
29.0% 271%
25.6% 24.8%
53.3% 53.9%
18.3% 18.2%
31.4% 30.1%
27.8% 24.6%

FBB Market Share (")

2022 2023
34.0% 32.8%
14.6% 14.2%
11.3% 11.5%
31.5% 31.5%
55.1% 43.8%
15.1% 16.2%
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Consolidated results

In this section, we discuss changes in the Group’s consolidated income statements for the years ended December
31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.

Year ended December 31, Variation Variation

Consolidated Results 2021 2022 2023 2022 vs 2021 2023 vs 2022
Millions of euros Total Total Total Total % Total %
Revenues 39,277 39,993 40,652 716 1.8% 659 1.6%
Other income 12,673 2,065 1,541 (10,608) (83.7%) (524) (25.4%)
Supplies (12,258) (12,941)  (13,298) (683) 5.6% (357) 2.8%
Personnel expenses (6,733) (5,524) (7,207) 1,209 (18.0%) (1,683) 30.5%
Other expenses (10,976) (10,741)  (10,298) 235 (2.1%) 443 (4.1%)
Operating income before depreciation and
amortization (OIBDA) 21,983 12,852 11,390 (9,131) (41.5%) (1,462) (11.4%)
OIBDA Margin 56.0 % 321 % 28.0 % (23.8 p.p.) (4.1 p.p)
Depreciation and amortization (8,397) (8,796) (8,797) (399) 4.8% (1) 0.0%

Amortization of intangible assets,

depreciation of property, plant and

equipment (6,748) (6,731) (6,638) 17 (0.2)% 93 (1.4%)

Amortization of rights of use (1,649) (2,065) (2,159) (416) 25.2 % (94) 4.6%
OPERATING INCOME 13,586 4,056 2,593 (9,530) (70.1%) (1,463)  (36.1%)
Operating Margin 34.6 % 10.1 % 6.4 % (24.4 p.p.) (3.8 p.p)
Share of (loss) income of investments
accounted for by the equity method (127) 217 (2,162) 344 C.S. (2,379) C.S.
Net financial expense (1,364) (1,313) (1,904) 51 (3.7%) (591) 45.0%
(LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAX 12,095 2,960 (1,473) (9,135)  (75.5%) (4,433) c.S.
Corporate income tax (1,378) (641) 899 737 (53.5%) 1,540 C.S.
(LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 10,717 2,319 (574) (8,398) (78.4%) (2,893) C.S.
Attributable to equity holders of the parent 8,137 2,011 (892) (6,126) (75.3%) (2,903) C.S.
Attributable to non-controlling interests 2,580 308 318 (2,272) (88.0%) 10 3.1%

c.s.: change of sign
Analysis of Results 2023 vs 2022
The Group's operating results in 2023, compared to 2022, have been impacted mainly by:

— Restructuring costs: The impact of restructuring costs was much higher in 2023 (1,538 million euros) than
in 2022 (179 million euros). Restructuring costs in 2023 related mainly to the Collective Redundancies Plan
adopted by certain companies in Telefénica Spain in 2023.

— Capital gains/losses on sale of business: In 2022 Telefénica booked gains from the sale of fiber optic
assets in Colombia (162 million euros) and in the United Kingdom (20 million euros) (see Notes 10 and 26
to the Consolidated Financial Statements). Telefonica did not book gains from similar sales in 2023.
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— Foreign exchange effects and hyperinflationary adjustments: Foreign exchange effects (without
considering the impact of hyperinflationary countries) had a small positive impact on our 2023 results
compared with 2022, when there was significant appreciation of the Brazilian real against the euro that
positively impacted our 2022 results. In relation to hyperinflationary countries, the exchange rate used to
translate inflation-adjusted items denominated in Argentine pesos in the consolidated financial statements
as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023 was the closing exchange rate as of December 31, 2023
which was 893.45 Argentine pesos per euro (189.08 Argentine pesos per euro as of December 31, 2022).
The annual inflation rate in Argentina for 2023 was 211%. As a result of these changes in the exchange and
inflation rates, in 2023 Telefonica Argentina contributed 1,237 million euros to the consolidated revenues of
the Telefonica Group and a loss of 199 million euros to the consolidated operating income of the Telefénica
Group (2,066 million euros and a loss of 270 million euros, respectively, in 2022).

— Impairment of goodwill and other assets: In 2023 the impairment of goodwill amounted to 58 million
euros in Telefénica Ecuador. In 2022 the impairment of assets amounted to 77 million euros, in Telefonica
Argentina.

— Impairment of goodwill in investments accounted for by the equity method: In 2023, VMO2 recorded
an impairment of goodwill amounting to 3,572 million euros, with an impact of 1,786 million euros on the
share of (loss) income of investments accounted for by the equity method in the consolidated income
statement of the Telefénica Group.

Further, the Group's operating results in 2023 and 2022 were impacted by the acquisition of the mobile assets of the
Oi Group on April 20, 2022 for consideration of 1,093 million euros, which was entirely paid in 2022. See "ltem 10.
Additional Information—Material Contracts—Purchase Agreement for Acquisition of UPI Mobile Assets of the Oi
Group" for additional information. See also "ltem 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects—Operating
Results—Significant Factors Affecting the Comparability of Our Results of Operations in the Periods under Review”.

Revenues in 2023 totaled 40,652 million euros, increasing 1.6% year-on-year due mainly to the growth in service
revenues (+1.5%) and handset sales (+3.0%).

Other income mainly includes capitalized costs on fixed assets, gains on disposals and other operating income. In
2023, other income totaled 1,541 million euros compared to 2,065 million euros recorded in 2022, a decrease of
25.4%. The higher amount in 2022 was impacted by the capital gains resulting from the sale of fiber optic assets in
Colombia (162 million euros) (see Notes 10 and 26 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

The evolution of expenses is explained below:

* Supplies amounted to 13,298 million euros in 2023, up 2.8% year-on-year, mainly as a result of
higher handset costs in all segments due to higher commercial activity with a higher number of gross adds
and continued inflation.

* Personnel expenses amounted to 7,207 million euros in 2023, up by 30.5% year-on-year
compared to 2022, mainly as a result of higher restructuring costs (+24.6 p.p.) which relate mainly to the
Collective Redundancies Plan adopted by certain companies in Telefénica Spain in 2023, resulting in a
provision of 1,320 million euros, before taxes, and higher expenses in all segments.

The average headcount was 104,124 employees in 2023, up 1.5% compared to 2022.

+ Other expenses amounted to 10,298 million euros in 2023, down 4.1% year-on-year. This
decrease was mainly attributable to lower expenses in Telefénica Spain, as a result of lower energy costs
as well as savings associated with higher efficiencies, mainly related to network and system costs, and
Telefonica Brazil, due to the acquisition price adjustment recorded in connection with Oi’s assets and cost
efficiencies due to digitalization.

As a result of the foregoing, OIBDA totaled 11,390 million euros in 2023, compared to 12,852 million euros in 2022,
a year-on-year decrease of 11.4%. The period-on-period evolution was strongly impacted by total restructuring
expenses in 2023 of 1,538 million euros (-10.6 p.p.), which relate mainly to the Collective Redundancies Plan
adopted by certain companies in Telefénica Spain in 2023 (resulting in a provision of 1,320 million euros before
taxes) and the decrease in capital gains recorded in “Other income” from the sale of businesses compared to 2022.
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OIBDA is a non-GAAP financial measure. For a reconciliation of OIBDA to operating income, see “ltem 5. Operating
and Financial Review and Prospects- Non-GAAP Financial Information”.

Depreciation and amortization amounted to 8,797 million euros in 2023. It remained stable compared to 2022
(8,796 million euros).

Operating income totaled 2,593 million euros in 2023 compared to 4,056 million euros recorded in 2022. The
period-on-period evolution was strongly impacted by the total restructuring expenses in 2023 (-33.5 p.p.), which
relate mainly to the Collective Redundancies Plan adopted by certain companies in Telefénica Spain in 2023 (1,320
million euros before taxes) and the capital gains on the sale of businesses in 2022 (-4.3 p.p.).

The share of (loss) income of investments accounted for by the equity method in 2023 was a loss of 2,162
million euros, compared to an income of 217 million euros in 2022, mainly due to the results of VMO2, which were
adversely affected by a goodwill impairment amounting to 3,572 million euros (1,786 million euros of which is
reflected in the consolidated income statement of the Telefénica Group), mainly due to the decrease in projected
cash flows of VMO2 as a consequence of the effects of the macroeconomic conditions and competitive environment
in the United Kingdom and the increase in the discount rate (WACC).

Net financial expense amounted to 1,904 million euros in 2023, increasing 591 million euros compared to 2022.
The lower amount in 2022 was mainly due to extraordinary income of 526 million euros related to payments by the
Spanish administration to the Group of delayed interest in connection with tax litigation in Spain.

Corporate income tax represents an income of 899 million euros in 2023 compared to an expense of 641 million
euros in 2022, mainly due to the tax effect of the provision associated with the Collective Redundancies Plan and
the recognition of deferred tax assets for the future use of tax credits, both in Spain.

As a result, losses for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent in 2023 was 892 million euros,
compared to a profit of 2,011 million euros in 2022.

Profit attributable to non-controlling interests was 318 million euros in 2023 (compared to 308 million euros in
2022). The variation is mainly due to an increase in profit attributable to non-controlling interests in Brazil, partially
offset by a decrease in profit attributable to non-controlling interests in Colombia.

CapEx totaled 5,579 million euros in 2023, down 4.1% year-on-year, impacted by lower spectrum purchases in
2023 (-1.6 p.p.).

OIBDA-CapEx stood at 5,811 million euros in 2023, decreasing by 17.4%, strongly affected by restructuring
expenses (-19.3 p.p.), which relate mainly to the Collective Redundancies Plan adopted by certain companies in
Telefénica Spain in 2023 (resulting in a provision of 1,320 million euros before taxes) and the decrease in capital
gains on the sale of businesses compared to 2022 (-2.5 p.p.), partially offset by lower spectrum purchases (+1.3

p-p.)-
Analysis of Results 2022 vs 2021

The Group's operating results in 2022, compared to 2021, have been impacted mainly by:

— Changes in the scope of consolidation: The main changes in 2022 and 2021 were the exclusion from the
perimeter of consolidation of the entities that comprised our former Telefénica United Kingdom segment
(after the incorporation of VMO2 in June 2021, the results for which were accounted for under the equity
method, based on the Group’s 50% stake), the towers divisions of Telxius Group (since their sale in June
2021), Telefénica de Costa Rica (since its sale in August 2021) and InfraCo, SpA in Chile (since the sale of
a 60% interest therein in July 2021).

— Capital gains/losses on sale of business, which significantly decreased period-on-period. In 2022
Telefonica booked gains from the sale of fiber optic assets in Colombia (162 million euros) and in the United
Kingdom (20 million euros) (see Notes 10 and 26 to the Consolidated Financial Statements). In 2021,
Telefonica recorded capital gains generated by the sale of the tower divisions of the Telxius Group (6,099
million euros), the incorporation of VMO2 (4,460 million euros), the sale of 60% of the shares in InfraCo,
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SpA in Chile (274 million euros), the sale of Telefonica de Costa Rica (136 million euros) and the
establishment of FiBrasil (26 million euros).

— Foreign exchange effects: Foreign exchange effects (without considering the impacts of hyperinflationary
countries) had a positive impact on our 2022 results compared with 2021, mainly due to the appreciation of
the Brazilian real.

— Restructuring costs: The impact in 2022 and 2021 of restructuring costs (179 million euros in 2022 and
1,663 million euros in 2021), related mainly to the Individual Suspension Plan adopted under the Social
Pact for Employment in Telefénica Spain in 2021.

— Impairment of goodwill and other assets: In 2022 the impairment of assets amounted to 77 million euros,
in Telefénica Argentina. In 2021 the impairment of goodwill amounted to 416 million euros, mainly with
respect to Telefénica del Peru.

— Spectrum acquisition: While spectrum acquisitions do not have an impact on operating income (except on
amortizations), they affect CapEx and OIBDA-CapEXx, which are discussed further below. In 2022, spectrum
acquisitions amounted to 173 million euros of which 125 million euros corresponded to Telefénica
Colombia, 35 million euros to Telefonica Brazil, 8 million euros to Telefonica Argentina and 5 million euros to
Telefonica Uruguay. In 2021, spectrum acquisitions were significantly higher, amounting to 1,704 million
euros of which 706 million euros corresponded to Telefénica Brazil, 515 million euros to our former
Telefonica United Kingdom segment (which acquisitions took place before VMO2 was established), 352
million euros to Telefénica Spain and 131 million euros to Telefénica Chile.

Further, the Group's operating results in 2022 were impacted by the acquisition of the mobile assets of the Oi Group
on April 20, 2022 for consideration of 1,093 million euros. See "ltem 10. Additional Information—Material Contracts
—Purchase Agreement for Acquisition of UPI Mobile Assets of the Oi Group" for additional information. See also
"ltem 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects—Operating Results—Significant Factors Affecting the
Comparability of Our Results of Operations in the Periods under Review”.

Revenues in 2022 totaled 39,993 million euros, increasing 1.8% year-on-year, positively impacted by foreign
exchange effects, mainly due to the appreciation of the Brazilian real against the euro (+4.5 p.p.), despite the
changes in the consolidation perimeter (-7.1 p.p.) related mainly to the exclusion of the entities that comprised our
former Teleféonica United Kingdom segment since June 1, 2021. Revenue growth was also impacted by the positive
growth in service revenues in Telefénica Brazil, Telefénica Germany and Telefénica Hispam.

Other income mainly includes capitalized costs on fixed assets. In 2022, other income totaled 2,065 million euros
compared to 12,673 million euros recorded in 2021. In 2022, other income included the capital gains resulting from
the sale of fiber optic assets in Colombia (162 million euros) and the sale of fiber optic assets in United Kingdom (20
million euros) (see Notes 10 and 26 to the Consolidated Financial Statements). In 2021, other income included the
capital gains from the sale of the Telxius towers business (6,099 million euros), the establishment of VMO2 (4,460
million euros), the sale of 60% of the shares in InfraCo, SpA in Chile (274 million euros), the sale of Telefénica de
Costa Rica to Liberty Global (136 million euros) and the establishment of FiBrasil (26 million euros).

The total amount of supplies, personnel expenses and other expenses (mainly external services and taxes)
was 29,206 million euros in 2022, down 2.5% year-on-year compared to 2021. This decrease was mainly
attributable to the impact of changes in the scope of consolidation (-6.2 p.p.), mainly the exit of Telefénica United
Kingdom from the perimeter on June 1, 2021, offset in part by the impact of changes in foreign exchange rates

(+3.9 p.p.).
The evolution of these expenses is explained in greater detail below:
* Supplies amounted to 12,941 million euros in 2022, up 5.6% year-on-year, mainly as a result of the
impact of changes in foreign exchange rates (+3.3 p.p.) and of higher handset costs in all segments due to

higher commercial activity, offset in part by the deconsolidation of the entities that comprised our former
Telefonica United Kingdom segment in June 2021.
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* Personnel expenses amounted to 5,524 million euros in 2022, down 18.0% year-on-year
compared to 2021, mainly as a result of higher restructuring costs in 2021 in Telefénica Spain and of the
deconsolidation of the entities that comprised our former Telefénica United Kingdom segment in June 2021.

The average headcount was 102,563 employees in 2022, down 4.8% compared to 2021, mainly as a
result of the deconsolidation of the entities that comprised our former Telefénica United Kingdom segment in
June 2021.

* Other expenses amounted to 10,741 million euros in 2022, down 2.1% year-on-year. This
decrease was mainly attributable to the deconsolidation of the entities that comprised our former Telefénica
United Kingdom segment in June 2021, partially offset by higher expenses in Spain and Germany.

As a result of the foregoing, OIBDA totaled 12,852 million euros in 2022, compared with 21,983 million euros in
2021. The period-on-period evolution was strongly impacted by the capital gains recorded in "Other income" from
the transactions completed in 2021 (-49.2 p.p.) and changes in the scope of consolidation (-4.5 p.p.), partially offset
by the lower restructuring costs in 2022 (+6.8 p.p.) and the positive exchange rate impact (+3.0 p.p.).

Depreciation and amortization amounted to 8,796 million euros in 2022 increasing by 4.8% compared to 2021
mainly as a result of the impact of foreign exchange rates (+5.3 p.p.) as well as the changes in the consolidation
perimeter (+1.3 p.p.) as a consequence of the sale of the towers communications division sale in 2021, which
resulted in an increase in the amortization of rights of use.

Operating income totaled 4,056 million euros in 2022 compared to 13,586 million euros recorded in 2021. The
period-on-period evolution was strongly impacted by the capital gains on the sale of businesses in 2021 mentioned
above (-79.6 p.p.), the changes in the scope of consolidation (-8.2 p.p.) and the increase in depreciation and
amortization.

The share of (loss) income of investments accounted for by the equity method in 2022 was an income of 217
million euros, compared to a loss of 127 million euros in 2021, mainly due to the respective results of VMO2,
affected by changes in the fair value of derivatives.

Net financial expense amounted to 1,313 million euros in 2022, down 51 million euros compared to 2021, mainly
due to extraordinary income related to the payment by the Spanish administration to the Group of delayed interest
in connection with tax litigation in Spain, which more than offset the increase in the expenses due to the increase in
interest rates and a higher level of debt denominated in Brazilian reais.

Corporate income tax amounted to 641 million euros in 2022, decreasing compared to 2021 (1,378 million euros)
by 737 million euros. The y-0-y change is explained mainly by the extraordinary expenses recorded in 2021 (among
others, the impact of the Spanish tax inspection closing), the deconsolidation of the entities that comprised our
former Telefénica United Kingdom segment since June 2021, the positive outcome of the tax inspection closing in
Germany in 2022 and the corporate simplification carried out in Brazil in 2022.

As a result, profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent in 2022 was 2,011 million euros (8,137
million euros in 2021).

Profit attributable to non-controlling interests was 308 million euros in 2022 (compared to 2,580 million euros in
2021). The variation is mainly due to a decrease in profit attributable to non-controlling interests in Telxius, which
completed the sale of its towers divisions in Europe and Latin America in 2021.

CapEx totaled 5,819 million euros in 2022, down 19.9% year-on-year, impacted by lower spectrum purchases in
2022 (-17.7 p.p.) and the change in the consolidation perimeter (-13.6 p.p.), partially offset by the exchange rates
effect (+4.2 p.p.).

OIBDA-CapEx stood at 7,033 million euros in 2022, compared to 14,716 million euros in 2021 (-52.2%), strongly
affected by the above mentioned capital gains from the sale of businesses in 2021 (-73.5 p.p.), partially offset by the
positive effect of lower restructuring costs in 2022 (+10.1 p.p.), lower spectrum purchases (+8.8 p.p.), the recording
of goodwill impairment in 2021 in a greater amount than asset impairments in 2022 (+2.1 p.p.) and foreign
exchange effects (+2.4 p.p.).
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Segment results

For information on how segment information is presented in this Report, see “—History and Development of the
Company—Business areas”.

TELEFONICA SPAIN

The table below shows the evolution of accesses in Telefénica Spain over the past three years as of December 31
of such years:

ACCESSES
Thousands of accesses 2021 2022 2023 % YoY 22/21 % YoY 23/22
Fixed telephony accesses ") 8,376.3 8,102.3 7,948.4 (3.3%) (1.9%)
Broadband 5,874.9 5,854.5 5,934.7 (0.3%) 1.4%
FTTH 4,847.6 5,042.2 5,345.4 4.0% 6.0%
Mobile accesses 18,484.6 19,347.3 20,115.0 4.7% 4.0%
Prepay 752.5 796.0 705.4 5.8% (11.4%)
Contract 15,210.7 15,099.5 15,296.8 (0.7%) 1.3%
loT @ 2,521.5 3,451.8 4,112.8 36.9% 19.1%
Pay TV 3,716.4 3,526.3 3,426.4 (5.1%) (2.8%)
Retail Accesses 36,460.9 36,838.9 37,424.5 1.0% 1.6%
Wholesale Accesses 3,674.3 3,653.6 3,567.8 (0.6%) (2.3%)
FTTH Wholesale Accesses 2,982.0 3,206.1 3,289.7 7.5% 2.6%
Total Accesses 40,135.2 40,492.6 40,992.3 0.9% 1.2%
Notes:

M Includes "fixed wireless" and Voice over IP accesses.
@ Accesses in 2022 include an upward revision of approximately 500 thousand loT accesses recorded in March 2022.

In Telefénica Spain, the following new developments stand out in 2023. In January 2023, Telefonica Spain made all
customers' data plans unlimited (except for prepaid plans), eliminating all out-of-bundle excess data charges,
allowing users to continue to navigate the Internet (at reduced speeds) after crossing specified usage thresholds.

In addition to unlimited voice and data, Movistar now offers Movistar Cloud, an unlimited cloud storage service
available to all mobile customers, allowing customers to save all files, photos, videos and documents in a single
place or consult them from the application included in the Movistar Plus+ decoder. In addition, Movistar's offering
also now includes an integrated Secure Connection service, allowing users to navigate securely on mobile devices
and on the home Wi-Fi network.

With these new features, customers can choose the products and services they need, with the confidence of having
best-in-class connectivity and unlimited mobile navigation, supported by best-in-class experience in quality
navigation and by broad 5G coverage, which as of December 2023 reached 87.0% of the population in Spain.

Additionally, Movistar continues to expand its offering aimed at making the lives of its customers easier, aspiring to
become a comprehensive provider of services for the home and people. In May 2023, the TeCuida smartwatch was
presented, a new telecare device and service for people over 60 years and people with a low degree of dependency
that detects falls, inside and outside the home. It also assists users in emergency situations, anywhere, 24 hours a
day, 7 days a week, locating the person, notifying their contacts and arranging for any needed assistance.

In August 2023, Movistar Plus+ was launched, a reinforced new OTT TV service that replaces Movistar Plus Lite.
The streaming service is available regardless of the customer's TV or Internet provider.

The service includes: one movie premiere per day, the main sports events, original and international series,
documentaries, and entertainment programs, as well as one game of "LalLiga" and of the Champions League per
match day.
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In addition, as part of its commitment to sustainability, Movistar has developed an online platform and tools to
support the Ecomar Foundation in raising awareness among young people about caring for the seas and waste
management problems.

Additionally, Movistar Prosegur Alarmas, the joint venture of Prosegur and Telefénica Spain, reached 487 thousand
customers as of December 31, 2023, an increase of 9.7% as compared to December 31, 2022.

Accesses 2023 vs 2022

Telefénica Spain had 41.0 million accesses as of December 31, 2023, an increase of 1.2% as compared to
December 31, 2022, due mainly to an increase in the loT accesses base.

The convergent offer (residential and SMEs) had a customer base of 4.5 million customers as of December 31,
2023, a decrease of 0.1% y-o-y.

Retail fixed accesses totaled 7.9 million and decreased 1.9% as compared to December 31, 2022, with a net loss
of 154 thousand accesses as of December 31, 2023.

Retail broadband accesses totaled 5.9 million (+1.4% y-o0-y), with a net gain of 80 thousand accesses as of
December 31, 2023.

Retail fiber (FTTH) accesses reached 5.3 million customers (+6.0% as compared to December 31, 2023),
representing 90.1% of total retail broadband customers (+3.9 p.p. y-0-y) with net adds of 303 thousand accesses as
of December 31, 2023. At December 31, 2023, fiber deployment reached 29.3 million premises, 1.2 million more
than at December 31, 2022.

Total retail mobile accesses stood at 20.1 million as of December 31, 2023, an increase of 4.0% as compared to
December 31, 2022 as a result of an increase in the loT accesses base (+19.1% y-0-y) and contract accesses
(+1.3% y-o0-y), with a decrease in mobile prepay accesses (-11.4% y-0-y).

Pay TV accesses reached 3.4 million at December 31, 2023, decreasing 2.8% year-on-year due to a higher
penetration of customers in service bundles that do not include TV.

Wholesale accesses stood at 3.6 million at December 31, 2023, down 2.3% year-on-year, and wholesale fiber
(FTTH) accesses were up 2.6% year-on-year (92.2% of total wholesale accesses at December 31, 2023 compared
with 87.8% at December 31, 2022).

Accesses 2022 vs 2021

Telefénica Spain had 40.5 million accesses as of December 31, 2022, an increase of 0.9% as compared to
December 31, 2021, due to an increase in the loT accesses base.

The convergent offer (residential and SMEs) had a customer base of 4.5 million customers as of December 31,
2022, a decrease of 2.2% y-o-y.

Retail fixed accesses totaled 8.1 million and decreased 3.3% as compared to December 31, 2021, with a net loss
of 274 thousand accesses as of December 31, 2022.

Retail broadband accesses totaled 5.9 million (-0.3% y-0-y), with a net loss of 20 thousand accesses as of
December 31, 2022.

Retail fiber (FTTH) accesses reached 5.0 million customers (+4.0% as compared to December 31, 2021),
representing 86.1% of total retail broadband customers (+3.6 p.p. y-0-y) with net adds of 195 thousand accesses as
of December 31, 2022. At December 31, 2022, fiber deployment reached 28.0 million premises, 1.1 million more
than at December 31, 2021.

Total retail mobile accesses stood at 19.3 million as of December 31, 2022, an increase of 4.7% as compared to
December 31, 2021 as a result of an increase in the IoT accesses base (+36.9% y-o0-y impacted by an upward
revision recorded in March 2022 figures, in an amount of 500 thousand accesses) and prepay accesses (+5.8% y-
0-y), with a decrease in mobile contract accesses (-0.7% y-0-y).

Pay TV accesses reached 3.5 million at December 31, 2022, decreasing 5.1% year-on-year due to a higher
penetration of customers in service bundles that do not include TV.
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Wholesale accesses stood at 3.7 million at December 31, 2022, down 0.6% year-on-year, and wholesale fiber
(FTTH) accesses were up 7.5% year-on-year (87.8% of total wholesale accesses at December 31, 2022 compared

with 81.2% at December 31, 2021).

The table below shows Telefénica Spain’s results over the past three years:

Millions of euros

i % YoY % YoY
TELEFONICA SPAIN 2021 2022 2023 22/21 23/22
Revenues 12,417 12,497 12,654 0.6% 1.3%

Mobile handset revenues 400 548 518 37.4% (5.4%)
Revenues ex-mobile handset sales 12,017 11,948 12,136 (0.6%) 1.6%
Retail 9,699 9,662 9,872 (0.4%) 2.2%
Wholesale and Other 2,318 2,286 2,264 (1.4%) (1.0%)
Other income 664 803 526 20.9% (34.5%)
Supplies (4,636) (5,008) (5,027) 8.0% 0.4%
Personnel expenses (3,201) (1,765) (3,194) (44.9%) 81.0%
Other expenses (1,867) (1,939) (1,730) 3.9% (10.8%)
OIBDA 3,377 4,588 3,229 35.9% (29.6%)
Depreciation and amortization (2,153) (2,157) (2,200) 0.2% 21%
Amortization of intangible assets,
depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (1,807) (1,747) (1,690) (3.3%) (3.2%)
Amortization of rights of use (346) (410) (510) 18.3% 24.5%
Operating income 1,224 2,431 1,029 98.6% (57.7%)
CapEx 1,815 1,550 1,607 (14.6%) 3.7%
OIBDA-CapEx 1,562 3,038 1,622 94.5% (46.6%)

Analysis of results 2023 vs 2022

Revenues in 2023 amounted to 12,654 million euros, growing 1.3% y-o-y. This trend was supported by the
evolution of revenues excluding mobile handset sales, which grew 1.6% year-on-year and is described below. This
growth was partially offset by the 5.4% y-o0-y decline in mobile handset revenues driven by higher volumes achieved
during 2022 as a result of including the possibility to add devices in the convergent portfolio (beginning in February
2022 for the total convergent customer base) that boosted these revenues at the beginning of the initiative.

Retail revenues totaled 9,872 million euros in 2023, increasing by 2.2% year-on-year, due in part to the
recovery of the retail commercial activity and higher IT revenues as a result of higher demand for
digitalization projects in the B2B segment.

Wholesale and other revenues totaled 2,264 million euros in 2023, decreasing by 1.0% year-on-year, due
mainly to the decrease in fixed traffic revenues, mobile interconnection revenues due to lower mobile
termination rates, and the impact of less "LaLiga" (Spanish football league) content available in the
wholesale offer after mid-August 2022 (after a competitor obtained a portion of the broadcasting rights for
the 2022/2023 season), partially offset by the growth of roaming-in revenues and the growth of revenues
from MVNOs.

The evolution of expenses is explained below:

.

Supplies amounted to 5,027 million euros in 2023, up 0.4% year-on-year compared to 2022, mainly
attributable to the increase in costs related to IT revenue growth.

Personnel expenses amounted to 3,194 million euros in 2023, up 81.0% year-on-year compared to 2022,
The year-on-year evolution was mainly attributable to the Collective Redundancies Plan adopted by certain
companies in Telefénica Spain in 2023 (resulting in a provision of 1,320 million euros before taxes) and
wage increases driven by inflation.
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* Other expenses amounted to 1,730 million euros in 2023, down 10.8% year-on-year compared to 2022, as
a result of lower energy costs as well as savings associated with higher efficiencies, mainly related to
network and system costs.

OIBDA reached 3,229 million euros in 2023, a year-on-year decrease of 29.6%.

Depreciation and amortization amounted to 2,200 million euros in 2023, increasing by 2.1% year-on-year, mainly
explained by growth of the amortizable base of rights of use.

Operating income amounted to 1,029 million euros in 2023, a year-on-year decrease of 57.7%. Operating income
was adversely affected in 2023 mainly by the Collective Redundancies Plan adopted by certain companies in
Telefonica Spain in 2023 (resulting in a provision of 1,320 million euros before taxes). The higher personnel costs,
IT costs related to IT revenue growth and cost increases due to inflation were partially offset by the higher service
revenues.

Analysis of results 2022 vs 2021

Revenues in 2022 amounted to 12,497 million euros, growing 0.6% y-o-y. This trend was supported by the
continued growth of mobile handset revenues, due to the inclusion in the portfolio of several devices as part of the
packages (including 5G smartphones of different brands, smart TVs, tablets and laptops, among others). The
evolution of revenues excluding mobile handset sales is described below:

* Retail revenues totaled 9,662 million euros in 2022, decreasing by 0.4% year-on-year, due in part to the
customer base decline, partially offset by higher IT revenues due to the higher demand for digitalization
projects in the B2B segment.

* Wholesale and other revenues totaled 2,286 million euros in 2022, decreasing by 1.4% year-on-year, due
mainly to the decrease in fixed traffic revenues, mobile interconnection revenues due to lower mobile
termination rates, and the impact of less "LaLiga" content available in the wholesale offer since mid-August.
These have been partially offset by the recovery in roaming-in revenues to pre-pandemic levels and the
growth of revenues from MVNOs.

The total amount of supplies, personnel expenses and other expenses (mainly external services and taxes)
amounted to 8,712 million euros in 2022, down 10.2% year-on-year compared to 2021. The year-on-year evolution
was mainly attributable to the restructuring costs recorded in 2021 (1,382 million euros).

* Supplies amounted to 5,008 million euros in 2022, up 8.0% year-on-year compared to 2021, mainly
attributable to higher handset costs in the year (from commercial campaigns offering free devices) as well
as the costs related to IT revenue growth.

* Personnel expenses amounted to 1,765 million euros in 2022, down 44.9% year-on-year compared to
2021. The year-on-year evolution was mainly attributable to the restructuring costs in 2021, mainly related
to the Individual Suspension Plan (1,382 million euros).

*  Other expenses amounted to 1,939 million euros in 2022, up 3.9% year-on-year compared to 2021, mainly
attributable to higher energy costs.

OIBDA reached 4,588 million euros in 2022, a year-on-year increase of 35.9%.
Depreciation and amortization amounted to 2,157 million euros in 2022, increasing by 0.2% year-on-year.

Operating income amounted to 2,431 million euros in 2022, a year-on-year increase of 98.6%. Operating income
was adversely affected in 2021 by restructuring costs totaling 1,382 million euros (related mainly to the Individual
Suspension Plan) and the provisions recorded in Telefénica Spain totaling 44 million euros in connection with the
restructuring of the distribution channels. In 2022, a restructuring provision of 57 million euros was recorded in
Telefonica Spain.
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VMO2

In accordance with applicable accounting standards, Telefénica's share in the results of VMOZ2, our 50:50 joint
venture with Liberty Global plc in the United Kingdom, is presented in a single line of the income statement, “Share
of (loss) income of investments accounted for by the equity method”. However, the VMO2 segment information
included in this section is presented using management criteria and shows 100% of VMO2's results; Telefénica’s
actual percentage ownership of VMO2 is 50%.

In 2023, VMO2 recorded an impairment of goodwill amounting to 3,572 million euros, with an impact of 1,786 million
euros on the share of (loss) income of investments accounted for by the equity method in the consolidated income
statement of the Telefénica Group. The impairment is related to an increase in VMO2's weighted average cost of
capital and the impacts of the macroeconomic conditions and the competitive environment in the United Kingdom
on estimated future cash flows of VMO2.

More than two years after the formation of VMO2, the company continues to integrate and innovate while investing
heavily to expand and upgrade its fiber and 5G networks to provide the highest quality connectivity to more regions
of the country, all in a context of economic headwinds due to adverse macroeconomic conditions in the United
Kingdom.

VMO2’'s gigabit fixed network footprint reached the milestone of 17 million premises at the end of 2023. The
company rolled its fiber out faster than ever before, delivering 833,100 additional premises serviceable in the year,
with the majority of these premises forming part of the FTTH network of nexfibre, a joint venture among T. Infra,
Liberty Global and InfraVia (for additional information on this joint venture, see "ltem 10. Additional Information—
Material Contracts—Agreement reached by T. Infra, Liberty Global and InfraVia for the establishment of a fiber-to-
the-home (FTTH) joint venture in the United Kingdom").

Across 2023, through a mix of the continued upgrade of VMO2's own network and expansion of the nexfibre
network, the company expanded its fiber footprint by 1.7 million premises, bringing its total fiber reach to over 4
million homes.

In its mobile business, VMO2 reached the target of 50% UK outdoor 5G population coverage, and there is a
commitment to meet the UK government’s stated target of providing 5G standalone coverage in all populated areas
of the United Kingdom by 2030. Additionally, the company improved network reliability by boosting 4G capacity in
465,000 postcodes during 2023 and delivered its one hundredth site as part of the Shared Rural Network program,
a collaborative effort among the UK’s major network operators and the government.

Company integration continued to advance with the migration of more than 3 million Virgin Mobile customers to O2
in November 2023 and further mobile backhaul integration utilizing the company’s own fixed network.

The table below shows the evolution of accesses of VMO2 over the past three years as of December 31 of such
years:

ACCESSES "
% YoY % YoY
Thousands of accesses 2021 2022 2023 22/21 23/22
Fixed telephony accesses 4,742.5 4,239.7 3,876.5 (10.6%) (8.6%)
Broadband 5,626.7 5,661.6 5,724.7 0.6% 1.1%
UBB 5,596.8 5,653.8 5,717.6 1.0% 1.1%
Mobile accesses 32,276.8  33,831.3 35,216.3 4.8% 4.1%
Prepay 8,119.1 7,968.3 7,617.9 (1.9%) (4.4%)
Contract 15,938.1 16,087.6 16,122.3 0.9% 0.2%
loT 8,219.7 9,775.5 11,4761 18.9% 17.4%
Pay TV 3,375.1 3,194.1 3,146.9 (5.4%) (1.5%)
Retail Accesses 46,021.1  46,926.8 47,964.4 2.0% 2.2%
Wholesale Accesses 9,966.6 10,818.6 9,644.9 8.5% (10.8%)
Total Accesses 55,987.8 57,745.4 57,609.3 3.1% (0.2%)
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" The access information provided as of December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 includes 100% of the accesses of VMO2. Telefonica’s actual
percentage ownership of VMO2 is 50%.

Accesses 2023 vs 2022

The total accesses base decreased 0.2% year-on-year and stood at 57.6 million as of December 31, 2023, mainly
driven by the decrease in wholesale caused by the migration of customers from one of the business’s smaller
MVNO partners to BT (completed in the second half of 2023), partially offset by the increase in the mobile accesses
base, which grew 4.1% year-on-year and reached 35.2 million accesses supported by growth in contract and loT
accesses.

The contract mobile customer base grew 0.2% year-on-year and reached 16.1 million accesses adding 35
thousand new accesses to the base in 2023.

The prepay mobile customer base decreased 4.4% year-on-year and totaled 7.6 million accesses, a decline of
350 thousand accesses in 2023.

loT mobile customer base grew 17.4% year-on-year and reached 11.5 million accesses underpinned by the Smart
Metering Implementation Programme roll out. The Smart Metering Implementation Programme (SMIP) is an energy-
industry led program which aims to roll-out approximately 53 million smart electricity and gas meters to domestic
properties and non-domestic sites in the United Kingdom.

The fixed broadband base grew 1.1% year-on-year and reached 5.7 million accesses, adding 63 thousand new
accesses in 2023 supported by the increase in customer demand for higher speeds. UBB accesses grew 1.1%
year-over-year with a net gain of 64 thousand new accesses in 2023. The company’s average broadband speed is
358 Mbps and increased 18.9% year-on-year, reaching speeds five times higher than the national speed average,
according to Ofcom.

Accesses 2022 vs 2021

The total accesses base grew 3.1% year-on-year and stood at 57.7 million as of December 31, 2022, mainly
driven by the increase in the mobile accesses base, which grew 4.8% year-on-year and reached 33.8 million
accesses.

The contract mobile customer base grew 0.9% year-on-year and reached 16.1 million accesses, adding 150
thousand new accesses to the base in 2022. Churn remained stable at low levels.

The prepay mobile customer base decreased 1.9% year-on-year and totaled 8.0 million accesses, a decline of
151 thousand accesses in 2022.

loT mobile customer base grew 18.9% year-on-year and reached 9.8 million accesses, underpinned by the Smart
Metering Implementation Programme roll out.

The fixed broadband base grew 0.6% year-on-year and reached 5.7 million accesses, adding 35 thousand new
accesses in 2022. UBB accesses grew 1.0% year-on-year with a net gain of 57 thousand new accesses in 2022,
supported by the increase in customer demand for higher speeds. The company’s average broadband speed is 301
Mbps and increased 41% year-on-year, reaching speeds five times higher than the national average.

The table below shows the evolution of the VMO2 segment's results over the past three years (which, for the
purposes of 2021, consists of the results obtained by VMO2 from June 1 (the date on which VMO2 was established)
to December 31, 2021):

57



Table of Contents

Millions of euros

VMO2
Revenues
Mobile Business
Handset revenues
Fixed Business
Other
Other income
Supplies
Personnel expenses
Other expenses
Impairment of goodwiill
OIBDA

Depreciation and amortization

Operating (loss) income

Share of income of investments accounted for by the equity

method
Financial income
Financial expenses

Realized and unrealized gains on derivate instruments, net ("
Foreign currency transaction losses, net

Net financial expense
Result before taxation
Result for the period
CapEx

OIBDA-CapEx

c.s.: change of sign
Notes:

June 1 to
December
31, 2021

7,223
4,122
1,234
2,782

319

290
(2,601)
(786)

(1,676)
2,450

(2,395)

55

27
(504)
489
(367)
(355)
(300)
(235)
1,508
942

January1 January 1
to to

December December
31, 2022 31, 2023

12,155 12,547
6,938 6,840
1,894 1,749
4,639 4,453

578 1,254
551 516

(4,019) (4,294)

(1,348) (1,303)

(2,938) (3,035)

— (3,572)
4,401 859
(4,170) (3,685)
231 (2,826)

1 2

24 55

(1,020) (1,436)
2,567 (924)
(1,296) 677

275 (1,628)

507 (4,452)

492 (4,187)
2,707 2,408
1,694 (1,549)

% YoY
23/22

3.2%
(1.4%)
(7.7%)
(4.0%)

117.0%
(6.3%)

6.8%
(3.3%)

3.3%
C.S.
(80.5%)
(11.6%)
C.S.

n.s.
126.3%
40.7%

C.S.

C.S.

C.S.

C.S.

C.S.

(11.1%)

C.S.

('VMO2 entered into various derivative instruments to manage interest rate exposure and foreign currency exposure. Generally, VMOZ2 does not
apply hedge accounting to its derivative instruments. Accordingly, changes in the fair values of most of its derivatives are recorded in the finance

results of its consolidated income statement.

Analysis of results 2023 vs 2022

In 2023, revenues amounted to 12,547 million euros, growing 3.2% year-on-year, mainly due to the nexfibre
revenues contribution (where VMO2 is the anchor wholesale tenant) and the price increases implemented by
VMO?2, partially offset by the depreciation of the pound sterling and the decline in the access base.

* Mobile business revenues amounted to 6,840 million euros in the year 2023, declining by 1.4% as a result
mainly of the decrease in handset revenues (where there were deteriorating margins) and the depreciation
of the pound sterling, partially offset by the price increases implemented by VMO2.

* Fixed business revenues amounted to 4,453 million euros in the year 2023, decreasing by 4.0%, mainly
due to reduced customer spend (driven by the increased cost-of-living) and the depreciation of the pound
sterling, partially offset by the price increases implemented by VMOZ2. Moreover, B2B fixed revenue
decreased due to lower prices offered upon customer contract renewals and customer shifts to lower-cost

products and services.

»  Other revenues amounted to 1,254 million euros in the year 2023, a 117.0% increase driven by revenues
from construction, network and other services provided to nexfibre, the FTTH joint venture formed by

Telefénica Infra, Liberty Global and InfraVia.

The evolution of expenses is explained below:
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* Supplies amounted to 4,294 million euros in 2023, up 6.8% year-on-year compared to 2022 driven by
nexfibre growth offset in part by synergies realization, cost efficiencies, lower hardware sales and the
depreciation of the pound sterling.

* Personnel expenses amounted to 1,303 million euros in 2023, down 3.3% year-on-year compared to 2022
positively impacted by the realization of synergies through the execution of restructuring plans aiming to
deliver a single operating model and a leaner company and the depreciation of the pound sterling, partially
offset by higher restructuring costs.

* Other expenses amounted to 3,035 million euros in 2023, up 3.3% year-on-year compared to 2022,
attributable to inflationary tensions, including higher energy costs, and integration costs, partially offset by
the depreciation of the pound sterling.

* In addition, VMO2 recorded an impairment of goodwill amounting to 3,572 million euros,related to an
increase in VMOZ2'’s weighted average cost of capital and the impacts of the macroeconomic conditions and
competitive environment in the United Kingdom on estimated future cash flows of VMO2.

OIBDA in 2023 reached 859 million euros, decreasing 80.5% year-on-year in reported terms.

Depreciation and amortization amounted to 3,686 million euros in 2023, decreasing by 11.6% year-on-year,
impacted by a lower depreciable base and the depreciation of the pound sterling (-1.8 p.p.).

Operating loss amounted to 2,826 million euros in the year 2023, compared to 231 million euros in 2022, mainly
due to the impairment of goodwill amounting to 3,572 million euros.

Analysis of results 2022 vs 2021

Year-on-year changes are mainly explained by the fact that the VMO2 segment's results for 2022 include VMO2’s
results for the full year, whereas the VMO2 segment's results for 2021 include VMQO2'’s results for seven months
only (since June 1, 2021, the date on which VMO2 was established). Further, the 2021 results were adversely
affected by restructuring and integration costs incurred in connection with the incorporation of VMOZ2. Since both
periods are not entirely comparable, the below explanations discuss the drivers of the 2022 and 2021 results
separately.

In 2022, revenues amounted to 12,155 million euros supported by the price increase in fixed and mobile
businesses alongside with synergies realization, offset in part by the impact of the macroeconomic downturn.

* Mobile business revenues amounted to 6,938 million euros in 2022 and included 1,894 million euros from
handset sales, which were impacted by the current macroeconomic environment, mitigated in part by price
increases and the recovery of roaming revenues.

* Fixed business revenues amounted to 4,639 million euros in 2022, impacted by the decline in fixed-line
ARPU driven in part by the increasing cost-of-living, partially mitigated by price increases.

* Other revenues amounted to 578 million euros in 2022 driven by the roll out of the Smart Metering
Implementation Programme and other digital products.

The total amount of supplies, personnel expenses and other expenses (mainly external services and taxes)
was 8,305 million euros in 2022, impacted by the realization of synergies and other cost efficiencies that resulted
from the formation of the joint venture, which helped to offset inflationary tendencies.

*  Supplies amounted to 4,019 million euros in 2022, positively impacted by the realization of synergies,
mainly due to the migration of the Virgin Mobile MVNO contract coupled with other cost efficiencies.

* Personnel expenses amounted to 1,348 million euros in 2022, positively impacted by the realization of
synergies that resulted from the formation of the joint venture, through the execution of restructuring plans
aiming to deliver a single operating model and a leaner company.

»  Other expenses amounted to 2,938 million euros in 2022, impacted by inflationary tensions, mainly by the
increase in energy prices.

OIBDA in 2022 reached 4,401 million euros.
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Depreciation and amortization amounted to 4,170 million euros in 2022.

Operating income amounted to 231 million euros in 2022 underpinned by price rises in fixed and mobile
businesses and cost efficiencies and synergies, mitigating the impact of inflation.

For the period from June 1 to December 31, 2021, total revenues amounted to 7,223 million euros, reflecting the
combination of the fixed and mobile products and services brought together by Telefénica United Kingdom and
Virgin Media.

OIBDA totaled 2,450 million euros for the period from June 1 to December 31, 2021 and was adversely impacted by
the restructuring and other integration costs.

Depreciation and amortization totaled 2,395 million euros for the period from June 1 to December 31, 2021.
Operating income totaled 55 million euros for the period from June 1 to December 31, 2021.

The table below shows the reconciliation between VMO2's results and the share of (loss) income of investments
accounted for by equity method in Telefénica:

June 1to January 1to January1 to
December December December

Millions of euros 31, 2021 31, 2022 31, 2023
Result for the period (100% VMO2) (235) 492 (4,187)
50% attributable to Telefénica Group (117) 246 (2,094)
Share-based compensation ") 14 14 8
Other adjustments — 32 (20)
Share of (loss) income of investments accounted for by the equity

method (103) 292 (2,030)

() Amount related to incentive awards held by certain employees of VMO2 associated with ordinary shares of Liberty Global and Telefénica.
Share-based compensation expense is included in Operating expenses in the consolidated income statement of VMO2.
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TELEFONICA GERMANY

The table below shows the evolution of accesses in Telefonica Germany over the past three years as of December
31 of such years:

ACCESSES
% YoY % YoY
Thousands of accesses 2021 2022 2023 22/21 23/22
Fixed telephony accesses ") 2,179.6 2,211.6 2,299.9 1.5% 4.0%
Broadband 2,262.3 2,294 .2 2,384.3 1.4% 3.9%
UBB 1,856.8 1,939.1 2,064.6 4.4% 6.5%
FTTH 4.5 13.9 28.3 208.5% 103.4%
Mobile accesses 45,693.6 44,306.6 45,072.4 (3.0%) 1.7%
Prepay 18,973.0 16,274.8 15,526.6 (14.2%) (4.6%)
Contract 25,107.8 26,336.2 27,686.4 4.9% 5.1%
loT 1,612.8 1,695.7 1,859.3 5.1% 9.7%
Retail Accesses 50,219.3 48,891.6 49,832.2 (2.6%) 1.9%
Total Accesses 50,219.3 48,891.6 49,832.2 (2.6%) 1.9%
Notes:

™ Includes "fixed wireless" and Voice over IP accesses.

In 2023, Telefénica Germany continued solid growth due to robust commercial traction underpinned by its "more for
more" O2 Mobile portfolio and its low churn levels.

Telefénica Germany’s key milestones in 2023 were as follows:

+ Continued commercial success, with contract net additions up 9.9% year-on-year (1.4 million new clients
supported by O2 and partner brands) in combination with low churn rates.

» Telefénica Germany made good progress with the densification and further roll-out of its green network. 5G
network coverage stood at 95% as of December 31, 2023, thus achieving and exceeding the goal set for 2023, and
leaving Telefénica Germany well on track to achieve nationwide 5G coverage by 2025 at the latest.

* In November 2023, Telefénica Germany and the 1&1 Group expanded the scope of a May 2021 national
roaming agreement to include 5G mobile services, which services were activated on December 8, 2023.
The expansion of the roaming agreement followed the 1&1 Group’s disclosure on August 2, 2023 that it will
switch its host network operator in Germany from Telefénica Germany to Vodafone in the second half of
2024, under a long-term, exclusive national roaming partnership with Vodafone Group. This exclusivity
arrangement includes the non-discriminatory provision of national roaming services in areas not yet covered
by the new 1&1 mobile network and in particular includes access to the 5G network of Vodafone Group,
including mobile communication standards 2G and 4G and future mobile communication standards and
technologies. The agreement between the 1&1 Group and Vodafone will limit future network sharing
opportunities with 1&1.

* On January 26, 2024, Telefonica’s voluntary partial tender offer for shares of Telefénica Deutschland was
settled. See “ltem 4. Information on the Company—History and Development of the Company—~Public
Takeover Offers”.

Accesses 2023 vs 2022

The total access base increased 1.9% year-on-year and stood at 49.8 million on December 31, 2023, mainly
driven by a 1.7% increase in the mobile accesses base, which reached 45.1 million.

The contract mobile customer base grew 5.1% year-on-year and reached 27.7 million accesses, increasing the
share over the total mobile accesses base to 61.4%. Net adds reached 1.4 million accesses driven by own brand
gross adds momentum in combination with low churn levels. Churn rates remained at low levels based on the high
network and service quality combination.
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The prepay mobile customer base decreased 4.6% year-on-year to 15.5 million accesses, reflecting the German
market trend of prepaid to postpaid migration. There was a net loss of 0.7 million prepay customers in 2023.

Broadband accesses reached 2.4 million accesses (up 3.9% y-o-y) with a net add of 90 thousand accesses in
2023, mainly driven by the good performance of “O2 myHome” tariff, continued VDSL demand and a low level of
churn. Fiber and cable technologies are gaining more and more traction with high-value customers in these
technologies.

Accesses 2022 vs 2021

The total access base decreased 2.6% year-on-year and stood at 48.9 million at December 31, 2022, mainly
driven by a 3.0% decrease in the mobile accesses base, which reached 44.3 million.

The contract mobile customer base grew 4.9% year-on-year and reached 26.3 million accesses, increasing the
share over the total mobile accesses base to 59.4%. Net adds reached 1.2 million accesses driven by high 02
brand appeal thanks to the O2 Free tariff portfolio’s gross add momentum in the market and the continued solid
contribution of partner brands. Churn was 1.3% in 2022 (+0.1 p.p. y-0-y) leveraging network and service quality and
commercial success despite being impacted by the European Electronic Communications Code (EECC)
introduction, as a result of which contract customers can terminate their contracts at any time.

The prepay mobile customer base decreased 14.2% year-on-year to 16.3 million accesses. This decrease was
driven mainly by a combination of a technical base adjustment in December 2022 (which was revenue neutral)
following the introduction of a stricter active SIM card definition and the ongoing German market trend of prepaid to
postpaid migration leading to a net loss of 2.7 million prepay customers in 2022.

Broadband accesses reached 2.3 million accesses (up 1.4% y-o-y), with a net add of 32 thousand accesses in
2022, reflecting the success of the "O2 myHome" tariff portfolio with high-speed cable and fiber connections as well
as FMS (Fixed Mobile Substitution) driving customer demand.
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The table below shows the evolution of Telefonica Germany’s results over the past three years:

Millions of euros

. % YoY
TELEFONICA GERMANY 2021 2022 2023 22/21
Revenues 7,765 8,224 8,614 5.9%

Mobile Business 6,942 7,394 7,767 6.5%
Handset revenues 1,450 1,652 1,872 13.9%
Fixed Business 814 806 827 (1.0%)
Other income 140 153 160 9.2%
Supplies (2,403) (2,524) (2,677) 5.0%
Personnel expenses (585) (622) (669) 6.2%
Other expenses (2,493) (2,673) (2,788) 7.2%
OIBDA 2,424 2,558 2,640 5.5%
Depreciation and amortization (2,394) (2,295) (2,323) (4.1%)
Amortization of intangible assets, depreciation
of property, plant and equipment (1,809) (1,659) (1,650) (8.3%)
Amortization of rights of use (585) (636) (673) 8.9%
Operating income 30 263 317 n.m.
CapEx 1,284 1,209 1,133 (5.8%)
OIBDA-CapEx 1,140 1,349 1,507 18.3%

n.m.: not meaningful

Analysis of results 2023 vs 2022

% YoY
23/22

4.7%
5.0%
13.3%
2.7%
4.7%
6.1%
7.6%
4.3%
3.2%
1.2%

(0.5%)
5.7%
20.8%
(6.3%)
11.7%

Total revenues were 8,614 million euros in 2023, a year-on-year increase of 4.7%, driven by the increase in the

mobile business.

— Mobile business revenues totaled 7,767 million euros, increasing 5.0% year-on-year. This reflects the
sustained mobile service revenue momentum on the back of the ongoing strong commercial traction of the

02 brand and a solid contribution from partner brands selling O2 services.

— Handset revenues (which are included in mobile business revenues) amounted to 1,872 million euros,
increasing 13.3% year-on-year due to high demand for accessories and high value devices supported by

the “O2 myHandy” monthly-installment financing model.

— Fixed business revenues were 827 million euros, increasing 2.7% year-on-year, due to the good

performance of “O2 myHome” tariff and the increasing demand of fiber and cable technologies.

Mobile ARPU was 10.8 euros (+6.5% y-0-y) due to the 15.3% year-on-year increase in prepay ARPU, offset in part
by the 0.1% year-on-year decrease in contract ARPU. Data ARPU was 7.4 euros (+9.2% y-0-y), supported by the

successful “O2 Mobile” portfolio.

i % YoY
TELEFONICA GERMANY 2021 2022 2023 22/21
ARPU (EUR) 10.0 10.1 10.8 1.5%
Prepay 6.3 6.7 7.8 6.2%
Contract ") 13.5 13.3 13.2 (1.5%)

Data ARPU (EUR) 6.1 6.7 7.4 10.8%

™ Excludes IoT.
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The evolution of expenses is explained below:

* Supplies amounted to 2,677 million euros in 2023, increasing 6.1% year-on-year compared to 2022. This
increase was mainly attributable to higher handset cost of sales partially offset by positive effects from cuts
in the MTR (Mobile Termination Rate) fees paid to other operators.

* Personnel expenses amounted to 669 million euros in 2023, increasing 7.6% year-on-year compared to
2022, reflecting staff and wage increases, which were intended to support Telefénica Germany's
transformation and growth plans.

* Other expenses amounted to 2,788 million euros in 2023, increasing 4.3% year-on-year compared to 2022
reflecting higher commercial costs, energy costs and higher technology costs required for the digital
transformation of the company.

OIBDA totaled 2,640 million euros in 2023, increasing by 3.2% y-o-y.

Depreciation and amortization amounted to 2,323 million euros in 2023, increasing by 1.2% year-on-year mainly
due to higher amortization of rights-of-use assets.

Operating income totaled 317 million euros in 2023, increasing 20.8% year-on-year due mainly to good
performance in both fixed and mobile business revenues, own brand momentum and further efficiency gains.

Analysis of results 2022 vs 2021

Total revenues were 8,224 million euros in 2022, a year-on-year increase of 5.9%, driven by the increase in the
mobile business.

— Mobile business revenues totaled 7,394 million euros, increasing 6.5% y-o-y. This reflects the sustained
mobile service revenue momentum on the back of the ongoing strong commercial traction of the O2 brand
and a solid contribution from partners, more than compensating for the negative impact from the
accelerated Mobile Termination Rate glide path (which has led to a decrease in termination charges).

— Handset revenues (which are included in mobile business revenues) amounted to 1,652 million euros,
increasing 13.9% y-o-y due to continued good customer demand and availability of devices at Telefonica
Germany's, with customers increasingly opting for longer-term handset financing.

— Fixed business revenues were 806 million euros, decreasing 1.0% y-o-y, reflecting the lower European
termination rates in the carrier business, offset in part by the steadily growing share of high value customers
in the fixed retail broadband accesses.

Mobile ARPU was 10.1 euros (+1.5% y-0-y) due to the 6.2% y-o0-y increase in prepay ARPU, offset in part by the
1.5% y-o0-y decrease in contract ARPU reflecting the accelerated Mobile Termination Rate (MTR) glide path and
higher focus on customer loyalty and retention. Data ARPU was 6.7 euros (+10.8% y-0-y), supported by the
success of the O2 Free portfolio.

The total amount of supplies, personnel expenses and other expenses (mainly external services and taxes)
amounted to 5,819 million euros in 2022, increasing 6.2% year-on-year.

* Supplies amounted to 2,524 million euros in 2022, increasing 5.0% year-on-year compared to 2021. This
increase was mainly attributable to higher hardware cost of sales partially offset by positive effects from cuts
in the MTR (Mobile Termination Rate) fees paid to other operators.

* Personnel expenses amounted to 622 million euros in 2022, increasing 6.2% year-on-year compared to
2021 mainly explained by the social security payments received from the Government in 2021 in connection
with employees affected by the temporary closing of O2 shops during the enforced COVID-19 lockdown in
the first half of 2021 and the salary increase in 2022, partially offset by a y-o-y lower number of full-time
employees.

* Other expenses amounted to 2,673 million euros in 2022, increasing 7.2% year-on-year compared to 2021
reflecting higher energy costs, technology transformation and commercial activity costs.
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OIBDA totaled 2,558 million euros in 2022, increasing by 5.5% y-o-y.

Depreciation and amortization amounted to 2,295 million euros in 2022, decreasing 4.1% year-on-year mainly as
a result of the 3G switch-off at year-end 2021 in combination with the decision to shorten the useful life of assets in
the context of technology optimization and modernization. This was partly offset by higher right of use asset
amortization and new additions in IT-architecture added in the context of network modernization.

Operating income totaled 263 million euros in 2022, compared to 30 million euros in 2021, thanks to the higher
revenues driven by Telefénica Germany's own brand momentum, and from efficiency gains and tight cost
management.
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TELEFONICA BRAZIL

The table below shows the evolution of accesses of Telefénica Brazil over the past three years as of December 31
of such years:

ACCESSES
% YoY % YoY
Thousands of accesses 2021 2022 2023 22/21 23/22
Fixed telephony accesses ") 7,506.5 7,012.7 6,457.7 (6.6%) (7.9%)
Broadband 6,262.0 6,419.6 6,677.9 2.5% 4.0%
UBB 5,635.3 5,967.7 6,386.5 7.8% 7.0%
FTTH 4,608.7 5,482.4 6,174.7 19.0% 12.6%
Mobile accesses 83,912.3 97,973.0 99,070.2 16.8% 1.1%
Prepay 34,287.3 39,3059 37,267.3 14.6% (5.2%)
Contract 37,166.7 43,947.2  45,902.7 18.2% 4.4%
loT 12,458.3 14,7199  15,900.2 18.2% 8.0%
Pay TV 1,114.8 966.3 844.9 (13.3%) (12.6%)
IPTV 916.8 898.3 844.9 (2.0%) (5.9%)
Retail Accesses 98,853.2 112,423.7 113,101.8 13.7% 0.6%
Total Accesses 98,854.2 112,424.0 113,102.1 13.7% 0.6%

™ Includes "fixed wireless" and Voice over IP accesses.

In 2023, Telefonica Brazil maintained its leadership in the mobile segment and, after the incorporation of Oi's
customer base in April 2022 and in a more consolidated market environment, is positioned with a market share of
38.7%, standing at +4.8 p.p. ahead of its closest competitor, based on market-share data published by ANATEL in
December 2023. Telefénica Brazil's strategy remains focused on strengthening its high-value customer base, and it
reached a contract market share (excluding loT accesses) of 43.4%, as of December 31, 2023, according to
ANATEL.

In the fixed business, Telefénica Brazil continued with the implementation of strategic technologies, focusing on the
deployment of fiber and IPTV, centering its commercial offer around Vivo Total and maintaining low churn rates.

In addition, Telefénica Brazil continued to advance in the development of an ecosystem with relevant partners to
promote its consolidation as a digital services hub. The value proposition it offers is strengthened with a broad
portfolio of services, highlighting those described below:

— Vida V - Health & Wellness, in March 2023, Telefénica Brazil announced the acquisition of Vale Saude
Semper, expanding its presence in digital health services. Vale Saude Semper is a startup that acts as a
health services marketplace, connecting more than 70 thousand customers with more than 5 thousand
clinics and laboratories throughout Brazil. This service is obtained with a monthly subscription.

— Viva E — Education: commercially launched in March 2023, this platform provides digital courses focused
on lifelong learning and employability. The platform is owned and operated by a joint venture created by
Telefénica Brazil and Anima Educagao offers more than 400 hours of content.

— Vivo Ventures (an investment fund that focuses on startups) made its first two investments in the financial
platforms Klavi and Klubi. Continuing with its expansion strategy in the sector, in June 2023 Vivo Ventures
announced its third investment, in Digibee, an iPaaS service integration platform. Moreover, Vivo Ventures
has agreed to invest 25 million Brazilian reais in Conexa Health LLC, Latin America's largest independent
telemedicine platform and digital health ecosystem.

Accesses 2023 vs 2022

Total accesses stood at 113.1 million as of December 31, 2023, increasing by 0.6% year-on-year mainly due to the
growth in contract thanks to Telefonica Brazil's totalization strategy (expanding the services we offer to provide
customers with a complete experience) and the growth in FTTH, which offset the decrease in prepaid mobile
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accesses, the decline in the fixed voice business due to the continuous migration from fixed to mobile, the
contraction of the lower-value fixed broadband customer base, and the loss of DTH customers as a result of the
company’s strategic decision to discontinue legacy technologies.

Contract mobile accesses grew by 4.4% year-on-year and reached 45.9 million with net adds of 2.0 million new
accesses in 2023, with a churn at historical low levels (1.0%), driven by the totalization strategy and by the launch of
new attractive bundles (packaged offers with more than one service) in control postpaid (postpaid accesses with
usage limits, requiring customers to purchase “top-ups” if they exceed these limits).

Prepaid mobile accesses decreased by 5.2% year-on-year, reaching 37.3 million accesses with a net loss of 2.0
million accesses in 2023. The lower customer base has been mainly a consequence of the disconnection of inactive
customers, mostly from Oi's customer base incorporated in 2022, as well as the strategy of migrating prepaid
customers to control postpaid (postpaid accesses with usage limits, requiring customers to purchase “top-ups” if
they exceed these limits).

Broadband accesses grew by 4.0% year-on-year and reached 6.7 million accesses with net adds of 258 thousand
new accesses in 2023. Telefonica Brazil maintained its strategic focus on the deployment of fiber, reaching 6.2
million homes connected with FTTH as of December 2023, growing 12.6% year-on-year. Telefénica Brazil reached
26.2 million real estate units, which managed to offset the decrease in other accesses of legacy broadband services
(xDSL).

Traditional voice accesses decreased by 7.9% year-on-year due to fixed-mobile substitution, reaching 6.5 million
accesses.

Pay TV accesses reached 0.8 million as of December 31, 2023, decreasing by 12.6% year-on-year, mainly as a
result of the strategic decision to discontinue the DTH service.

Accesses 2022 vs 2021

Telefénica Brazil reached 112.4 million accesses as of December 31, 2022, 13.7% higher than December 31, 2021
due to the sustained growth in the organic mobile business, in addition to the incorporation of the customer base of
Oi, and the growth in FTTH, which more than offset the decline in the fixed voice business due to the continuous
migration from fixed to mobile, encouraged by unlimited voice offers in the market, the contraction of the lower-value
fixed broadband customer base and the loss of DTH customers as a result of the company’s strategic decision to
discontinue legacy technologies.

In the mobile business, Telefénica Brazil strengthened its leadership in terms of total accesses, with an access
market share of 38.9% as of December 31, 2022 (source: ANATEL) growing both in terms of contract customers
(+18.2% year-on-year, +11.5% excluding Oi) and of prepaid customers (+14.6% year-on-year, -1.2% excluding Oi).
Telefonica Brazil's strategy was focused on strengthening the high-value customer base, reaching a 43.5% contract
ex loT market share as of December 31, 2022 (source: ANATEL). Contract commercial offers were focused on data
plans, with extra data allowances subject to subscription to digital invoice, together with OTT services of their choice
(for example, Disney+, Netflix, Spotify, Vivo Meditagéo, Vivo Pay, Babbel, GoRead, among others). The Vivo Travel
roaming service for voice and data is maintained in a selection of countries of America and Europe, depending on
the plan. For higher-value customers, family plans are maintained, with a greater number of available apps.
Additionally, Vivo Easy Prime was launched, with flexible proposals ranging from 7GB to 20GB and allowing
customers to tailor their plans according to their needs. In the prepaid segment, Telefénica Brazil offers VIVO
PreTurbo, which include WhatsApp and unlimited minutes. All of this is supported by the interaction with our
customers through the AURA virtual assistant in the Meu VIVO application, transforming the service channels to
improve the user experience.

In the broadband business, Telefonica Brazil maintained its strategic focus on the deployment of fiber, reaching
28.6 million real estate units passed with FTTx access as of December 31, 2022, of which 23.3 million
corresponded to FTTH. Additionally, Telefénica Brazil continued to develop alternative deployment models to
accelerate the expansion of fiber with lower CapEx and a reduced time to market. Telefénica Brazil reached 6.0
million connected homes of which 5.5 million homes connected with FTTH as of December 31, 2022, increasing
7.8% and 19.0% year-on-year, respectively. This growth offset the drop in other broadband accesses (xDSL),
placing retail broadband accesses at 6.4 million as of December 31, 2022, increasing by 2.5% year-on-year.

Traditional fixed telephony accesses decreased by 6.6% year-on-year due to the aforementioned fixed-mobile
substitution.
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Pay TV customers fell to 1.0 million as of December 31, 2022, decreasing 13.3% year-on-year due to the strategic
decision to discontinue the DTH service, whose customer base decreased 65.7% year-on-year.

The table below shows the evolution of Telefonica Brazil’s results over the past three years:

Millions of euros

i % YoY % YoY
TELEFONICA BRAZIL 2021 2022 2023 22/21 23/22
Revenues 6,910 8,870 9,650 28.4% 8.8%

Mobile Business 4,610 6,106 6,792 32.4% 11.2%
Handset revenues 415 573 640 38.2% 11.6%
Fixed Business 2,300 2,764 2,858 20.2% 3.4%
Other income 474 416 427 (12.3%) 2.8%
Supplies (1,216) (1,783) (2,170) 46.7% 21.7%
Personnel expenses (799) (1,097) (1,220) 37.3% 11.2%
Other expenses (2,231) (2,674) (2,559) 19.8% (4.3%)
OIBDA 3,138 3,732 4,128 18.9% 10.6%
Depreciation and amortization (1,918) (2,369) (2,511) 23.6% 6.0%
Amortization of intangible assets, depreciation
of property, plant and equipment (1,488) (1,807) (1,890) 21.4% 4.6%
Amortization of rights of use (430) (562) (621) 31.1% 10.3%
Operating income 1,220 1,363 1,617 11.7% 18.6%
CapEx 2,069 1,795 1,671 (13.2%) (6.9%)
OIBDA-CapEx 1,069 1,937 2,457 81.2% 26.8%

Analysis of results 2023 vs 2022

In 2023, revenues amounted to 9,650 million euros, growing by 8.8% year-on-year, mainly due to the growth in
service revenues (mainly coming from the mobile business), businesses associated with new technologies like
FTTH, IPTV and Digital Services and higher handset sales. To a lesser extent, revenues grew due to the price
increases implemented by Telefénica Brazil and the appreciation of the Brazilian real. These impacts offset the
revenue erosion associated with traditional telephony accesses and to a lesser extent due to lower Pay TV
revenues.

— Mobile business revenues totaled 6,792 million euros in 2023, increasing by 11.2%, mainly due to the
larger contract customer base, the price increases implemented by Telefénica Brazil and, to a lesser extent,
the appreciation of the Brazilian real.

— Fixed business revenues amounted to 2,858 million euros in 2023, growing 3.4% mainly due to higher
FTTH revenues in line with the strategic focus on such services as well as higher IT service revenues and,
to a lesser extent, the appreciation of the Brazilian real.

Mobile ARPU grew by 7.2% year-on-year mainly due to the price increases implemented by Telefonica Brazil
together with the good evolution of the contract business, helped by the totalization strategy (expanding the services
we offer to provide customers with a complete experience), mobile shelf plans with new hybrid bundles (packaged
offers including, e.g., health insurance and entertainment services as Vale Saude and VIVOplay) and, to a lesser
extent, the appreciation of the Brazilian real.

% YoY % YoY

TELEFONICA BRAZIL 2021 2022 2023 22/21 23/22
ARPU (EUR) 4.2 4.7 5.0 12.9% 7.2%
Prepay 2.0 2.3 2.4 17.7% 4.0%
Contract ") 7.4 8.3 8.8 12.3% 6.3%
Data ARPU (EUR) 3.1 3.7 4.1 20.2% 8.6%

™ Excludes loT.
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The evolution of expenses is explained below:

» Supplies amounted to 2,170 million euros in 2023, increasing 21.7% year-on-year, due to higher equipment
purchases and handset costs associated with increased commercial activity and to the appreciation of the
Brazilian real.

* Personnel expenses amounted to 1,220 million euros in 2023, increasing 11.2% year-on-year, as a result
mainly of the salary increases due to inflation and to a lesser extent, the appreciation of the Brazilian real.

* Other expenses amounted to 2,559 million euros in 2023, decreasing 4.3% year-on-year compared to 2022,
due mainly to the acquisition price adjustment recorded in connection with Oi's assets, and cost efficiencies
due to digitalization, offset in part by the appreciation of the Brazilian real.

OIBDA stood at 4,128 million euros in 2023, growing by 10.6% year-on-year.

Depreciation and amortization amounted to 2,511 million euros in 2023, increasing 6.0% year-on-year due to
higher amortization of intangible assets.

Operating income stood at 1,617 million euros in 2023, increasing by 18.6% year-on-year due to the good
performance of service revenues as a result of higher commercial activity and the price increases implemented by
Telefénica Brazil, that together with good cost management, more than offset the growth in expenses and
depreciation and amortization. This variation was also impacted positively by the appreciation of the Brazilian real.

Analysis of results 2022 vs 2021

In 2022, revenues totaled 8,870 million euros, growing by 28.4%, mainly due to the increase in service revenues
driven by the appreciation of the Brazilian real, Vivo's existing customer base with respect to the rest of the
segment's mobile business, the addition of the business acquired from Oi, as well as the results of businesses
associated with new technologies (FTTH, IPTV and Digital Services), which offset the erosion of revenues
associated with voice and traditional fixed accesses.

* Mobile business revenues totaled 6,106 million euros in 2022, increasing by 32.4% mainly because of the
appreciation of the Brazilian real, higher commercial activity and the addition of accesses from Oi.

* Fixed business revenues totaled 2,764 million euros in 2022, growing by 20.2% mainly related to the
appreciation of the Brazilian real and higher FTTH and IT revenues.

Mobile ARPU increased by 12.9% year-on-year on the back of the appreciation of the Brazilian real.

The total amount of supplies, personnel expenses and other expenses (mainly external services and taxes)
amounted to 5,554 million euros in 2022, increasing 30.8% year-on-year. This increase was mainly attributable to
the impact of the appreciation of the Brazilian real, higher personnel expenses, expenses resulting from the higher
handset sales (including sale commissions) due to higher commercial activity, as well as the addition of the
business acquired from Oi.

* Supplies amounted to 1,783 million euros in 2022, increasing 46.7% year-on-year compared to 2021. This
increase was mainly attributable to higher commercial activity and the impact of the appreciation of the
Brazilian real.

* Personnel expenses amounted to 1,097 million euros in 2022, increasing 37.3% year-on-year compared
to 2021, affected by the appreciation of the Brazilian real, a higher-than-expected salary increase, due to
inflation, and higher commercial activity in B2B.

* Other expenses amounted to 2,674 million euros in 2022, increasing 19.8% year-on-year compared to
2021, affected by the impact of the appreciation of the Brazilian real, partially offset by cost efficiencies due
to digitalization.

OIBDA stood at 3,732 million euros in 2022, increasing 18.9% year-on-year.

Depreciation and amortization amounted to 2,369 million euros in 2022, increasing 23.6% principally due to the
appreciation of the Brazilian real, the acquisition of new 5G licenses in 2021 and the consolidation of the Oi assets.
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Operating income amounted to 1,363 million euros in 2022, increasing 11.7%. This variation is due to the impact of
the appreciation of the Brazilian real, greater commercial activity and the integration of Oi's accesses.
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TELEFONICA HISPAM

The table below shows the evolution of accesses of Telefonica Hispam over the past three years as of December 31
of such years:

ACCESSES
% %
Thousands of accesses 2021 2022 2023 YoY 22/21 YoY 23/22
Fixed telephony accesses ") 7,034.1 6,375.7 5,678.7 (9.4%) (10.9%)
Broadband 5,756.9 6,030.6 6,029.2 4.8% 0.0%
uBB 4,432.2 5,155.0 5,534.6 16.3% 7.4%
FTTH 4,259.0 5,053.9 5,466.7 18.7% 8.2%
Mobile accesses 94,612.6 95,579.7 97,945.7 1.0% 2.5%
Prepay 66,075.3 65,340.7 66,649.7 (1.1%) 2.0%
Contract 23,799.6 24,771.9 25,125.8 4.1% 1.4%
loT 4,737.6 5,467.2 6,170.1 15.4% 12.9%
Pay TV 2,905.3 2,899.8 2,840.3 (0.2%) (2.1%)
IPTV 913.2 1,384.7 1,682.7 51.6% 21.5%
Retail Accesses 110,395.5 110,958.9 112,563.5 0.5% 1.4%
Total Accesses 110,414.7 110,970.7 112,575.3 0.5% 1.4%
Notes:

™ Includes "fixed wireless" and Voice over IP accesses.
Accesses 2023 vs 2022

Telefénica Hispam's total accesses amounted to 112.6 million as of December 31, 2023 (+1.4% year-on-year), as
a result of the increase in mobile and FTTH accesses.

Mobile accesses amounted to 97.9 million, increasing by 2.5% y-o-y mainly due to the higher prepay customer
base.

» Contract accesses increased by 1.4% year-on-year due to the increase in accesses in Mexico
(+22%), Venezuela (+4.1%) and Peru (+2.4%), partially offset by the decrease in Chile (-2.2%) and
Colombia (-1.3%). This evolution is mainly thanks to attractive commercial offers which result in a higher
number of gross adds.

* Prepay accesses increased by 2.0% year-on-year, with a net gain of 1.3 million accesses as of
December 31, 2023. The year-on-year accesses evolution was greatly impacted by the gain of accesses in
Colombia (+912 thousand accesses), Chile (+900 thousand accesses) and Venezuela (+673 thousand
accesses) due to lower churn. The year-on-year increase was partially offset by an access decrease in Peru
(-998 thousand accesses), and to a lesser extent Mexico (-151 thousand accesses) and Uruguay (-38
thousand accesses).

Fixed accesses stood at 5.7 million as of December 31, 2023 (-10.9% year-on-year) with a net loss of 0.7 million
accesses due to the continued erosion of the traditional fixed business.

Fixed broadband accesses amounted to 6.0 million as of December 31, 2023 (stable year-on-year). The
penetration of FBB accesses over fixed accesses stood at 106.2% (+11.6 p.p. y-0-y), as a result of the focus on
Ultra Broadband (UBB) deployment in the region reaching 5.5 million connected accesses (+8.2% y-0-y) and 20.3
million premises. The penetration of UBB accesses over fixed broadband accesses stood at 91.7% (+6.2 p.p. y-0-y).

Pay TV accesses stood at 2.8 million as of December 31, 2023, a decrease of 2.1% y-o-y or a net loss of 60
thousand customers, a consequence of the decrease in Direct-to-Home (DTH) technology accesses (-146.2
thousand accesses) due to the change in commercial strategy, as well as the decreasing cable access base (-211.2
thousand accesses). This evolution was partially offset by the increase in IPTV accesses (+298 thousand
accesses), on which the Company is placing strategic focus.
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Accesses 2022 vs 2021

Telefénica Hispam's total accesses amounted to 111.0 million as of December 31, 2022 (+0.5% year-on-year), as a
result of the increase in mobile and FTTH accesses.

Mobile accesses amounted to 95.6 million, increasing by 1.0% y-o-y mainly due to the higher postpay customer
base.

+ Contract accesses increased by 4.1% year-on-year due to the increase in accesses in Mexico
(+14.7%), Colombia (+8.4%) and Ecuador (+6.3%), partially offset by the decrease in Venezuela (-6.3%).
This evolution was mainly driven by the commercial activity recovery and the attractive commercial offers.

* Prepay accesses decreased by 1.1% year-on-year, with a net loss of 735 thousand accesses as of
December 31, 2022. The year-on-year accesses evolution was greatly impacted by the loss of accesses in
Mexico (-921 thousand accesses) due to a higher number of disconnected non-active customers. In
addition, accesses in Argentina decreased by 696 thousand. The year-on-year decrease was partially offset
by an increase in accesses in Colombia (+1.3 million accesses), and to a lesser extent Ecuador (+155
thousand accesses).

Fixed accesses stood at 6.4 million as of December 31, 2022 (-9.4% year-on-year) with a net loss of 658 thousand
accesses due to the continued erosion of the traditional fixed business.

Fixed broadband accesses amounted to 6.0 million as of December 31, 2022 (+4.8% year-on-year). The
penetration of FBB accesses over fixed accesses stood at 94.6% (+12.7 p.p. y-0-y), as a result of the focus on Ultra
Broadband (UBB) deployment in the region reaching 5.2 million connected accesses (+16.3% y-o0-y) and 18.8
million premises. The penetration of UBB accesses over fixed broadband accesses stood at 85.5% (+8.5 p.p. y-0-y).

Pay TV accesses stood at 2.9 million as of December 31, 2022, with a decrease of 0.2% y-0-y as a result of the net
loss of 6 thousand customers, mainly as a result of the lower Direct-To-Home (DTH) technology accesses (-366
thousand accesses) due to the change in commercial strategy as well as the lower cable access base (-111.5
thousand accesses), partially offset by the increase in IPTV accesses (+472 thousand accesses), in which the
Company is placing strategic focus.

The table below shows the evolution of Telefonica Hispam's results over the past three years:

Millions of euros

. % YoY % YoY
TELEFONICA HISPAM 2021 2022 2023 22/21 23/22
Revenues 8,362 9,141 8,381 9.3% (8.3%)

Mobile Business 5,444 6,003 5,493 10.3% (8.5%)
Handset revenues 1,398 1,541 1,416 10.2% (8.1%)
Fixed Business 2,907 3,138 2,888 7.9% (8.0%)
Other income 582 448 263 (23.0%) (41.3%)
Supplies (2,856) (3,384) (3,211) 18.5% (5.1%)
Personnel expenses (1,174) (1,201) (1,126) 2.3% (6.3%)
Other expenses (3,196) (3,046) (2,797) (4.7%) (8.1%)
OIBDA 1,718 1,958 1,510 14.0% (22.9%)
Depreciation and amortization (1,873) (1,799) (1,557) (3.9%) (13.5%)
Amortization of intangible assets, depreciation
of property, plant and equipment (1,451) (1,345) (1,207) (7.3%) (10.3%)
Amortization of rights of use (422) (454) (350) 7.6% (23.0%)
Operating (loss) income (155) 159 (47) c.s. c.s.
CapEx 978 1,058 938 8.1% (11.4%)
OIBDA-CapEx 740 900 572 21.6% (36.4%)

c.s.: change of sign
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Analysis of results 2023 vs 2022

Venezuela and Argentina are considered countries with hyperinflationary economies in 2023 and 2022, and
hyperinflation in Argentina had a significant impact on the segment’s results in 2023. The exchange rate used to
translate inflation-adjusted items denominated in Argentine pesos in the consolidated financial statements as of and
for the year ended December 31, 2023 was the closing exchange rate as of December 31, 2023 which was 893.45
Argentine pesos per euro (189.08 Argentine pesos per euro as of December 31, 2022). The annual inflation rate for
2023 was 211%. As a result, in 2023 Telefénica Argentina contributed 1,237 million euros to the consolidated
revenues of the Telefénica Group and an operating loss of 199 million euros to the consolidated operating income of
the Telefénica Group (2,066 million euros and a loss of 270 million euros, respectively, in 2022).

Revenues amounted to 8,381 million euros in 2023, decreasing 8.3% year-on-year. This decrease was caused by
the devaluation of the Argentine peso and to a lesser extent, by lower handset sales and lower prepaid B2C
(Business to Customer) and TV revenues, partially offset by higher broadband and new services revenues.

Mobile business revenues amounted to 5,493 million euros in 2023, decreasing 8.5% year-on-year. This decrease
was caused by the devaluation of the Argentine peso, the decrease in handset sales, as a result of the slowdown in
commercial activity with a lower number of gross adds and lower prepaid B2C (Business to Customer) revenues.

The performance by country was as follows:

* In Argentina, mobile revenues amounted to 862 million euros in 2023, decreasing 37.5% year-on-
year. This decrease was negatively impacted by exchange rate effects, given the devaluation of the
Argentine peso but partially offset by the higher postpaid and prepaid B2C (Business to Customer)
revenues (due to the increase in accesses) and higher handset sales.

* In Chile, mobile revenues amounted to 988 million euros in 2023, increasing 2.0% year-on-year,
explained by higher handset sales and mobile postpaid revenues.

* In Peru, mobile revenues amounted to 840 million euros in 2023, decreasing 9.1% year-on-year,
mainly due to an aggressive competitive environment in postpaid which has led to a lower ARPU, lower
prepaid commercial activity with lower number of gross adds, and lower handset sales.

* In Colombia, mobile revenues amounted to 774 million in 2023, decreasing 13.1% year-on-year
due to lower prepaid and handset sales revenues, as a result of the slowdown in commercial activity, with a
lower number of gross adds, partially offset by higher postpaid revenues.

* In Mexico, mobile revenues amounted to 1,318 million euros in 2023, increasing 12.5% year-on-
year due to the exchange rate effects (+10.5 p.p.), higher B2C (Business to Customer) postpaid revenues
with a good level of commercial activity resulting in a higher number of gross adds, and higher handset
sales revenues.

Fixed business revenues amounted to 2,888 million euros in 2023, decreasing 8.0% year-on-year. This decrease
was mainly attributable to the devaluation of the Argentine peso and the decrease in fixed business revenues in
Peru due to an aggressive competitive environment, partially offset by higher broadband and new services
revenues and the increase in voice accesses in Chile and Colombia.

The evolution of expenses is explained below:

* Supplies amounted to 3,211 million euros in 2023, decreasing 5.1% year-on-year compared to 2022. This
decrease was mainly attributable to the devaluation of the Argentine peso and lower direct costs, partially
offset by higher commercial costs.

* Personnel expenses amounted to 1,126 million euros in 2023, decreasing 6.3% year-on-year compared to
2022. This decrease was mainly attributable to the devaluation of the Argentine peso, partially offset by the
year-on-year increase in restructuring costs in several operating businesses in the region (+2.6 p.p.) and
higher wages.

* Other expenses amounted to 2,797 million euros in 2023, down 8.1% year-on-year compared to 2022.
This decrease was mainly attributable to the devaluation of the Argentine peso and cost efficiencies.

OIBDA reached 1,510 million euros in 2023, decreasing 22.9% year-on-year.
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Depreciation and amortization amounted to 1,557 million euros in 2023, decreasing 13.5% year-over-year, mainly
due to the effect of the devaluation of the Argentine peso and to the lower amortization base in Telefénica México.

Operating loss was 47 million euros in 2023, compared to operating income of 159 million euros in 2022. This
year-on-year variation was mainly affected by the recording of capital gains in 2022 from the sale of fiber assets in
Colombia and, in 2023, the higher restructuring expenses carried out in several operating businesses in the
segment, the devaluation of the Argentine peso and, more generally, lower revenues. The year-on-year variation
was partially offset by the difference in the impairment recorded in 2023 in Ecuador (amounting to 58 million euros)
and the other assets impairment recorded in 2022 relating to Telefénica Argentina (amounting to 77 million euros).
Moreover, the year-on-year variation was affected by the lower depreciation and amortization base in 2023
compared to 2022 in Telefénica Mexico related to the transformation of the operating model of Telefénica México (as
a result of the 2019 wholesale access services agreement with AT&T).

Below is additional information by country:

* In Argentina, operating loss was 199 million euros in 2023 compared to operating loss of 270 million euros
in 2022, a 26.5% year-on-year decrease mainly due to the devaluation of the Argentine peso and
depreciation and amortizations expense in 2023.

* In Chile operating income was 35 million euros in 2023 compared to operating income of 179 million euros
in 2022. The 80.6% year-on-year decrease is explained mainly by the capital gain recorded in 2022 on the
sale of a data center in such year.

* In Peru the operating loss was 33 million euros in 2023 compared to operating income of 60 million euros in
2022, mainly due to lower revenues.

* In Colombia, operating income was 64 million euros in 2023 compared to operating income of 261 million
euros in 2022, a 75.6% year-on-year decrease mainly due to the capital gains recorded in 2022 in
connection with in fiber asset sales in such year.

* In Mexico operating income was 3 million euros in 2023 compared to operating loss of 176 million euros in
2022. The better performance was due in part to the lower amortization base related to the transformation
of the operating model of Telefénica México (as a result of the 2019 wholesale access services agreement
with AT&T).

Analysis of results 2022 vs 2021

Revenues amounted to 9,141 million euros in 2022, increasing 9.3% year-on-year. This increase was attributable
mainly to the foreign exchange effects (+4.7 p.p.) and revenue growth due to handset sales, B2C (Business to
Customer) especially postpaid and B2B (Business to Business) service revenue evolution as well as higher fixed
voice revenues, broadband and new services.

Mobile business revenues amounted to 6,003 million euros in 2022, increasing 10.3% year-on-year. This increase
was due mainly to foreign exchange effects (+5.5 p.p.) and revenue growth through handset sales as result of
commercial activity recovery and higher postpaid revenues in B2C. The performance by country was as follows:

* In Argentina, mobile revenues amounted to 1,378 million euros in 2022, increasing 2.7% year-on-
year. This growth was mainly due to higher service revenues due to the increase in accesses and continued
tariff upgrades.

* In Chile, mobile revenues amounted to 969 million euros in 2022, decreasing 3.3% year-on-year
due to the lower handset revenues and prepaid mobile revenues, partially offset by higher postpaid
revenues.

* In Peru, mobile revenues amounted to 923 million euros in 2022, increasing 21.3% year-on-year,
benefiting from the foreign exchange effects which increased growth by 14.7 percentage points and by
higher service revenues, as result of the higher postpaid client base, and the price increase carried out in
2022. The higher revenues were to a lesser extent also impacted by handset revenues, as a result of the
higher commercial activity.

* In Colombia, mobile revenues amounted to 891 million euros in 2022, increasing 11.8% year-on-
year, due to the higher handset revenues, postpaid revenues and prepaid B2C revenues due to higher
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commercial activity and favorable churn evolution. The higher revenues were also impacted by higher
interconnection and international roaming revenues.

* In Mexico, mobile revenues amounted to 1,172 million euros in 2022, increasing 16.1% year-on-
year, due to higher service revenues as a result of the good performance of postpaid B2C and to a lesser
extent due to higher handset revenues.

Fixed business revenues amounted to 3,138 million euros in 2022, increasing 7.9% year-on-year. This growth was
due to foreign exchange effects (+3.2 p.p.) and higher broadband, new services, access and voice revenues in
Colombia, Chile and Peru that more than offset the decrease in TV revenues in Peru.

The total amount of supplies, personnel expenses and other expenses (mainly external services and taxes)
amounted to 7,631 million euros in 2022, up 5.6% year-on-year. This increase was mainly attributable to foreign
exchange effects, the reported variation of companies in hyperinflationary countries and higher network costs.

* Supplies amounted to 3,384 million euros in 2022, up 18.5% year-on-year compared to 2021. This
increase was mainly attributable to higher direct costs related to our network and to foreign exchange
effects (+5.1 p.p.).

* Personnel expenses amounted to 1,201 million euros in 2022, up 2.3% year-on-year compared to 2021.
This increase was mainly attributable to the reported variation of companies in hyperinflationary countries
(+3.6 p.p.) and foreign exchange effects (+2.7 p.p.), partially offset by the year-on-year decrease in
restructuring costs in the region (-6.4 p.p.) and operational efficiencies.

* Other expenses amounted to 3,046 million euros in 2022, down 4.7% year-on-year compared to 2021.
This decrease was mainly attributable to higher goodwill impairment in Peru in 2021 compared to the asset
impairment in Argentina in 2022 (-9.9 p.p.) and efficiency projects.

OIBDA reached 1,958 million euros in 2022, increasing 14.0% year-on-year.

Depreciation and amortization amounted to 1,799 million euros in 2022, decreasing 3.9% year-on-year. The
decrease was mainly attributable to the lower depreciation and amortization base resulting from the transformation
of the operational model in Telefénica Mexico (-3.5 p.p.) and, to a lesser extent, the lower depreciation and
amortization base in Telefonica Chile.

Operating Income was 159 million euros in 2022 (compared to a loss of 155 million euros in 2021). This result is
mainly explained by the lower depreciation and amortization base in Telefénica Mexico due to the transformation of
the operational model, the recording of goodwill impairment in 2021 (relating to Telefénica del Peru) in a greater
amount than the other assets impairment recorded in 2022 (relating to Telefénica Argentina), the higher
restructuring costs in the region in 2021 than in 2022 and the reported variation of companies in hyperinflationary
countries, partially offset by higher capital gains on sales of fiber optic assets in 2021 than in 2022.

Below is additional information by country:

* InArgentina, operating loss was 270 million euros in 2022 (operating loss of 116 million euros in 2021). The
y-0-y evolution was impacted by the other assets impairment and the higher depreciation and amortization
recorded in 2022, which more than offset the higher revenues.

* In Chile, operating income was 179 million euros in 2022, decreasing 69.4% year-on-year from 583 million
of operating income in 2021. The year-on-year evolution was mainly due to the capital gain on sales of fiber
optic assets in 2021, despite the positive impact of the capital gain on the sale of the data center in 2022,
higher revenues and lower depreciation and amortizations.

* In Peru, operating income was 60 million euros in 2022 (compared to an operating loss of 56 million euros
in 2021). This performance is mainly due to higher revenues and expenses efficiencies, offset in part by the
increase in depreciation and amortization.

* In Colombia, operating income reached 261 million euros in 2022 (compared to 99 million euros in 2021),
as a result of a revenues increase, non-commercial cost efficiencies and lower depreciation and
amortization.
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* In Mexico, operating loss was 176 million euros in 2022 (compared to an operating loss of 339 million euros
in 2021). The better performance was due in part to the lower depreciation and amortization base resulting
from the transformation of the operational model in Mexico.

Our services and products

New digital technologies are the main driving force of social and economic transformation today. This premise is the
basis upon which we build our vision: we want to provide access to digital life, using the best technology and without
leaving anyone behind.

Connectivity is our ally in reducing the digital divide and, due to our fixed and mobile network infrastructure and the
services we develop around it, we can aid progress in the communities in which we operate.

To move towards this vision, at Teleféonica we work on three basic fronts:

1) Providing access to technology through digital inclusion, in other words, by means of network roll-out and an
accessible and affordable offer for all sectors of the population.

2) Developing innovative services that add value to our connectivity and which we develop through innovation: Big
Data, the Internet of Things (loT), eHealth, digital education and eFinances.

3) Incorporating sustainability principles across all of our product development processes.
Mobile business

Telefonica offers a wide variety of mobile and related services and products to personal and business customers.
Although they vary from country to country, Telefonica’s principal services and products are as follows:

« Mobile voice services: One of the main Telefonica’s services in all of its markets is mobile voice
telephony.

* Value added services: Customers in most of the markets have access to a range of enhanced
mobile calling features, including voice mail, call on hold, call waiting, call forwarding and three-way calling.

* Mobile data and Internet services: Current data services offered include Short Messaging
Services, or SMS, and Multimedia Messaging Services, or MMS, which allow customers to send messages
with images, photographs, sound recordings and video recordings. Customers may also receive selected
information, such as news, sports scores and stock quotes. Telefénica also provides mobile broadband
connectivity and Internet access. Through mobile Internet access, customers are able to send and receive
e-mail, browse the Internet and access real-time available entertainment services (such as video and audio
streaming), download games, purchase goods and services in m-commerce transactions and use
Telefénica’s other data and software services.

* Wholesale services: Telefénica has signed network usage agreements with several MVNOs in
different countries.

+ Corporate services: Telefénica provides business solutions, including mobile infrastructure in
offices, private networking and portals for corporate customers that provide flexible online billing.

+ Roaming: Roaming agreements allow Telefénica customers to use their mobile handsets when
they are outside their service territories, including on an international basis.

» Fixed wireless: Telefénica provides fixed voice telephony services through mobile networks in
Brazil, Venezuela, Argentina, Peru, Mexico and Ecuador. Until January 13, 2022, Telefénica also provided
these services in El Salvador.

* Trunking and paging: Telefonica provides digital mobile services for closed user groups of clients
and paging services in Spain and most of the regions in which it operates in Latin America.

Fixed-line telephony business

The principal services Telefénica offers in its fixed businesses in Europe and Latin America are:
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+ Traditional fixed telecommunication services: Telefonica’s traditional fixed telecommunication
services include PSTN lines; ISDN accesses; public telephone services; local, domestic and international
long-distance and fixed-to-mobile communications services; corporate communications services;
supplementary value added services (including call waiting, call forwarding, voice and text messaging,
advanced voicemail services and conference-call facilities); video telephony; business oriented value-added
services; intelligent network services; leasing and sale of handset equipment; and telephony information
services.

* Internet and broadband multimedia services: the principal Internet and broadband multimedia
services include Internet provider service; portal and network services; retail and wholesale broadband
access through ADSL, narrowband switched access and other technologies. Telefénica also offers high-
speed Internet services through fiber to the home (FTTH) in certain markets (primarily Spain, Brazil, Chile
and through VMO2- the United Kingdom) and VDSL-based services (primarily Spain and Germany).
Telefonica also offers VoIP services in some markets.

+ Data and business-solutions services: the data and business-solutions services principally
include leased lines; virtual private network, or VPN, services; fiber optics services; the provision of hosting
and application, including web hosting, managed hosting, content delivery and application, and security
services; outsourcing and consultancy services, including network management, or CGP; and desktop
services and system integration and professional services.

* Wholesale services for telecommunication operators: the wholesale services for
telecommunication operators principally include domestic interconnection services; international wholesale
services; leased lines for other operators; and local loop leasing under the unbundled local loop regulation
framework. It also includes bit stream services, wholesale line rental accesses and leased ducts for other
operators' fiber deployment and other agreements to provide wholesale access to our fixed infrastructure.

Digital services

The main digital services offered by Telefénica are:

* Video/TV services: Interactive TV services in High Definition (HD) or Ultra High Definition (UHD),
using several technologies (IPTV, DTH, CATV and OTT) on various types of networks (Fiber, Satellite,
Cable or Mobile Networks). These services can be provided through a variety of devices (TV with STBs,
SmartTVs, PCs, Smartphones, Tablets, and streamers, etc.), allowing also the Multiroom function
(customers can watch different TV channels in different rooms or different devices simultaneously). The
service allows the access to lineal TV content with advanced functions such as "Restart TV" (which allows a
viewer to watch any content from the beginning), "Last 7 days" (recordings of content for the last seven
days), "cPvR" (recordings using cloud computing) and "Download to Play" (downloading the content on the
device). Customers also have access to the content on demand catalog (Video on Demand or VoD), in
"Subscription Video on Demand" (SVoD), “Transactional Video on Demand” (TVoD) or "Pay per View"
options, as well as access to content of third parties, such as Netflix, Amazon, Disney+, YouTube and HBO,
among others. In addition, Telefénica offers accessible content in several different languages (original or
translated to Spanish or Portuguese) with subtitles or not, audio descriptions and sign language
functionalities through the Movistar+ 5s service, which aims to contribute toward the inclusion of disabled
people across the country.

* loT (Internet of Things): Telefénica’s Global IoT portfolio includes:

o Smart Connectivity: connectivity services for machines, mainly handled through the Kite
platform.

°c  Smart Services: end-to-end solutions that include "device + connectivity + application”.
These business to business solutions are mainly aimed at (i) the mobility management of vehicles,
assets and/or people, (ii) the support of the retail and industrial sectors and (iii) the efficient
management of energy consumption in buildings.
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o Consumer loT: products focused on the B2C segment, including end-to-end services
around the person (e.g., connected cars, trackers).

* Financial services and other payment services: These services provide customers with access
to consumer credit and payment facilities in the check out process.

* Security services: Digital acceleration is a process that creates multiple opportunities but also
increases challenges for the security ecosystem of the business. Therefore, in a world where cyber threats
are inevitable, as managed security services providers, we focus on prevention, detection, and appropriate
response to reduce attacks, protect digital services, and thus promote the cyber security resilience of our
clients' businesses. All of this is supported by a team of multidisciplinary security professionals and a
portfolio that includes the following services: network security, managed security, data protection, Cloud
security, loT/OT security, identity and access management and professional services.

* Cloud services: Telefonica offers a wide range of Cloud solutions, mostly through Telefénica Tech,
designed according to the needs of each client accelerating their journey to the Cloud. The value
proposition includes: (i) Secure Cloud Connectivity: services that increase the performance and security of
the business connectivity (SD-WAN, SD-BRANCH, SDLAN - Cloud Wifi, SASE); (ii) Hybrid Cloud: improves
IT workloads, data and, applications management (from on-premises data centers to VDC, public cloud or
hybrid solutions); (iii) Future of Workplace: secure digitization of the workforce (productivity, unified commes,
business apps, virtualization, terminal management); and (iv) consultancy, professional services and
managed services

* Advertising: A portfolio of marketing channels that third-party brands can use to acquire and
engage with customers. Traditional channels such as SMS/MMS messaging may be used alongside with
new channels like programmatic display and sponsored connectivity. All of which leverage on the Group's
customer data in order to send messages to the correct target as well as to generate post-campaign brand
analysis.

+ Big Data: Includes products and services designed to enable companies and governments to make
Al-powered data-driven decisions. The Group's Big Data offer comprises of three main categories: (i)
"business insights", which provides information for decision-making based on analysis from advanced
analytical products developed on top of data generated in the Group's network and systems; (ii) "consulting
and analytics", which includes specialist professional services focused on data strategy, data science, data
architecture and data engineering; and (iii) "tools and infrastructure", which provides advanced technology
for data management, storage and exploitation.

* Customer Digital Products: Refers to the omnichannel digital experience, guiding the Telefénica
customer through his or her life cycle, adapting the digital experience to every moment's needs, with three
main pillars:

o Digitalize Telefénica customers, turning our digital channels into the main point of contact
for Telefénica clients with Telefonica in all of our main markets.

o Maximize customer engagement with the digital channel by aiming to provide an
outstanding customer experience in order to increase customer lifetime value.

o Provide tools so that Telefonica's operating subsidiaries can create autonomously
personalized digital experiences in a fast (time-to-market), reliable and scalable way.

* Aura: is an Artificial Intelligence ("Al") ecosystem designed to improve communication between the
Telefonica Group and its customers. Its aim is to address customer needs and provide them with relevant
information related to the company, potentially in any area where Telefonica offers services such as
answering questions about telecommunications services, offering financial service proposals, or making
recommendations about television or connection offerings. To foster a relationship with customers, Aura
offers the creation of conversational bots and other interfaces that use natural language capabilities, using
its own infrastructure, with a private and transparent data approach by design. Additionally, to generate
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useful information, Aura provides its own Al model execution platform with the goal of enhancing the
information provided to customers.

* Movistar Home: Telefonica launched Movistar Home in Spain on October 18, 2018, a new device
designed around the functionality of Aura and targeted at the Group's Movistar and Pay TV customers.
Movistar Home is designed to strengthen Telefénica's position by enabling highly-converged services and
experiences that differentiate the Group from its competitors. Movistar Home aims to provide the Group's
customers with an enhanced TV experience on IPTV, increased landline functionality (which enables

videoconferences), the Group's smart home package and games in addition to third-party services.

* Open Gateway: GSMA-led initiative in the telco sector that aims to transform communications
networks into programmable digital platforms by providing the same APIs for all operators. APls are
deployed under the framework of the CAMARA standard (for service delivery) and TM Forum (for operation,
administration and management). APIs can be commercialized through channel partners that bring access
to developers, including hyperscalers, aggregators and integrators.

* Living Apps: a platform that allows Telefénica's business units and partners to create relevant
home experiences for our users, beyond the consumption of TV content, adding value to core businesses
and growth to Telefénica, opening new business opportunities.

* Smart Wi-Fi: An advanced home connectivity platform and key lever in the premium connectivity
strategy, that enables key capabilities like intelligent Wi-Fi connectivity management or web browsing
protection (Conexién Segura).

* NT: A micro-rewards program in Spain to reward customers with Tokens for their digital behavior.
Tokens are awarded when customers make use of our digital channels, products and services and can be
exchanged for a given catalog of company products.

+ Solar 360: In March 2022 Repsol and Telefénica Spain created a joint venture to develop the solar
self-consumption business. The new company started to operate in June 2022 launching Solar360, offering
a comprehensive self-consumption solution to private customers, communities of neighbors and companies,
SMEs, and large companies, through solar panel installation. The offer will be customized for each type of
customer according to their level and habits of consumption, seeking to maximize savings on their current
electricity bill. It will include a mobile application for the control of the installation and the continuous
optimization of energy expenditure, personalized financing for each type of consumer and other value-added
services linked to the solar panel installation.

* Phoenix: A digital sales platform that allows customers to receive personalized offers to renew their
devices and process purchases in a simple and fully digital checkout. When customers are eligible to renew
their devices or expand their devices ecosystem with Telefénica, a customized offer is sent to them via the
usual communication channels (SMS, MMS, emailing, Novum/Digital experience app). Once the customer
chooses among the selected proposed portfolio a number of payment and logistics options can be chosen to
complete a convenient “few-clicks” device renewal.

Sales and Marketing

Our sales and marketing strategy is aimed toward reinforcing our market position, generating brand awareness,
promoting customer growth and achieving customer satisfaction. We use a variety of marketing initiatives and
programs, including those that focus on customer value, with in-depth market segmentation; programs to promote
customer loyalty; pricing initiatives aimed toward stimulating usage, including segmented packages and innovative
tariff options; and initiatives that are responsive to the latest market trends, including those aimed toward boosting
demand for our fixed and mobile Internet and mobile broadband offerings. In connection with these and our other
sales and marketing initiatives, we market our products through a broad range of channels, including television,
radio, billboards, telemarketing, direct mail and Internet advertising. We also sponsor a variety of local cultural and
sporting events in order to enhance our brand recognition.

Competition
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The telecommunications industry is competitive, and consumers generally have a choice of mobile and fixed line
operators from which to select services. We are a global telecommunications services provider and face significant
competition in most of the markets in which we operate. In Europe, our largest competitors include Vodafone,
Orange, Deutsche Telekom and British Telecom, among others. In Latin America, our main regional competitor is
América Movil, along with other smaller multi-country players (such as Entel, Milicom and WOM) and purely local
players. Newer competitors, including handset manufacturers, MVNOs, Internet companies and software providers,
are also entering the market and offering integrated communications services.

We compete in our markets on the basis of the price; the quality and range of features of our services; the added
value we offer with our service; additional services associated with those main services; the reliability of our network
infrastructure and its technological attributes; and the desirability of our offerings, including bundled offerings of one
type of service with another and, in the case of the mobile industry, in some markets offers that include subsidized
handsets and handsets sold on installment plans.

To compete effectively with our competitors, we need to successfully market our products and services and to
anticipate and respond to various competitive factors affecting the relevant markets, such as the introduction of new
products and services, different pricing strategies and changes in consumer preferences.

Regulation

Please see Appendix VI to our Consolidated Financial Statements.
Licenses and Concessions

Please see Appendix VI to our Consolidated Financial Statements.
Seasonality

Our business is not significantly affected by seasonal trends.
Patents

Our business is not materially dependent upon the ownership of patents, commercial or financial contracts or new
manufacturing processes.

Disclosure Pursuant to Section 219 of the Iran Threat Reduction and Syria Human Rights Act

Section 219 of the Iran Threat Reduction and Syria Human Rights Act of 2012 added Section 13(r) to the Exchange
Act. Section 13(r) requires an issuer to disclose in its annual or quarterly reports filed with the SEC whether the
issuer or any of its affiliates has knowingly engaged in certain activities, transactions or dealings with the
Government of Iran, relating to Iran or with designated natural persons or entities involved in terrorism or the
proliferation of weapons of mass destruction during the period covered by the annual or quarterly report. Disclosure
is required even when the activities were conducted outside the United States by non-U.S. entities and even when
such activities were conducted in compliance with applicable law.

The following information is disclosed pursuant to Section 13(r). None of these activities involved U.S. affiliates of
Telefénica.

Some of our subsidiaries have entered into roaming agreements with Iranian telecommunication companies.
Pursuant to such roaming agreements our subsidiaries’ customers are able to roam in the particular Iranian network
(outbound roaming) and customers of such Iranian operators are able to roam in our relevant subsidiary’s network
(inbound roaming). For outbound roaming, our subsidiaries pay the relevant Iranian operator roaming fees for use of
its network by our customers, and for inbound roaming the Iranian operator pays the relevant subsidiary roaming
fees for use of the respective network by its customers.

Our subsidiaries and our former subsidiary Telefénica UK Ltd. were party to the following roaming agreements with
Iranian telecommunication companies in 2023:

1. Telefénica Moviles Espafa S.A. (“TME”), our Spanish directly wholly-owned subsidiary, has respective
roaming agreements with (i) Mobile Telecommunication Company of Iran (“MCI”), (ii) Taliya (“Taliya”) and
(iii) Telecommunication Kish Co (“TKC”). During 2023 TME recorded the following revenues related to these

80



Table of Contents

roaming agreements: (i) 211,244 euros from MCI, (ii) no revenues from Taliya and (iii) no revenues from
TKC.

2. Telefonica Germany GmbH & Co. OHG (“TG”), our German 84.43% indirectly-owned subsidiary (as of
December 31, 2023), has respective roaming agreements with (i) MCI and (ii) Irancell. During 2023 TG
recorded the following revenues related to these roaming agreements: (i) no revenues from MCI and (ii)
5,301 euros from Irancell.

3. Telefonica UK Ltd (“TUK”), our former English directly wholly-owned subsidiary, has a roaming agreement
with Taliya. TUK ceased to be our subsidiary upon the establishment of VMO2 on June 1, 2021, following
which establishment TUK has been owned by VMO2. During 2023 TUK recorded no revenues from Taliya.

4. Telefonica Brasil S.A. (“Telefénica Brasil”), our Brazilian 74.20% indirectly-owned subsidiary, has a roaming
agreement with Irancell. During 2023, Telefénica Brasil recorded 4,808.00 U.S. dollars in roaming revenues
from Irancell under this agreement.

5. Pegaso PCS S.A. de C.V. (“PCS”), our Mexican directly wholly-owned subsidiary, has a roaming agreement
with Irancell. During 2023 PCS recorded 391.63 U.S. dollars in roaming revenues under this agreement.

The net profit recorded by our subsidiaries and TUK pursuant to these agreements and arrangements did not
exceed the related revenues recorded thereunder.

The purpose of all of these agreements is to provide our customers with coverage in areas where we do not own
networks. For this purpose, we intend to continue maintaining those agreements which are still outstanding.

The Group does not currently have any plans to enter into new roaming arrangements with Iranian
telecommunication companies. However, the Group may consider entering into such arrangements in the future.

During 2023, TG had retail mobile phone and internet contracts with four customers in Germany identified in the
lists administered by OFAC as sanctioned pursuant to Executive Order 13224 and Executive Order 13382. During
2023, TG recorded the following revenues related to these customers: 1,404.03 euros in total. All such agreements
have been terminated or their termination is being considered. The provision of the relevant services by TG was in
compliance with applicable laws.

In 2022, TG had retail mobile phone and internet contracts with two additional customers in Germany identified in
the list administered by OFAC as sanctioned pursuant to Executive Order 13224 and Executive Order 13382. The
agreements with these two customers have been terminated. TG recorded the following revenues in 2023 related to
those clients: 899.98€. The provision of the relevant services by TG was in compliance with applicable laws.
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C. Organizational Structure
See “—History and Development of the Company” and “—Business Overview”.
D. Property, Plant and Equipment
Our central headquarters for the Telefénica Group are located in “Distrito Telefénica,” in Madrid, Spain.

Telefénica’s operations and assets (including its towers and submarine cables) are located in many areas that
are subject to natural disasters and severe weather, and which may be adversely affected in the future by climate
change.

See Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for information on the year-on-year decrease in “Property,
plant and equipment” from 23,714 million euros as of December 31, 2022 to 22,944 million euros as of December
31, 2023.

Fixed Networks

We own fixed networks in Spain, Latin America and Europe, having an incumbent role in Spain, Argentina (the
greater Buenos Aires metropolitan area and the southern portion of the country), Brazil (S&o Paulo), Chile, Peru and
Colombia.

Following market trends, competitive environments, evolution of technologies and new multimedia and
broadband services demanded by our customers, we have upgraded our networks in recent years through the
following:

*progressive deprioritization of broadband technologies over copper wires (ADSL, ADSL2+, VDSL2,
etc.) in recent years, in order to focus efforts on the deployment of fiber networks and to facilitate DSLAM
and copper switch-off programs;

*deployment of fiber access technologies (xPON) focused on fiber to the home (FTTH) deployment,
currently delivering customer access speeds of up to 1 Gbps;

*service support based on powerful Internet Protocol/ Multiprotocol Label Switching (IP/MPLS)
backbones, providing full connectivity to the rest of the network layers, such as access and control, to
support services for business and customer market segments (fixed and mobile);

*migration of the legacy time division multiplexing (TDM) switching networks (PSTN and ISDN) to
new generation network (NGN) over all-IP packet networks;

*migration from legacy transport technologies, such as asynchronous transfer mode (ATM), frame
relay (FR), low-rate leased lines, plesiochronous digital hierarchy (PDH) and synchronous digital
hierarchy (SDH), to the new generation of optical transport ones, such as dense wavelength division
multiplexing (DWDM), coarse wavelength division multiplexing (CWDM) and new generation-synchronous
digital hierarchy (NG-SDH);

sintroduction of IMS (Internet Multimedia Subsystem) to simplify the control of the network and ease
the deployment of new services over the all-IP converged network;

sempowerment of the intelligence of the network to better manage its use, to avoid saturations and
frauds and to identify new business opportunities;

sconvergence of fixed and mobile networks, services and support systems from both technological
and operational points of view; and

«deployment of services such as Pay TV, to customers connected through broadband accesses in
Spain, Chile, Argentina, Brazil, Peru and Colombia.

Mobile Networks

We operate mobile networks in Spain, the United Kingdom (through VMOQO2), Germany, Brazil, Argentina,
Venezuela, Chile, Peru, Colombia, Mexico, Ecuador and Uruguay. Telefénica also provided these services in
Guatemala (until January 24, 2019), Nicaragua (until May 16, 2019), Panama (until August 29, 2019), Costa Rica
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(until August 9, 2021) and El Salvador (until January 13, 2022). For additional information, see "-History and
Development of the Company-Overview”. In addition, Telefénica entered in 2019 into an agreement with AT&T to
access AT&T’s last mile wireless capacity in Mexico. Through this agreement, Telefonica gains access to capacity
on AT&T’s 3G and 4G access network and any future access network technologies nationwide, while maintaining its
transport network and all of its platforms in such country. The migration of the traffic to the AT&T access network
was completed during 2022. For additional information on the Wholesale Agreement, see “ltem 10. Additional
Information—Material Contracts—Wholesale Access Services Agreement with AT&T Mexico”.

We use a number of mobile technologies in the countries in which we operate, namely: GSM, UMTS, LTE and
5G. 5G is being used in Spain, the United Kingdom, Germany, Brazil, Chile, Mexico and Uruguay, although it does
not yet cover the entire population in these countries. We continue the work of upgrading our mobile networks in line
with market trends, the demand of new services from customers and the evolution of technologies. The main steps
we are currently taking include:

*evolution of broadband in mobile access using the latest LTE standards (LTE-A, MIMO and carrier
aggregation) to improve network capacity and user experience;

+deployment of 5G networks following different approaches in order to give our customers the best
experience for this new access technology. Together with the main vendors and sharing experience with
other operators, we are exploring the opportunities that the new 5G standards can offer by providing
higher capacity at a lower relative cost by user/traffic unit;

*deployment of new services such as mobile television (OTT) and distribution services for next
generation music, video and games; and

sconvergence of fixed and mobile networks, services and support systems from both technological
and operational points of view.

Satellite communications

The services provided using satellite platforms include television contribution signal to feed cable and IPTV
head ends, DTH television, VSAT mainly for mobile telephony and Internet access in rural areas, emergency
solutions, corporate communications and international communications.

Submarine cables

We are one of the world’s largest submarine cable infrastructure companies, through our subsidiary, Telxius
Telecom, S.A. ("Telxius"). Telxius is a leading global connectivity provider that combines submarine and terrestrial
networks with digital hubs worldwide. Its extensive ecosystem includes eight next-generation fiber optic submarine
cables and terrestrial backhauls together spanning more than 100,000 kilometers, plus almost 100 points of
presence (PoPs) in 17 countries and 25 landing stations and communications hubs. As of the date of this Annual
Report, Telefénica holds a 70% beneficial interest in Telxius following the completion of the transaction with Taurus
Bidco S.a r.l. (see “—History and Development of the Company—Recent Developments”). In addition, Telefénica
owns around 20 submarine domestic cables in Spain.

There are submarine cable connections linking Europe, the Americas and Africa which are jointly owned by us
and other telecom operators. The SAm-1 cable, fully owned by Telxius, has a length of approximately 25,000
kilometers and links different countries such as the United States, Puerto Rico, Ecuador, Guatemala, Peru, Chile,
Brazil, Argentina and Colombia.

Next-generation submarine cable systems are already in service to help meet the capacity demand in the
future. The Brusa cable links Brazil and the United States, while the Marea and Dunant cables links the United
States and Europe. Additionally, the 7,300 km Mistral cable serves the entire Pacific coast of South America with the
highest levels of service, reliability and security. The 2,000 km next generation Tannat system (Santos-Las Toninas)
adds to the Brusa (Virginia Beach — Rio de Janeiro) and Junior (Rio de Janeiro — Santos) cables on the Atlantic
coast of Latin America to deliver modern and diverse end-to-end connectivity between the United States, Brazil and
Argentina.
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Item 4A. Unresolved Staff Comments
Not applicable.
Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects

A. Operating Results
Presentation of Financial Information

The information in this section should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements,
included elsewhere in this Annual Report. Our Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRS as issued by the IASB.

In 2023 the Telefénica Group is reporting financial information, both internally and externally, according to
the following segments: Telefonica Spain, VMO2, Telefénica Germany, Telefénica Brazil and Telefénica Hispam
(formed by the Group's operators in Colombia, Mexico, Venezuela, Ecuador, Argentina, Chile, Peru and Uruguay).

During 2021, compared to 2020, the Telefénica Group changed its reporting segments as follows:

* On June 1, 2021, upon the establishment of VMO2 (whose results are accounted for under the equity
method), the former Telefénica United Kingdom segment was replaced by the new VMO2 segment (see Notes 2
and 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements). The VMO2 segment information included in this Annual
Report is presented under management criteria, and shows 100% of VMO2’s results. In addition, information
included in this Annual Report on the accesses of the Group and the VMO2 segment as of December 31, 2023,
December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 includes 100% of the accesses of VMOZ2. Telefonica’s actual
percentage ownership of VMO2 is 50%.

The Group’s consolidated results for the year ended December 31, 2021 include the consolidation of
Telefénica United Kingdom from January 1 to June 1, and the equity accounting of 50% of the net result of VMO2
from June 1 to December 31 (see Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements). The gain registered upon
the establishment of VMO2, amounting to 4,460 million euros (see Notes 2 and 23 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements), is recorded under "Other companies".

Since it is not practicable to restate the historical segment financial information to reflect this segment
change, in this Annual Report, the relevant segment discussions for 2022-2021 analyze the results of our VMO2
segment by comparing the results obtained by VMO2 from January 1 to December 31, 2022 with the results
obtained by VMO2 from June 1 (the date on which VMO2 was established) to December 31, 2021, without
including the results obtained in the first five months of the year in the former Telefénica United Kingdom
segment.

* The Telxius Group ceased to be a reporting segment in 2021 as a result of the sale of the
telecommunications towers divisions in Europe and Latin America to American Tower Corporation (see Note 2 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements). The Telxius Group’s results as well as the gain obtained for the sale of
the telecommunications towers divisions, amounting to 6,099 million euros (see Notes 2 and 22 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements), were recorded under "Other companies".

The segments referred to above include the information related to the fixed, wireless, cable, data, Internet
and television businesses and other digital services provided in each related region. Inter-
segment transactions are carried out on an arm's-length basis.

Information relating to other Group companies not specifically included in the segments referred to above is
reported under "Other companies" (see Appendix | to the Consolidated Financial Statements), which includes
Telefonica, S.A. and other holding companies, as well as companies whose main purpose is to provide cross-
sectional services to Group companies, and other operations not included in the segments. The Incremental Group
and BE-terna Group, acquired in March and June of 2022 (see Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements),
respectively, are reported within "Other companies". "Other companies" also includes the share of results of
investments accounted for by the equity method corresponding to the fiber optic companies in which Telefénica
Infra, S.L. ("T. Infra") has ownership interests (see Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).
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The Group centrally manages borrowing activities, mainly through Telefonica, S.A. and other companies
included in “Other companies” (see Note 19, Appendix Ill and Appendix V to the Consolidated Financial
Statements), so most of the Group's financial assets and liabilities are reported under “Other companies”. In
addition, Telefénica, S.A. is the head of the Telefénica tax group in Spain (see Note 25 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements). Therefore, a significant part of the deferred tax assets and liabilities is included under “Other
companies”. For these reasons, the results of the segments are disclosed up through operating income.

Revenues and expenses arising from intra-group invoicing for the use of the trademark and management
services were eliminated from the operating results of each Group segment. The results of the holding companies
also exclude dividends from Group companies and impairments of investments in Group companies. These
adjustments have no impact on the Group’s consolidated results. In addition, segment reporting considers the
impact of the purchase price allocation to the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed by the companies included
in each segment. The assets and liabilities presented in each segment are those managed by the heads of each
segment, regardless of their legal structure.
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Significant Factors Affecting the Comparability of Our Results of Operations in the Periods under Review
The following factors affect the comparability of our results of operations in the periods under review:
Corporate transactions
In 2023 no relevant corporate transactions took place affecting the results of operations.

The main corporate transactions in 2022 are related to the acquisition of mobile assets of Oi Group on April 20,
2022, the acquisition of the Incremental Group on March 21, 2022, the acquisition of the BE-terna Group on June 9,
2022 (see Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements) and the creation of Bluevia on December 20, 2022 (see
Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

The main corporate transactions in 2021 were related to the sale of Telxius Group’s telecommunications
towers on June 1, 2021, June 3, 2021 and August 2, 2021, the closing of the transaction for the establishment of
VMO2 on June 1, 2021 (see Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements), the sale of Telefénica de Costa Rica
on August 9, 2021 and the partial sale of InfraCo, SpA on July 1, 2021.

In particular, VMO2 was the result of the combination of Telefénica’s and Liberty Global’'s operating businesses
in the United Kingdom (O2 Holdings Ltd. and Virgin Media UK, respectively). Following the establishment of VMO2
on June 1, 2021, Telefénica ceased to fully consolidate the results of O2 Holdings, Ltd (and the rest of the entities
that comprised its former Telefénica United Kingdom segment) in its consolidated financial statements and started
to account for VMOZ2's results under the equity method, based on its stake in VMO2 (50%). Therefore, since June
1, 2021, the results of Telefénica’s operations in the United Kingdom are reflected under a single heading of the
consolidated income statement, “Share of (loss) income of investments accounted for by the equity method”.
However, the VMO2 segment information is presented under management criteria and shows 100% of VMO2’s
results. For additional information on these changes and how segment information is presented in this Annual
Report, see “ltem 4. Information on the Company—History and Development of the Company—Business areas”.

Spectrum acquisition
Spectrum acquisitions can have a significant impact on our CapEx.

In 2023, these acquisitions totaled 183 million euros, mainly including 109 million euros corresponding to
Telefonica Argentina.

In 2022, these acquisitions totaled 173 million euros, mainly including 125 million euros corresponding to
Colombia Telecomunicaciones and 35 million euros corresponding to Telefonica Brazil.

In 2021, these acquisitions totaled 1,704 million euros, with 706 million euros corresponding to Telefonica
Brazil, 515 million euros corresponding to our former Telefénica United Kingdom segment before the establishment
of VMOZ2 on June 1, 2021, 352 million euros corresponding to Telefénica Spain and 131 million euros corresponding
to Telefénica Chile.

Collective Bargaining Agreement and Collective Redundancies Plan

On December 28, 2023, certain subsidiaries of Telefénica Spain reached an agreement with the most
representative trade unions to sign the Ill Collective Bargaining Agreement, which runs until December 31, 2026
and can be extended for a further year. The aim of the agreement is to move towards a more digital, flexible
company, prepared for future challenges in a highly competitive context. In addition, and in parallel, these
subsidiaries agreed to execute the Collective Redundancies Plan, which provides for collective redundancies
affecting up to a total of 3,420 employees. Employees turning 56 years or older in 2024 and with a seniority of more
than 15 years can adhere to the Collective Redundancies Plan. However, targets have been established that may
result in limits on joining in critical areas or additional redundancies based on business reasons. These agreements
were endorsed on January 3, 2024.

In "Personnel expenses" of the consolidated income statement for the year 2023, a provision of 1,320
million euros before taxes corresponding to Telefénica Spain has been recorded as of December 31, 2023, with no
cash impact as of such date. The provision is mainly based on the present value of the estimated payment flows
resulting from the Collective Redundancies Plan (see Note 24 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).
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On December 28, 2021, Telefénica Spain signed a Social Pact for Employment supported by the largest trade
unions. Said Pact includes the Company’s differential commitments and is based on the following six lines of work:
(1) equality and diversity; (2) new ways of working, flexibility and productivity; (3) incorporation and retention of
talent; (4) reskilling and professional development; (5) functional and geographical mobility; and (6) a plan for the
voluntary individual suspension of the employment relationship (the "Individual Suspension Plan").

The present value of the estimated payment flows resulting from the Individual Suspension Plan resulted in
expenses amounting to 1,382 million euros before taxes in 2021, reflected in "Personnel expenses".

Impairment of goodwill recorded by VMO2

VMO2's management carried out the annual goodwill impairment test after updating its business plans at the
end of 2023.

As a result of this analysis, VMO2 has recorded an impairment of goodwill amounting to 3,107 million pounds
sterling (about 3,572 million euros), mainly due to the decrease in projected cash flows of VMO2 as a consequence
of the effects of macroeconomic conditions and the competitive environment in the United Kingdom and the
increase in the discount rate (WACC). 50% of this amount (about 1,786 million euros) is reflected in Telefonica's
consolidated income statement for the year ended December 31, 2023, as its share in the loss of VMO2 accounted
for by the equity method.

For additional information on the impact of this impairment see Notes 2 and 10 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Foreign Exchange Effects and Hyperinflation in Argentina and Venezuela

Excluding the effects of hyperinflation in Argentina and Venezuela (discussed below), foreign exchange rates
had a small positive impact on our 2023 results.

Foreign exchange rates generally had a positive impact on our 2022 results, mainly due to the appreciation of
various Latin American currencies (in particular the Brazilian real) against the euro. However, foreign exchange
rates had a negative impact on our reported 2021 results, mainly due to the depreciation of various Latin American
currencies (in particular the Brazilian real) against the euro.

For additional information on the impact of exchange rates, see “—Exchange Rate Fluctuations” and Note 2 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Our reported results in each of these years have also been impacted by hyperinflation adjustments in
Argentina and Venezuela. In 2023 in particular, the exchange rate used to translate inflation-adjusted items
denominated in Argentine pesos in the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December
31, 2023 was the closing exchange rate as of December 31, 2023 which was 893.45 Argentine pesos per euro
(189.08 Argentine pesos per euro as of December 31, 2022). The annual inflation rate in Argentina for 2023 was
211% (see Note 3.a to the Consolidated Financial Statements). As a result of these changes in the exchange and
inflation rates, in 2023 Telefénica Argentina contributed 1,237 million euros to the consolidated revenues of the
Telefonica Group and a loss of 199 million euros to the consolidated operating income of the Telefénica Group
(2,066 million euros and a loss of 270 million euros, respectively, in 2022).

Significant Changes in Accounting Policies
Please see Notes 2 and 3.0 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reflected in the Consolidated Financial Statements. We base our estimates on
historical experience, where applicable, and other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results may differ from those estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

We consider an accounting estimate to be critical if:

«it requires us to make assumptions because information was not available at the time or it included
matters that were highly uncertain at the time we were making our estimate; and
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*changes in the estimate or different estimates that we could have selected may have had a material
impact on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

The various policies that are important to the portrayal of our financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows include:

*accounting for non-current assets, including goodwill;
~deferred taxes;
*provisions;
srevenue recognition; and
*leases.
Non-current assets and goodwill

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, other than goodwill, are recorded at acquisition cost. If
such assets are acquired in a business combination, the acquisition cost is the estimated fair value of the acquired
property, plant and equipment or intangible assets. Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with definite
useful lives are depreciated or amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but are, instead, subject to an impairment test on
a yearly basis and whenever there is an indication that such assets may be impaired.

Accounting for non-current assets, such as long-lived assets and intangibles, involves the use of estimates for
determining: (a) the fair value at the acquisition date in the case of such assets acquired in a business combination,
and (b) the useful lives of the assets over which they are to be depreciated or amortized. We believe that the
estimates we make to determine an asset’s useful life are “critical accounting estimates” because they require our
management to make estimates about technological evolution and competitive uses of assets.

Upon the sale or contribution of a controlled business to an associate or joint venture, the Group measures and
recognizes any retained interest at its fair value. The fair value assigned to the retained investment is determined on
the basis of the business plan of the relevant associate or joint venture, and involves significant judgments when
considering significant assumptions such as regarding the long-term OIBDA margin, long-term capital expenditure
ratio, discount rate and perpetuity growth rate, each of which could be significantly affected by the future trends in
the economic, competitive, regulatory and technological environment.

When an impairment in the carrying amount of an asset occurs, non-scheduled write-downs are made. We
perform impairment tests of identifiable intangible and other non-current assets, such as equity method investments,
whenever there is reason to believe that the carrying value may exceed the recoverable amount, which is the higher
of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. Furthermore, previously recognized impairment losses
may be reversed when changes in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount indicate that an
impairment loss recognized in prior periods no longer exists or may have decreased.

The determination of whether the impairment of non-current assets is necessary involves the use of significant
estimates and judgment that includes, but is not limited to, the analysis of the cause of potential impairment in
value, the timing of such potential impairment and an estimate of the amount of the impairment, which requires the
estimation of the future expected cash flows, discount rates and the fair value of the assets.

Specifically, management has to make certain assumptions in respect of uncertain matters, such as growth in
revenues, changes in market prices, operating margins, and technology developments and obsolescence,
discontinuance of services and other changes in circumstances that indicate the need to perform an impairment
test. Management’s estimates about technology and its future development require significant judgment because
the timing and nature of technological advances are difficult to predict.

Certain valuation techniques used for investments, such as the discounted cash flow model, require significant
judgment when considering significant assumptions such as revenue growth rate, long-term EBITDA margin, long-
term capital expenditure ratio, discount rate and perpetuity growth rate. For information on our impairment analysis
of our equity method investment in VMO2 at the end of the year, see Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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Goodwill arises when the cost of a business combination exceeds the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of
the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date. Goodwill is not amortized, but is,
instead, subject to an impairment test on a yearly basis and whenever there is an indication that the goodwill may
be impaired.

Non-scheduled write-downs of goodwill are made when an impairment in the carrying amount of goodwill
occurs. We review, on a regular basis, the performance of our cash-generating units. We compare the carrying
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill has been allocated with its recoverable amount. The
determination of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit involves extensive use of estimates and
significant management judgment is involved. Methods commonly used by us for valuations include discounted
cash flow methods that require substantial judgement when considering significant assumptions about relevant
performance metrics and other key variables. For more information and a sensitivity analysis of the assumptions
used in our impairment tests with respect to Telefénica del Pert, Ecuador and Chile, see Note 7 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

A significant change in the facts and circumstances that we relied upon in making our estimates may have a
material impact on our operating results and financial condition. For information on the sensitivity to changes in
certain significant assumptions, see Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Deferred income taxes

The Group assesses the recoverability of deferred tax assets based on estimates of future earnings, and of all
the available options to achieve an outcome, it considers the most efficient one in tax terms within the legal
framework the Group is subject to. Such recoverability ultimately depends on the Group’s ability to generate taxable
earnings over the period for which the deferred tax assets remain deductible. This analysis is based on the
estimated schedule for reversing deferred tax liabilities, as well as estimates of taxable earnings, which are sourced
from internal projections that are continuously updated to reflect the latest trends.

The recognition of tax assets and liabilities depends on a series of factors, including estimates as to the timing
and realization of deferred tax assets and the projected tax payment schedule. Actual Group company income tax
receipts and payments could differ from the estimates made by the Group as a result of changes in tax legislation,
the outcome of underway tax proceedings or unforeseen future transactions that could affect tax balances.

Provisions

Provisions are recorded when, at the end of the period, we have a present obligation as a result of past events,
whose settlement requires an outflow of resources that is considered probable and can be measured reliably. This
obligation may be legal or constructive, arising from, but not limited to, regulation, contracts, common practice or
public commitments, which have created a valid expectation for third parties that we will assume certain
responsibilities. The amount recorded is the best estimation performed by the management in respect of the
expenditure that will be required to settle the obligations, considering all the information available at the closing
date, including the advice of external experts, such as legal advisors or consultants.

Because of the inherent uncertainties in this estimation, actual expenditures may be different from the originally
estimated amount recognized.

If we are unable to reliably measure the obligation, no provision is recorded and information is then presented in
the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Significant management criteria was involved in the recording of provisions relating to tax and regulatory
contingencies in Brazil. See Notes 24, 25 and 29 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Revenue recognition
Bundled offers

Arrangements involving the delivery of bundled products or services are assessed to determine whether it is
necessary to separate the arrangement into individual component deliverables, each with its own revenue
recognition criteria.

Revenue relating to the bundled contracts is allocated to the different deliverables identified, based on their
relative standalone selling prices.
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Given that the handsets and airtime are price-sensitive and volatile in a competitive marketplace, the
determination of standalone selling prices in the mobile phone business is quite complex.

Additionally, a significant change in the facts and circumstances upon which we based our estimates on
standalone selling prices may have an impact on the allocation of revenues among the different deliverables
identified and, consequently, on future revenues.

Leases

Accounting for a lessee’s rights and obligations under a lease contract requires the use of estimates for
determining the lease term in those contracts that include options to extend the lease or early termination options.

Determining the lease term involves making estimates over the time horizon of the Group's strategic planning
process with respect to relevant factors such as expected technological progress, possible regulatory
developments, market and competition trends or changes in the business model, among others. The assumptions
regarding these variables involve a significant degree of judgment to the extent that the timing and nature of future
changes are difficult to anticipate.

Due to the uncertainties inherent to these estimates, changes in the assumptions made in respect of uncertain
matters when determining the lease term of a lease contract may have an impact on the amounts of the right of use
assets and lease liabilities recognized on the basis of the estimates made by the Group.

Operating Environment

Our results of operations are dependent, to a large extent, on the level of demand for our services in the
countries in which we operate. Demand for services in those countries is affected by the performance of their
respective economies, particularly household private consumption, but also gross domestic product (GDP), inflation
(CPI), current accounts, and unemployment rates.

After facing in 2020 the worst recession since World War Il (-3.1% global GDP contraction), the global economy
rebounded in 2021 (5.9% global GDP growth). This recovery continued in 2022 despite certain adverse events,
such as broad-based high inflation rates and monetary tightening, the Russian invasion of Ukraine (with the
associated volatility in energy markets), bottlenecks in global supply chains (partly as a result of China’s zero-
COVID policy) and extreme weather events that also impacted food-related prices. While some of these factors
dissipated in 2023, new ones mounted as a result of geopolitical tensions and one of the most aggressive cycles of
monetary tightening in the history of the U.S. and Europe. The most notable was the collapse of several medium-
sized banks in the U.S. and Credit Suisse in Europe during the first quarter of the year, resulting in their acquisition
by bigger and better capitalized banks (UBS in the case of Credit Suisse). Most analysts forecasted a recession in
both Europe and the U.S. during 2023, on the back of the lagging effects of monetary policy tightening that
threatened financial stability. However, the global economy showed a high degree of resilience in 2023, supported
by (i) well capitalized banks, ample liquidity and good risk-management practices; (ii) investment projects (both
public and private) to recover and foster production capacity in key areas after the pandemic; (iii) continued fiscal
measures to cushion the impact of inflation on the private sector; (iv) solid nominal spending supported by strong
labor markets with historical lows in unemployment; and (v) high levels of savings accumulated during the pandemic
lockdowns. As a result, the global economy is estimated to have grown 3.0% during 2023 according to the
International Monetary Fund, slightly below the 3.5% growth seen in 2022. By regions, the U.S. has grown 2.5%,
the Eurozone 1.0%, U.K. 0.1%, Latin America and the Caribbean 2.3% and China a modest 5.2%, its lowest rate in
40 years.

Spain

In 2023, the Spanish economy showed strong resilience, leading economic growth among the most important
economies in the Eurozone. GDP is expected to have grown at 2.5%, following an expansion of 5.8% in 2022 and in
line with the 2.8% average annual growth experienced from 2015 to 2019. The slowdown in growth in 2023 is a
result of the economic rebound after the pandemic, as the Spanish GDP level already stands 2.1% above its pre-
pandemic level. Exports, of both services and goods, have performed according to pre-pandemic levels despite the
weakening of global demand and the relative stability of the exchange rate (1.08 dollars per euro on average in
2023, compared to 1.05 in 2022 and an annual average of 1.12 average from 2015 to 2019), due to the
diversification of Spain’s export destinations. Private consumption has also settled above pre-pandemic levels
thanks to fiscal stimulus measures and a dynamic labor market with an average unemployment rate of 12.1% in
2023, below the 12.9% average unemployment rate in 2022 and the 17.7% average unemployment rate from 2015
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to 2019. Investment has performed worse, and still remains below pre-pandemic levels. The factors behind this
worse performance are the slowdown in the execution and disbursement of “NextGenerationEU” (NGEU) funds, the
tightening of monetary policy (the ECB interest rate peaked at 4.0% in September) and the economic uncertainty
derived from high inflation rates.

Inflation has followed a marked downward trend in 2023, with a light increase in the second half of the year due
to base effects. Spain’s 12-month inflation rate was 3.1% as of December 2023, below the 5.8% 12-month inflation
rate in December 2022 but still above the 0.9% average 12-month inflation rate from 2015 to 2019. The positive
declining trend has been driven both by internal and external factors like the drop in gas and food prices during the
first part of the year, lagged effects of monetary policy, the decrease in the prices of goods and by moderate wage
and margin gains. Due in part to the long average maturity of public debt, the increase in interest rates has not had
a marked impact on Spain's debt-to-GDP ratio, and Spain’s fiscal deficit is expected to have closed the year at
4.0%, according to Funcas, down from 4.7% in 2022 and the 3.7% average between 2015 and 2019. Spain’s public
debt ratio is expected to close at 108.4% of GDP in 2023 according to Funcas, down from 111.6% of GDP in 2022,
thanks to the positive effects of growth and the GDP deflator, but above the 101.3% of GDP average from 2015 to
2019. Notwithstanding the different supply shocks hitting the economy, the overall Spanish economy (public and
private sectors combined) still displays an external financing surplus, which has translated in an expected current
account surplus of 3.5% in 2023, according to Funcas, up from 0.6% in 2022 and the 2.7% annual average from
2015 to 2019.

United Kingdom

The British economy faced different headwinds in 2023: energy price shocks, monetary policy tightening,
political uncertainty and, overall, the strong supply shock derived from Brexit. GDP grew 0.1% in 2023, down from
the 4.3% GDP growth in 2022 and below the 1.7% annual average GDP growth from 2015 to 2019. All in all, the
British GDP stands 1.4% above pre-pandemic levels. The factors behind this growth include improving global
demand and the resilience of the UK labor market, where unemployment has stayed at very low levels (at 4.0% on
average in 2023, according to OBR, slightly above the 3.7% average in 2022 and below the 4.4% average from
2015 to 2019). Fiscal policy has also played an important role, with further measures in the government's Spring
statement (or mini-budget) supporting households and firms against the impact of the energy price shocks, in
addition to tax incentives for firms to increase private investment.

Inflation decreased in 2023 on the back of global factors (commodities and supply chain normalization), in
addition to the tightening of monetary policy. As of December 2023, 12-month inflation reached 4.0%, below the
10.5% 12-month inflation rate from December 2022 but above the 1.6% average 12-month inflation rate from 2015
to 2019. However, wage growth (at approximately 7%) has avoided a more abrupt decline in inflation and has
supported the hawkish stance of the Bank of England, which left interest rates unchanged, at 5.25%, in its latest
meetings in December 2023 and January 2024. Despite the increase in interest rates, the long average maturity of
public debt, benefiting from long-term issuances before the pandemic, has barely impacted the government deficit
which, according to the OBR, is expected to go down to 4.5% in 2023 from 5.0% in 2022, and above the 2.9%
average annual deficit between 2015 and 2019. However, the UK’s public debt ratio is expected to have closed the
year at 97.9% of GDP, above the 95.7% of GDP ratio in 2022 and the 81.8% of GDP average from 2015 to 2019.
Against this backdrop, the relative strength of the British pound, which closed the year at 0.87 pounds sterling per
euro (similar to the average exchange rate in 2022 (0.85 per euro) and slightly depreciated with respect the average
exchange rate of 0.83 pounds sterling per euro from 2015 to 2019), has contributed to an expected current account
deficit of around 3.7% of GDP, similar to the deficit in 2022 (3.8%) but below the 4.2% average deficit from 2015 to
2019.

Germany

In 2023, German GDP contracted 0.1%, below the 1.8% growth in 2022 and the 1.6% average annual GDP
growth from 2015 to 2019. This leaves Germany’s GDP only 0.2% above its pre-pandemic levels. The
manufacturing sector in Germany is still highly impacted by higher energy prices, the slowdown of its main export
market (China) and the still ongoing normalization of supplies stemming from different bottlenecks and geopolitical
tensions in international trade. Additionally, certain manufacturing goods historically produced in Germany’s export
sector face an uncertain future in the context of climate transition plans in the European Union and elsewhere
around the world, and Germany has since the pandemic maintained a stricter fiscal policy than its European peers.
Despite this gloomy environment, unemployment has remained at historical lows, at an average of 3.0% in 2023,
according to the Bundesbank, driven by the reluctance of firms to dismiss workers given the difficulties in filling
vacancies. This rate is similar to the 2.9% of 2022 and below the 3.5% average rate between 2015 and 2019.
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Inflation in Germany has closely followed the performance of the Eurozone average, despite somewhat higher
wage gains and higher energy prices, given Germany’s weak internal demand. The 12-month inflation rate was
3.7% as of December 31, 2023, below the 12-month inflation rate of 8.6% one year earlier but above the 1.2%
average 12-month inflation rate from 2015 to 2019. The long average maturity of debt incurred during the years of
low interest rates has also isolated the public accounts from the effects of monetary policy tightening. Germany’s
fiscal deficit is expected to be at 2% as of December 31, 2023, according to the Bundesbank, below the 2.5% deficit
as of December 31, 2022 but above the 1.8% average annual surplus from 2015 to 2019. According to the
Bundesbank, the level of public debt has diminished thanks to the contribution of the GDP deflator (price of
domestically produced goods and services), from 66.1% of GDP as of December 31, 2022 to 64.8% as of
December 31, 2023, also below the 65.5% average level of public debt from 2015 to 2019. Despite the significant
supply shock, the weakened internal demand translated into a current account surplus of 6.0% in 2023, according to
the Bundesbank, above the 4.2% surplus in 2022 but below the 8.2% average annual surplus from 2015 to 2019.

Brazil

Brazilian GDP is estimated to have grown 2.9% in 2023 according to market expectations in Focus Survey
(BCB), driven by a record harvest, fiscal stimuli and resilient domestic consumption, which benefited the services
sector and led to a decline in the country’s unemployment rate. The result estimated result is similar to the 3.0%
GDP growth in 2022, and well above the -0.5% average annual growth rate between 2015 and 2019.

The 12-month inflation rate, as measured by the Extended National Consumer Price Index (IPCA), was 4.6%
as of December 31, 2023 above the target rate of 3.25%, but below the 12-month inflation rate of 5.8% as of
December 31, 2022. The inflation decline is mostly related to the effects of monetary policy tightening, the
appreciation of the Brazilian real and the drop in food prices. Given the improvement in the inflation scenario, the
main interest rate (known as the Special System for Settlements and Custody (SELIC) rate) was reduced from
13.75% at the end of 2022 to 11.75% at the end of 2023. The current account deficit is expected to have improved
by 1.2 p.p. to 1.6% of GDP in 2023 (12 months accumulated in November 2023), better than the annual average
deficit rate of 2.6% of GDP between 2015 and 2019. Once more, the 2023 deficit was financed by capital inflows,
such as foreign direct investments (2.7% of GDP in November 2023). The country’s fiscal deficit is estimated to
have widened by 3.3 p.p. in 2023 to 7.8% of GDP (compared to an annual average deficit rate of 7.9% of GDP
between 2015 and 2019). Brazil’s five-year credit default swap fell to 133 basis points at 2023 year-end, from 254
basis points at 2022 year-end and 205 basis points at the end of 2021. The Brazilian real appreciated against the
U.S. dollar in 2023 by 7.2%. The exchange rate on December 31, 2023 was 4.84 Brazilian reals per U.S. dollar,
compared to 5.2 Brazilian reals per U.S. dollar on December 31, 2022. Better-than-expected economic activity, a
strong trade balance benefited by record harvests and the advancement of structural reforms, such as VAT reform,
have contributed to the real appreciation in 2023.

Mexico

The Mexican economy continued its recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic in 2023, after lagging behind its
regional peers in 2022. GDP is estimated to have grown by 3.3% (Consensus Forecasts or “CFe”) in 2023, following
a 3.9% rebound in 2022, significantly exceeding the annual average growth of 1.9% between 2015 and 2019. This
growth was linked to a positive evolution of domestic spending, particularly a robust expansion of investment, and
resilient external demand. By the third quarter of 2022, Mexico’'s GDP stood 5.2% above pre-pandemic levels. The
unemployment rate averaged a historically low 2.9% in 2022 (CFe), down from an annual average of 3.3% in 2022
and slightly below the annual average of 3.7% between 2015 and 2019. The 12-month inflation rate reached 4.66%
at the end of 2023, correcting 3.2 p.p. compared to December 2022 (7.8%). Banxico raised its key interest rate by
75bps between December 2022 and March 2023 and thereafter maintained that level.

Against the U.S. dollar, the Mexican peso appreciated by 13.3%, averaging 17.9 Mexican pesos per U.S. dollar
in 2023 (compared to an annual average exchange rate of 19.3 Mexican pesos per U.S. dollar between 2015 and
2019). This was due to an improving local economy, external tailwinds from U.S. economic resilience, and
nearshoring of production processes to Mexico. Finally, the current account deficit is estimated to have narrowed
slightly from 1.2% of GDP in 2023 to 0.9% of GDP in 2023 (CFe), compared to an annual average deficit of 1.8% of
GDP between 2015 and 2019. In contrast, the fiscal deficit for 2023 reached 3.7% of GDP (CFe), rising 0.5 p.p.from
the fiscal deficit in 2022 (3.2% of GDP) and exceeding the annual average deficit of 2.0% of GDP between 2015
and 2019.

Venezuela
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According to CFe, Venezuela’s GDP is expected to have grown 2.2% in 2023, decelerating approximately 9.6
p.p. compared to the estimated GDP expansion of 11.8% in 2022 (CFe, as official growth statistics have not been
available on a regular basis since 2017). Consumption and public spending slowed down in 2023, and the recovery
of oil production was lower compared to 2022. According to the Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries
(OPEC), Venezuela’s crude oil production reached 800 kbpd in December 2023, about 90 kbpd more than in
December 2022, but far below 2018 levels, the year before the United States imposed sanctions against
Venezuela's national oil producer. In 2023 the international sanctions over Venezuela and its oil industry were
softened as Maduro’s regime committed to holding transparent and free presidential elections in 2024. Twelve-
month CPI inflation reached 190.0% in December 2023, below the 2022 12-month rate of 234.0%. To reestablish
price stability, the Venezuelan government made significant efforts to avoid exchange rate volatility as the U.S.
dollar became stronger as a parallel currency. Over the course of 2023, the Venezuelan bolivar depreciated about
105% against the U.S. dollar, with the exchange rate closing the year at 35.9 Venezuelan bolivares per U.S. dollar.

Chile

Chilean GDP growth was almost nil in 2023 (-0.1%, CFe), primarily due to policy efforts, both monetary and
fiscal, aimed at promptly addressing the macroeconomic imbalances inherited from the rapid post-pandemic
recovery. Growth slowed by 2.5 percentage points compared to 2022 (2.4%) and underperformed the average
annual GDP growth during the 2015 to 2019 pre-pandemic period (2.0%). By the third quarter of 2023, the GDP
level was 10.3% higher than that at the beginning of the pandemic. The average unemployment rate climbed to
8.4% (CFe) due a labor force growth that outpaced employment opportunities. The unemployment rate rose by 0.6
p.p compared to 2022 (7.8%), 1.5 p.p. above the 2015 to 2019 pre-pandemic average (6.9%).

CPI inflation decreased markedly in 2023 due to a fierce contractionary monetary policy adversely affecting
household spending, coupled with the resolution of supply disruptions. By the end of 2023, the 12-month inflation
rate reached 3.9% (within the monetary policy target range of 2% to 4%), declining by 8.9 p.p. compared to the 12-
month rate in December 2022 (12.8%), although still 0.9 percentage points above the Central Bank of Chile’s 3.0%
target rate (also the average 12-month inflation rate between 2015 and 2019 in the pre-pandemic period). With
inflation receding, the Central Bank of Chile began cutting its monetary policy rate (“MPR”) through the second half
of the year. In December 2023, the MPR settled at 8.25%, reduced by 300 basis points compared to December
2022 (11.25%). The current monetary policy stance contrasts with the expansionary stance prevailing between 2015
and 2019, when the MPR averaged 2.80%.

The exchange rate closed 2023 at 884 Chilean pesos per U.S. dollar, implying a depreciation of the Chilean
currency by 2.9% compared to the exchange rate at the end of 2022 (859 Chilean pesos per U.S. dollar). However,
when comparing annual averages, the local currency appreciated against the U.S. dollar by 3.8% in 2023, with an
annual average of 839 Chilean pesos per U.S. dollar (compared to 872 Chilean pesos per U.S. dollar in 2022).
Exchange rate fluctuations mostly responded to market fundamentals, in particular changes in interest rate
differentials, copper prices, and increasing fears of further monetary tightening in the U.S. Political risks receded
compared to 2022. In December 2023, Chilean voters rejected in a national referendum the second draft of a new
constitution, suspending a potential change to the current constitution at least in the short term. The fiscal deficit
reached an equivalent 2.4% of GDP (CFe), contrasting with the surplus registered in 2022 (1.1% of GDP) but still
lower than the average annual deficits during the pre-pandemic period of 2015 to 2019 (2.5% of GDP). External
imbalances were also restored. After peaking at 9.0% of GDP in 2022, the BoP current account deficit fell in 2023 to
3.2% of GDP (CFe) and returned to its pre-pandemic levels (annual average of 3.6% of GDP from 2015 to 2019).

Argentina

In 2023, the Argentine economy is estimated to have contracted by 1.4% (CFe), a significant decline compared
to the 5.0% growth rate in 2022 and an annual average growth rate of -0.2% between 2015 and 2019. Household
consumption grew by 1.4%, but the agricultural sector had a negative contribution of 3.0 p.p. due to a severe
drought. The unemployment rate averaged 6.5% in 2023 (CFe), which is 0.3 p.p. lower than in 2022 (6.8%) and 1.3
p.p. lower than the annual average rate between 2015 and 2019 (8.3%). The 12-month inflation rate rose sharply to
211.4% in December 2023, compared to 94.8% in 2022 and the annual average between 2015 and 2019 (38.8%),
driven by monetary financing of public deficits and persistent macroeconomic imbalances. As a result, the Central
Bank of the Argentine Republic (BCRA) raised its key interest rate from 75% to 100% throughout the year.

The Argentine peso depreciated 356% against the U.S. dollar in 2023, reaching 808.5 pesos per dollar at year
end, as the new administration introduced a stabilization plan and foreign-exchange disclosure in December 2023.
As a result, the gap between alternative exchange rates was reduced to about 20%. The current account is
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estimated to show a mild deficit of around 1.5% of GDP, which contrasts with the 2022 deficit of 0.3% of GDP,
although it is better than the average annual deficit of 3.2% of GDP between 2015 and 2019. Meanwhile, the overall
fiscal deficit is estimated to reach 4.3% of GDP, 0.5 p.p. above that recorded in 2022 of 3.8% of GDP, but 0.7 p.p.
below the average annual deficit of 5.0% of GDP between 2015 and 2019.

In 2022, Argentina signed an agreement with the IMF to finance 44 billion U.S. dollars of its outstanding public
debt, conditioned on Argentina meeting certain economic targets, including with respect to its fiscal deficit. Argentina
did not reach these targets in 2023, and funding under the agreement was suspended as a result. Argentina’s new
administration reached a staff agreement with the IMF in January 2024 to rebalance the macroeconomic distortions
and avoid default under the IMF loan program. The staff agreement seeks a reduction in Argentina’s fiscal deficit,
limits on the issuances of pesos and the accumulation of international reserves by the BCRA (targeting an
accumulation 10 billion U.S. dollars). The objective is that Argentina will be able to pay or refinance its debt
maturities by 2025.

Colombia

In 2023, GDP growth in Colombia slowed significantly to an estimated 1.1% (CFe), in contrast to the robust
post-pandemic rebound of 7.3% GDP growth observed in 2022 and an annual average GDP growth of 2.3%
between 2015 and 2019. The deceleration resulted from adjustments in demand excesses, particularly in private
consumption, coupled with a significant decline in investment. This decline was influenced by elevated interest rates
and significant levels of household debt. The uncertainty surrounding government proposals for social reforms also
had a notable impact on investor sentiment. By the third quarter of 2023, the GDP level was 10.9% higher than at
the beginning of the pandemic. The average unemployment rate declined to 10.4% (CFe) from 11.2% in 2022,
reflecting the delayed impact of the economic recovery and nearing the annual average of 9.9% recorded between
2015 and 2019. The 12-month inflation rate gradually decreased to 9.28% after peaking at 13.3% in March 2023,
dropping 3.8 p.p. below December 2022 12-month rate (13.2%), but still significantly above the average 12-month
inflation rate of 4.7% between 2015 and 2019 and the Central Bank of Colombia’s target of 3.0%. The decrease was
primarily explained by lower prices on food and, to a lesser extent, goods. In contrast, in services and regulated
components, inflationary pressures persisted as the government reduced both subsidies for fuel prices and the
indexation of other prices (like pensions and civil servant wages) to inflation. In response the Central Bank of
Colombia raised its key interest rate from 12.0% in December 2022 to 13.25% in April 2023. However, by December
2023, it decided to cut the interest rate by 25 basis points to 13.0% (100 basis points higher compared to December
2022), as both economic activity and inflation showed a downward trend.

Colombia also adjusted its current account deficit from 6.2% in 2022 to 3.2% of GDP in 2023 (CFe), even
below the annual average of 4.4% of GDP between 2015 and 2019. On the fiscal front, the central government’s
deficit decreased to 4.2% of GDP (CFe), from 5.3% of GDP in 2022, still above the 2015-2019 pre-pandemic
average (3.2%). These adjustments mitigated macroeconomic vulnerability. In the political arena, uncertainty was
high in the first half of the year as two ministerial crises unfolded. In May 2023, President Gustavo Petro called for
the end of the political alliance with traditional parties and mandated a broad cabinet reshuffle that included the
position of finance minister. However, uncertainty decreased as Petro lost political support in the congress and in
regional governments. Municipal election results showed victorious center and center-right candidates.
Consequently, Colombia's country risk premium experienced a significant correction, coupled with persistently high
oil prices, leading to a substantial appreciation of the Colombian peso against the U.S. dollar (20.5%) to 3,822
Colombian pesos per U.S. dollar by the end of the year, outperforming other Latin American currencies.

Peru

In 2023, the Peruvian economy is estimated to have contracted 0.1% (CFe), following 2.7% growth in 2022 and
an annual average growth rate of 3.2% between 2015 and 2019. This leaves Peru’s GDP level 2.8% above its pre-
pandemic levels. The growth trend was adversely affected mainly by climate factors, but also social conflicts at the
beginning of the year, cooling residential investment, business confidence deterioration and government spending
restrictions. The unemployment rate is estimated to have declined 0.5 p.p. in 2023 to 7.2% (CFe) compared to
2022, but it is still above its average annual rate of 6.5% between 2015 and 2019. Inflation slowed rapidly in the final
months of the year, closing with a 12-month inflation rate of 3.2% in December 2023, below the 12-month inflation
rate of 8.5% in December 2022, but above the annual average of 2.6% between 2015 and 2019. In response, the
Central Reserve Bank of Peru cut its policy key rate from 7.50% in December 2022 to 6.75% in December 2023.

The Peruvian nuevo sol appreciated 2.6% against the U.S. dollar in 2023, reaching 3.7 Peruvian nuevo soles
per U.S. dollar at year end. The current account deficit is estimated to have improved in 2023 by 0.7 p.p. to 1.3% of
GDP (compared to an annual average deficit of 2.0% of GDP between 2015 and 2019). In contrast, Peru’s fiscal
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deficit is estimated to have worsened by 0.2 p.p. to 2.7% of GDP (compared to an annual average deficit of 2.2% of
GDP between 2015 and 2019), above the 2.4% limit foreseen by the fiscal rule, due to lower tax revenues in a
context of economic slowdown.

Exchange Rate Fluctuations

We publish our Consolidated Financial Statements in euros. Because a substantial portion of our assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses are denominated in currencies other than the euro, we are exposed to
fluctuations in the values of these currencies against the euro. Currency fluctuations have had and may continue to
have a material impact on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We estimate that in 2023 variations in currencies (without considering the impacts of hyperinflationary
countries) contributed to the year-on-year increase in our consolidated revenues by approximately 0.2 percentage
points. Currency fluctuations can also have a significant impact on our statement of financial position, particularly
equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, and on our statement of cash flows, when translating the financial
statements of subsidiaries located outside the Eurozone into euro. In 2023 translation differences had a positive
impact on equity attributable to equity holders of the parent of 37 million euros. In addition, our cash and cash
equivalents increased by approximately 258 million euros due to the translation of the financial statements of our
foreign subsidiaries, principally due to the appreciation of the Brazilian real relative to the euro.If the impacts of
hyperinflationary countries were considered, the adverse impact of variations in currencies on our consolidated
results, statement of financial position and statement of cash flows would have been higher.

We estimate that in 2022 variations in currencies (without considering the impacts of hyperinflationary
countries) contributed to the year-on-year increase in our consolidated revenues by approximately 4.5 percentage
points. In 2022 translation differences had a positive impact on equity attributable to equity holders of the parent of
1,169 million euros. In addition, our cash and cash equivalents increased by approximately 156 million euros due to
the translation of the financial statements of our foreign subsidiaries, principally due to the appreciation of the
Brazilian real relative to the euro.

We estimate that in 2021 variations in currencies (without considering the impacts of hyperinflationary
countries) contributed to the year-on-year decrease in our consolidated revenues by approximately 2.3 percentage
points. In 2021 equity attributable to equity holders of the parent increased by 4,088 million euros (impacted by the
negative translation differences of Telefénica United Kingdom accumulated in equity at June 1, 2021 and
reclassified to the income statement as a result of the establishment of VMO2 (see Note 2 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements), for an amount of 3,135 million euros). In addition, our cash and cash equivalents decreased
by approximately 179 million euros due to the translation of the financial statements of our foreign subsidiaries,
principally due to the depreciation of the Brazilian real relative to the euro.

Venezuela is considered as a hyperinflationary economy since 2009. The inflation rates used to prepare the
financial information included herein are based on the National Consumer Price Index of Venezuela (Indice
Nacional de Precios al Consumidor de Venezuela) published by the Central Bank of Venezuela, or where a
definitive index is not available, the best estimation. On an annual basis, these rates are 189.8%, 174.3% and
686.4% for 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The exchange rates used to convert items denominated in
Venezuelan bolivar, once adjusted for inflation, in the Consolidated Financial Statements are the closing rates as of
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, which were 159.45 bolivar digital per U.S. dollar (synthetic exchange rate),
45.18 bolivar digital per U.S. dollar (synthetic exchange rate) and 16.47 bolivar digital per U.S. dollar (synthetic
exchange rate), respectively. The bolivar fuerte was devalued in October 2021 and a new currency, the bolivar
digital, was adopted.

Argentina is considered as a hyperinflationary economy since July 2018. The inflation rates used to prepare the
financial information included herein are based on the National Consumer Price Index of Argentina (Indice de
Precios al Consumidor con Cobertura Nacional de Argentina) published by the Central Bank of Argentina, or where
a definitive index is not available, the best estimation. On an annual basis, this rate was 211.4% for 2023, 94.79%
for 2022 and 50.94% for 2021. The exchange rate used to convert items denominated in Argentine peso, once
adjusted for inflation, in the Consolidated Financial Statements are the closing rates as of December 31, 2023, 2022
and 2021, which were 808.5, 177.1 and 102.7 Argentine pesos per U.S. dollar, respectively.
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The table below sets forth the average exchange rates against the euro of the U.S. dollar and the key
currencies that impacted our consolidated results of operations for the periods indicated. Positive percentage
changes represent a decline in the value of the applicable currency relative to the euro, and negative percentage
changes represent increases in the value of the applicable currency relative to the euro.

% change % change
2021 vs 2022 vs

2021 (1) 2022 (1) 2023 (1) 2022 2023

Average Average Average Average Average
Pound Sterling 0.86 0.85 0.87 (0.83%) 2.04%
U.S. Dollar 1.18 1.05 1.08 (11.10%) 2.89%
Brazilian Real 6.37 5.42 5.40 (15.00%) (0.32%)
Argentine Peso (2) 116.37 189.08 893.45 62.48% 372.52%
Peruvian Nuevo Sol 4.59 4.03 4.05 (12.09%) 0.39%
Chilean Peso 896.59 916.52 906.50 2.22% (1.09%)
Mexican Peso 23.98 21.12 19.16 (11.89%) (9.30%)
Venezuelan Bolivar Digital (2)(3) 18.65 48.23 176.20 n.m. n.m.
Colombian Peso 4,425.64 4,452.39 4,651.42 0.60% 4.47%

Notes:
n.m.:not meaningful
Source: Central treasury bank of the respective countries, except with respect to the Venezuelan bolivar digital

1) These exchange rates are used to convert the income statements of our subsidiaries from local currency to euro.

(2) As Venezuela and Argentina are considered to be hyperinflationary economies, the income statement from operations in each
such country is accounted for pursuant to the closing exchange rate of the relevant local currency to euro.

3) Due to the depreciation of the Venezuelan Bolivar Soberano, a new currency was created in 2021 called Bolivar Digital.

We describe certain risks related to exchange rate fluctuations in “ltem 3. Key Information—Risk Factors,” and
we describe our policy with respect to limiting our exposure to short-term fluctuations in exchange rates under “Item
11. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.”

Group Results of Operations

Please see “Item 4. Information on the Company — Business Overview”.
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B. Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash Flow Analysis

The table below sets forth consolidated cash flow information for the years indicated. Positive figures refer to
cash inflows and those in parentheses refer to cash outflows.

2021 2022 2023
(Millions of euros)
Net cash from operating activities 10,268 11,763 11,649
Net cash from (used in) investing activities 5,896 (5,327) (4,286)
Net cash used in financing activities (12,990) (7,925) (7,186)

Net cash from (used in) investing activities was significantly impacted in 2021 by the cash received from the
sale of the tower divisions of the Telxius Group and the incorporation of VMOZ2.

For additional details regarding our cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2022 and 2023, please
see the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows and Note 28 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Anticipated Uses of Funds
Our principal liquidity and capital resource requirements consist of the following:
» costs and expenses relating to the operation of our business;

» debt service requirements relating to our existing and future debt;
» capital expenditures (including spectrum acquisitions) for existing and new operations;

« acquisitions of new licenses or other operators or companies engaged in complementary or related
businesses; and

» dividends, other shareholder remuneration, and pre-retirement payments.

In 2024, we expect to continue transforming our networks, evolving them towards all-IP hyper-connected
networks, by investing in FTTx in key markets, and by expanding our mobile networks with LTE in most of our
operations. We also expect to continue investing in TV and digital services to take advantage of the opportunities in
the digital markets. We may also use funds to acquire new licenses engaged in complementary or related
businesses in the digital world.

We also have liquidity requirements related to the costs and expenses relating to the operation of our business,
financial investments (including investment commitments with joint venture partners), our payment of dividends,
shareholder remuneration and pre-retirement payment commitments.

We also have liquidity constraints related to debt service requirements in connection with our existing and future
debt. At December 31, 2023, we had gross financial debt of 37,061 million euros compared with 39,079 million
euros at December 31, 2022. For the amortization schedule of our consolidated gross financial debt at December
31, 2023 and a further description of financing activity in 2023, see “—Anticipated Sources of Liquidity” below. Our
net financial debt increased by 662 million euros to 27,349 million euros at December 31, 2023, compared with
26,687 million euros at December 31, 2022, despite a positive free cash flow generation of 3,988 million euros. This
was due to (i) shareholder remuneration of 2,320 million euros (including coupon payments of capital instruments),
(i) net financial investments of 688 million euros (mainly acquisition of Telefénica Deutschland shares),(iii) labor-
related commitment payments of 854 million euros, and (iv) other factors totaling 788 million euros (mainly the
higher value in euros of net debt in foreign currencies).

In nominal terms, as of December 31, 2023, 89% of the Group's net financial debt had its interest rate set at
fixed interest rates for periods of more than one year. The effective cost of debt related interest payments for the last
12 months excluding leases was 3.80% as of December 31, 2023 compared to 3.96% as of December 31, 2022.

For a reconciliation of net financial debt to gross financial debt, see “—Presentation of Financial Information—
Non-GAAP Financial Information—Net financial debt and net financial debt plus commitments”.
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The following table describes our contractual obligations and commitments with definitive payment terms which
may require significant cash outlays in the future. The amounts payable (including accrued interest payments) are
as of December 31, 2023. For additional information, see our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Payments Due by Period

Less than 1 More than 5
Millions of euros Total year 1-3 years 3-5 years years
Financial liabilities (1) 37,061 3,701 6,559 7,601 19,200
Lease liabilities (2) 8,947 2,239 3,090 1,897 1,721
Purchases and other contractual
obligations (3) 12,049 3,571 4,470 1,754 2,254
Other liabilities (4) 2,574 574 2,000 — —
Total 60,631 10,085 16,119 11,252 23,175

(1) Estimated future interest payments as of December 31, 2023 on our interest-bearing debt (not included above) are as
follows: 1,202 million euros in 2024, 1,115 million euros in 2025, 1,031 million euros in 2026, 912 million euros in 2027, 831
million euros in 2028 and 7,067 million euros in subsequent years. With respect to floating rate debt, we estimate future
interest payments as the forward rates derived from yield curves quoted for the different currencies on December 31, 2023.
This item includes the fair value of derivatives classified as financial liabilities (i.e., those with a negative mark-to-market)
and excludes the fair value of derivatives classified as current financial assets (352 million euros), and those classified as
non-current (1,940 million euros) (i.e., those with a positive mark-to-market). For a more detailed description of our financial
derivative transactions, see Note 19 to our Consolidated Financial Statements. For details of the composition of this item,
see “—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Anticipated Sources of Liquidity”).

(2) This item includes lease liabilities. For a more detailed description see Note 20 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

(3) This item includes definitive payments (non-cancellable without penalty cost) due for agreements to purchase goods (such
as network equipment) and services, as well as payments for football broadcast rights. For a more detailed description see
Note 26 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

(4) “Other liabilities” include: (a) long-term obligations that require us to make cash payments, excluding financial debt
obligations included in the table under “Financial Liabilities” above and (b) other provisions. Because of the nature of the
risks covered by “Other liabilities” such as other provisions, it is not possible to determine a reliable schedule of potential
payments, if any. For details of the composition of other provisions, see Note 24 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Commitments for short-term leases and low value leases amounted to 52 million euros as of December 31,
2023.

In addition, at December 31, 2023, we had short-term and long-term employee benefits provisions amounting
to 1,005 million euros and 4,949 million euros, respectively, not included in the table above (see Note 24 to our
Consolidated Financial Statements) and non-current and current account payables, such as trade payables,
payables to suppliers of property, plant and equipment and payables for spectrum acquisitions, amounting to 1,913
million euros and 12,138 million euros, respectively (see Notes 21 and 22 to our Consolidated Financial
Statements), not included in the table above.

In addition, at December 31, 2023, VMO2 had commitments amounting to 6,584 million euros related to
purchase, programming, network and connectivity and other commitments not included in the table above (see Note
10 to our Consolidated Financial Statements).

For details of the composition of, and changes in, our debt, see “—Liquidity and Capital Resources—
Anticipated Sources of Liquidity” and Note 18 "Financial Liabilities" to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

For a discussion of our liquidity risk management policy, see Note 19 to our Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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Anticipated Sources of Liquidity

Cash flows from operations are our primary source of cash funding for existing operations, capital expenditures,
investments, licenses, interest obligations and principal payments, dividends, other shareholder remuneration, and
pre-retirement payments. We also rely on external financing, including a variety of short, medium and long-term
financial instruments, principally bonds and debentures, undated deeply subordinated securities and borrowings

from financial institutions. Cash and cash equivalents are mainly held in euros and euro-denominated instruments.

We hold most our cash and cash equivalents in demand and in various terms up to three-month time deposits in
euro. Additionally, we hold cash and cash equivalents in time deposits in U.S. dollars, typically with a term of less
than one year. These transactions are executed with financial counterparties that have credit ratings that satisfy
Telefénica’s standards.

In recent years, we raised funds by issuing principally equity instruments (undated deeply subordinated securities
and mandatory convertible notes) and debt securities, and we may issue additional equity or debt securities at any
time. We have also raised funds through a series of asset divestitures. In 2022, the main sources of funds from
divestitures came from the completion of the agreement with Vauban and CAA for the deployment and
commercialization of a fiber FTTH network mainly in rural areas in Spain, the sale of the entire share capital of
Telefénica Mdviles El Salvador and the completion of the agreement reached between Telefénica Colombia and a
Colombian company controlled by KKR for the sale of fiber assets and for the provision of connectivity services and
deployment of the fiber network. We did not complete similar asset divestitures in 2023.

Financing

The following table shows the amortization schedule of our consolidated gross financial debt at December 31, 2023
as stated in euro, excluding estimated future interest payments. We may have exchange rate financial derivatives
as instruments assigned to the underlying debt instruments. The table below includes the fair value of derivatives
classified as financial liabilities (i.e., those with a negative mark-to-market) and excludes the fair value of derivatives
classified as current financial assets (352 million euros), and those classified as non-current (1,940 million euros)
(i.e., those with a positive mark-to-market). For description of the liquidity risk we face, see Note 19 to our
Consolidated Financial Statements, and for a description of our financial liabilities, see Note 18 to our Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Millions of euros

Current Non-current
Non-

Subsequent current
Maturity 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 years total Total
Debentures and bonds 1,565 3,133 2,072 3,911 2,110 17,407 28,633 30,198
Promissory notes &
commercial paper 1,141 54 12 3 19 140 228 1,369
Total Issues 2,706 3,187 2,084 3,914 2,129 17,547 28,861 31,567
Loans and other
payables 759 553 498 327 311 1,153 2,842 3,601
Derivative instruments 236 160 77 585 335 500 1,657 1,893
Total 3,701 3,900 2,659 4,826 2,775 19,200 33,360 37,061

Notes:

- Estimated future interest payments as of December 31, 2023 on our interest-bearing debt (not included above) are as follows: 1,202 million
euros in 2024, 1,115 million euros in 2025, 1,031 million euros in 2026, 912 million euros in 2027, 831 million euros in 2028 and 7,067 million
euros in subsequent years. With respect to floating rate debt, we estimate future interest payments as the forward rates derived from yield curves
quoted for the different currencies on December 31, 2023.

During 2023, we obtained financing (excluding the refinancing of euro commercial paper and short-term banking
loans) totaling approximately 5,296 million euros of which 3,422 million euros was at the Group level and 1,874
million euros were obtained by VMO2 (the joint venture in the UK with Liberty Global plc). Telefonica's financing
activity was focused on maintaining a solid liquidity position, as well as refinancing and maintaining long debt
maturities.

For a description of our financing, see Note 18 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.
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As permitted under Rule 13-01(a)(4)(vi) of Regulation S-X, we have excluded the summarized financial information
for Telefénica Emisiones, S.A.U and Telefénica Europe, B.V. because they are both considered to be a "finance
subsidiary" (as defined in such Rule) of Telefénica, S.A., the debt securities issued by them are fully and
unconditionally guaranteed by Telefonica, S.A., and no other subsidiaries of Telefénica, S.A. guarantee their debt
issuances.

Our borrowing requirements are not significantly affected by seasonal trends.
Availability of funds

At December 31, 2023, we had funds available (including cash and cash equivalents, undrawn lines of credit and
current financial assets) totaling 19,531 million euros. This amount included: undrawn lines of credit for an amount
of 11,315 million euros (11,148 million euros expiring in more than 12 months); cash and cash equivalents; and
certain current financial assets.

We believe that, in addition to internal generation of funds, our working capital, our medium-term note program, our
euro commercial paper program, our corporate domestic promissory note program and available lines of credit will
allow us to meet our future capital requirements, including (according to our liquidity policy) gross debt maturities in
the next 12 months.

For a description of our liquidity and undrawn lines of credit available at December 31, 2023, see Note 18 to our
Consolidated Financial Statements, and for a discussion of our liquidity risk management and our capital
management, see Note 19 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Telefonica, S.A. is the parent company of the Telefénica Group and receives funding from its subsidiaries in the form
of dividends and loans. Consequently, certain restrictions on the ability of the Group’s subsidiaries to transfer funds
to Telefénica, S.A. in the form of cash dividends, loans or advances, capital repatriation and other forms would
negatively affect our liquidity and thus our business.

Certain Latin American economies, such as currently Venezuela or Argentina, have experienced shortages in
foreign currency reserves and their respective governments have adopted restrictions on the ability to transfer funds
out of the country and/or convert local currencies into U.S. dollars. This may limit our ability to repatriate funds out of
certain subsidiaries from such countries. Regarding the net repatriation of funds to Spain, 247 million euros from
Latin America companies have been received in 2023. This amount includes a dividend collection of 544 million
euros, partially offset by loans made to subsidiaries in an aggregate amount of 307 million euros.

Credit Ratings

Our ability to use external sources of financing will depend largely on our credit ratings. We believe that we are well-
positioned to raise capital in financial markets. However, negative conditions in the financial markets or a
downgrade of any of the ratings of our debt or the Kingdom of Spain’s debt by any of Fitch, Moody’s and/or
Standard & Poor’s may increase the cost of our future borrowings or may make it more difficult to access the public
debt markets. In connection with the credit rating agencies’ review of our debt ratings, the rating agencies may give
considerable weight to general macroeconomic and political conditions (including sovereign credit rating prospects),
the performance of our businesses in countries where we operate, our financial and shareholder remuneration
policy, our M&A and divestiture policy, our ability to integrate acquired companies and our ability to refinance debt.

At December 31, 2023, Telefénica, S.A.’s long-term issuer default rating is "BBB stable outlook" from Fitch, “BBB-
stable outlook" from Standard & Poor's and “Baa3 stable outlook" from Moody's. During 2023, there have not been
changes in the long-term credit ratings by any of the three agencies. The latest changes in the credit ratings took
place in 2020 when Standard and Poor’s revised the outlook to “negative® from “stable” on April 1, 2020 and later,
on November 20, 2020 downgraded the rating to “BBB - stable” from “BBB negative”. On November 7, 2016
Moody's downgraded the rating to “Baa3 stable” from “Baa2 negative” and on September 5, 2016 Fitch downgraded
the rating to “BBB stable” from “BBB+ stable”.

In 2023, measures taken to protect the credit rating included an active portfolio management through the voluntary
public acquisition offer for shares of Telefonica Deutschland that reinforces Telefénica’s strategy to focus on its core
geographies and its strong commitment to the German market, one of the most attractive and stable telecom
markets in Europe. The offer also supports Telefénica’s efforts to simplify the Group’s structure and enhances the
euro-denominated cash flows generated in the Group.
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In addition, Telefénica Hispanoamérica entered into an agreement with an affiliate of KKR and Entel Peru for the
sale of fiber assets and the provision of wholesale connectivity services. The transaction is subject to the obtaining
of regulatory approvals. Finally, Telefénica at its Capital Markets Day, announced the launch of the GPS program
(Growth, Profitability and Sustainability) that will guide the 2023-2026 Strategic Plan.

Additionally, Telefénica maintains a solid liquidity position and conservative approach to debt refinancing, as the
Group took advantage of the historical low refinancing rates in recent years to extend average debt life and smooth
its maturity profile in coming years.

Intra-group Loans

We lend funds to our operating subsidiaries, directly or through holding companies that head our different lines of
business. At December 31, 2023, companies in the Telefénica Group owed Telefénica, S.A. a total of 2,057 million
euros (1,715 million euros at December 31, 2022), including amounts due under intra-group loans and dividends
distributed and uncollected at December 31, 2023. Funds provided by Telefénica, S.A. to its subsidiaries are derived
from retained cash flows, loans, bonds, issuances of undated deeply subordinated securities and other sources
(such as dividends and asset disposals). For additional information, see "ltem 7. Major Shareholders and Related
Party Transactions—Related Party Transactions—Intra-Group Loans".

C. Research and Development, Patents and Licenses, etc.

Telefonica remains committed to technological innovation as a fundamental tool for being one of the main players in
the new digital universe, contributing to the creation of a more sustainable world while achieving competitive
advantages and distinctive products. By introducing new technologies and developing business solutions and
processes, we aim to become a more effective, efficient and customer-oriented Group.

Telefonica bases its innovation strategy on the balance between two main models:

- First, through our internal research, development and innovation (R&D&lI), for which we have developed our
own innovation model, which allows us to leverage R&D&I results and capabilities in developing commercial
products and services benefiting from knowledge gained in collaborations with research centers, technological
institutes and universities, amongst other sources; and

- Second, through the creation of open innovation ecosystems, in which the “Wayra” initiative stands out as a
global program designed to connect entrepreneurs, start-ups, investors, venture capital funds and public and private
organizations around the world to promote innovation in collaboration with other actors.

In addition to these two models, Telefénica seeks to promote the development of sustainable solutions that generate
a positive impact on the environment and on the economic, social and technological progress of the regions in
which we operate. To this effect, Telefénica invests in promoting sustainable innovation projects and in the activities
that improve the accessibility of our solutions to all groups.

Internal Research, Development and Innovation:

Telefonica believes that competitive advantage cannot be based solely on acquired technology, and so has
considered the promotion of internal R&D&I activities as a strategic axis, in an effort to achieve this differentiation
and move forward in other activities which support the sustainability of our business.

To this end, Telefénica Group’s internal innovation policy focuses on contributing solutions that support Telefénica’s
commitment to developing a responsible business under the criteria of economic, societal and environmental
sustainability, by:

» Developing new products and services that enable growth and competition in an increasingly global
environment, while being adapted to the diversity and local needs of each market;

* Increasing the revenue potential related to new products by creating value from the intellectual
property rights of the generated technology;

* Increasing our customers' loyalty and satisfaction;
* Increasing the revenues, profits and value of the Company;

* Increasing the quality of our infrastructure and services;
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» Strengthening our relationship with our technology and solutions providers; and

* Improving business processes and operations with the aim of optimizing resources, increasing
efficiency and reducing environmental impact.

During 2023, Telefénica’s numerous technological innovation activities were focused on three main areas:

» Telecommunications networks. These activities aim at developing and integrating new assets and
components into our networks and systems, with three main pillars: (i) high capacity and high energy-
efficiency networks: next generation of mobile network technologies (evolution of 5G and 6G), network
slicing, new in-home networks, open and disaggregated technologies (Open RAN, Open Broadband, TIP),
Quantum Communications (QKD, PQC) integrating our quantum ring infrastructure and connecting it to the
European infrastructure Euro-QClI; (ii) cloud-native and software-based network architectures: which enable
us to have a more flexible and adaptable network that is dynamically adaptable to the new requirements of
digital services and customers, with the Telco Cloud (multi-cloud virtualization) initiative, leading ETSI-OSM
project, contributing to the European Alliance for Industrial Data, Edge and Cloud, and launching the
Spanish IPCEI-CIS project; and (iii) Data and Artificial Intelligence driven operations: leveraging new tools
and available network data within every process and every domain (fixed and mobile access, transport and
core) and cloud infrastructure, with early deployments in Brazil, Germany and Spain, and exploring the
network Digital Twin in a TM Forum project.

» The development of new products and services which are carried out within the framework of the digital
services strategy. Products and services for the mass market include: new opportunities in the metaverse
and the Web3, with our own NFT marketplace, and digital identity; in video and entertainment with new
applications, advertising and payment capabilities, and digital cognitive marketing, using artificial
intelligence preserving consumer privacy and our ethical principles, etc. Products and services for the B2B
market include: a wide portfolio of cloud and cybersecurity services, IoT platforms and connectivity, Big
Data, Artificial Intelligence and blockchain, with vertical services tailored to industry sectors and public
administrations.

* Experimental and applied research: With a medium and long-term outlook, Telefénica also has specialized
scientific groups whose mission is to research and advance the state of the art of technologies to solve the
technological, social and environmental challenges that arise. These activities are carried out in
collaboration with public and private, national and international universities and research centers.

Two featured results of these innovation activities are Open Gateway, an initiative that seeks to expose network
APIs to service developers enabling a Network as a Service model, and UTIQ, a joint venture with three other
European operators that offers programmatic advertising solutions that do not use third-party cookies.

The total research and development ("R&D") expense in the Group for 2023 amounted to 741 million euros, 12.87%
higher than the 656 million euros incurred in 2022 (835 million euros in 2021, including the former Telefonica United
Kingdom segment in the consolidation perimeter). These expenses represented 1.8%, 1.6% and 2.1% of the
Group’s consolidated revenues for 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively (for comparison purposes, the investment in
R&D in 2021, excluding the companies in the former Telefénica United Kingdom segment that now fall outside of the
consolidation perimeter, amounted to 689 million euros, 4.7% higher than in 2022). These figures were calculated
using guidelines of the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development ("OECD") manual.

During 2023, Telefénica filed 17 patent applications for new inventions, 13 of which were European applications,
and four of which were international applications (PCT). All of them were registered through the Spanish Patent and
Trademark Office (OEPM). During 2023 a total of 37 patent applications from former years were granted. These
figures represent an increase of 21% in the number of patent applications for new inventions compared with the 14
patent applications in 2022 (16 in 2021), and an increase of 76% in the number of patent applications granted
compared with the 21 patent applications in 2022 (29 in 2021).

Moreover, five new industrial design families with European scope were registered in 2023 through the European
Union Intellectual Property Office (EUIPO) and in Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia and Peru

At the end of 2023, the Telefénica Group had a portfolio of 374 active patents, 114 industrial designs and nine utility
models, resulting in a portfolio of 497 registered intangible assets (444 as of December 31, 2022).
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Open Innovation

Wayra is Telefénica’s main Open Innovation program. It connects Telefénica and technological disruptors around the
world. We seek to become their preferred strategic partner, with a view to accelerate their business and ours. Wayra
offers a unique and smooth interface between entrepreneurs and our network of corporate, government and other
partners, adding value to the ecosystems where we are present.

Wayra has seven physical hubs serving nine countries in Europe and Latin America. Wayra manages its own
corporate venture capital fund, investing in partnerships with other startup leaders in startups in gaming and video
entertainment, loT, Big Data, Artificial Intelligence, eHealth, fintech, energy, the metaverse and Web3. Since 2022,
Wayra also manages investment funds from other Telefénica Group companies like Vivo Ventures in Brazil and iope
Ventures from Telefonica Seguros y Reaseguros Compania Aseguradora, S.A.U.

In addition to Wayra, Telefénica Ventures, is Telefénica’s corporate venture vehicle for strategic investments.
Telefonica Ventures aims to address the big challenges facing the telecommunications industry and create new
businesses leveraging cutting edge technology. It invests, directly in startups or through a network of leading
venture capital funds in key markets, to build strategic partners fully aligned with the Group’s global strategy. The
most relevant of these funds is Leadwind, in which we act as anchor investor, targeting deep tech scaleups in
southern Europe and Brazil.

Telefonica has been engaged in Open Innovation for 15 years. As of 2023, it has helped create and transform local
entrepreneurship ecosystems in Europe and Latin America investing more than 233 million euros (including Wayra
and Telefénica Ventures direct and indirect investments), in more than 1,100 startups, contributing to the creation of
more than 10,000 highly skilled jobs.

Wayra invested in 16 startups in Europe and Latin America in 2023 while Telefénica Ventures invested in four
startups, for an aggregate total direct investment amount of 13.3 million euros. Vivo Ventures invested in two
startups in 2023, and lope Ventures made its first three investments in 2023. Telefénica had interests in more than
538 active startups by the end of 2023.

Through these various programs, Telefonica has invested in more than 1,100 startups, and more than 330 startups
have worked with Telefénica and its customers, generating through some of their solutions more than 700 million
euros in revenues for Telefénica.

In addition, in 2023 Telefénica participated in more than 30 Open Innovation projects with strategic partners in 2023,
supporting the programmes in vertical solutions or with regional focus.

D. Trend Information

In 2023, the Telefénica Group faced challenges of persistent inflation across all segments, the continued
devaluation of the Argentine peso and weak growth prospects in many of its markets. The Group also faced intense
competition in all of its markets, through the entry of new competitors (new players and providers of OTT services),
and aggressive customer acquisition offers in the different markets in Telefonica Hispam.

In Telefénica, we have been operating in high-inflationary environments for decades. In 2023, with respect to
revenues, Telefénica has relied on pricing power and inflation pass-through across its segments.

With respect to CapEx, Telefénica benefits from having made significant advances in FTTH deployment ahead of
the current inflationary environment, having passed the peak of investments in prior years.

In 2024, we still expect high inflation rates across the board, and we expect the devaluation of the Argentine peso
and intense market competition to continue as well. The Company has taken several steps designed to address
these and other recent trends and to face future uncertainties, such as:

*  First, while Telefonica has a long track record of generating cost efficiencies, we still have a long way to go
in terms of digitalization and automation of sales channels and customer care, process improvements and
modernization and rationalization of the network, such as switching from copper to fiber and legacy switch-
off. In 2023, Teleféonica took steps to hedge through long-term price agreements / power purchase
agreements (PPAs) and intends to increase the hedged ratio level of consumption for 2024 compared to
2023.
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* Second, the Company expects cost efficiencies in 2024 as a result the Collective Redundancies Plan
adopted by certain companies in Telefénica Spain in 2023 and realization of synergies in the United
Kingdom (through the execution of restructuring plans aiming to deliver a single operating model and a
leaner company).

« Third, we expect certain selling price increases to continue in the coming year, partially covering inflation in
several markets, but Telefénica believes telecom spending will be resilient to price increases as
digitalization and digital communications remain important for Telefonica's customers. Accordingly,
Telefonica expects to continue to rely on its pricing power and inflation pass-through across the various
markets it serves. Moreover, Telefénica is managing operating expenses by engaging in significant long-
term hedging on energy prices and, overall, by focusing on cost efficiencies.

*  Fourth, Telefénica is facing an intense competition in the markets where it operates, through the entry of
new competitors (either new players or providers of OTT Services), mergers of operators in certain markets
(e.g., potential mergers of mobile operators Vodafone UK and Three UK in the United Kingdom and Orange
and Mas Movil in Spain) and other changes in competitive dynamics in the different markets in Latin
America (e.g., aggressive customer acquisition offers, with unlimited data and discounts on certain
services). In order to combat this competition, Telefonica is focused on offering the best product and
services to its customers, continuing to invest in improvements to its network and diversifying its revenue
mix with adjacent businesses. These efforts include:

* Solar 360, a joint venture of Repsol and Telefénica Spain, formed to develop a solar self-
consumption business;

* Movistar Prosegur Alarmas, a security joint venture formed by Prosegur and Telefénica Spain in
September 2020;

* Vivo Ventures, a corporate venture capital fund created with Telefénica Open Innovation, through
which Telefénica has committed to invest in the Brazilian "fintech" Klavi, to reinforce Telefénica's
presence in the financial solutions sector; and

* The TeCuida smartwatch, a new telecare device and service for people over 60 years and people
with a low degree of dependency that detects falls, inside and outside the home. It also assists
users in emergency situations, anywhere, 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, locating the person,
notifying their contacts and arranging for any needed assistance.

On November 8, 2023, Telefonica presented its three-year strategic plan during the Capital Markets Day, where five
lines of action to accelerate growth, profitability and sustainability were highlighted:

* Sustain B2C revenue growth with an enriched offering to an expanding high-value market with lower churn.
* Keep above-industry B2B momentum with Telefénica Tech as the cornerstone for transformation.
* Evolve wholesale and partners’ revenues with the launching of “Open Gateway”.
* Drive efficiencies to reduce operating expenses through:
« Switching from copper to fiber and legacy switch-off
« Network sharing
« Energy cost reduction through hedging
« Right-sizing the organization

= Sustain differentiation while reducing CapEx, switching from copper to fiber and executing legacy
technology switch-off. In Spain, Telefénica plans to switch off all copper access loop as of April 2024 and
the Company is focusing its CapEx on 5G deployment in several segments.
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E. Critical Accounting Estimates
Not applicable.
F. Non-GAAP Financial Information

In addition to the measures expressly defined in the IFRS, the Group also uses a series of other measures for
decision-making because they provide additional information useful to assess the Group’s performance, solvency
and liquidity. These measures should not be viewed in isolation or as a substitute for the measures presented
according to the IFRS.

The non-GAAP financial measures included in this Annual Report are operating income before depreciation and
amortization (OIBDA), OIBDA-CapEx, OIBDA-CapEx excluding spectrum acquisitions, net financial debt, net
financial debt plus leases, net financial debt plus commitments, net financial debt plus leases plus commitments and
free cash flow.

Operating income before depreciation and amortization

Operating income before depreciation and amortization (OIBDA) is calculated by excluding solely depreciation and
amortization from operating income. OIBDA is used to track the performance of the business and to establish
operating and strategic targets of Telefénica Group companies. OIBDA is a commonly reported measure and is
widely used among analysts, investors and other stakeholders in the telecommunications industry. However, it is not
a measure expressly defined in the IFRS and therefore it may not be comparable to similar indicators used by other
companies. OIBDA should not be considered as a substitute for operating income.

Furthermore, the Group management uses the measure OIBDA margin, which is the result of dividing the OIBDA by
the revenues.

The following table provides a reconciliation of our OIBDA to operating income for the periods indicated.

Year ended December 31,

Millions of euros 2021 2022 2023
Operating income 13,586 4,056 2,593
Depreciation and amortization (8,397) (8,796) (8,797)
Operating income before depreciation and amortization 21,983 12,852 11,390

The following tables provide a reconciliation of OIBDA to operating income for the Group and for each of the
Group’s segments (and our former Telefonica United Kingdom segment) for the periods indicated.

2021
Telefénica
Telefonica United Telefénica Teleféonica Telefonica Other Total
Millions of euros Spain Kingdom '  Germany Brazil Hispam companies Eliminations Group
Operating income 1,224 919 30 1,220 (155) 10,292 56 13,586
Depreciation and
amortization (2,153) — (2,394) (1,918) (1,873) (356) 297 (8,397)

Operating income
before depreciation
and amortization 3,377 919 2,424 3,138 1,718 10,648 (241) 21,983

™ Our former Telefénica United Kingdom segment was replaced by our new VMO2 segment on June 1, 2021. For additional information on this
change and how segment information is presented in this Annual Report, see “Iltem 4. Information on the Company—History and Development of
the Company—Business areas”. In particular, in the 2021 table, the “Telefonica United Kingdom” column reflects the results of such segment
from January 1, 2021 until its elimination on June 1, 2021.
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2022
Teleféonica Telefonica Teleféonica Telefénica Other Total
Millions of euros Spain Germany Brazil Hispam companies Eliminations Group
Operating income 2,431 263 1,363 159 (124) (36) 4,056
Depreciation and amortization (2,157) (2,295) (2,369) (1,799) (218) 42 (8,796)
Operating income before
depreciation and amortization 4,588 2,558 3,732 1,958 94 (78) 12,852
2023
Telefonica Telefonica Telefonica Telefonica Other Total
Millions of euros Spain Germany Brazil Hispam companies Eliminations Group
Operating income 1,029 317 1,617 (47) (289) (34) 2,593
Depreciation and amortization (2,200) (2,323) (2,511) (1,557) (244) 38 (8,797)
Operating income before
depreciation and amortization 3,229 2,640 4,128 1,510 (45) (72) 11,390

OIBDA in 2021 includes the gains on the sale of the towers divisions of Telxius, amounting to 6,099 million euros
and from the establishment of VMOZ2, amounting to 4,460 million euros (see Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements).

OIBDA-CapEx and OIBDA-CapEx excluding spectrum acquisitions

OIBDA-CapEx is defined as operating income before depreciation and amortization, reduced by accrued capital
expenditures, and OIBDA-CapEx excluding spectrum acquisitions is defined as operating income before
depreciation and amortization, reduced by accrued capital expenditures excluding those related to spectrum
acquisitions.

We believe that it is important to consider capital expenditures, and capital expenditures excluding spectrum
acquisitions, together with OIBDA in order to have a more complete measure of the performance of our
telecommunications businesses. For example, we believe that considering capital expenditures, and capital
expenditures excluding spectrum acquisitions together with OIBDA provides useful information regarding both our
performance during the year as well as the investments we made during such year in order to support our business
going forward. As a result, we use these measures internally to track the performance of our business, to establish
operating and strategic targets of the businesses of the Group and in our internal budgeting process.

In addition, we believe that these measures provide useful information to investors and other stakeholders to allow
them to better compare performance across telecommunications companies with business models that differ based
on whether they obtain network access, IT and other infrastructure services by paying fees that would be reflected
in OIBDA versus through the development of owned networks and infrastructures that would be reflected in capital
expenditures. Furthermore, similar metrics are reported externally by other telecommunications companies, and
investors and analysts often track and compare these measures across different telecommunications companies.

Based on our use of OIBDA-CapEx and OIBDA-CapEx excluding spectrum acquisitions, we consider such
measures to be primarily performance measures. While our primary liquidity measure is free cash flow, OIBDA-
CapEx and OIBDA-CapEx excluding spectrum acquisitions also provide certain information regarding our liquidity
given that they provide an indication of the resources generated by the operation of our business during the year,
after deducting the investments we made during such year in order to support our business going forward.

Neither OIBDA-CapEx nor OIBDA-CapEx excluding spectrum acquisitions are measures expressly defined in IFRS,
and therefore they may not be comparable to similar indicators used by other companies. In addition, neither
OIBDA-CapEx nor OIBDA-CapEx excluding spectrum acquisitions should be considered substitutes for operating
income, the most comparable financial measure calculated in accordance with IFRS, or any measure of liquidity
calculated in accordance with IFRS.
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The Group management also uses the measures OIBDA-CapEx margin and OIBDA-CapEx excluding spectrum

acquisitions margin, which is the result of dividing these measures by revenues.

In the table below we provide a reconciliation of our OIBDA-CapEx and OIBDA-CapEx excluding spectrum
acquisitions to operating income for the periods indicated.

Millions of euros

Operating income

Depreciation and amortization

OIBDA

Capital expenditures in intangible assets

Capital expenditures in property, plant and equipment
CapEx

OIBDA-CapEx

Spectrum acquisitions

OIBDA-CapEx excluding spectrum acquisitions
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Year ended December 31,

2021
13,586
(8,397)
21,983
(2,981)
(4,286)
(7,267)
14,716
1,704
16,420

2022
4,056
(8,796)
12,852
(1,530)
(4,289)
(5,819)
7,033

173
7,206

2023
2,593
(8,797)
11,390
(1,838)
(3,741)
(5,579)
5,811

183
5,994
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Net financial debt, net financial debt plus leases, net financial debt plus commitments and net financial debt
plus leases plus commitments

As calculated by us, net financial debt includes:

(A) adding the following liabilities:

i. Current and non-current financial liabilities in our consolidated statement of financial position (which
includes the negative mark-to-market value of derivatives),

ii. Other liabilities included in "Payables and other non-current liabilities" and "Payables and other
current liabilities" (mainly corresponding to payables for deferred payment of radio spectrum that have an
explicit financial component and supplier financing for customer financing of terminal sales), and

iii. Financial liabilities included in "Liabilities associated with non-current assets and disposal groups
held for sale".

(B) subtracting the following amounts from the resulting amount of the preceding step:
i. "Cash and cash equivalents",
ii. "Other current financial assets" (which include short-term derivatives),

iii. Cash and other current financial assets included in "Non-current assets and disposal groups held for
sale",

iv. The positive mark-to-market value of derivatives with a maturity beyond one year,

v. Other interest-bearing assets (included in "Financial assets and other non-current assets",
"Receivables and other current assets" and "Tax receivables" in our consolidated statement of financial
position). "Financial assets and other non-current assets" includes derivatives, installments for long-term
sales of terminals to customers and other long-term financial assets, and "Receivables and other current
assets" includes the customer financing of terminal sales classified as short-term.

vi. Mark-to-market adjustment by cash flow hedging activities related to debt, and

vii. Fair value of derivatives adjustment used for the economic hedging of gross commitments related to
employee benefits.

We calculate net financial debt plus leases by adding lease liabilities calculated under IFRS 16 (including those
corresponding to the companies held for sale) to net financial debt and deducting assets from subleases.

We calculate net financial debt plus commitments by adding gross commitments related to employee benefits and
the fair value of the derivatives used for the economic hedging of such commitments to net financial debt, and
deducting the value of long-term assets associated with those commitments related to employee benefits and the
tax benefits arising from the future payments of those commitments related to employee benefits. Gross
commitments related to employee benefits are current and non-current provisions recorded for certain employee
benefits such as termination plans, post-employment defined benefit plans and other benefits.

We believe that net financial debt, net financial debt plus leases, net financial debt plus commitments and net
financial debt plus leases plus commitments are meaningful for investors and analysts because they provide an
analysis of our solvency using the same measures used by our management. We use them to calculate internally
certain solvency and leverage ratios. Nevertheless, none of them as calculated by us should be considered as a
substitute for gross financial debt as presented in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The following table presents a reconciliation of net financial debt, net financial debt plus leases, net financial debt
plus commitments and net financial debt plus leases plus commitments as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 to the
Telefonica Group’s gross financial debt as indicated in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Millions of euros
Non-current financial liabilities
Current financial liabilities
Gross financial debt

Cash and cash equivalents
Other current financial assets

Cash and other current financial assets included in "Non-current assets and disposal
groups held for sale" (see Note 30 to the Consolidated Financial Statements)

Positive mark-to-market value of long-term derivative instruments

Other liabilities included in "Payables and other non-current liabilities"
Other liabilities included in "Payables and other current liabilities"

Other assets included in "Financial assets and other non-current assets"
Other assets included in "Receivables and other current assets"

Other current assets included in "Tax receivables"

Mark-to-market adjustment by cash flow hedging activities related to debt

Fair value of derivatives adjustment used for the economic hedging of gross
commitments related to employee benefits

Net financial debt

Lease liabilities

Net financial debt plus leases

Gross commitments related to employee benefits and associated economic hedging
Value of associated long-term assets

Tax benefits

Net commitments related to employee benefits

Net financial debt plus commitments

Net financial debt plus leases plus commitments (*)

12/31/2022
35,059
4,020
39,079

(7,245)

(2,431)

(2,668)
1,431
402
(1,892)
(646)
(123)
1,102

(322)
26,687
8,645
35,332
5,291

(104)

(1,281)
3,906
30,593
39,238

12/31/2023
33,360
3,701
37,061

(7,151)

(1,066)

(13)
(1,940)
1,750
446
(1,481)
(711)

659

(205)
27,349
8,920
36,269
6,159

(114)

(1,535)
4,510
31,859
40,779

(*) Includes assets and liabilities considered to be Net financial debt plus leases plus commitments related to employee benefits for companies

classified as held for sale (see Note 30 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).
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Free Cash Flow

The Group’s free cash flow is calculated starting from "Net cash flow provided by operating activities" as indicated in
the consolidated statement of cash flows; deducting (Payments on investments)/Proceeds from the sale of
investments in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, net, adding the cash received from government
grants, deducting dividends paid to non-controlling interests and payments of financed spectrum without explicit
interest. The cash used to pay for commitments related to employee benefits (included in the Net cash flow
provided by operating activities) is added back since it represents the payments of principal of the debt incurred with
those employees.

We believe that free cash flow is a meaningful measure for investors and analysts because it provides an analysis
of the cash flow available to protect solvency levels and to remunerate the parent company’s shareholders and
other equity holders (which is why free cash flows do not consider payments to minority interests). The same
measure is used internally by our management. Nevertheless, free cash flow as calculated by us should not be
considered as a substitute for the various cash flows presented in the consolidated statements of cash flows.

The following table presents the reconciliation between the Telefénica Group’s Net cash flow provided by operating
activities as indicated in the consolidated statement of cash flows and the free cash flow for 2023, 2022 and 2021:

Millions of euros 2021 2022 2023
Net cash flow provided by operating activities 10,268 11,763 11,649
(Payments on investments)/Proceeds from the sale of investments in

property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, net (6,164) (5,508) (5,851)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (410) (438) (438)
Payments for commitments related to employee benefits 844 853 854
Payments of financed spectrum without explicit interest (108) (108) (112)
Free Cash Flow excluding lease principal payments 4,430 6,562 6,102
Lease principal payments (1,782) (1,996) (2,114)
Free Cash Flow 2,648 4,566 3,988

Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees
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A. Directors and Senior Management

During 2023, our Board of Directors met 18 times. As of February 23, 2024, our Board of Directors had met
twice during 2024. As of February 23, 2024, our directors, their respective positions on our Board and the year they
were first appointed were as follows:

Name Age First Appointed Current Term Ends
Chairman

Mr. José Maria Alvarez-Pallete Lépez 60 2006 2025
Vice-Chairmen

Mr. Isidro Fainé Casas (V@ 81 1994 2024
Mr. José Maria Abril Pérez (N®©) 71 2007 2026
Mr. José Javier Echenique Landiribar ("*® 72 2016 2024
Members

Mr. Angel Vila Boix (") 59 2017 2026
Mr. Alejandro Reynal Ample 50 2023 2024
Ms. Solange Sobral Targa © 51 2023 2024
Ms. Carmen Garcia de Andrés V© 61 2017 2025
Ms. Maria Luisa Garcia Blanco ¢©©) 58 2018 2026
Mr. Peter Loscher (V4 66 2016 2024
Ms. Verénica Pascual Boé © 45 2019 2024
Mr. Francisco Javier de Paz Mancho (V®/® 65 2007 2026
Mr. Francisco José Riberas Mera 59 2017 2025
Ms. Maria Rotondo Urcola ® 59 2021 2026
Ms. Claudia Sender Ramirez (" 49 2019 2024

) Member of the Executive Commission of the Board of Directors.

@ Name or company name of the shareholder represented or that has proposed their appointment: CaixaBank, S.A.

® Name or company name of the shareholder represented or that has proposed their appointment: Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria, S.A.
“ Member of the Audit and Control Committee.

® Member of the Nominating, Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee.

© Member of the Sustainability and Regulation Committee.

Board Committees
At February 23, 2024, the Committees of our Board of Directors and members thereof are as follows:
Executive Commission

Our Board of Directors has expressly delegated all of its authority and power to the Executive Commission except
as prohibited by the Spanish Corporate Enterprises Act, under our Articles of Association, or under our Board
Regulations. This Commission is made up of fewer directors and meets more frequently than our Board of
Directors. The members of the Executive Commission are Mr. José Maria Alvarez-Pallete Lépez (Chairman), Mr.
Isidro Fainé Casas, Mr. José Maria Abril Pérez, Mr. José Javier Echenique Landiribar, Mr. Angel Vila Boix, Ms.
Claudia Sender Ramirez, Mr. Francisco Javier de Paz Mancho, Mr. Peter Loscher and Mr. Pablo de Carvajal
Gonzalez, as Secretary. During 2023, the Executive Commission met 18 times and, as of the date of this Annual
Report, had met three times in 2024.

Audit and Control Committee

The Audit and Control Committee functions are regulated by our bylaws, our Board Regulations and the Audit and
Control Committee Regulations. The Audit and Control Committee has the primary objective of providing support to
our Board of Directors in its supervisory and oversight functions, specifically having the following responsibilities:

+ To report to the shareholders at the General Shareholders’ Meeting regarding matters raised therein
for which it is responsible.

» To submit to the Board of Directors proposals for the selection, appointment, re-election and
replacement of the external auditor, as well as the terms and conditions of the contract therewith, and

111



Table of Contents

regularly obtain from such external auditor information regarding the audit plan and the implementation
thereof, in addition to the preservation of its independence in the performance of its duties.

» To supervise the risk control and management unit, the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control system, the internal audit and the systems for the management of financial and non-financial risks
(including operational, technological, legal, tax, social, environmental, political, reputational and corruption-
related risks), as well as to discuss with the external auditor the significant weaknesses in the internal
control system detected during the audit.

» To supervise the process of preparation and submission of regulated financial information and to
ensure that the annual accounts submitted by the Board of Directors to the shareholders at the General
Shareholders’ Meeting are prepared in accordance with the legal provisions on accounting.

» To establish and maintain appropriate relations with the external auditor in order to receive, for
review by the Committee, information on all matters that could jeopardize the independence thereof, as well
as any other matters related to the audit procedure, and such other communications as may be provided for
in auditing legislation and in technical auditing regulations. In any event, the Audit and Control Committee
must receive annually written confirmation from the external auditor of its independence vis-a-vis the entity
or entities directly or indirectly related thereto, as well as information regarding additional services of any
kind provided to such entities by the external auditor, or by the persons or entities related thereto, pursuant
to the legislation in force.

+ To issue on an annual basis, prior to the issuance of the audit report, a report stating an opinion
regarding the independence of the external auditor. This report must in all cases include an opinion on the
provision of the additional services referred to in the preceding paragraph.

+ To supervise the application of the general policy on the disclosure of economic/financial, non-
financial and corporate information and communication with shareholders and investors, proxy advisers and
other stakeholders, and to monitor the manner in which the Company communicates and engages with
small and medium-sized shareholders, all with respect to those aspects within the purview of the
Committee.

» To report to the Board of Directors in advance on all matters contemplated by law, the bylaws and
the Regulations of the Board of Directors.

* Any other powers granted to it under the Regulations of the Board of Directors.

The Audit and Control Committee meets at least once per quarter and as many times as considered necessary.
During 2023, the Audit and Control Committee met 13 times and, as of the date of this Annual Report, had met three
in 2024. The members of the Audit and Control Committee are Mr. José Javier Echenique Landiribar (Chairman),
Mr. Peter Loscher, Ms. Carmen Garcia de Andrés, Ms. Maria Rotondo Urcola and Ms. Maria Luisa Garcia Blanco.
Our Board of Directors has determined that all the members of the Audit and Control Committee meet the
requirements of an “audit committee financial expert” as such term is defined by the SEC.

Nominating, Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee

The Nominating, Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for, among other things,
reporting to our Board of Directors with respect to proposals for the appointment, re-election and removal of
directors, members of the Executive Commission and the other committees of our Board of Directors and top
members of our management and management of our subsidiaries. In addition, the Nominating, Compensation and
Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for proposing to the Board of Directors, within the framework
established in the bylaws, the compensation for the directors and reviewing it periodically to ensure that it is in
keeping with the tasks performed by them, as provided in Article 36 of the Board Regulations, to propose to the
Board of Directors, within the framework established in the bylaws, the extent and amount of the compensation,
rights and remuneration of a financial nature, of the chairman, the executive directors and the senior executive
officers of Telefdnica, including the basic terms of their contracts, for purposes of contractual implementation thereof
and to supervise compliance with the corporate governance rules in effect from time to time.

The members of the Nominating, Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee are Mr. Peter Ldscher
(Chairman), Mr. José Javier Echenique Landiribar, Ms. Maria Luisa Garcia Blanco, Ms. Verdnica Pascual Boé and
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Mr. Francisco Javier de Paz Mancho. During 2023, the Nominating, Compensation and Corporate Governance
Committee met 12 times, and as of the date of this Annual Report, it had met twice in 2024.

Strategy and Innovation Committee

On December 13, 2023, the Board of Directors eliminated the Strategy and Innovation Committee, at the proposal
of the Nominating, Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee, in order to enhance the strategic
definition and oversight function of the Company's Board of Directors by ensuring that all deliberations and
discussions regarding the strategy of the Company take place in the full Board of Directors, in a more diverse
context and with a greater plurality of viewpoints, in line with international best practices in Corporate Governance.

Sustainability and Regulation Committee

The Sustainability and Regulation Committee was created on December 13, 2023 by the Board of Directors
integrating the functions of the former Regulation and Institutional Affairs Committee and the Sustainability and
Quality Committee. The Sustainability and Regulation Committee was created under Article 20.b) of the Regulations
of the Board of Directors and is regulated under Article 24 of those same Regulations, amended on the same date,
in order to improve the systematization of the distribution of competencies among the Committees. The main
objective of the Sustainability and Regulation Committee is to act as a communication and information channel
between our management team and our Board of Directors on sustainability and regulatory matters in the
telecommunications sector or in any other sector relevant to the business of the Company or the Group and, where
appropriate, to advise the Board of Directors of those matters deemed significant to the Company or to any of the
companies of the Group in respect of which it is necessary or appropriate to make a decision or adopt a particular
strategy. The Committee is also tasked with, among other things, reviewing the strategies and policies relating to
Telefonica's "Responsible Business" policy and sustainability practices in the environmental and social areas,
supervising the impact and risk analysis of its "Responsible Business" strategy and analyzing Telefénica Group's
objectives, action plans and practices in the field of social and environmental responsibility. In addition, the
Sustainability and Regulation Committee seeks to ensure that the corporate culture is aligned with its purpose and
values with transparency towards its stakeholders and, together with the Audit and Control Committee, knows of the
process of reporting non-financial information in matters of social responsibility and sustainability.

The members of the Sustainability and Regulation Committee are Mr. Francisco Javier de Paz Mancho (Chairman),
Mr. José Maria Abril Pérez, Ms. Carmen Garcia de Andrés, Ms. Maria Rotondo Urcola, Ms. Maria Luisa Garcia
Blanco and Ms. Solange Sobral Targa. As of the date of this Annual Report, had met twice in 2024.

Biographies of Directors

Mr. José Maria Alvarez-Pallete Lopez serves as the Chairman of our Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer
of the Company. He is currently Chairman of the Telefénica Foundation, trustee of the Profuturo Foundation and
member of Board of Trustees of "la Caixa” Banking Foundation since February 2022. He is also member of the
Advisory Council of SEAT, S.A. since March 2019, Chairman of the Board of GSMA since February 2022 and
Chairman of the European Round Table for Industry's Employability, Competencies and Impact Committee since
May 2022. He is also member of the Board of Directors of VMED O2 UK Ltd. He began his career at Arthur Young
Auditors in 1987. In February 1999 he joined the Telefénica Group as General Manager of Finance for Telefonica
International, S.A. In September of the same year he was promoted to Chief Financial Officer of Telefénica. In July
2002, he was appointed Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Telefénica Internacional, S.A.U.; in July 2006
General Manager of Telefénica Latin America, and in March 2009, Chairman of Telefénica Latin America. He has
been the Chairman of Telefénica Europa since September 2011 and a member of Telefonica, S.A.'s Board of
Directors since July 2006. Since September 2012 and until April 2016, Mr. Alvarez- Pallete served as Chief
Operating Officer. Since April 2016 he is the Chairman of our Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company. In 2001, he was awarded as ‘CFO Europe Best Practices’ at Mergers & Acquisitions 2000 by CFO
Europe Magazine, and in 2003 as Member of Merit at the Iberian-American Forum of the Carlos Ill Foundation. In
2007 he was awarded with the Gold Master of the Executive Management Forum and in 2011, he received the
Personality of the Year in Economics Award granted by the Spanish newspaper “El Economista”. In 2013 the
Spanish Telecommunication Engineers Association awarded him with the Excellence Award of that same year, for
his contribution to the development of telecommunications. In 2014, Mr. José Maria Alvarez-Pallete received
Medalla Sorolla by the Hispanic Society of America and he was named “Innovative Corporate Leader of the Year” by
the Latin Trade magazine and the magazine FastCompany included him in its "100 Most Creative People in
Business 2014". In 2016, he was named the "Best CEO" in Spain by Forbes Magazine and the Consejo Superior de
Deportes granted him the entry in the Royal Order of Merit Sports in the category of Bronze Medal. In 2019 he was
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granted with the Cross of Military Merit with white distinction, he received the "Manager of the Year" award in the
Large Corporations category granted by the Asociaciéon Espafnola de Directivos, and was chosen “Business Leader
of the Year” by the Spain-US Chamber of Commerce. In 2020, he was awarded with the ECOFIN prize for
"Financiero del Afo" and the Spanish Marketing Association has named him "Lider Empresarial Impulso del
Marketing". In 2021, he was appointed Honorary Ambassador of Leading Brands of Spain Forum. In addition, in
November 2023, he received an honorary degree from CEU San Pablo University and was named “Business
Person of the Year 2022” by the UPF Barcelona School of Management. Since January 2024, he has been a
Trustee of Fundacién Amigos de la Alhambra. Mr. Alvarez-Pallete holds a degree in Economics from the
Complutense University in Madrid, also studied Economics at the Université Libre i Belgique and holds an
International Management Program (IMP) degree from the Pan-American Institute of Executive Business
Administration (IPADE) and a Diplome of Advanced Studies (DEA) from the Department of Financial Economics and
Accounting of the Complutense University of Madrid.

Mr. Isidro Fainé Casas serves as Vice-Chairman of our Board of Directors. For over 40 years, Mr. Fainé has worked
in several financial institutions, including amongst others: Banco Atlantico, S.A., (1964), Banco de Asuncién
(Paraguay) (1969), Banca Riva y Garcia, S.A. (1973), Banca Jover, S.A. (1974), and Banco Unién, S.A. (1978). In
1982, he joined "la Caixa" as Deputy Executive General Manager, subsequently taking on various positions of
responsibility. In April 1991, he was appointed Deputy Executive Managing Director and in 1999 rose to General
Manager of the bank, before becoming Chairman from June 2007 to June 2014. He was also a member of the
Board of Directors of CaixaBank since 2000, presiding from 2011 until his resignation in 2016. Likewise, he was
Chairman of Naturgy Energy Group, S.A. from September 2016 until February 2018. Furthermore, he served as
Director of Suez, S.A. from 2014 to 2020. Mr. Fainé is currently Chairman and Member of the Executive
Commission of the Board of Trustees of the Fundacion Bancaria Caixa d’Estalvis i Pensions de Barcelona la
"Caixa”, Chairman of the Board and of the Executive Commission of Criteria Caixa, S.A.U. and of Caixa Capital
Risc SGEIC, S.A., and Chairman of the Board of Directors of Inmo Criteria Caixa, S.A.U. He also serves as Special
Advisor of the Bank of East Asia, and Chairman of the Spanish Confederation of Savings Banks (CECA) and of the
World Savings Banks Institute (WSBI). Additionally, he is Deputy Chairman of the European Savings Banks Group
(ESGB). He is currently the Chairman of the Spanish Confederation of Executives (CEDE) and of the Spanish
Chapter of the Club of Rome. He is also Deputy-Chairman of the Royal Academy of Economic and Financial
Sciences, Founder of the Financial Circle and Honorary Chairman of Naturgy Energy Group, S.A. Mr. Fainé holds a
Doctorate degree in Economics from the Universidad de Barcelona, a Diploma in Senior Management from IESE
Business School and an ISMP certificate in Business Administration from Harvard University. He is a member of the
Royal Academy of Economics and Finance and of the European Royal Academy of Doctorate Holders.

Mr. José Maria Abril Pérez serves as Vice-Chairman of our Board of Directors. From 1975 to 1982 he served as
Financial Manager of Sociedad Anénima de Alimentacion (SAAL). Since then, and until he joined the Banco Bilbao
Vizcaya Argentaria Group (BBVA), he was Financial Manager of Sancel-Scott Ibérica, S.A. In 1985 he joined Banco
Bilbao, S.A. as Managing Director of Investment Corporate Banking. From January to April 1993, he was appointed
Executive Coordinator of Banco Espafiol de Crédito, S.A. In 1998, he became General Manager of the Industrial
Group of BBV. In 1999, he was appointed member of the Executive Committee of the BBV Group. He has also been
a member of the Board of Directors of Repsol, S.A., Iberia, S.A., Corporacién IBV, Ibermatica, S.A., and Vice-
Chairman of Bolsas y Mercados Espafioles, S.A. In 2002 he became Managing Director of the Wholesale and
Investment Banking Division and a member of the Executive Committee of Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria, S.A.
He is currently member of the Board of Directors of Arteche Lantegi Elkartea, S.A. He holds a degree in Economics
from the University of Deusto (Bilbao, Spain) and he was professor of this University for nine years.

Mr. José Javier Echenique Landiribar serves as Vice-Chairman of our Board of Directors. Mr. Echenique has been a
Board Member and General Director of Allianz-Ercos as well as a General Director of BBVA Group, where he was
responsible for wholesale business like Global Investment Banking or Global Corporate Banking among others. He
has also been Member of the Board of Directors of Banco Sabadell, S.A. (Vice-Chairman), Repsol, S.A., Banco
Guipuzcoano, S.A. (Chairman), Grupo Empresarial ENCE, S.A., ACS Servicios, Comunicaciones y Energia, S.L.,
Sevillana de Electricidad, S.A., Hidroeléctrica del Cantabrico, Metrovacesa and Abertis Infraestructuras, S.A. Mr.
Echenique is currently Member of the Board of Directors of Telefonica Audiovisual Digital, S.L.U., ACS Actividades
de Construccion y Servicios, S.A., Dragados, S.L. and Calcinor, S.L. He is also member of the Advisory Board of
Telefénica de Espafia, S.A.U. He is also a Board member of the Deusto Business School and a member of the
McKinsey Advisory Council. He holds degrees in Economics and Actuarial Sciences from Basque Country
University (UPV), where he was a professor of Social Security’s Quantitative Techniques of the Economic Sciences
School of Bilbao for several years.
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Mr. Angel Vila Boix serves as the Chief Operating Officer (COO) and as a Director of our Board of Directors.
Previously, he served as the Chief Strategy and Finance Officer. Mr. Vila joined Telefénica in 1997. He held
positions of Group Controller, CFO of Telefénica Internacional, S.A.U. Group Head of Corporate Development and
Chief Financial and Corporate Development Officer. In 2015, he was appointed Chief Strategy and Finance Officer.
Prior to joining Telefonica, he held positions at Citigroup, McKinsey&Co, Ferrovial and Planeta. In the financial
sector, he has served in the Board of directors of Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria (BBVA) and on the Advisory
Panel of Macquarie MEIF Infrastructure funds. In the TMT sector, he was Chairman of Telefénica Contenidos, Vice-
Chairman of Telco Spa (ltaly) and Board member of Endemol, Digital+, Atento, Telefénica Czech, CTC Chile, Indra
SSI and Terra Lycos. Institutional Investor nominated Angel Vila as the Best CFO in European Telecoms in 2015. He
was also honored with the Thomson Reuters Extel Pan-European Awards as No.1 CFO in Spain both in 2013 and
2014, as well as No.1 CFO for Telecommunications in Europe in 2014. He currently is member of the Advisory
Boards of Telefonica de Espafa, S.A.U. and Telefénica Tech, and a Trustee of the Telefonica Foundation. He is also
member of the Board of Directors of VMED 02 UK Ltd. Mr. Angel Vil holds an MBA from Columbia Business
School where he studied with a Fulbright La Caixa fellowship. Prior to Columbia University, he graduated in
Industrial Engineering from Universitat Politécnica de Catalunya in Barcelona.

Ms. Carmen Garcia de Andrés serves as a Director of our Board of Directors. Ms. Garcia joined
PricewaterhouseCoopers (Coopers & Lybrand Legacy) in 1985, where she held several positions. Thereafter, she
held various leadership positions at Landwell -Abogados y Asesores Fiscales as well as at PwC. She has been
representative of the Spanish brand at the International Specialist Group in Indirect Taxation for more than six
years.Since 1998, she has been counseling international companies established in Spain with a major worldwide
involvement with a special focus on the FMCG, Industry and ICT sectors, she is also Head of the Diversity
programme, Women in PwC. Since then, she has collaborated as a mentor in professional development
programmes for women and young people. She has been member of the Trust of the Young Business Spain
Foundation, of which she was Chairwoman until 2017 and Board member of the collective initiative Juntos por el
empleo de los mas desfavorecidos. She has been member since 2006 of the Trust of Tomillo Foundation, and in
March 2008 became the Managing Director of this non-profit institution and its Executive Chairwoman in 2014.
Since June 2011, Ms. Garcia has been member of the Board of Directors of the Asociacion Espafola de
Fundaciones (AEF), and she is currently its Treasurer and a member of the Executive Committee. She is also
member of the Trust of Secretariado Gitano, Somos F5 and Xavier de Salas Foundations and co-founder and
member of the Trust of "Aprendiendo a ser" Foundation since December 2018. She holds a degree in Economic
and Business Sciences from the Comillas Pontifical University, ICADE.

Ms. Maria Luisa Garcia Blanco serves as a Director of our Board of Directors. Ms. Garcia began her career in 1992
as a state attorney (abogado del estado). In 2002, she was appointed Deputy Director-General of Constitutional
Law and Human Rights and state attorney-Head of the Constitutional Law and Human Rights Department as well
as Agent of the Kingdom of Spain before the European Court of Human Rights. As Agent of the Kingdom of Spain
she managed and coordinated the Spanish delegation composed of representatives from various Spanish Ministries
and represented the Kingdom of Spain before various UN Committees in nonjudicial proceedings and individual
claims and before the European Court of Human Rights (TEDH) in individual claims. As state attorney serving at the
Constitutional Court, she has been involved in constitutional law proceedings such us claims for unconstitutionality
and jurisdictional conflicts, appeals for protection of constitutional rights and other issues of unconstitutionality.
Among other activities, she has been the Secretary of the Board of Directors of Sociedad Estatal de Infraestructuras
Agrarias del Norte (SEIASA DEL NORTE) and, from 1999 to 2010, of its Audit and Control Committee. From 2010
to 2013, she served as a Director of Sociedad Estatal de Infraestructuras Agrarias (SEIASA). She served as a
Director of Sociedad Estatal de Aguas de la Cuenca del Norte (ACUANORTE) between 2010 and 2013, and of
Sociedad Estatal de Aguas de las Cuencas de Espafia (AcuaEs) between 2012 and 2013. Furthermore, she has
been involved in coordination and cooperation activities for the promotion and defense of human rights in Uruguay
(2006), Colombia (2007 and 2008), Chile (2009) and Guatemala (2010). Additionally, in 2006 she was awarded with
the Cross of Honor of the Order of St. Raymond of Penyafort. In October 2013 she left her position as state attorney
and she is currently a partner at the law firm Salama Garcia Blanco, SLP, which focuses on administrative,
constitutional law, civil and commercial litigation, and arbitration matters, and provides legal advice to credit
institutions. In 2014, she was appointed as Corresponding Member of the Royal Academy of Jurisprudence and
Legislation. Since 2021, she is member of the Advisory Board of Telefénica de Espafia,S.A.U. She is currently
Director of Ibercaja Banco, S.A., member of the CIMA Governance and Control Committee and President of the
Committee of Experts of 65YMAS.COM. She holds a law degree from the University of Cordoba (Spain).

Mr. Peter Loscher serves as a Director of our Board of Directors. Mr. Loscher was the President of Global Human
Health and a member of the Executive Board of Merck & Co., CEO of GE Healthcare Bio — Sciences and a member
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of GE’s Corporate Executive Council. He was also COO and a member of the Board of Amersham Plc. He held a
senior leadership position in Aventis and Hoeschst. Mr. Léscher is former Chairman of the Supervisory Board of
OMV AG, Austria. From 2014 to 2016, he was the CEO of Renova Management AG. In the past, he was also
Chairman and CEO of Siemens AG, among others, and until April 2022 Chairman of the Board of Directors of
Sulzer AG. Since April 2020, he is Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Telefénica Deutschland Holding AG,
member of the Supervisory Board of Philips, member of the Board of Thyssen-Bornemisza Group AG, Switzerland,
and a non-executive member of the Board of Directors of Doha Venture Capital LLC, Qatar. He is also Honorary
Professor at Tongi University Shangai and he holds the Grand Decoration of Honor in Gold of the Republic of
Austria, the Order of Friendship of the Russian Federation and is a Knight Commander of the Order of Civil Merit of
Spain. Mr. Léscher studied Economics at Vienna University of Economics, where he also received his MBA, and
Business at the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He completed the Advanced Management Program (AMP) at
Harvard Business School and an Honorary Doctorate of Engineering from Michigan State University and is a Doctor
Honoris Causa of Slovak University of Engineering in Bratislava.

Ms. Verdnica Pascual Boé serves as a Director of our Board of Directors. Ms. Pascual began her professional
career at the international level in the strategic management department of Human Resources of the multinational
industrial group Bouygues. In 2004, she joined the family firm ASTI, where she held different positions in the
management of this company (technical management and sales management departments). At the end of 2006,
she was appointed General Manager and in 2008 she decided to acquire the company. She has previously held
various positions, including: Promoter and Founder of Burgos Digital Innovation Hub, through ASTI of DIHBU
(2018); President of the Industry Working Group 4.0 of the Castile and Leon Government (2016-2018); President of
the Industry Committee 4.0 and Vice President of Talent Development of AMETIC (2016-2018); Member of the
Advisory Council of the Quality Agency of the University System (2015-2016); Member of the Advisory Council of
EAE Business School (2015-2016); Member of the Governing Council of APD Castile and Leon (2014-2015);
Member of the Board of Directors of Empresa Familiar Castile and Leon (2001-2013). Ms. Pacual is an
entrepreneur who has led during 18 years a group of companies involved in digital transformation headed by ASTI
Mobile Robotics Group, a company with affiliates in Spain, France, Germany, and the United States, engaged in the
supply of autonomous vehicle systems for the automation of industrial processes in sectors such as the automotive,
food, cosmetics, pharmaceuticals, and retail. Since August 2021, ASTI Mobile Robotics has been integrated into
ABB Robotics and Ms. Pascual has moved to the position of Global Manager of Robética Mévil Autbnoma until
January 2023. Currently, Ms. Pascual Chairs the ASTI Tecnologia y Talento Foundation and is also Vice President
of Endeavor Spain, and Director of the companies GAM, Marsi Bionics and Viscofan. She also leads her family
office, ALBP Corp, one of whose main objectives is the investment in technology-based projects. In addition, she is
member of the Advisory Board of Telefénica Tech. Ms. Pascual has a degree in Aeronautical Engineering from the
Polytechnic University of Madrid, a Master in Business Administration (MBA) from the College des Ingenieurs de
Paris and an Executive Master in Positive Leadership and Strategy (EXMPLS) from |IE Business School. She also
has several postgraduate qualifications from INSEAD, Stanford, and Harvard Business School.

Mr. Francisco Javier De Paz Mancho serves as a Director of our Board of Directors. From 1984 to 1993 he was the
General Secretary of Juventudes Socialistas and a member of the PSOE Executive. From 1990 to 1993, he was
general secretary of the Spanish Consumers Association (Unién de Consumidores de Espafia, UCE). From 1993 to
1996, he served as General Manager of Internal Trade of the Spanish Ministry of Tourism and Commerce and
Director of Tabacalera, S.A. From 1994 to 1996, he was Chairman of the Observatory of Trading of the Spanish
Ministry of Tourism and Commerce (Observatorio de la Distribucion Comercial del Ministerio de Comercio y
Turismo); from 1996 to 2004, he was Corporate Strategy Manager of the Panrico Donuts Group and Deputy
Chairman. From 1998 to 2004, he served as Director of Mutua de Accidentes de Zaragoza (MAZ). From 2004 to
2006, he was Director of Tunel de Cadi, S.A.C. and from 2003 to 2004, he served as Chairman of the Patronal Pan
y Bolleria Marca (COE). From 2004 to 2007, he was Chairman of the National Company MERCASA. He has also
been a member of the Board of Directors of the Economic and Social Board and its Permanent Commission. From
July 2006 to November 2014, he was a member of the Executive Committee of the Chambers Board (Consejo
Superior de Camaras) and from 2008 to 2012 he was the Chairman of Atento Inversiones y Teleservicios, S.A.U.
From July 2016 to December 2021 he was the Chairman of Telefénica Ingenieria de Seguridad, S.A.U. From April
2018 to April 2021 he was Director of Telefénica Mdviles de Argentina, S.A. From July 2020 to May 2021 he was
Director of Pegaso PCS, S.A. de C.V. (Mexico). From September 2016 to July 2020, he was Director of Telefénica
Moviles México, S.A. Currently, he is Director of Telefénica Brasil, S.A. and of Telefénica Audiovisual Digital, S.L.U.
and member of the Advisory Boards of Telefénica de Espafa, S.A.U. and Telefénica Hispanoamérica. Mr. de Paz
has a diploma in Publicity and Information and undertook studies in Law. He completed a Programa de Alta
Direccién de Empresas from the IESE Business School (Instituto de Estudios Superiores de la Empresa, University
of Navarra).
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Mr. Francisco José Riberas Mera serves as a Director of our Board of Directors. He started his professional career
at the Gonvarri Group, where he became Director of Corporate Development and Chief Executive Officer. Mr.
Riberas has been the Chief Executive Officer of Gestamp Automocién since its incorporation. He promoted the
creation of Gestamp Automocién in 1997 and has been, since then, its Chief Executive Officer, over time shaping
what is now Gestamp Group. Currently, Mr. Riberas serves as a member of the management team of certain
companies of the Gestamp Group and the ACEK Group, including companies belonging to the Groups Gonvarri,
Acek Renewables Energy and Inmobiliaria Acek. He also serves as a member of the Board of Directors of CIE
Automotive and Wallbox, N.V. Furthermore, he is Chairman of SERNAUTO (Asociacién Espafiola de Proveedores
de Automocion) and Foundation Consejo Espafia-China. Mr. Riberas holds a Degree in Law (1987) and in
Economics and Business Administration (1988) from Comillas Pontifical University (ICADE E-3).

Ms. Maria Rotondo Urcola serves as a Director of our Board of Directors. From 1989 to 2006 she was an
Investment Analyst specializing in various sectors, particularly in the telecommunications sector, Macroeconomist,
and Head of Equity Research Europe, at Santander Investment Sociedad de Valores y Bolsa. From 2006 to 2016,
she was Global Head of the Telecommunications, Media and Technology at Santander Global Banking and Markets.
From 2017 to 2020 she was an independent Director of Indra. She has also served on the Advisory Board of
Instituto de Empresa (IE) "Transformation with Purpose”, and of Hotelab. She is currently an independent Director
of CACEIS Bank Spain, SANTANDER CACEIS LATAM HOLDO (since 2019), Libertas 7 and Resister, S.A. She
also participates in the Advisory Board of Top Boards-Headspring (Financial Times - Instituto de Empresa) (since
2017). Ms. Rotondo is currently Co-Director and professor in the Executive Sustainability Programme at the Instituto
de Empresa (IE) SYCA, where she teaches classes on corporate governance and sustainability. Ms. Rotondo
teaches Special Operations Communication in the Master Investor Relations at Bolsas y Mercados (BME). She is
also a lecturer in various forums and continues with her coaching/mentoring activities. Among the awards received,
the most noteworthy are the following: Finalist 2016 TMT Finance EMEA, Best Corporate Finance Deal (OPA
Orange-Jazztel); 1999-2002 Reuters-Institutional Investor, 1 and 3 Ranked European Telecom Analyst; 2001
Footsie- Actualidad Econémica, 1 Ranked analyst all sectors in Spain 2001; 2000 Institutional Investors, First Equity
Research team in Spain by Institutional Investors; and 1997 Vallehermoso Award, 1 Real Estate Analyst (Ladrillo de
Oro 1997). Ms. Rotondo has a degree in Economics and Business Administration from the Complutense University
of Madrid. She has received complementary training at various Institutions such as ESG Academy/Foretica, IESE,
IC-A, EEC, IMD, NYU, Harvard, Boston College, among others.

Ms. Claudia Sender Ramirez serves as a Director of our Board of Directors. She has held various positions in,
among others, the following companies: (i) Director of Ydugs University (formerly known as Estacio) (2019-2021) (ii)
Latam Airlines Group where she served as Vice President, Chief Customer Officer (2017-2019), CEO of LATAM
Brazil (2013-2017), Vice President of LATAM Brazil (2011-2013); (iii) Whirlpool, S.A. where she served as Vice
President of Marketing (2009-2011), Divisional Director of Marketing (2007-2009), and Director of Strategic Planning
(2005-2007); and (iv) Bain & Company Brazil where she served as a consultant specialising in Strategy
(1998-2005). Currently, Ms. Sender is a Director of Holcim Ltd (since 2019); Director of Gerdau, S.A. (since 2019);
Director of Amigos do Bem (since 2017), a Brazilian NGO dedicated to the eradication of poverty in the Northwest of
Brazil; and Director of Embraer, Empresa Brasileira de Aeronautica, S.A. (since 2021). She was previously a
Director of Metalurgica Gerdau, S.A. (2021-2023). In addition, she is member of the Advisory Board of Telefénica
Tech and Telefénica Hispanoamérica. Ms. Sender has a degree in Chemical Engineering from the Polytechnic
School of the University of Sdo Paulo, and an MBA from Harvard Business School in Boston.

Mr. Alejandro Reynal Ample serves as a Director of our Board of Directors. He started his professional career
holding strategic management positions at Telefénica and The Coca-Cola Company. Since 2021 Mr. Reynal has
been the President and CEO of Apple Leisure Group (ALG) and CEO of Atento where he led the strategic transition
from Telefénica to Bain Capital in 2012 and in 2014 he successfully led the company through an IPO at the NYSE.
Currently he is the President and CEO of Four Seasons since 2022. Mr. Reynal earned his bachelor’s and master’s
degrees in Mechanical Engineering from Georgia Institute of Technology and an MBA from the Harvard Business
School.

Ms. Solange Sobral Targa serves as a Director of our Board of Directors. She joined as an active member of CI&T
since its incorporation more than 25 years ago. From 2021 to 2022 she was a member of Diversity and Inclusion
Committee of Banco Itad and Member of the Board of Directors of Locamerica. Since 2021, she has been a
member of several Boards of Directors, being an Independent Director at Unidas, and a Member of the Board of
Directors of Telefénica Brazil, S.A. (VIVO). Currently she is Partner and Executive Vice President of CI&T,
responsible for its expansion in EMEA, taking an active part in the acquisition and integration of Somo, a leading
agency delivering digital products and solutions for major global brands. Ms. Solange Sobral Targa has a bachelor’s
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degree in Computer Science from the Universidade Federal de Sao Carlos and a master’s degree in Computer
Science from the Universidade Estadual de Campinas.

Terms and Conditions of Executive Directors' Contracts

The contracts signed with the Executive Directors are for an indefinite term and include a non-competition clause.
This clause implies that, once the relevant contract has been terminated and during the valid term of the clause (two
years after the termination of the contract for any reason), the Executive Directors may not indirectly or directly
render their services themselves or through others, either on their own behalf or through third parties, to Spanish or
foreign companies that engage in the same or similar business activities as the Telefénica.

Regarding the conditions related to the termination of the contracts, the Executive Chairman, Mr. José Maria
Alvarez-Pallete Lépez, and the Chief Operating Officer (“Consejero Delegado”), Mr. Angel Vila Boix, have the same
terms and conditions as in their previous contracts, which specify agreed severance pay for termination of the
relationship, when appropriate, which may amount to a maximum of four annual payments. Each annual payment
consists of the last fixed remuneration and the arithmetic mean of the sum of the last two amounts of the annual
variable remuneration paid pursuant to the contracts.

The contracts that currently regulate the performance of the Executive Directors’ duties and responsibilities are of a
commercial nature and include clauses that are included in these kinds of contracts in normal practice. These
contracts have been proposed by the Nominating, Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee and
approved by the Board of Directors.

In addition to the prior notice and severance pay conditions explained in the previous point, a summary is provided
below of the main terms and conditions of the Executive Directors’ contracts:

118



Table of Contents

Executive Chairman and Chief Operating Officer

Term Indefinite

There is an obligation to provide prior notice in the event of the contract being
terminated due to a unilateral decision adopted by the Executive Director, being
stipulated that he must notify the unilateral decision in writing with at least three
months’ prior notice, except in cases of force majeure. If this obligation is not
fulfiled, he must pay the company an amount equivalent to the Fixed
Prior notice Remuneration for the period of prior notice not observed.

The contracts prohibit during the term thereof the signing (whether directly or
through intermediaries) of any employment, commercial or civil contracts with
other companies or institutions that engage in activities similar in nature to
Exclusivity those of Telefénica.

The contract states the relationship is compatible with holding representative,
administrative and management posts and other professional positions in other
companies in the Telefénica Group or in any other undertakings unrelated to
the company when expressly notified to the Nominating, Compensation and
Corporate Governance Committee and the Board of Directors.

In addition, it states that the relationship is incompatible, during the term of the
clause (two years after the termination of the contract for any reason) with

Non- directly or indirectly rendering services, on an employed or self-employed
competition basis, by themselves or through third parties, to any Spanish or foreign
clause companies that engage in activities identical or similar to those of Telefénica.

While the relationship remains in force and also after the termination thereof,
there is a duty of confidentiality regarding any information, data and any kinds
of reserved and confidential documents they have knowledge of or to which
Confidentiality [they have had access as a result of holding their positions.

Compliance The contracts include the obligation to abide by the rules and obligations set
with the out within Telefénica’s regulatory system, which are contained, among other
regulatory regulations, in the Board of Directors Regulations and Telefénica’s Internal
system Stock Market Conduct Regulations.

Executive Officers/Management Team

At January 19, 2024, our executive management team consisted of the following individuals:

Name Position Appointed Age

Mr. José Maria Alvarez-Pallete Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief
Lopez Executive Officer 2016 60

Mr. Angel Vila Boix Chief Operating Officer 2017 59

General Secretary, Secretary of the Board of
Mr. Pablo de Carvajal Gonzalez Directors and Director Global of Regulation 2018 60

Ms. Laura Abasolo Garcia de

Baquedano Chief Finance and Control Officer 2017 51
Mr. Eduardo Navarro de

Carvalho Chief Corporate Affairs and Sustainability Officer 2019 61
Mr. Mark Evans Chief Strategy and Development Officer 2021 54
Mr. Juan Francisco Gallego

Arrechea General Manager of Internal Audit 2016 57

Biographies of the Executive Officers and Senior Management

We present below the biographies of our executive officers and senior management who do not also serve on our
Board of Directors.
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Mr. Pablo de Carvajal Gonzalez serves as the General Secretary, Secretary of the Board of Directors of Telefénica
and Director Global of Regulation. He is also a member of the Executive Committee of Telefénica. From 1988 to
1989, he worked as legal counsel for La Unién y el Fénix Espafnol, Compafnia de Seguros y Reaseguros, S.A. In
April 1991, he was appointed state attorney (abogado del Estado) until December 1999, when he became legal
counsel of Jazz Telecom, S.A. In March 2000, he became secretary of the Board and head of the legal department
of Yacom Internet Factory, S.A. Since June 1, 2001, he has been the General Secretary and Secretary of the Board
of Directors of Telefénica de Espafia, S.A. and, since April 2013, also Director of Regulation. He holds a law degree
the Universidad Complutense de Madrid and a Master's degree in European law from the Free University of
Brussels.

Ms. Laura Abasolo Garcia de Baquedano is the Chief Finance and Control Officer of Telefénica, S.A. In addition,
she is Head of Telefénica Hispam, Director of VMED O2 UK Ltd. and Member of the Advisory Board of Hispam and
Telefénica de Espafia, S.A.U. She started her professional career at Goldman Sachs International, in the area of
Investment Banking in London. She joined Telefénica in 1999 as the Management Control Officer at Terra Networks,
S.A., where she was also a member of the Executive Committee. In July 2005, she assumed the role of
Management Control Officer at Telefénica, S.A. and in December 2007, she became Planning, Budgets and
Management Control Officer. In March 2014, she joined the Executive Committee of Telefénica, S.A. and also
assumed the responsibility for the Simplification Office. In 2016, she became responsible for the Consolidation and
Accounting Policies, and Tax divisions of the company. In July 2017, she is appointed Chief Finance and Control
Officer of Telefénica, S.A. In February 2020, she was appointed Chief of the Procurement and Supply Chain division
and the Corporate Development division, holding this last position until September 2021. She holds a Degree in
Economics and Business Administration from Deusto Business School and an MBA in International Businesses by
the Norwegian School of Economics and Business Administration.

Mr. Eduardo Navarro de Carvalho is the Chief Corporate Affairs and Sustainability Officer Telefénica, S.A. He began
his career as an engineer in the Brazilian operation of ARBED, a steel and iron producer. Before joining the
Telefonica Group, he was a consultant at McKinsey & Co., where he led Telecommunications and Infrastructure
projects in Latin America, Europe and Africa. Eduardo joined Telefénica in 1999, as Vice-President of Corporate
Strategy and Regulatory Affairs for Telefonica Brazil. Before assuming his current position, Eduardo was President
and CEO of Telefbnica Brasil | Vivo; before that Eduardo held key global positions in the Telefénica Group, including
Chief Commercial Digital Officer (CCDO) and Director of Strategy and Business Development. He was also Director
of Strategic Planning and Regulatory Affairs for Telefénica Internacional. Eduardo holds a Metallurgical Engineering
degree from the Federal University of Minas Gerais, Brazil.

Mr. Mark Evans is the Chief Strategy and Development Officer of Telefénica, S.A. He joined the Executive
Committee of Teléfonica on August 1, 2016, holding the role of Chief Executive Officer of Telefonica UK (O2)
through to June 1, 2021. A time at which the business grew to become the UK’s largest mobile provider whilst
delivering five years of consecutive profit growth and market leading customer satisfaction. Previously he was Chief
Financial Officer for Telefonica UK, a position he held since January 2012. Prior to joining Telefonica, he held a
number of senior positions within the Vodafone Group including Global Technology CFO, UK CFO and Ireland CFO
and prior to joining Vodafone he held the role of Group Financial Controller for ntl. Mark was Chairman of Tesco
Mobile, the largest Mobile Virtual Network Operator in the UK, a joint venture of Tesco Plc and Telefonica. He
gained a Chartered Management Accounting qualification (ACMA) and was educated at Southampton Solent
University.

Mr. Juan Francisco Gallego Arrechea is the General Manager of Internal Audit of the Telefénica Group since 2016.
He began his career in Arthur Andersen, where he specialized in audit and financial consulting for business groups.
In June 2000, he joined the Telefénica Group working as Director of Consolidation and Accounting Policies and
serving, from 2009, as Chief Accounting Officer. Mr. Gallego is a speaker and a member of work teams in several
master programs, conferences and courses on the matter of audit, consolidation and accounting practices held by
regulators, private institutions and universities. He is currently Director and Chairman of the Audit Committee of the
Institute of Internal Auditors of Spain. He obtained a degree in Economic Science at Universidad Complutense in
Madrid.
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B. Compensation

Please see Note 29.g and Appendix Il to our Consolidated Financial Statements for information on the
compensation paid to members of our Board of Directors and Executive Officers/Senior Management Team during
the year 2023.

Incentive Plans

Please see Note 27 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

C. Board Practices

Please see “—Directors and Senior Management” above.

D. Employees

Please see “Headcount” in Note 26 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

On December 28, 2023, certain subsidiaries of Telefénica Spain and the most representative Trade Union
Organizations reached an agreement to sign the Il Collective Bargaining Agreement, which runs until December 31,
2026 and can be extended for a further year, with the aim of moving towards a more digital, flexible company
prepared for future challenges in a highly competitive context.

In addition, and in parallel, these subsidiaries agreed to execute the Collective Redundancies Plan, which provides
for collective redundancies affecting up to a total of 3,420 employees. Employees turning 56 years or older in 2024
and with a seniority of more than 15 years can adhere to the Collective Redundancies Plan. However, targets have
been established that may result in limits on joining in critical areas or additional redundancies based on business
reasons. These agreements were endorsed on January 3, 2024.

In "Personnel expenses" of the consolidated income statement for the year 2023, a provision of 1,320 million euros
before taxes (see Note 24 to the Consolidated Financial Statements) corresponding to Telefénica Spain has been
recorded as of December 31, 2023, based on the present value of the estimated payment flows resulting from the
Collective Redundancies Plan.

E. Share Ownership

At February 23, 2024, the following members of our Board of Directors beneficially owned directly or indirectly an
aggregate of 17,218,670 shares, representing approximately 0.299% of our capital stock.

Number of

Number of direct indirect voting % of total
Name or corporate name of director voting rights rights voting rights
Mr. José Maria Alvarez-Pallete Lopez 2,313,994 — 0.040
Mr. Isidro Fainé Casas 714,460 — 0.012
Mr. José Maria Abril Pérez 374,529 466,378 0.015
Mr. José Javier Echenique Landiribar 237,125 62,758 0.005
Mr. Angel Vila Boix 697,347 — 0.012
Mr. Alejandro Reynal Ample — — —
Ms. Solange Sobral Targa — — —
Ms. Carmen Garcia de Andrés 869 — —
Ms. Maria Luisa Garcia Blanco — 37,127 0.001
Mr. Peter Loscher 179,453 — 0.003
Ms. Veronica Pascual Boé — — —
Mr. Francisco Javier de Paz Mancho 80,270 — 0.001
Mr. Francisco José Riberas Mera — 12,014,980 0.209
Ms. Maria Rotondo Urcola 39,380 — 0.001

Ms. Claudia Sender Ramirez
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At February 23, 2024, members of our executive management team (excluding members of our Board of Directors
listed above) beneficially owned an aggregate of 1,040,056 of our shares, representing approximately 0.018% of
our capital stock.

None of our directors or executive officers beneficially owned shares representing one percent or more of our share
capital at February 23, 2024.

None of our directors and executive officers held options in respect of shares representing one percent or more of
our share capital at February 23, 2024.

Please see Note 27 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for information on our share-based payment plans.

F. Disclosure of a Registrant's Action to Recover Erroneously Awarded Compensation

Not applicable.

Item 7. Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions

A. Major Shareholders

General

At February 23, 2024, we had 5,750,458,145 shares outstanding, each having a nominal value of 1.00 euro per
share. All outstanding shares have the same rights.

At February 23, 2024, according to information provided to us or to the Spanish National Securities Commission
(Comision Nacional de Mercado de Valores or the “CNMV”), beneficial owners of 3% or more of our voting stock
were as follows:

% of voting rights

Name of Beneficial Owner a:/:rf:ofu\;ce)gr:g ;Ir?;‘:ess thl}?lt;%rlzj:'i‘gi?:ial %v?)ftitr?gt]al
rights
Direct Indirect Direct Indirect
Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria, S.A.") 4.86 0.00 0.00 0.00 4.86
CaixaBank, S.A.? 3.51 0.00 0.00 0.00 3.51
BlackRock, Inc.® 0.00 4.34 0.00 0.16 4.50
Public Investment Fund ¢ 0.00 4.90 0.00 0.00 4.90

™

Based on the information provided by Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria, S.A. (BBVA) for our 2023 Annual Report on Corporate
Governance. According to the aforementioned information provided by BBVA, the percentage of economic rights attributed to
Telefénica, S.A. shares owned by BBVA as of December 31, 2023 would increase by 0.168% without voting rights of the Company's
share capital.

Based on the information provided by CaixaBank, S.A. for our 2023 Annual Report on Corporate Governance.

Based on the information notified by BlackRock, Inc. to the CNMV on March 31, 2020 as updated per the share capital of Telefonica,
S.A. as of December 31, 2023. Based on the Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on October 7, 2022, BlackRock, Inc. beneficially
owned 4.98% of Telefénica, S.A. shares (4.51% of voting rights) updated per the share capital of Telefonica, S.A. as of December 31,
2023.

Based on the information contained in the communication sent by Public Investment Fund to the CNMV on September 8, 2023. This
communication indicates that Green Bridge Investment Company SCS (a company controlled by Saudi Telecom Company which in
turn is controlled by Public Investment Fund): (i) acquired shares representing 4.90% of the share capital of Telefénica, S.A, and (ii)
entered into a contingent sale and purchase agreement for 5.00% of the shares of Telefénica, S.A., the effectiveness of which is
subject, among others, to the approval of the Spanish Council of Ministers. In addition, on September 11, 2023, Morgan Stanley
notified the CNMV that it held 12.178% of voting rights in Telefénica, S.A. (0.007% attributed to shares and 12.171% through financial
instruments) including a financial instrument (put/call option) over the 9.90% of the share capital of Telefonica, S.A., related to the risk
management of the position under the financial transaction on the same shares notify by Public Investment Fund referred to above.
According to the communication sent to the CNMYV, this financial instrument would not imply an incremental or additional participation
in the share capital of Telefonica, S.A.

To the extent that our shares are represented by account in the book-entry form, we do not keep a shareholder
registry and our ownership structure cannot be known precisely. Based on the information available to us there is no
individual or corporation that directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries may exercise any type of
control over us. Nevertheless, we have certain shareholders whose holdings are considered material.

Ownership Limitations
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There are no limitations with respect to the ownership of our assets or share capital except those related to assets
derived from the application of the reciprocity principle. Article 6 of the General Telecommunications Law, or the
GTL, provides for the application of the reciprocity principle under existing international treaties or agreements
signed and ratified by Spain. The Spanish government, upon request, may authorize exceptions to the reciprocity
principle contained in the GTL.

B. Related Party Transactions

During 2021, 2022 and 2023 through the date of this Annual Report, the Directors and senior executives did not
enter into any transaction with Telefonica, S.A. or any Telefénica Group company other than those in the Group’s
normal trading activity and business, except for the transactions with parties related to Directors during fiscal year
2023 disclosed in Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Our Board of Directors’ Regulations grant the Board of Directors the exclusive power to authorize any transactions
with major shareholders or with our directors. Prior to authorizing any such transaction, our Board will receive an
opinion from the Audit and Control Committee addressing the fairness of the transaction to our shareholders and us.
Any of our directors that may have an interest in the proposed transaction must abstain from voting on the proposed
transaction.

Please see Note 11 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.
Related Party Transactions with Significant Shareholders

Two of our major shareholders are financial institutions (see “—Major Shareholders—General” above). We have
entered into related party transactions with both companies within our ordinary course of business, and always on
arm’s-length terms. During 2021, 2022 and 2023 through the date of this Annual Report, the executed transactions
were generally loans, capital markets or derivative transactions provided to us by these financial institutions and
agreements for us to provide telecommunications and broadband services to such institutions.

Please see Note 11 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.
Intra-Group Loans

We are the parent company of the Telefénica Group and operate through our subsidiaries and affiliated companies.
We coordinate group policies, including financial policy and, in some cases, actual financial management is
conducted by us. Most of the transactions we perform with other members of the Telefénica Group relate to
financing transactions, including covering their needs for funds and providing interest rate and exchange rate
hedges.

At December 31, 2023, as recorded in our parent company accounts, companies in the Telefénica Group owed
Telefonica, S.A. a total of 2,057 million euros (1,715 million euros at December 31, 2022), including amounts due
under intra-group loans and dividends distributed and uncollected at December 31, 2023.

In addition, at December 31, 2023, companies of the Telefénica Group and their associates had loaned to us
(Telefonica, S.A.) a total of 40,576 million euros (42,777 million euros at December 31, 2022), of which 10,481
million euros (10,019 million euros at December 31, 2022) was loaned to us by Telefénica Europe, B.V. and 25,515
million euros (26,468 million euros at December 31, 2022) was loaned to us by Telefonica Emisiones S.A.U., our
financing subsidiaries devoted to raising funds in the capital markets, 4,580 million euros (6,290 million euros at
December 31, 2022) was loaned to us by Telfisa Global, B.V., our financing subsidiary charged with centralizing and
managing the cash pooling of our subsidiaries in Latin America, Europe and the United States, and no amount was
loaned to us by other companies at December 31, 2023 and 2022.

C. Interests of Experts and Counsel
Not applicable.
Item 8. Financial Information

A. Consolidated Financial Statements

Please see Item 18.
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(a) Legal Proceedings

Telefénica and its Group companies are party to several legal proceedings which are currently in progress in the
courts of law and the arbitration bodies of the various countries in which we are present.

Based on the advice of our legal counsel we believe it is reasonable to assume that these legal proceedings will not
materially affect the financial condition or solvency of the Telefénica Group.

The contingencies arising from the litigation and commitments described below were evaluated. The provisions
recorded in respect of the commitments taken as a whole are not material.

The following unresolved legal proceedings or those underway in 2023 are highlighted (see “—(b) Tax
Proceedings” below and Note 25 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for information on significant tax-related
cases).

Appeal against the Decision by Agencia Nacional de Telecomunicag¢ées (“ANATEL”) regarding the
inclusion of interconnection and network usage revenues in the Fundo de Universalizagdo de Servigos de
Telecomunicagodes (“FUST”)

Vivo Group operators (currently Telefénica Brasil, S.A.), together with other cellular operators, appealed ANATEL’s
Decision of December 16, 2005, to include interconnection and network usage revenues and expenses in the
calculation of the amounts payable into the FUST (Fundo de Universalizagdo de Servigos de Telecomunicagdes) —a
fund which pays for the obligations to provide Universal Service— with retroactive application from 2000. On March
13, 2006, Brasilia Federal Regional Court no. 1 granted a precautionary measure which stopped the application of
ANATEL’s decision. On March 6, 2007, a ruling in favor of the wireless operators was issued, stating that it was not
appropriate to include the revenues received by transfer from other operators in the taxable income for the FUST’s
calculation and rejecting the retroactive application of ANATEL's decision. On January 26, 2016, ANATEL filed an
appeal to overturn this Decision with Brasilia Federal Regional Court no. 1, which was also dismissed. On May 10,
2017 ANATEL appealed to the higher courts on the merits of the case.

At the same time, Telefénica Brasil and Telefénica Empresas, S.A., together with other wireline operators through
ABRAFIX (Associagdo Brasileira de Concessionarias de Servigo Telefonico Fixo Comutado) appealed ANATEL's
Decision of December 16, 2005, also obtaining the precautionary measures requested. On June 21, 2007, Brasilia
Federal Regional Court no. 1 ruled that it was not appropriate to include the interconnection and network usage
revenues in the FUST’s taxable income and rejected the retroactive application of ANATEL’s Decision. ANATEL filed
an appeal to overturn this ruling on April 29, 2008, before Brasilia Federal Regional Court no. 1, which was
dismissed on May 10, 2016. ANATEL filed an appeal against this dismissal.

The fixed operators filed an appeal to clarify that revenues obtained through interconnection and dedicated line
operation should not be included in the calculation of the amounts payable to the FUST. In addition, the court was
also requested to rule on two grounds which had not been analyzed in the initial Decision: (i) that the FUST has
become obsolete, among other reasons, by the advance of mobile telephony; and (ii) that amounts collected are not
applied to the purpose for which the FUST was created, since only a very low percentage of the revenues collected
by the FUST is used to finance fixed telephony. Although the petition for clarification was dismissed on August 23,
2016, the court noted that the FUST should not be funded with revenues from interconnection and dedicated line
operation. ABRAFIX appealed to the higher courts on these two elements that had not been analyzed. ANATEL
appealed all the holdings of the ruling to the higher courts.

The amount of the claim is quantified at 1% of the interconnection revenues.

Decision by the High Court regarding the acquisition by Telefénica of shares in Cesky Telecom by way of a
tender offer

Venten Management Limited ("Venten") and Lexburg Enterprises Limited ("Lexburg") were non-controlling
shareholders of Cesky Telecom. In September 2005, both companies sold their shares to Telefénica in a mandatory
tender offer. Subsequently, Venten and Lexburg, in 2006 and 2009, respectively, filed actions against Telefonica
claiming a higher price than the price for which they sold their shares in the mandatory tender offer.

On August 5, 2016, the hearing before the High Court in Prague took place in order to decide the appeal against the
second decision of the Municipal Court, which had been favorable to Telefénica's position (as was also the case
with the first decision of the Municipal Court). At the end of the hearing, the High Court announced the second
appellate decision by which it reversed the second decision of the Municipal Court and ordered Telefénica to pay
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644 million Czech korunas (approximately 23 million euros) to Venten and 227 million Czech korunas
(approximately 8 million euros) to Lexburg, in each case plus interest.

On December 28, 2016, the decision was notified to Telefénica. Telefénica filed an extraordinary appeal, requesting
the suspension of the effects of the decision.

In March 2017, Telefonica was notified of the decision of the Supreme Court, which ordered the suspension of the
effects of the unfavorable decision to Telefénica issued by the High Court.

Venten and Lexburg filed with the Supreme Court a motion to partially abolish the suspension of enforceability of the
Decision of the High Court in Prague. On January 17, 2018, Telefonica filed its response seeking dismissal of such
motion for lack of legal basis.

On February 14, 2019, notification was given to Telefénica of the resolution of the Supreme Court which, based on
the extraordinary appeal filed by Telefonica, abolished the decision of the High Court in Prague dated August 5,
2016 and remanded the case back to the High Court.

In December 2021, the High Court of Prague confirmed its appointment of an expert in order to produce a new
expert report to assess the reliability of market-based price criteria used in the mandatory tender offer and further
technical issues discussed in this litigation, including a new discounted cashflow valuation of the shares of Cesky
Telecom in 2005.

After receiving the expert report, Telefénica challenged its findings on April 30, 2023. Hearings with respect to this
challenge were held in the High Court of Prague in November and December 2023, and an additional hearing is
expected to be held in the first quarter of 2024.

Appeal against the resolution of ANATEL to sanction Telefénica Brasil for breaches of the Fixed Telephony
Regulation

In May 2018, Telefénica filed a judicial action for annulment against a resolution issued by ANATEL (the National
Telecommunications Agency of Brazil) in March 2018 concluding the administrative process for determination of
non-compliance with obligations (Processo Administrativo para Apuracdo de Descumprimento de Obrigagdes or
"PADQ") investigating alleged infractions of the Fixed Telephony Regulation by Telefénica Brasil.

This PADO investigation had been suspended during the negotiations of the conduct adjustment term (Termo de
Ajustamento de Conduta or "TAC") between Telefonica and ANATEL relating to this and certain other PADO
investigations. Since the negotiations concluded without agreement, the suspended PADO sanctioning procedures
were reactivated and finalized.

In its resolution of March 2018, ANATEL considered that Telefonica Brasil committed several infractions, specifically
those related to the inadequate notice of suspension of services to defaulting users, the terms of reactivation of
services after payment of outstanding amounts by defaulting users and the disagreement with the terms of refunds
claimed by users of the services.

The fine imposed by ANATEL and appealed by Telefénica Brasil is approximately 211 million Brazilian reals
(approximately 39 million euros), which amounted to approximately 623 million Brazilian reals after currency value
updates and accrued interest as of December 31, 2023 (approximately 116 million euros).

Telefonica Brasil has appealed the fine imposed by ANATEL based, fundamentally, on the following arguments: (i)
ANATEL should have considered a smaller universe of users to determine the fine and (ii) the calculation of the fine
is disproportionate and based on insufficient grounds.

Telefonica Brasil has not yet paid the fine, although Telefénica Brasil has guaranteed its payment through a
guarantee insurance submitted to the court.

As of the date of this Annual Report, there has been no conciliation and the proceeding is following its normal
course.

ICSID Arbitration Telefénica, S.A. vs. Republic of Colombia

In the local arbitration brought by Colombia against Colombia Telecomunicaciones (“ColTel”), on July 25, 2017, the
local arbitration tribunal ordered ColTel to pay 470 million euros as economic compensation for the reversion of
assets related to voice services in relation to the concession granted between 1994 and 2013.
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On August 29, 2017, ColTel’s share capital was increased in order to make the payment ordered by the local arbitral
award; Telefonica, S.A. contributed and disbursed an amount equivalent to 67.5% of the award’s amount (317
million euros) and the Colombian Government contributed an amount equivalent to the remaining 32.5% (153
million euros).

On February 1, 2018, Telefonica, S.A. filed a Request for Arbitration against Colombia at the International Centre for
Settlement of Investment Disputes ("ICSID"), which was formally registered on February 20, 2018.

The ICSID Court was constituted on February 26, 2019, with Mr. José Emilio Nunes Pinto as President, Mr. Horacio
A. Grigera Nadn appointed by Telefénica, S.A., and Mr. Yves Derains appointed by Colombia.

Colombia filed Preliminary Objections on Jurisdiction on August 5, 2019. Telefénica, S.A. responded to Colombia’s
objections in its Claimant's Memorial on September 23, 2019, in which it also requested that Colombia pay
compensation for damages caused to Telefonica, S.A.

On October 23, 2019, Colombia submitted its Complementary Objections on Jurisdiction as well as a request for
Bifurcation, to which Telefénica, S.A. responded on November 29, 2019.

On January 24, 2020, the Court dismissed the request for Bifurcation presented by Colombia, ordering the
continuation of the proceeding. A decision on the merits of Telefénica, S.A.’s claim is pending.

On July 3, 2020, Colombia filed its reply to the claim filed by Telefénica before the ICSID.
On November 2, 2020, Telefonica presented its response to Colombia's reply.

After the hearing held in April 2021, on July 27, 2021 the hearing of closing arguments was held, and the parties are
awaiting the issuance of the arbitration award.

Telefénica's lawsuit against Millicom International Cellular for default in the sale of Telefénica de Costa
Rica

Telefonica, S.A. (Telefénica) and Millicom International Cellular, S.A. (Millicom) reached an agreement on February
20, 2019 for the purchase and sale of the entire capital stock of Telefénica de Costa Rica TC, S.A.

In March 2020, Telefénica informed Millicom that, once the pertinent regulatory authorizations had been obtained
and all the other conditions established in the aforementioned agreement for the execution of the sale had been
completed, the execution of the contract and the closing of the transaction should be in April 2020.

Millicom expressed its refusal to proceed with the closing, arguing that the competent Costa Rican administrative
authorities had not issued the appropriate authorization.

On May 25, 2020, Telefénica filed a lawsuit against Millicom before the New York Supreme Court, considering that
Millicom had breached the terms and conditions established in the sale contract, demanding compliance with the
provisions of the aforementioned agreement, and compensation for all damages that this unjustified breach could
cause to Telefonica.

On June 29, 2020, Millicom filed a Motion to Dismiss, to which Telefénica replied on July 8, 2020.

On August 3, 2020, Telefénica submitted an amendment to the lawsuit, removing the requirement to comply with the
provisions of the sale and purchase contract and requesting only compensation for all damages that the unjustified
breach of said agreement could cause to Telefénica.

On January 5, 2021, the Motion to Dismiss filed by Millicom in June 2020 was dismissed by the New York Supreme
Court.

On February 24, 2023, both parties filed a "motion for summary judgment" once the discovery period had ended.

On February 13, 2024, the New York Supreme Court issued a decision granting Telefonica’s motion for partial
summary judgment, concluding that Telefénica is entitled to compensatory damages and prejudgment interest
(approximately 140 million U.S. dollars) from Millicom. The decision remains subject to appeal.

ICSID Arbitration Telefénica, S.A. vs. Republic of Peru
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On February 5, 2021, Telefonica filed a request for arbitration against the Republic of Peru at the ICSID, which was
formally registered on March 12, 2021.

Telefonica bases its claims on the Agreement for the Promotion and Reciprocal Protection of Investments between
the Kingdom of Spain and the Republic of Peru ("APRPI") signed on November 17, 1994. Telefonica argues that the
Peruvian tax administration (called Superintendencia Nacional de Aduanas y de Administracién Tributaria, known as
"SUNAT") and other state bodies have failed to comply with the obligations established in the APRPI, including by
adopting arbitrary and discriminatory actions.

It is requested that the defendant be ordered to fully compensate Telefénica for all damages suffered. Once the
Tribunal was constituted, on February 9, 2023, Telefénica filed a request for urgent injunctive relief together with a
request for injunctive relief, requesting the suspension of the administrative litigation (accién contencioso-
administrativa or ACA) related to the income tax for the years 1998, 2000 and 2001, as well as the extension of the
deadline for submission by Telefénica of the memorial or claim. Following response of Peru, on February 16, 2023,
the Tribunal ruled to dismiss Telefonica's request for urgent injunctive relief, to establish the procedural calendar to
process the request for injunctive relief and to grant Telefonica two additional weeks to file the memorial or claim.

On March 2, 2023, Telefénica filed a memorial on the merits. On that date, the Republic of Peru filed observations
on the claimant's request for provisional measures submitted by Telefénica on February 9, 2023.

On March 24, 2023, the Tribunal held a hearing on the claimant's request for provisional measures.

On May 11, 2023, the Tribunal issued Procedural Order No. 5 concerning the defendant's request to address the
objections to jurisdiction as a preliminary question. As a result, the objections to jurisdiction were joined to the merits
of the dispute.

On September 18, 2023, the defendant filed a counter-memorial on the merits and a memorial on jurisdiction.
On December 22, 2023, the Tribunal issued Procedural Order No. 6 concerning production of documents.

Appeal against the ANATEL resolution on the calculation of amounts for the renewal of radio frequencies in
Brazil associated with the provision of the personal mobile services (filed in 2013)

In 2013, Telefénica Brasil filed a lawsuit against the resolution of ANATEL which sets forth the calculation of the
amount to be paid by Telefénica Brasil for the renewal of radio frequencies associated with the provision of personal
mobile services (which has been granted to Telefénica Brasil for a period of fifteen years).

According to ANATEL the renewals, which must be carried out every two years, should be accompanied by a
payment equivalent to 2% of all income derived from the provision of personal mobile services, while Telefonica
Brasil believes that the calculation must be made with respect to the income derived from voice services only, which
would exclude data services and interconnection revenues.

In February 2020, Telefénica Brasil filed an appeal before the Regional Federal Court of Brasilia after obtaining an
unfavorable ruling in the Court of First Instance, which considered that the criteria defended by ANATEL was the
one to be followed.

As of December 31, 2023, the amount under litigation was 840 million Brazilian reais (157 million euros based on
the exchange rate of such date), resulting from the method of calculation of ANATEL that has been appealed.

Appeal against the ANATEL resolution on the calculation of amounts for the renewal of radio frequencies in
Brazil associated with the provision of the personal mobile services (filed in 2015)

In 2015, Telefonica Brasil filed a lawsuit against the resolution of ANATEL which sets forth the calculation of the
amount to be paid by Telefénica Brasil for the renewal of radio frequencies associated with the provision of personal
mobile services (which has been granted to Telefénica Brasil for a period of fifteen years).

According to ANATEL the renewals, which must be carried out every two years, should be accompanied by a
payment equivalent to 2% of all income derived from the provision of personal mobile services, while Telefonica
Brasil believes that the calculation must be made with respect to the income derived from voice services only, which
would exclude data services and interconnection revenues.
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In August 2016, Telefénica Brasil filed an appeal before the Regional Federal Court of Brasilia after obtaining an
unfavorable ruling in the Court of First Instance, which considered that the criteria defended by ANATEL was the
one to be followed. The parties are currently waiting for a judgment on the appeal.

As of December 31, 2023, the amount under litigation was 294 million Brazilian reais (55 million euros based on the
exchange rate of such date), resulting from the method of calculation of ANATEL that has been appealed.

UK High Court claim by Phones 4 U Limited against various mobile network operators and other
companies, among others, Telefonica, S.A., Telefonica O2 Holdings Limited and Telefonica UK Limited

In late 2018, Phones 4U Limited (in administration) (“P4U”) commenced a claim in the English High Court in London
against various mobile network operators: Everything Everywhere, Deutsche Telekom, Orange, Vodafone,
Telefénica, S.A., Telefonica O2 Holdings Limited and Telefonica UK Limited (together the “Defendants”).

P4U carried on a business of selling mobile phones and connections to the public, such connections being supplied
by mobile network operators including the Defendants. In 2013 and 2014, the Defendants declined to extend and /
or terminated their contracts to supply connections to P4U.

P4U went into administration in September 2014.

P4U alleges that the Defendants ceased to supply connections because they had colluded between themselves in
contravention of the United Kingdom and the European Union competition laws and asserts that it has a basis to
claim damages for breach of competition law by all the Defendants. The Defendants deny all P4U’s allegations.

The claim commenced on December 18, 2018 by P4U. The Defendants filed their initial Defences in the course of
April and May 2019, with P4U filing replies on October 18, 2019. The first case management conference took place
on March 2, 2020.

The trial was held between May and July 2022. On November 10, 2023 the court issued a judgment, concluding
that none of the Defendants was in breach of either UK or EU competition law. This judgment is subject to appeal.
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(b) Tax Proceedings
Inspections in the tax group in Spain

In July 2019, new inspection procedures were initiated for several of the companies belonging to Tax Group 24/90,
of which Telefénica, S.A. is the dominant company. The periods audited for Corporate Income Tax were the years
2014 to 2017.

The closing of the inspection procedure took place in January 2022, with the Settlement Agreement being notified,
and which the Company challenged in an economic-administrative procedure at the Central Economic-
Administrative Court due to the adjustments with which it did not agree, mainly related to the "juros sobre el capital
propio". In December 2022, the Company received a rejection resolution from the Central Economic-Administrative
Court, which was challenged on the National High Court in February 2023. The final decision is still pending.

In relation to the 2008-2011 inspection procedure, in July 2022 Telefénica was notified of the Supreme Court's
decision rejecting the appeal for cassation filed by the State Attorney's Office against the judgment of the Audiencia
Nacional (National High Court) of October 29, 2021. This confirmed the criteria used by Telefénica, S.A. for the use
of tax losses carryforward and deductions in relation to the liquidation agreements derived from the Corporate
Income Tax inspection of those years.

On October 24, 2022, an Agreement for the Execution of the Judgment of the Audiencia Nacional (National High
Court) was issued, which orders the refund to Telefénica of an amount of 790 million euros for taxes paid in those
years, as well as an amount of 526 million euros as delayed interest. Said amounts were collected on October 28,
2022.

In July 2023 new inspection procedures were initiated with respect to several of the companies belonging to Tax
Group 24/90, of which Telefénica, S.A. is the dominant company. The taxes and periods being audited were as
follows: corporate income tax for the years 2018 to 2021 and value added tax for the period from May to December
2019 as well as for the years 2020 and 2021.

As a result of the ongoing inspection process and the years still to be inspected, at the end of the financial year
2023, it is not estimated that there will be a need to recognize additional liabilities in the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Constitutional Court Ruling on Royal Decree Law 3/2016

On January 18, 2024, the plenary session of the Constitutional Court of Spain ("TC") unanimously declared
unconstitutional certain measures introduced by Royal Decree-Law 3/2016 of December 2 on corporate income tax.
Specifically, the TC declared unconstitutional the setting of stricter ceilings for the offsetting of negative tax bases,
the introduction ex novo of a limit on the application of double taxation deductions, and the obligation to
automatically integrate into the tax base of the tax the impairment of holdings that had been deducted in previous
years. This ruling, following the trend of previous TC rulings, points out that, in the interest of legal certainty, the
effects of the declaration of unconstitutionality are limited.

However, because Telefonica has submitted letters of request for rectification for the financial years 2016 onwards
of both the consolidated self-assessment tax returns (Form 220) of the Tax Group 24/90 and the individual self-
assessment tax returns (Form 200) of the Group companies affected by the measures, Telefénica would not be
affected by any such limitation on the scope of the declaration of unconstitutionality

Although the corporate income tax returns of the Tax Group 24/90 in Spain for the years 2016 to 2022 will be
affected by the aforementioned ruling, it is not possible at this time to determine with any degree of certainty what
the specific effects on Telefonica's tax position will be or, given the status of the proceedings in which Telefénica's
claims are being resolved, when the administrative rulings recognizing such effects will be issued. This is because
there are various factors of uncertainty which make it impossible to determine, from a quantitative point of view,
these effects, or to predict when they may be determined or when they will materialize.

As a result of the implementation of this TC ruling, as well as that of the General Court of the Court of Justice of the
European Union regarding the amortization of goodwill, Telefénica could again have available (in addition to the 334
million euros, described in Note 25 to the Consolidated Financial Statements), totally or partially, the following tax
credits for tax loss carryforwards and deductions used in the settlements of those years; for tax loss carryforwards
for the years: 2002, 247 million euros, 2004, 21 million euros, 2011, 615 million euros and 2015, 1,503 million euros;
and, for deductions: for double taxation from 2010 to 2020, 952 million euros, for reinvestment from 2003 and from
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2011 to 2013, 23 million euros, for investments from 2003 to 2013, 476 million euros, for donations from 2009 to
2018, 260 million euros, for fixed assets in the Canary Islands from 2010 to 2020, 101 million euros and for reversal
of temporary measures from 2015 to 2020, 29 million euros.

Telefénica Brazil
State taxes

The Telefénica Group is involved in a range of tax litigation in Brazil over direct and indirect taxes (including those
relating to GVT). This includes a number of appeals relating to ICMS tax (a tax similar to VAT, levied on
telecommunications services). There is a dispute with the Brazilian tax authorities over which services should be
subject to this tax.

To date the most significant issues have focused on the requirement to collect ICMS on penalties charged to
customers for non-compliance, and complementary or additional services to the basic telecommunications services
such as value-added services, modem rental, and the application of this tax on the basic fee (assinatura basica). In
the case of the latter (assinatura basica), the Supreme Court has established that the tax is only payable in respect
of assessments for periods after October 2016.

All related procedures are being contested in all instances (administrative and court proceedings). The aggregate
amount of the relevant proceedings, updated to take into account interest, fines and other items, is approximately
23,130 million Brazilian reais as of December 31, 2023 (approximately 4,323 million euros at the exchange rate on
that date, see Note 24 to the Consolidated Financial Statements), 21,712 million Brazilian reais as of December 31,
2022 (approximately 3,898 million euros at the exchange rate on that date). Telefonica Brazil has obtained
independent expert reports supporting its position, i.e. that the aforesaid services are not subject to ICMS.

Federal taxes

In addition, there are possible contingencies in relation to the federal income taxes for the total amount of 30,379
million Brazilian reais as of December 31, 2023 (approximately 5,678 million euros at the exchange rate on that
date), 29,778 million Brazilian reais as of December 31, 2022 (approximately 5,346 million euros at the exchange
rate on that date), mainly related to the tax amortization in Brazil in the years 2011 to 2020 of the goodwill originated
in the acquisitions of Vivo and GVT and their subsequent merger with Telefénica Brasil. These proceedings are at
the administrative and judicial stage and no provisions have been made since the potential risk associated with
them has been classified as "not probable" and Telefénica Brazil has received independent expert reports that
support this view.

There are other probable contingencies in relation to the federal income taxes for the total amount of 198 million
Brazilian reais as of December 31, 2023 (approximately 37 million euros at the exchange rate as of December 31,
2023), 104 million Brazilian reais as of December 31, 2022 (approximately 19 million euros at the exchange rate on
that date). The Company has recognized a provision for this amount.

Telefonica del Peru

In relation to tax claims in Peru, it should be noted that Telefénica del Peru is party to numerous legal proceedings
(contentious administrative proceedings (ACAs) and appeals (amparos)) for tax matters relating to corporate
income tax and VAT, mainly for the years 1998 to 2005, the most relevant being those corresponding to the years
1998 to 2001 (relating to corporate income tax, payments in advance, credit balances, associated VAT, interest and
applicable penalties).

The evolution of the appeals of the different cases from the period 1998 to 2001 has been uneven and complex
over the last few years, but we can highlight the second instance Judgment of 2015, which was partially upheld; the
Supreme Court Judgments of 2019; the January 2020 Supreme Court Ruling, annulling the previous rulings of 2000
and 2001 in relation to the provision for doubtful debts; the Constitutional Court Rulings in 2021 in relation to the
settlement of late payment interest, partially upheld; and the Supreme Court Rulings of 2021 and 2022 on the credit
balance from 1999 used in 2000.

On January 17 and 18, 2023, Telefénica del Peru received notifications of the judgments handed down by the
Supreme Court that resolved, in the last instance and unfavorably to the Company (references to the “Company” in
this section refer to Telefénica del Peru), the contentious administrative proceedings relating to income tax for the
years 1998, 2000 and 2001.
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The rulings issued by the Fifth Chamber of Constitutional and Social Transitory of the Supreme Court do not contain
any payment mandate to the Company, as the rulings issued in the administrative contentious proceedings were
resolved on concepts derived from a pronouncement of the Tax Court. At the end of these proceedings - and any
others that may be applicable - the Tax Administration, through an administrative act, will determine the amount of
the corresponding payment obligations.

Because there were certain adjustments on which the rulings had been definitive since 2015 (positively for the
Company in relation to the deductibility of the rental of public spaces and negatively in the case of the deductibility
of certain financial charges), the Company previously recorded a provision with an impact on income tax, the
amount of which has been updated periodically and constantly depending on the evolution of the various
proceedings and the applicable interest rates.

In addition to the above, in June 2022 a new ruling was received from the Tax Court in relation to the corporate
income tax of Telefénica Méviles del Peru for 2000. This ruling was favorable to the Company with respect to the
recognition of the tax value of certain network assets and unfavorable with respect to the deductibility of the
exchange rate tax.

In relation to all these proceedings, the Group considers that the initial amount claimed by the Peruvian government
has been exponentially increased by the accrual of interest generated by the delay, not attributable to the Company,
of almost 20 years in processing the lawsuits, meaning that almost 80% of the total amount claimed is due to
interest and fines. And all this, despite the fact that in 2021 the Constitutional Court itself ruled in favor of Telefonica
del Peru, recognizing that it had been charged interest for delays not attributable to the company.

For this and other reasons, the Group has been in international arbitration before ICSID since March 2021 for
various conducts of the Peruvian State in violation of the Agreement for the Promotion and Reciprocal Protection of
Investments between Spain and Peru (see Note 29.a)

The Company has recorded the necessary provisions for the contingencies considered probable, leaving as
possible contingencies an amount of 587 million Peruvian soles as of December 31, 2023, or approximately 143
million euros at the exchange rate on that date (560 million Peruvian soles as of December 31, 2022, or
approximately 138 million euros at the exchange rate on that date).

The total provision for tax litigation in Peru, following the payments made to date, as well as the use of credit
balance and the restatement of interest, have led to the adjustment of the provision at December 31, 2023, which
amounts to 3,117 million Peruvian soles, or approximately 761 million euros at the exchange rate as of December
31, 2023 (3,849 million Peruvian soles as of December 31, 2022 or approximately 945 million euros at the
exchange rate of the date).

Tax deductibility of financial goodwill in Spain

The tax regulations added article 12.5 to the Spanish Corporate Income Tax Law, which came into force on January
1, 2002. The article regulated the deductibility of tax amortization of financial goodwill (fondo de comercio) arising
from the acquisition of non-Spanish companies, which could be amortized over 20 years at 5% per annum.

Following the entry into force of the Laws 9/2011 of August 19, 2011 and 16/2013 of October 29, 2013, the amount
of goodwill amortization deductible for tax purposes under article 12.5 for the years 2011 to 2015 was reduced from
5% to 1%. The effect is temporary because the 4% not amortized for five years (20% in total) will be recovered
extending the deduction period from the initial 20 years to 25 years.

The Telefénica Group, under this regulation, has been amortizing for tax purposes the financial goodwill from its
investments, both direct and indirect, in O2, BellSouth and ColTel (prior to December 21, 2007) and Vivo (acquired
in 2010). The positive accumulated effect of the corresponding settlements of corporate income tax from 2004 to the
closing of December 31, 2023, was 2,206 million euros.

In relation to this tax incentive, the European Commission (EC) has in recent years commenced three proceedings
against the Spanish State, as it deems that this tax benefit could constitute an example of state aid. Although the
EC itself acknowledged the validity of the tax incentive for those investors that invested in European companies for
operations carried out before December 21, 2007 in the first decision, and before May 21, 2011 for investments in
other countries in the second decision, in its third decision issued on October 15, 2014 it calls into question the
applicability of the principle of legitimate expectations in the application of the incentive for indirect acquisitions,
whatever the date of acquisition may have been.
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There are also doubts in the Spanish Courts about the classification of the incentive as a deduction and its
maintenance in the case of subsequent transmission.

On October 6, 2021, the Court of Justice of the European Union concluded that the European Commission correctly
classified the Spanish tax depreciation scheme of the Fondo de Comercio as State aid incompatible with the
internal market for the First and Second Decisions.

With regard to the recognition of legitimate expectations for the First and Second decisions, the Court of Justice of
the European Union confirms its applicability.

The proceedings initiated on the Third Decision, suspended until the resolution of the 1st and the 2nd Decisions
resumed on October 19, 2021. The General Court of the Court of Justice of the European Union issued a ruling on
September 27, 2023 annulling the Commission's Third Decision (EU) 2015/314, effective as of the day of its
publication. However, the proceedings have not been finally concluded as the European Commission appealed the
ruling to the Court of Justice of the European Union on December 14, 2023.

As a result of the execution of this Sentence, as well as that of the Constitutional Court on Royal Decree Law
3/2016, Telefénica could once again have available (in addition to the 334 million euros in accordance with the
opinion of the Company and its advisors as to the likely outcome of the aforementioned appeal), totally or partially,
the tax credits for negative tax bases and deductions described under “—Constitutional Court Ruling on Royal
Decree Law 3/2016” above.

The "Tax and Customs Control Unit of the Spanish Tax Authority" (Dependencia de Control Tributario y Aduanero de
la Agencia Tributaria), in compliance with the obligation set out in the EC Decision (EU) 2015/314, recovered in
March 2019, February 2021 and July 2023, the amounts that had been deducted in connection with the amortization
of goodwill for the indirect acquisition of non-resident companies from 2005 to 2015, 2016 to 2018 and 2019 to
2020, respectively. The amount paid by Telefonica after offsetting outstanding tax credits (tax losses carryforward
and deductions) amounted to 13.4 million euros.

Notwithstanding the fact that Telefénica understands that the principle of legitimate expectations in relation to this
tax incentive applies, in relation to tax-amortized goodwill through the purchase of some companies for which the
applicability of the legitimate expectations principle is questioned, mainly Vivo, the Group applied in 2023 the
provision for the recovered part, 49 million euros, and has decided to continue provisioning the amount of the
goodwill amortized for tax purposes, and not recovered by the Administration which amounted to 419 million euros
as of December 31, 2023 (406 million euros as of December 31, 2022).

Years open for inspection in the Group companies

The years open for review by the tax inspection authorities for the main applicable taxes vary from one consolidated
company to another, based on each country’s tax legislation, taking into account their respective statute of
limitations periods. In Spain, years from 2018 onwards are open to inspection.

In the other countries in which the Telefénica Group has a significant presence, the years open for inspection by the
relevant authorities are generally as follows:

* The last twelve years in Germany.
* The last nine years in the United Kingdom.
* The last seven years in Argentina.
* The last six years in Venezuela and Colombia
* The last five years in Brazil, Mexico, Uruguay and the Netherlands.
* The last four years in Peru and Ecuador.
* The last three years in Chile and the United States.
The tax inspection of the open years is not expected to give rise to additional material liabilities for the Group.

(c) Other Proceedings
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The Group is currently cooperating with governmental authorities (and, where appropriate, conducting the relevant
internal investigations) regarding requests for information potentially related, directly or indirectly, to possible
violations of applicable anti-corruption laws. Telefonica believes that, considering the size of the Group, any
potential penalty as a result of matters relating to those specific information requests would not materially affect the
Group's financial condition.

Dividend information and shareholders’ return
Dividend background

The table below sets forth the annual dividends declared per share and the year to which such dividends
correspond. Generally, the dividend for a given year is paid in two tranches, one in the second half of the relevant
year and the other during the first half of the following year.

Year ended December 31, (euro)

2023 (1) 0.30
2022 (2) 0.30
2021 (3) 0.30
2020 (4) 0.40
2019 (5) 0.40

™ Company’s shareholder remuneration in 2023 consists of paying a dividend of up to 0.30 euros per share. A cash dividend of 0.15 euros was
paid on December 14, 2023. The second tranche of the dividend is expected to be paid in the second quarter of 2024.

@ Company’s shareholder remuneration in 2022 consists of paying a dividend of up to 0.30 euros per share. A cash dividend of 0.15 euros was
paid on December 15, 2022. The second tranche of the dividend of 0.15 euros per share was paid in cash on June 15, 2023.

®) Company’s shareholder remuneration in 2021 consists of paying a dividend of up to 0.30 euros per share in scrip dividend: a scrip dividend of
up to 0.15 euros was paid in December 2021, and a scrip dividend of up to 0.15 euros was paid in June 2022. A scrip dividend consists of
the assignment of free allotment rights with an irrevocable purchase commitment by the Company, and a subsequent capital increase by
means of the issue of new shares to fulfill said allotments.

“ Company’s shareholder remuneration in 2020 consists of paying a dividend of up to 0.40 euros per share in scrip dividend: a scrip dividend of
up to 0.20 euros was paid in December 2020, and a scrip dividend of up to 0.20 euros was paid in June 2021. A scrip dividend consists of
the assignment of free allotment rights with an irrevocable purchase commitment by the Company, and a subsequent capital increase by
means of the issue of new shares to fulfill said allotments.

® Company’s shareholder remuneration in 2019 consists of paying a dividend of up to 0.40 euros per share. A cash dividend of 0.20 euros was
paid on December 19, 2019. A scrip dividend of up to 0.20 euros was paid in June 2020, consisting of the assignment of free allotment
rights with an irrevocable purchase commitment by the Company, and a subsequent capital increase by means of the issue of new shares
to fulfill said allotments.

Payments of any future dividends will be dependent on the Group’s earnings, cash generation, solvency, liquidity
and flexibility to make strategic investments, all of which may be influenced by a variety of factors. See “Cautionary
Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements”.

Treasury shares and share buybacks

We have performed, and may consider performing, transactions with treasury shares and financial instruments or
contracts that confer the right to acquire treasury shares or assets whose underlying is Company’s shares.

Treasury share transactions will always be for legitimate purposes, including:

» undertaking treasury share acquisitions approved by the Board of Directors or pursuant to General
Shareholders’ Meeting resolutions;

* honoring previous legitimate commitments assumed;

» covering requirements for shares to allocate to employees and management under stock option
plans; and

« other purposes in accordance with prevailing legislation. In the past, treasury shares purchased on
the stock market were exchanged for other shares or securities (as in the case of preferred capital
securities), swapped for stakes in other companies (e.g. Telco, S.p.A., or Telefénica Brasil in 2015) or
acquired to reduce the number of shares in circulation (by redeeming the shares acquired), thereby
improving earnings per share.
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For a description of transactions on treasury shares, see Note 17 (g) to our Consolidated Financial Statements and
“ltem 16E. Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchaser”.

B. Significant Changes

No significant change has occurred since the date of the Consolidated Financial Statements other than those
mentioned in this Annual Report or our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Item 9. The Offering and Listing

A. Offer and Listing Details
General

Our ordinary shares, nominal value 1.00 euro each, are currently listed on each of the Madrid, Barcelona, Bilbao
and Valencia stock exchanges and are quoted through the Automated Quotation System under the symbol “TEF”.
Our ADSs are listed on the New York Stock Exchange and the Lima Stock Exchange under the symbol "TEF".

Citibank, N.A. is the Depositary issuing ADSs in form of certificated ADSs (also known as ADRs) or uncertificated
ADSs pursuant to the deposit agreement dated as of November 13, 1996, as amended as of December 3, 1999 and
as further amended as of June 23, 2000, and as of March 9, 2007, among Telefénica, the Depositary and the
holders from time to time of ADSs (the “Deposit Agreement”).

At December 31, 2023, 131,003,194 of our shares were held in the form of ADSs by 477 holders of record, including
Cede & Co., the nominee of Depository Trust Company (“DTC”). The number of ADSs outstanding was 141,341,317
at December 31, 2022.

Our ordinary shares are quoted on the Spanish Stock Exchanges in euro. Currency fluctuations may affect the
dollar equivalent of the euro price of our shares listed on the Spanish Stock Exchanges and, as a result, the market
price of our ADSs, which are listed on the New York Stock Exchange (in addition to the Lima Stock Exchange).
Currency fluctuations may also affect the dollar amounts received by holders of ADSs on conversion by the
Depositary of any cash dividends paid in euro on the underlying shares.

Spanish Securities Market Legislation

Law 6/2023, of March 17 (Ley del Mercado de Valores y de los Servicios de Inversion, or the “LMV”), approved the
reinstated text of the Spanish Securities Markets Act, which replaced the Royal Legislative Decree 4/2015, as
amended. The LMV regulates the primary and secondary securities markets in Spain by establishing principles for
their organization and operation, rules governing the activities of persons and institutions operating in these markets
and a system for their supervision.

This legislation and the regulation implementing it (mainly, as far as private issuers are concerned, the Royal
Decree 813/2023, of November 8, in relation to the legal regime of investment services companies and other
entities that provide investment services; the Royal Decree 814/2023, of November 8, in relation to financial
instruments, admission to trading, registration of marketable securities and market infrastructures, and Royal
Decree 1362/2007, of October 19 (as amended), concerning the transparency requirements in relation to
information about issuers whose securities are admitted to trading on a regulated market in the EU):

« establishes an independent regulatory authority, the CNMV, to supervise the securities markets;

» establishes the rules for surveillance, supervision and sanction provided for the representation of
transferable securities by book entries or by certificate;

« establishes a framework for the issuance of securities;
» establishes a framework for trading activities;

+ establishes the disclosure obligations of issuers, particularly the obligation to file annual audited
financial statements and to make public quarterly financial information;

« establishes the framework for tender offers;

» establishes the code of conduct for all market participants;
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* regulates market abuse infringements; and

« updates regulation for the admission of fixed-income securities to trading in Spanish regulated
market.

With regard to regulatory developments, the following legislative changes have taken place:

On March 11, 2005, Royal Decree-Law 5/2005 was approved, modifying the Law 24/1988 (first Ley de Merado de
Valores, rendered invalid with the approval of the Royal Legislative Decree 4/2015) in order to implement Directive
2003/71/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of November 4, 2003, on the prospectus to be published
when securities are offered to the public or admitted to trading (which amended the previous European Directive
regulating requirements of prospectus —Directive 2001/34/CE-). The Directive: (i) harmonizes the requirements for
the process of approval of the prospectuses, so that the EU passport granted to an issuer, valid throughout the
European Union, also applies to the prospectus of such issuer; (ii) incorporates the application of the “country of
origin principle”, by which the prospectus will be approved by the Member State of the European Union where the
issuer has its registered office but introduces the possibility that, in certain circumstances (such as issues with high
minimum denominations —1,000 euros or more-), the issuer may choose the relevant European Union competent
authority (and thus, the relevant regulatory legal framework) for prospectus approval.

Subsequently, Royal Decree 1310/2005 (currently invalid), further amended by Royal Decree 878/2015 (also
currently invalid due to the approval of the Royal Decree 814/2023, which adopts and updates the provisions of
Royal Decree 878/2015), partially developed the Law 24/1988 in relation to the admission to trading of securities in
the official secondary markets, the sales or subscriptions, public offers and the prospectuses required to those
effects.

On April 12, 2007, Law 6/2007 was approved, modifying Law 24/1988 in order to implement Directive 2004/25/EC of
the European Parliament and of the Council of April 21, 2004 relating to public tender offers and Directive 2004/109/
EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of December 15, 2004 relating to the transparency requirements
for issuers whose securities are admitted to trading on a regulated market in the EU. Law 6/2007 intends: (i) to
encourage an efficient market for corporate control, while protecting the rights of minority shareholders of listed
companies and (ii) to enforce transparency in financial markets.

In relation to public tender offers, Law 6/2007 (i) establishes the cases in which a company must launch a takeover
bid over the whole share capital of a listed company; (ii) establishes that mandatory takeover bids shall be launched
once a shareholder reaches a specific stake on the share capital of a listed company; (iii) adds new obligations for
the management bodies of the target company of the takeover bid in terms of defensive measures against the
takeover bid; and (iv) regulates the squeeze-out and sell-out procedures that can be initiated (by the bidder that
launched the takeover bid or by the outstanding minority shareholders after the takeover bid, respectively) when,
following a takeover bid, the bidder holds at least 90% of the share capital of the target company. Royal Decree
1066/2007, as amended, completes the regulation currently in place for takeover bids in Spain.

Regarding transparency of issuers whose shares are accepted to trading on an official market, Law 6/2007 (i)
modifies the reporting requirements of the periodic financial information of listed companies and issuers of listed
securities; (ii) establishes a new disclosure regime for shareholders owning over a certain significant stake in a
listed company; (iii) adds new information and disclosure requirements for issuers of listed securities; (iv)
establishes the civil liability regime of the issuer and its board of directors in connection with inaccuracies in the
financial information disclosed by issuers of securities; and (v) confers new supervisory powers upon the CNMV
with respect to the review of accounting information.

On December 19, 2007, Law 47/2007 was approved, modifying Law 24/1988 in order to implement Directive
2004/39/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of April 21, 2004, on Markets in Financial Instruments
(MiFID); Directive 2006/73/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of August 10, 2006 on organizational
requirements and operating conditions regarding the Market in Financial Instruments Directive (Directive 2004/39/
EC of the European Parliament and of the Council); and Directive 2006/49/EC of the European Parliament and of
the Council of June 14, 2006 on the capital adequacy of investment firms and credit institutions. Its principal aim is
to establish a general legal framework for financial markets in the European Union, specifically with regard to
financial services, as well as to ensure appropriate transparency for investors through a regular flow of the relevant
information concerning security issuers. Amongst other things, the new regime (i) establishes new multilateral
trading services for listing shares apart from the stock markets; (ii) reinforces the measures for the protection of
investors; (iii) establishes new organizational requirements for investment firms; and (iv) implements new
supervisory powers for CNMV, establishing cooperation mechanisms amongst national supervisory authorities.
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On July 2, 2010, the Royal Legislative Decree 1/2010 was approved as the Spanish Corporate Enterprises Act. This
regulation was implemented to comply with the seventh provision of Law 3/2009, proceeding to consolidate in one
text all the applicable regulations, under the title of "Ley de Sociedades de Capital'. In this way, the traditional
separate regulation of the forms or types of companies designated with this generic expression was overcome,
which now, by ascending to the title of the law, attains a defining rank. In addition, for the same purposes this
regulation included and updated the provisions of the prior regulations, like Law 3/2009 (rendered invalid with the
approval of the Royal Legislative Decree 5/2023), modifying the maximum threshold established in the Spanish
Corporate Enterprises Act as to the number of treasury shares held by listed companies and their subsidiaries, from
5% up to 10% of their total capital outstanding.

On August 1, 2011, Law 25/2011, partially reforming the Spanish Corporate Enterprises Act and transposing
Directive 2007/36/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of July 11, relating to the exercise of certain
rights by shareholders of listed companies was approved.

On December 21, 2012, Royal Decree 1698/2012, amending regulations regarding prospectus and transparency
requirements due on securities issues by the transposition of Directive 2010/73/EU of the European Parliament and
of the Council of November 24, 2010, by amending Directive 2003/71/EC on the prospectus to be published when
securities are offered to the public or admitted to trading and Directive 2004/109/EC on the harmonization of
transparency requirements in relation to information about issuers whose securities are admitted to trading on a
regulated market, pursues essentially the reduction of administrative burdens related to the publication of a
prospectus for the public offering of securities and admission to trading on markets within the European Union.

On March 20, 2013, ECC/461/2013 regulation was approved. This regulation, as amended, establishes the content
and structure of the annual report on corporate governance, the annual compensation report and other information
mechanisms for public listed companies, the savings banks and other entities that issue securities admitted to
trading on regulated securities markets.

On April 16, 2014, Regulation (EU) 596/2014 (Market Abuse Regulation) of European Parliament and of the Council
on market abuse was approved. The regulation repeals Directive 2003/6/EC of the European Parliament and of the
Council and Commission Directives 2003/124/EC, 2003/125/EC and 2004/72/EC. This Regulation has been directly
applicable in all European Union Member States since July 3, 2016. Since the adoption of the Market Abuse
Regulation, the European Commission has adopted several Implementing Regulations to complement or clarify
certain aspects of said Regulation.

On June 12, 2014, the Official Journal of the European Union published Directive 2014/65/EU of the European
Parliament and of the Council of May 15, 2014 on markets in financial instruments (which amended Directive
2002/92/EC and Directive 2011/61/EU ("MIFID II")) and Regulation (EU) 600/2014 of the European Parliament and
Council of May 15, 2014 on markets in financial instruments and amending Regulation (EU) 648/2012 (MiFIR).

On December 3, 2014, Law 31/2014, amending the Spanish Corporate Enterprises Act was enacted. This law
introduced changes in matters related to general shareholders’ meetings, and shareholders rights. It also modified
the legal status of members of the Board of Directors, including their compensation, practices and composition and
set forth new rules on the composition of Board Committees.

On June 23, 2015, Circular 3/2015 of the CNMV established the information and technical and legal specifications
that must be published on public listed companies', savings banks' and other entities’ websites, in order to duly
comply with the principle of transparency.

On October 2, 2015, Royal Decree 878/2015 (rendered invalid with the approval of the Royal Decree 814/2023,
which adopts and updates the provisions of Royal Decree 878/2015) was approved with the aim of reaching a
greater level of efficiency and safety in the Spanish Automated Quotation System as well as contributing to the
development towards an integrated European financial services market. This Royal Decree was enacted to fully
implement into Spanish Legislation the provisions of Directive 2013/50/UE of the European Parliament and of the
Council of October 22.

On October 23, 2015, the Royal Legislative Decree 4/2015 (prior Ley de Mercado de Valores, rendered invalid with
the approval of the LMV) approved the revised text of the Spanish Securities Market Act with the aim of
consolidating in a single text the set of regulations with the status of law relating to the securities markets.

On July 20, 2017, Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the Council of June 14, 2017, on
the prospectus to be published when securities are offered to the public or admitted to trading on a regulated market
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(the "Prospectus Regulation"), entered into force and became directly applicable in all European Union Member
States on a rolling basis, with full application from July 21, 2019. The Prospectus Regulation abolishes and
replaces the previous EU Directive 2003/71/EC (the Prospectus Directive). The Prospectus Regulation aims at
harmonizing the disclosure regime by removing asymmetries of information and, ultimately, at increasing
transparency in the markets. The Prospectus Regulation regulates the content of the prospectuses and contains a
list of exemptions from the obligation to produce a prospectus in certain cases.

On November 24, 2017, the Royal Decree-Law 18/2017, implementing in Spain Directive 2014/95/EU of the
European Parliament and of the Council of October 22, 2014 as regards disclosure of non-financial and diversity
information by certain large undertakings and groups. Such Royal Decree-Law requires certain companies to
include in their management report a non-financial statement containing certain additional information relating to
environmental, social and employee matters, respect for human rights, anti-corruption and bribery matters.

On January 3, 2018, the new legal framework on markets and financial instruments (based on MiFID II) and
Regulation 600/2014/EU of the European Parliament and the Council (MiFIR Regulation) became effective in all
European Union Member States. Shortly before such date, on December 29, 2017, Spain approved the Royal-
Decree 21/2017 (partially repealed by the provisions of the LMV) to implement into Spanish legislation the
European MIFID Il and MiFIR regulations.

On June 28, 2018, Circular 3/2018 of the CNMV on periodic reporting by issuers of securities admitted to trading on
regulated markets, regarding half-yearly financial reports, interim management statements and, where applicable,
quarterly financial reports, was approved. The aim of this Circular is to adapt the content of the templates of said
reports to the changes in national and international accounting standards, mainly the entry into force of IFRS 9
Financial Instruments and IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

On September 28, 2018, Spain approved the Royal Decree-Law 14/2018, which amended the Royal Legislative
Decree 4/2015 to fully implement and reflect in the Spanish Securities Markets Act MiFID Il and MiFIR provisions.

On November 23, 2018, Royal Decree-Law 19/2018 on payment services and other urgent financial measures was
approved and modified the Royal Legislative Decree 4/2015 in order to adapt it to the Market Abuse Regulation.

On December 21, 2018, Royal Decree 1464/2018 was approved in order to further develop and complement the
abovementioned Royal-Decree 21/2017 of December 29 and Royal Decree 14/2018 of September 28 in MiFID-
MIFIR matters. This regulation was repealed in November 2023 with the approval of Royal Decree 814/2023, of
November 8,which adopts and updates the provisions of Royal Decree 1464/2018.

On December 28, 2018, Law 11/2018 was approved, modifying the Spanish Commercial Code, the revised text of
the Spanish Companies Act approved by Royal Legislative Decree 1/2010, of July 2, and Law 22/2015, of July 20,
on Audit of Accounts, on non-financial information and diversity. Its main objective is to fully incorporate in Spain EU
Directive 2014/95/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council, of October 22, 2014 amending Directive
2013/34/EU as regards disclosure of non-financial and diversity information by certain large undertakings and
groups.

On April 12, 2021, Law 5/2021, implementing Directive 2017/828/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council
of May 17, 2017, as regards the encouragement of long-term shareholder engagement was published, amending
the Spanish Corporate Enterprises Act.

On September 28, 2021, Circular 3/2021, of the CNMV was approved, which (among others) establishes the new
templates for the annual management board compensation report and the annual report on corporate governance
for public listed companies.

On May 26, 2022, Circular 2/2022 of the CNMV was approved. This Circular establishes the new forms to be used
to report significant shareholdings in entities whose securities are admitted to trading on a regulated market and to
report any transaction that an issuer makes with its treasury shares and includes certain new provisions applicable
to market makers.

On March 17, 2023, Law 6/2023 (Ley de los Mercados de Valores y de los Servicios de Inversion, or the LMV) was
approved, modifying Royal Legislative Decree 4/2015